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Reader’s Guide

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History introduces students to the history of
the United States from pre-Colonial America to present day. This 8-
volume set explores the timeline of America: its founders, key historical
figures, wars, events, political environment, economy, and culture.
Entries were selected with guidance from the National Council for the
Social Studies (NCSS) Curriculum Standards for Social Studies—
Middle School, which were adopted in 2002. The NCSS standards’ eras
are: Three Worlds Meet (Discovery of the New World, beginnings to
1620); Colonization and Settlement (1585—1763); Revolution and the
New Nation (1754-1820s); Expansion and Reform (1801-61); Civil
War and Reconstruction (1850—77); the Development of the Industrial
United States (1870-1900); the Emergence of Modern America
(1890-1930); the Great Depression and World War II (1929-45);
Postwar United States (1945 to the early 1970s); and Contemporary
United States (1968 to the present).

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History features nearly 700 entries—
arranged alphabetically across the set—with more than 400 images and
maps to help better illustrate the text. Each entry contains bolded terms
that indicate cross-references to other entries within this set. In addition,
several sidebar boxes offer additional insight into the people, places, and
events that have occurred in American history. All eight volumes contain
a general bibliography and a comprehensive cumulative subject index
that provides easy access to subjects discussed throughout UseXeL
Encyclopedia of U.S. History.
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Ralph Abernathy

Ralph David Abernathy and Martin Luther King Jr. (1929-1968)
founded the Southern Christian Leadership Conference (SCLC) in
1957 to promote civil rights for black Americans. Abernathy has some-
times been called the “other side” of King, his longtime friend and asso-
ciate. Abernathy found it easy to relate to the poor while King, at least
in the early years, appealed more to the middle class. Together, the two
men were a powerful team, attracting thousands of followers to the

struggle for civil rights.

Early life

Ralph Abernathy was born on March 11, 1926. His father, William
Abernathy, was a Baptist deacon and farmer. Abernathy aspired to be a
preacher, but when he graduated from high school he was drafted into the
U.S. Army to serve during the last months of World War II (1939-45).
After the war, Abernathy enrolled at Alabama State College in
Montgomery, Alabama. He was ordained a Baptist minister in 1948 and
graduated with a bachelor’s degree in mathematics in 1950. He earned a
master’s degree in sociology from Atlanta University the following year.

With King in Montgomery

In 1951, Abernathy became pastor of First Baptist Church in
Montgomery. Three years later, King became pastor of another black
church in Montgomery, Dexter Avenue Baptist. The two men became
fast friends. Sharing a mutual interest in the struggle for civil rights,



Ralph Abernathy

Ralph Abernathy (above),
along with Martin Luther
King Jr., founded the
Southern Christian
Leadership Conference and
inspired thousands of people to
get involved in the civil rights
movement. AP IMAGES

Abernathy and King discussed how to go about
bringing an end to segregation (the separation
of blacks and whites in public places) in an or-
derly, nonviolent manner. Despite having been a
soldier, Abernathy, like King, was convinced
that nonviolence was the only acceptable means
of protest.

Bus boycott

In 1955, Montgomery became the site of a huge
civil rights event when a well-respected African
American woman, Rosa Parks (1913-2005),
refused to give up her seat to a white passenger
on a city bus. She was arrested and fined. Parks’s
arrest touched a nerve in the community. The
local Women’s Political Council called for all
black people of Montgomery to protest by refus-
ing to ride the buses.

King and Abernathy quickly formed the

Montgomery Improvement Association and

held meetings to spread the word about the Montgomery bus boycott.

They instructed local ministers to explain from their pulpits how the

boycott was to be conducted and arranged for taxis and carpools to take

people to work. The boycott began on December 5, 1955. Despite

threats and intimidation, it lasted for more than one year, but it was suc-

cessful. The U.S. Supreme Court ruled that segregation on
Montgomery buses was illegal.

The SCLC

In 1957, King and Abernathy arranged a meeting in Atlanta, Georgia,
with other Southern ministers. They formed the Southern Christian
Leadership Conference, an organization of churches and civic groups
that would lead nonviolent protests across the South in pursuit of deseg-
regation (ending the separation of blacks and whites in public places).
King was elected president of the SCLC; Abernathy was its secretary-
treasurer. While Abernathy was at the SCLC meeting, his home and the
First Baptist Church were bombed, as were other homes and churches in
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Montgomery. Although his wife and children escaped unharmed, the
warning was clear.

In 1960, King moved to Atlanta to devote more time to the SCLC,
and the following year Abernathy joined him there, becoming pastor of
West Hunter Street Baptist Church. During the next few years, the two
ministers led nonviolent marches, sit-ins, and rallies in the major cities
of the South. (See Sit-in Movement.) They were arrested a number of
times and threatened often, but they attracted support across the nation.
Little by little, they made progress against the segregation and discrimi-
nation faced by African Americans in the South. In 1965, Abernathy be-
came the vice president of the SCLC.

Poor People's Campaign

By the mid-1960s, the civil rights movement had changed many laws
and policies, but many African Americans were still disadvantaged and
poor. To draw attention to poverty, King organized a Poor People’s
Campaign in 1968. He intended to march on Washington, D.C., but
he was assassinated on April 4, 1968, before he could carry out his plan.
It was left to Abernathy to complete the task.

Soon after King’s death, Abernathy, the new president of the SCLC,
led a march to Washington to demonstrate for economic and civil rights.
He and his followers set up a campsite called Resurrection City near the
Lincoln Memorial, to which poor and homeless people came from
across the country. The results of their efforts were disappointing, largely
because Congress was preoccupied with the problems of the Vietnam

War (1954-75).

Last years
As president of the SCLC, Abernathy led several protests against segre-
gation in the South. He was often compared to King and was generally
perceived as lacking the charisma and poise of his friend. He resigned
from the SCLC in 1977 to run for Congress, but he failed to gain the
seat. Undaunted, he formed an organization called the Foundation for
Economic Enterprises Development (FEED) to teach job skills to
African Americans.

Abernathy published his autobiography, And the Walls Came
Tumbling Down, in 1989. Because the book revealed that King had been
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carrying on extramarital affairs, critics accused Abernathy of betraying
his long-deceased friend. He died the following year.

Abolition Movement

Abolition is the goal of abolishing, or completely eliminating, slavery.
There were two significant eras of abolition in the United States. The
early movement took place between 1770 and 1830 and focused on
eliminating the African slave trade. Abolitionists of this early era as-
sumed that prohibiting the importation of slaves from other countries
would eventually result in eliminating slavery altogether. Thus, when the
United States prohibited the foreign slave trade in 1808, many early abo-
litionists lost interest in the abolitionist cause. A second phase of the abo-
lition movement—the “new abolitionism”—began in the 1830s and
continued until the American Civil War ended in 1865. New abolition-

Members of the Pennsylvania Abolition Society, with well-known abolitionist William Lloyd Garrison seated bottom right.

Garrison and the society used speeches, pamphlets, and newspapers to call for the immediate abolition of slavery.
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ists opposed gradual methods. They wanted im-
mediate, unconditional emancipation (freeing
of slaves). Other antislavery forces developed in
this era that sought restrictions on slavery and
were more agreeable to gradual emancipation
through political negotiation.

Early abolitionism

The first group to speak out against slavery in
the United States was the Quakers, a Christian
group founded in England on the belief that
each individual is able to communicate with
God and understand right and wrong through
his or her own “inner light,” or conscience.
Beginning in the 1750s, Quakers in England
took a strong moral stand against slavery. They
helped to abolish the slave system in the British
Empire by 1833. Quakers took early leadership
in American antislavery activities beginning in
the mid-eighteenth century. They were largely
responsible for the first American abolition soci-
ety, called the Society for the Relief of Free
Negroes Unlawfully Held in Bondage, which
was founded in 1775.

The American Revolution (1775-83) gave
the United States even more reasons to oppose the injustices of slavery.
Slavery not only violated the law of God, it contradicted the rights of
human beings spelled out in the Declaration of Independence.
Opposition to slavery was widespread in the new nation. By the 1780s,
abolitionist societies had formed in most states, including the upper
South. In the decades after the Revolution, many northern states abol-
ished slavery. In New Jersey and New York, legislation demanding im-
mediate emancipation failed. There, abolition groups passed laws freeing
slaves when they reached a certain birthday.

In 1808, the U.S. Congress prohibited foreign slave trade, although
people could still buy and sell slaves within the United States. The abo-
litionists’ hopes that this act would result in the end of slavery proved to
be unfounded. The South resisted pressure to emancipate slaves. Most
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Many abolitionists wrote
papers or distributed
pamphlets suggesting ways to
end slavery. This pamphlet
from former U.S. president
James Madison proposes the
gradual abolition of slavery
without endangering the
economic and social stability
of the South. © CORBIS
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Americans assumed that the U.S. Constitution left the issue of slavery
to state governments and that the U.S. Congress could abolish slavery
only in new territories. Many people in the North and South accepted
slavery as a necessary evil.

American Colonization Society

In the early nineteenth century, a plan for ending slavery arose that ap-
pealed to slaveholders and abolitionists alike: freeing African slaves and
then sending them to live somewhere outside of the United States. Most
reasons for relocation were based on racism. Many whites—Southerners
and Northerners alike—were uncomfortable with the idea of having
freed slaves living and working in their communities. If former slaves
could be relocated outside the United States, slaveholders might be less
reluctant to free them, and nonslaveholding whites might be less anxious
about competition for work. Some Northern reformers approved of re-
location on the grounds that it would be kinder to the freed slaves, since
they believed American society would never treat black people fairly or
accept them as equals.

The American Colonization Society (ACS) was founded in 1816
as the major relocation, or colonization, organization for freed slaves. It
acquired land in Liberia, Africa, for its proposed colony of freed slaves
and rapidly won the approval of church and government leaders in the
North and South. But the efforts of the ACS were slow; it sent only a few
thousand blacks to Liberia before 1830. Enthusiasm for the movement
faded as doubts grew about its practicality. A large group of black and
white abolitionists united in their opposition to sending freed slaves to
Africa.

Garrison and the American Anti-Slavery Society

By 1830, abolitionists who rejected the idea of relocating former slaves
had set a new goal: the immediate, unconditional end of slavery.
Characterizing their strategy for achieving this end as “moral suasion,” or
persuasion by appealing to people’s conscience, the new abolitionists em-
ployed agents to work throughout the country as missionaries in the an-
tislavery cause. These missionaries converted as many people as they
could to abolitionism and organized their converts into local antislavery
societies. The new abolition movement spread rapidly. In 1832, eleven

persons formed the New England Anti-Slavery Society; by 1837,
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Massachusetts had 145 societies, New York had 274, and Ohio had
213. In December 1833, sixty-three men (only three of them black)
formed the American Anti-Slavery Society (AASS). By 1838, the AASS
claimed 1,350 affiliated societies, with membership approaching a quar-
ter million participants.

The best-known of the new abolitionists was William Lloyd
Garrison (1805-1879). Garrison had formed strong alliances with black
abolitionists such as James E. Forten (1766-1842), a wealthy black
Philadelphian, in the anticolonization campaign. Garrison launched a
Boston-based abolitionist newspaper, the Liberator, in 1831; the great
majority of its readers were black. Garrison’s book 7houghts on African
Colonization (1832) persuaded many young reformers to change loyal-
ties and follow Garrison’s course, calling for the immediate abolition of
slavery and rejecting all compromises or half measures.

Garrison and the AASS used tactics of moral suasion and not poli-
tics in their war against slavery. Through speeches, pamphlets, newspa-
pers, and individual contact, they spread the word to the nation that
slavery was a sin. They hoped that clergymen and other opinion leaders
would be persuaded and exert pressure on slaveholders. Their movement
gained the greatest following in the Northeast. A growing middle class
deemed slavery at odds with its religious beliefs and the free-labor sys-
tem. Churches, though, generally remained aloof from the movement,
and community leaders were generally hostile to the ardent reformers.
Abolitionists were denounced as troublemakers who wanted to interfere
with local authorities.

Political abolitionism

When the churches failed to respond to their message, some abolitionist
leaders began to press for change through political legislation. These abo-
litionists tended to be less uncompromising than Garrison and his fol-
lowers. They wanted to focus on restricting slavery and were not willing
to engage in some of the other reforms Garrison had taken up, such as
women’s rights. In 1840, when Garrison appointed a woman to a com-
mittee, a conflict arose among leaders of the AASS over the role of
women within the organization. A second abolitionist group, the
American and Foreign And-Slavery Society, split from the AASS.
Members of this new group favored a political strategy to end slavery.
They supported the new Liberty Party in 1840 and 1844. By 1846, sup-
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port for that party had faded, and most political abolitionists gave their
votes to the new antislavery Free Soil Party in 1848.

The Free Soil Party grew dramatically in the 1850s, due mainly to
the outrage of Northerners over the Fugitive Slave Act of 1850, which
required people in nonslaveholding states to return runaway slaves to
their owners in slaveholding states. (See Fugitive Slave Laws.) At this
time, there was also a huge public response to the abolitionist novel
Uncle Tom’s Cabin (1852), written by Harriet Beecher Stowe
(1811-1896). When chaos and violence broke out in the new territory
of Kansas between those who wanted slavery and those who opposed it,
antislavery sentiments in the North soared. Unlike Garrison and the
AASS, the political abolitionists compromised on their goals, generally
accepting slavery in the states in which it already existed and even in
some new territories. Garrison, by contrast, had counseled abolitionists
to stick to the moral high ground by firmly denouncing the injustice of

all slavery and racism.

Black abolitionism

Black abolitionists tended to favor political action, but they complained
repeatedly that white abolitionist organizations put blacks primarily in
supporting roles. After 1840, black abolitionists met more frequently
within their own organizations, held their own conventions, and sup-
ported their own newspapers, such as Samuel E. Cornish (c. 1795—c.
1858) and John Brown Russwurm’s (1799-1851) Freedoms Journal and
abolitionist and orator Frederick Douglass’s (c. 1817-1895) North Star.

Douglass had been closely allied with Garrison and the AASS, but
by the 1840s he turned more frequently to separate “Negro
Conventions” as the best institution through which to organize against
slavery and racial prejudice. Like Douglass, other black abolitionists gar-
nered significant support. Among the more popular speakers were for-
mer slaves William Craft (c. 1824-1900), Ellen Craft (c. 1826—c. 1897,
Sojourner Truth (c. 1797-1883), and William Wells Brown (c.
1815-1884). Each was skilled at depicting the horrors of slavery, and
they all sold personal narratives and gathered funds to support the move-

ment.

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History



The appeal of violence

By 1850, many black leaders ceased talking about “moral suasion” and
began to talk about violent rebellion. If whites did not concede to blacks
the right to self-defense, some leaders asked, and if blacks never showed
their willingness to fight, then how could Southern slavery and Northern
injustice ever end? Even white abolitionists began to contemplate war-
fare. Those who followed Garrison believed proslavery leaders domi-
nated the political system. At one public meeting in 1854, Garrison
denounced the Fugitive Slave Act and burned the Constitution. White
abolitionist John Brown (1800-1859) was so convinced that violence
was the only way to achieve abolition that he planned an all-out war
against slavery in the South. In 1859, he led a raid on a federal arsenal
in the city of Harpers Ferry, in what is now West Virginia, intending to
steal weapons to give to slaves. (See Harper’s Ferry Raid.) The raid was
a dismal failure, but it drew the divided nation’s attention to the urgency

of the problem.

The end of slavery

In 1854, political abolitionists formed the Republican Party, which was
dedicated to stopping the spread of slavery into the western territories.
In 1856, this party carried eleven northern states in the presidential elec-
tion, and numerous Republicans were elected to the U.S. Congress and
state offices. As a candidate for the U.S. Senate and later as a presiden-
tial candidate, Abraham Lincoln (1809-1865) never came out against
slavery in existing states, but he did insist that slavery be prohibited in
the new western lands, a point that many Southerners interpreted as a
clear antislavery stance. When he was elected president, seven southern
states seceded, or withdrew, from the United States. Four more seceded
when Lincoln began to gather his army for war in 1861.

The onset of the American Civil War (1861—65) unified the anti-
slavery factions. White and black abolitionists joined Douglass and
Garrison in lobbying for immediate emancipation and the enlistment of
free blacks in the Union (Northern) army. Other abolitionists focused on
organizing aid for the thousands of former slaves who, as soon as war
broke out, had fled to the Northern states. Sponsored by church groups
and freedman’s aid societies, reformers moved to Washington, D.C.;
New Orleans, Louisiana; and Port Royal, South Carolina, to be near
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the former slaves and to provide material aid and basic schooling. These

efforts continued and expanded after the war.

Midway through the war, Lincoln took two giant steps toward free-
dom for African Americans. In January 1863, Lincoln issued the
Emancipation Proclamation, freeing all slaves in the United States. He
also announced the formation of black military units. All abolitionists
hailed the passage in January 1865 of the Thirteenth Amendment to
the Constitution, prohibiting slavery in the United States, as completing
the legal process of abolition.

Abstract Expressionism

Abstract Expressionism, a visual arts movement that emerged in the late
1930s and 1940s, challenged accepted standards of what was art.
Embracing improvisation (simultaneous creation and production), indi-
viduality, and energy, it was the first art movement with origins in
America. Abstract art moved beyond representing reality as everyone ex-
perienced it daily. Rather than depicting people, landscapes, familiar ob-
jects, or elements from nature, the Abstract Expressionists used color,
shapes, lines, and space to evoke another part of reality.

European artists in the 1920s—the Surrealists, Expressionists, and
Cubists—had painted canvases in which objects and people were still
recognizable but far from realistic. When World War II broke out in
Europe in the late 1930s, many influential artists fled to the United
States. Their experiments and explorations had a great influence on
American painters. New York City, rather than Paris, became the center
of artistic activity. Rejecting the goal of representing the world around
them, instead the so-called New York School of painters wanted to con-
vey spontaneous emotions and the subconscious mind (the part of think-
ing that is not in our awareness).

Many Abstract Expressionist paintings were done on very large can-
vases. Jackson Pollock (1912-1956) dripped and flung paint onto can-
vases to allow movement and color to express the subconscious mind. In
his paintings, Mark Rothko (1903-1970) achieved great emotional ef-
fects by layering and stacking rectangular fields of color, with the colors
bleeding into each other at the edges.

Abstract Expressionism was a radical break from traditional art, and
at first it was difficult for many to accept. In the political climate of the
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Cold War in the 1950s, however, Abstract Expressionism became a sym-
bol of American freedom and the quest for the new. Whereas the Soviet
Union strictly controlled artistic expression, in the United States
Abstract Expressionists were free to experiment as they wished—in keep-
ing with the American ideals of democracy, freedom of expression, and
innovation.

Acquired Immune Deficiency

Syndrome
See AIDS

John Adams

John Adams was the first vice president of the United States (from 1789 to
1797) and the second president of the United States (from 1797 to 1801).
During the American Revolution (1775-83), he served as one of the lead-
ing politicians in the first and second Continental Congresses. (See
Continental Congress, First and Continental

Congress, Second.) He was well regarded by his

fellow politicians as a man of strong intellect.

Early life

Adams was born in Braintree (later called
Quincy), Massachusetts, on October 30, 1735.
His father, also named John Adams, was a
farmer and leather goods maker who also served
as a church deacon, town selectman, and lieu-
tenant in the local militia. The elder Adams and
his wife, Suzanne Boyleston, also had two other
sons, Peter and Elihu.

Adams spent much of his youth outdoors in
rural Braintree and planned to be a farmer when
he grew up. Adams was educated by two private
tutors and attended a public school called Dame
School. In 1751, Adams’s parents sent him to
Harvard College to study to be a clergyman.
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John Adams helped negotiate

peace with Great Britain and

12

signed the Treaty of Paris,
which ended the American
Revolution in 1783.

© CORBIS

Among the twenty-eight initial students in his
class, Adams eventually ranked in the top three.

After graduating from Harvard in 1755, the
nineteen-year-old Adams moved to Worcester,
Massachusetts, thirty miles west of Boston.
There he started to teach grammar school. He
lived in the house of James Putnam, a Harvard
graduate and lawyer. Adams studied law under
Putnam and in 1758 returned to his parents’
home in Boston to practice law.

In 1764 Adams married Abigail Smith, the
daughter of a clergyman. She too was intelligent,
and their marriage was marked by loyalty and
friendship. Together they had five children:
Abby, John Quincy, Susanna, Charles, and
Thomas. Susanna died when she was just one.

Law and activism

In the 1760s, Adams continued to study law and
slowly built his law practice. He also became in-
volved in revolutionary politics. When the
French and Indian War ended in 1763, victori-
ous Great Britain had amassed great debts. To
pay them, the British Parliament enacted a series of tax laws that became
known in America as the Intolerable Acts. Many Americans began to feel
it was unfair for Parliament, in which America had no elected represen-
tatives, to tax Americans.
After Parliament enacted the Sugar Act of 1764 and the Stamp Act
of 1765, John Adams’s cousin, statesman Samuel Adams (1722-1803),
organized protests in Boston. John Adams attended meetings and
emerged as an effective spokesman against Britain’s imperial policies. In
August 1765, he published the first in a series of four essays in the Boston
Guazette newspaper. The essays, later published in Britain, described how
colonists had emigrated to America to establish civil governments based
on liberty and freedom.
In his law practice, Adams worked on a variety of cases, including
divorce, wills, rape, and trespass. Adams defended John Hancock
(1737-1793), who would be the first signer of the Declaration of
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Independence, against smuggling charges brought by British customs
officials. In 1770, Adams defended Captain Thomas Preston, the British
officer in charge at the Boston Massacre of March 5, 1770. That event
happened when British soldiers fired upon a crowd of colonists, killing
five of them. Adams received much criticism for defending Preston.
Adams, however, believed every man deserved a fair trial, and Adams
won the case.

American Revolution politics and diplomacy

In 1774, the First Continental Congress met in Philadelphia to seek so-
lutions to America’s problems with Great Britain. Adams was chosen to
attend as a representative from Massachusetts. Not yet in favor of inde-
pendence, Adams recommended a system of equal parliaments in

America and Britain with common allegiance to the crown.

In April 1775, the Revolutionary War began with the Battle of
Lexington and Concord. Adams served that May in the Second
Continental Congress, where he supported future president George
Washington (1732-1799; served 1789-97) to lead the Continental
Army. By then, Adams believed independence was necessary. In February
1776, he gave Congress a pamphlet called “Thoughts on Government,”
in which he proposed a system of governments for the colonies. Later
that year, Adams seconded the motion in Congress that led to the adop-
tion of the Declaration of Independence on July 4, 1776.

Adams served America during the war as a commissioner in France,
seeking foreign aid for the American cause. Returning to Boston in
1779, Adams attended the state convention that prepared the
Massachusetts state constitution, which Adams drafted. Along with
Benjamin Franklin (1706-1790) and John Jay (1745-1829), Adams
served as commissioner to negotiate peace with Great Britain and even-
tually signed the Treaty of Paris to end the war in 1783. From 1785 to
1788, Adams served as America’s first minister to Great Britain, missing
the action as America drafted a Constitution to form a new plan of gov-
ernment.

In the federal government

Adams returned to America in 1788 and was chosen to be the nation’s
first vice president. He served under President Washington throughout
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both of Washington’s two terms, from 1789 to 1797. Writing to his wife,
Abigail, Adams called the office of vice president insignificant.

Washington’s decision to retire after two terms gave Adams a chance
to seek the presidency. Adams was a member of the Federalist Party,
which generally favored a strong federal government. Adams’s chief op-
ponent for the presidency was the leader of the Democratic-Republican
Party, Thomas Jefferson. The Democratic-Republican Party, whose
members also became known as Jeffersonian Republicans, generally fa-
vored a smaller role for the federal government but strong state govern-
ments.

Adams defeated Jefferson and took office as president in
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, on March 4, 1797. Jefferson became vice
president because he received the second most electoral votes; this system
eventually was changed by the Twelfth Amendment to the Constitution
in 1804.

One of Adams’s first decisions as president was one he eventually
called one of his greatest mistakes: keeping Washington’s cabinet instead
of creating his own. The cabinet is the group of people who lead the
major departments in the executive branch of government. In 1797,
those positions included the attorney general, the secretary of state, the
secretary of the treasury, and the secretary of war. Keeping Washington’s
cabinet was an error because they were very loyal to former attorney gen-
eral Alexander Hamilton (1755-1804), the leader of the Federalist
Party, with whom Adams had many problems throughout his presidency.

Foreign affairs

When Adams became president, America was being drawn into a naval
war between Great Britain and France. The two European countries had
been fighting since 1793 over issues related to commerce and imperial
power. Amidst that conflict, Great Britain began capturing American
merchant vessels and forcing the ships’ sailors into naval service for Great
Britain.

America tried to end its problems with Great Britain by signing a
treaty in 1795. France considered this to be a violation of France’s own
treaties with America. So France began to capture American merchant
vessels carrying goods to Great Britain and to force American sailors into
service for France.
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Adams wanted to avoid war as much as possible. Many members of
the Federalist Party, however, wanted America to align with Great Britain
and fight France. Hamilton was among that group, and his desire for war
with France contributed to his problems with Adams. Democratic-
Republicans, including Vice President Jefferson, tended to favor France
and to prefer that America stay out of the conflict if possible.

Early in March 1797, Adams proposed to send a Democratic-
Republican, future president James Madison (1751-1836; served
1809-17), to negotiate the problems with France. Opposed to Madison,
Adams’s cabinet threatened to resign, so Adams dropped the idea. He in-
stead sent a bipartisan commission to Paris, France, in July 1797. The
commission consisted of South Carolina governor Charles Pinckney
(1757-1824), Virginia politician John Marshall (1755-1835), and for-
mer U.S. representative Elbridge Gerry (1744-1814) of Massachusetts.

Anonymous French agents told the commission that negotiations
could not begin without a monetary bribe from the Americans to help
France in its war with Great Britain. The scandal led to a louder cry for
war with France. Adams allowed American merchant vessels to arm
themselves. Congress passed laws breaking all treaties with France and
authorizing the seizure of French ships that endangered U.S. commerce.
It also created the Department of the Navy in April 1798 and added the
U.S. Marine Corps in July.

Domestic affairs

The conflict with France led to the passage of the Alien and Sedition
Acts in 1798. These were four laws that increased the time for foreign-
ers to become U.S. citizens, empowered the president to deport foreign-
ers under certain conditions, and made it a crime to publish “false,
scandalous, and malicious” things about the government. One newspa-
per at the time wrote, “It is Patriotism to write in favor of our govern-
ment—it is sedition to write against it.”

Adams did not actively enforce the Alien Acts. His administration,
however, used the Sedition Act to file criminal charges against many
newspapers editors who favored the Democratic-Republican Party.
Hamilton did not think Adams was doing enough to enforce these laws,
which added to the problems between the two men.

The federal budget nearly doubled during Adams’s administration.
To raise money, Congress passed a tax law called the Window Tax in July
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1798. When three Pennsylvanians were jailed in early 1799 for refusing
to pay the tax, John Fries (1764-1825) led a rebellion to force federal
marshals to release the prisoners. Adams ordered the rebellion to cease
and sent federal troops to crush it. Fries and his supporters were sen-
tenced to death for treason, but Adams pardoned them for their crimes.
This increased his unpopularity with the Federalists.

A number of government offices were formed during the Adams ad-
ministration, including the U.S. Public Health Service in 1798 and the
Library of Congress in 1800. The Mississippi and Indiana territories
were created in 1798 and 1800. Also in 1800, Adams became the first
president to reside in the White House after the federal government re-
located to Washington, D.C.

Peace with France and the campaign of 1800

Adams arranged his final diplomatic mission to France in February
1799. He sent Ambassador to the Netherlands William Murray
(1760-1803), Chief Justice Oliver Ellsworth (1745—1807), and North
Carolina governor William Davie (1756-1920) to negotiate for peace.
In October 1800, they signed the Treaty of Mortefontaine, finally reach-
ing peace with France.

News of the peace failed to reach America in time to help Adams
win the presidential election of 1800. Division in the Federalist Party al-
lowed Jefferson, the Democratic-Republican candidate, to emerge the
victor. The Democratic-Republican Party also won control of Congress
in the election.

In the wake of defeat, the Federalist-controlled Congress passed a ju-
diciary act before the end of the term. It empowered Adams in his last
months in office to appoint new judges—aligned with the Federalist
Party—to federal courts.

Retirement

At the age of 65 in March 1801, John Adams returned to his home and
farm in Quincy, Massachusetts, where he spent the rest of his life. He
wrote often to family and friends, and from 1802 to 1806 he worked on
his autobiography. His wife, Abigail, died in 1818, which was a pro-
found loss to Adams. In 1824, Adams had the paternal honor of seeing
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his son, John Quincy Adams (1767-1848; served 1825-29), elected as
the sixth president of the United States.

Around 1811, Adams resumed his friendship with Thomas
Jefferson. The two spent the remainder of their lives corresponding
about politics, philosophy, theology, and personal matters. By historic
coincidence, they both died on July 4, 1826, fifty years after the adop-
tion of the Declaration of Independence.

John Quincy Adams

John Quincy Adams was more effective in his term as secretary of state
than he was during his one term in the White House. His efforts as pres-
ident were frustrated by opponents and by his inability to compromise.
An intelligent and committed politician, he went on to a distinguished
eighteen-year career in the U.S. House of Representatives.

Growing up in the Revolutionary War years

Adams was born on July 11, 1767, into a highly distinguished New
England family in Braintree, Massachusetts. His father, John Adams
(1735-1826; served 1797-1801), would become the second president of
the United States. As a young boy, Adams was intrigued with all that was
happening in the years leading up to the American Revolution
(1775-83), the war for independence from Great Britain. Adams was an
exceptionally intelligent young man. He attended private schools in
Europe, graduated from Harvard College, and then studied law.

While still in school, Adams served as secretary to his father in Paris,
France, during negotiations in 1783 to end the American Revolution. In
1794, President George Washington (1732-1799; served 1789-97) ap-
pointed him minister to the Netherlands. After his father became presi-
dent in 1796, Adams served as minister to Prussia, in present-day
Germany.

A change in political course

In 1803, Adams was elected to the U.S. Senate. His father was one of the
founders of Federalism—a school of political thought that supported a
strong national government and an industrial (business and manufactur-
ing) economy. Adams’s supporters in Massachusetts fully expected him
to support Federalist Party policies, but as he watched the new nation
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John Quincy Adams

John Quincy Adams had a
prominent eighteen-year
career in the U.S. House of

Representatives after serving as

the sixth president of the

United States. THE LIBRARY
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take shape, his sympathies turned toward the
Democratic-Republican Party, which favored
states’ rights over federal power and an agrarian
(farming) economy. Adams frequently voted in
favor of the policies of the Democratic-
Republican president, Thomas Jefferson
(1743-1826; served 1801-9), including the
Louisiana Purchase in 1803, which nearly dou-
bled the size of the United States. Having infu-
riated many of the people who elected him, he
joined the Democratic-Republican Party (which
was also known as the Jeffersonian Republican
Party) at the end of his term in the Senate.

Secretary of state

Adams served in important overseas missions

under President James Madison (1751-1836;

served 1809-17) and was appointed secretary of

state under President James Monroe
(1758-1831; served 1817-25) from 1817 to 1825. In this position, he
used his keen diplomatic skills to build and strengthen the United States.
In the aftermath of the War of 1812 (1812-15), a conflict over trade be-
tween Great Britain and the United States, he hammered out an arms-
reduction agreement with Great Britain. He also negotiated with Great
Britain to establish the boundary between British Canada and the
United States. In 1819, Adams convinced Spain to cede Florida to the
United States.

In 1823, President Monroe presented the Monroe Doctrine to
Congress, which declared that the United States would not tolerate
European interference in, or colonization of, the independent countries
in the Western Hemisphere. Adams was a principal author of the
Monroe Doctrine, which has served as the foundation of U.S. foreign
policy since that time.

President

Adams joined the race for the presidency in 1824, running against four
other Democratic-Republican nominees, one of whom was the popular

military general Andrew Jackson (1767-1845). Although a majority of
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the popular vote went to Jackson, the race was close, and it fell to the
House of Representatives to choose the new president. The House chose
Adams as the sixth U.S. president. Many felt that Jackson was robbed of
the presidency.

Adams moved into the White House full of ideas. He planned to ex-
pand the country’s roads and canals, build a national university, improve
bankruptcy laws, create a standard system of weights and measures for
American business, and much more. Once in office, though, he discov-
ered that every move he made was fiercely opposed by Jackson’s support-
ers in Congress. The Jacksonians were not his only problem. Adams
refused to play the customary political game in Washington, D.C., ne-
glecting to reward his supporters with the political appointments they
expected. His instincts were honorable, but his lack of charm and unwill-
ingness to compromise prevented him from gaining a popular following.
He lost the election of 1828 to Jackson.

Post-presidential years
In 1830, the former president was elected to the U.S. House of
Representatives. Adams served with distinction from 1831 until his
death in 1848, earning the nickname “Old Man Eloquent” for his
speeches. His crowning achievement was his opposition to the “gag
rules” that prevented antislavery petitions from being read on the floor
of the House. Adams argued that the rules violated the First
Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, which protects the freedom of
speech and the right to petition the government. The House discarded
the “gag rules” in 1844. While never officially declaring himself to be in
favor of abolishing slavery, Adams became an outspoken champion of
the antislavery movement in Congress.

In 1848, Adams suffered a stroke on the House floor. He was carried
to the Speaker’s room, where he died two days later.

Jane Addams

Jane Addams was the first woman to be awarded the Nobel Peace Prize.
She dedicated her life to caring for others and co-founded one of the first
settlement houses in the United States.

Born on September 6, 1860, Laura Jane Addams was the eighth
child of Sarah and John Addams. The Cedarville, Illinois, family pros-
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Jane Addams founded Hull
House, which became a key
component of the immigration
experience in Chicago and was
one of the most famous
settlement houses in American
history. THE LIBRARY OF
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pered, thanks to the good business sense of Addams’s father, who owned
a mill and eventually a bank. Addams lost her mother to illness before
her third birthday, and her eldest sister, Mary, took over the responsibil-
ity of raising the children. Addams formed an especially close relation-
ship with her father, who instilled in her a strong sense of morality and
responsibility in helping others.

After graduating at the top of her class in 1881 from Rockford
Female Seminary, Addams enrolled in medical school, but she did not
stay there long. Her father died suddenly of a burst appendix, and
around that time Addams’s own health took a turn for the worse. She
spent years in and out of the hospital and took six months of bed rest to
recover from spinal surgery. Afterward, Addams traveled around Europe
for nearly two years. She took another two years to write and decide what
she wanted to do with her life.

Finds inspiration in England

During another trip to Europe, this time in
1888, twenty-seven-year-old Addams and her
close friend Ellen Gates Starr (1859—-1940) vis-
ited a settlement house (community center) in
London. Toynbee Hall was Great Britain’s first
university settlement. There, college students
could work together to help improve the lives of
the city’s poverty-stricken population. Addams
and Starr were so impressed with the settlement
project that they returned to America deter-
mined to develop their own settlement house.
(See Settlement House Movement.)

The following year, the two women leased a
large, rundown building in the heart of
Chicago’s immigrant slum (a district marked by
intense poverty and filth). Starr and Addams
moved into the building with the goal of restor-
ing it and providing neighborhood families with
a place to go where they could improve them-
selves while forging a sense of community with
one another. They named the building Hull
House (real estate tycoon Charles Hull
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[1820-1889] had once lived in the building). Although Hull House was
not the first settlement house in America, it would become the most fa-

mous.

The birth of Hull House

The settlement became a key component of the immigration experience
in Chicago. Historians estimate that in 1890, 68 to 80 percent of
Chicago’s population was foreign-born. Immigrants who sailed to
Americas shores and headed for Chicago went directly to Hull House,
where they knew they could find trustworthy people to help them locate
jobs, homes, and food. That year Hull House was servicing two thou-
sand people each week.

Once Hull House proved itself a worthy cause, Addams and Starr
had little problem securing monetary donations to help keep it running.
Free medical care was provided, as was relief for the unemployed.
Addams made sure Hull House clients received education not only in ac-
ademics but also in skills necessary for daily life. She and her colleagues
taught immigrants the English language and how to count money and
perform simple math calculations. She taught them how to read and
made sure they learned how to use the political system to their advan-
tage.

Through the decades, Hull House continued to provide a safe gath-
ering place for its neighborhood citizens. In 1961, the University of
Illinois at Chicago decided it would build its campus on the site of Hull
House. Although the neighborhood fought the decision, Hull House of-
ficially closed in 1963. Closing of the settlement house proved to be a
major loss for Chicago’s poor and displaced, as they now had one less
place to which they could turn for help.

Addams goes national

Addams became involved with other organizations as her reputation
grew. In 1905, she was appointed to the Chicago Board of Education
and elected as chairperson of the School Management Committee.
Three years later, she helped found the Chicago School of Civics and
Philanthropy (charitable giving), and she became the first female presi-
dent of the National Conference of Charities and Corrections in 1909.
That same year, she helped establish the National Association for the
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Advancement of Colored People (NAACP), an organization that pro-
motes equality between the races and is still active in the twenty-first
century. From 1911 to 1914, Addams was vice president of the National
American Women’s Suffrage Association, one of the key women’s organ-
izations of the era. All the while, she remained at the center of social re-
form in Chicago. Addams headed investigations involving city sanitation

issues and even accepted a position as a garbage inspector.

Throughout, a feminist

Addams believed women should have voting rights, and she encouraged
women to create their own opportunities for growth and development.
She was also a pacifist (one who is against violence of any kind), and she
traveled the country speaking on the importance of peace. She gave lec-
tures against America’s involvement in World War I (1914-18) and was
made chairperson of the Women’s Peace Party in 1915. Shortly after that,
she was elected president of the Women’s International League for Peace
and Freedom, a position she held until 1929.

Addams’s public disapproval of America’s involvement in the war
brought attacks upon her in the newspapers and political magazines.
Addams did not let the controversy weaken her position; she chose in-
stead to work with Herbert Hoover (1874—1964), who would soon be
elected U.S. president, in a program that provided food supplies to the
women and children of America’s enemies in the war. For her tireless hu-

manitarian efforts, Addams was awarded the Nobel Peace Prize in 1931.

In addition to her many social and political activities, Addams found
time to write. She authored numerous magazine articles on social reform
issues and published seven books on social reform and pacifism. Addams
died of cancer on May 21, 1935.

Affirmative Action

Affirmative action refers to federal requirements for employers that are
made to protect minorities and women from discrimination (being
treated differently) and to increase minority representation in the work-
force. Although few people would deny its beneficial effects in bringing
opportunities to more minorities and women, affirmative action has

been highly controversial since it came into being in the mid-1960s.
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Established in two acts

Affirmative action began with the Civil Rights Act of 1964, particularly
Title VII of the act, which made it illegal for employers to discriminate
against anyone on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, or national ori-
gin and required them to provide equal employment opportunities for
everyone. It soon became apparent that Title VII, simply by prohibiting
present-day discrimination, could not make up for the continuing effects
of past discrimination. Many people argued that members of minority
groups, having been the victims of discrimination for many generations,
had often been deprived of the education, experience, and connections
of those who had never been the target of discrimination.

To address this disparity, in 1965 President Lyndon B. Johnson
(1908-1973; served 1963-69) initiated affirmative action when he
signed Executive Order 11246, which required federal contractors to
“take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that
employees are treated ... without regard to their race, color, religion, or
national origin.” The overall goal was to bring groups that had been dis-
criminated against in the past into the workforce at a more rapid rate
than natural. Employers were required to compare the percentage of mi-
norities in their present labor force with the percentage of minorities in
the general population. If the employers identified situations in which
minorities were underrepresented in their company, they were to file
written plans that included goals, timetables, and strategies to correct the
situation.

Certain affirmative action hiring processes were not allowed. Ruling
in Griggs v. Duke Power Company (1971), the Supreme Court allowed
affirmative action recruiting practices that were designed to increase the
pool of female and minority applicants but prohibited quotas—numer-
ical goals for the hiring of women and minorities.

Growing restrictions

During the 1970s and 1980s, as jobs became more scarce in the United
States, opposition to affirmative action increased. Opponents felt that
when an individual belonging to a minority was hired under affirmative
action, someone else, probably a white male, was disqualified. In 1977,
the Supreme Court took up a case that addressed this kind of “reverse
discrimination,” or discrimination against someone from the majority.

In Regents of the University of California v. Bakke, white applicants who
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had been rejected from the University of California-Davis Medical
School argued that the school had discriminated against them to fill a
minority quota. The Supreme Court struck down the university’s racial-
quota admissions system but upheld the basis of affirmative action, rul-
ing that it was acceptable to take race into account as a positive factor in

admissions as a way to create a diverse student body.

In 1994, the Republican Party became the majority party in the U.S.
Congress and promised to curb or end affirmative action programs. At the
same time, California governor Pete Wilson (1933-) began tearing down
his state’s affirmative action structure, beginning with admissions and hir-
ing procedures at the University of California. Governors in other states

soon announced their own renunciation of affirmative action programs.

In 1995, the U.S. Supreme Court heard the case Adarand
Constructors, Inc. v. Peia. Adarand, a Colorado highway guardrail com-
pany owned by a white male, filed the lawsuit to challenge the constitu-
tionality of a federal program designed to favor minority businesses
when awarding contracts. The Court ruled that federal affirmative action
programs must be tested, calling for “strict scrutiny” in determining
whether discrimination existed before using a federal affirmative action
program. The ruling greatly restricted affirmative action practices. In re-
sponse, President Bill Clinton (1946—; served 1993-2001) called for
major changes in the way affirmative action was carried out and prohib-
ited quotas, reverse discrimination, and preferential treatment for un-

qualified individuals.

College admissions and an uncertain future

In the 1996 case Hopwood v. University of Texas Law School, the U.S.
Court of Appeals overturned the 1978 Regents of the University of
California v. Bakke decision, which had supported race as a determining
factor in school admissions. In Hopwood, the Court asserted that diver-
sity was not necessarily in the interest of the state. Texas public universi-
ties were required to change their admissions processes so that race
would no longer be a factor. In 2003, however, the Supreme Court up-
held the University of Michigan Law School’s affirmative action admis-
sions policy, acknowledging that the school could benefit from a diverse
campus, thus ruling that race could be a factor in admissions as long as

it is not an overriding factor.
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Affirmative action programs survived into the twenty-first century,
though greatly reduced from their original character. The subject re-
mained highly controversial, with neither opponents nor supporters

showing any sign of changing their position.

Afghanistan Conflict

The invasion of Afghanistan by U.S. forces in October 2001 began as a
quick and effective strike, ousting a tyrannical government and sending
terrorist forces into hiding. For a number of reasons, the Afghanistan
War dragged on for years after the invasion, allowing the enemy a chance

to regain some of its power.

Retaliation for a terrorist attack

Within hours of the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks on the
World Trade Center and Pentagon, the administration of President
George W. Bush (1946—; served 2001-) determined that members of
the al-Qaeda terrorist network were responsible for the attacks. Two air-
liners crashed into the Twin Towers of New York City’s World Trade
Center, a third airliner crashed into the Pentagon, and a fourth jet
crashed into a Pennsylvania field before arriving at its intended target.
Al-Qaeda was led by the Saudi Arabian multimillionaire Osama bin
Laden (1957-) and others who had embraced a radical form of Islam
while fighting in Afghanistan during that nation’s ten-year war with the
Soviet Union (1979-89). Al-Qaeda was headquartered in Afghanistan,
where the ruling Islamic regime, the Taliban, had been providing it shel-
ter. After September 11, the Bush administration demanded that the
Taliban turn bin Laden and other al-Qaeda leaders over to the United
States. The Taliban stalled for weeks, claiming no knowledge of bin

Laden’s whereabouts.

The Bush administration prepared for war. Since an invasion of
Afghanistan could be viewed as an act of self-defense, the administration
did not seek United Nations approval for a multinational force. Instead,
Bush called on the help of Great Britain. Canada and Australia later also
contributed troops to the allied force. This mission was named
Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF).
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These two Canadian soldiers
are part of the NATO mission
to fight insurgents and
stabilize Afghanistan. SHAH
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The invasion

On October 7, U.S. and British forces launched air strikes against
Afghanistan. At the same time, the United States provided the Northern
Alliance, a loose coalition of Afghan military groups that had long op-
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Northern Alliance fighters
patrol the fallen northern city
of Mazar-e Sharif,
Afghanistan. OLEG NIKISHIN/
GETTY IMAGES

posed the Taliban, with funding and support for an offensive against the
Taliban on the ground. The strikes initially focused on the area in and
around the cities of Kabul, Jalalabad, and Qandahar. Within a few days,
most al-Qaeda training sites had been severely damaged, and the
Taliban’s air defenses had been destroyed. The air strikes then targeted
the Taliban’s communications systems.

By November 9, 2001, the northern city of Mazar-e Sharif had
fallen to the Northern Alliance; four days later, a combination of allied
air assaults and ground maneuvers by the Northern Alliance forced the
Taliban to surrender Kabul, the capital. On November 18, the Taliban
announced that it would no longer provide protection to bin Laden, but
the U.S. government was no longer inclined to believe the regime’s
promises. A week later, opposition Afghan leaders met in Bonn,
Germany, with U.S. support to plan the post-Taliban government.

Some five hundred U.S. Marines landed in Afghanistan on
November 26, the first major entry of American troops. Within hours of
the marines establishing their base, U.S. planes launched air strikes
against a Taliban stronghold outside the southern city of Qandahar.

The Taliban surrendered Qandahar on December 7. But both bin
Laden and Taliban leader Mullah Muhammad Omar (c. 1959-) had es-
caped from the city. December 16 saw the fall of Tora Bora, a cave com-
plex that had provided a fort for al-Qaeda and the Taliban. Six days later,
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on December 22, a temporary Afghan government was established, with
Hamid Karzai (1957-) sworn in as chairman. At that point, the Bush ad-
ministration’s invasion appeared to be complete and successful, but in

many ways the war had just begun.

Afghan-Pakistani border region

Although the opening offensives of the war came to a close at the end of
2001, the Taliban and al-Qaeda forces had not given up. They had sim-
ply moved into the region that surrounds the border between
Afghanistan and Pakistan. There they were able to reorganize more or
less in the open. The Taliban arose from a large tribal group called the
Pashtuns, who number about forty million and live in tribal units in
eastern and southern Afghanistan and northwestern Pakistan. When
Pashtuns in Pakistan learned of the U.S. invasion of Afghanistan, they
joined with other anti-Western groups in the area to offer refuge to the
fleeing Taliban and to al-Qaeda. Pakistan had long been an ally of the
Taliban in Afghanistan, and the new war strengthened ties between the
Taliban and certain Pakistani groups. The president of Pakistan, Pervez
Musharraf (1943-), had vowed to help the United States in its war
against terrorism, but the Pakistani government was apparently unable to
stop the buildup of insurgents in the remote regions of northwestern
Pakistan.

In the border regions in 2002, the Taliban began to build training
camps and recruit new soldiers from both sides of the border. The new
recruits soon began launching car bombs and suicide bombings against
the U.S.-U.K.-Northern Alliance coalition. They managed to regain
control, at least temporarily, of areas that had already been liberated by
the coalition forces.

On March 2, 2002, the United States launched Operation
Anaconda, the largest ground operation of the war. Involving some two
thousand U.S., Afghan, and allied troops, its purpose was to eliminate
any Taliban and al-Qaeda fighters remaining in the mountains of south-
eastern Afghanistan. An estimated one thousand to five thousand al-
Qaeda and Taliban forces had gathered in the Shahikot mountains in
early 2002, where they could use the high-altitude caves to fire upon ap-
proaching coalition soldiers from relative safety. When the Anaconda of-

fensive came to a close on March 17, the mountain caves were cleared
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and there were many enemy casualties, but hundreds of al-Qaeda and
Taliban soldiers escaped once more into the border areas of Pakistan.

To build a state, or not

Afghanistan had long been a very poor country. Many Afghan people
hoped that, after ousting the Taliban, the United States would bring in
enough money and resources to supply stability and build a new econ-
omy. Among the top Bush administration officials there was disagree-
ment. To commit large amounts of troops and money to bring political
and economic stability was seen as “state-building” or “nation-building,”
the attempt of a powerful country to build the political and economic
institutions of a weak or failing nation, and most conservatives opposed
such a plan, saying it overstepped the federal governments authority.
The administration wavered on these issues, announcing major recon-
struction efforts but not providing the number of soldiers or amounts of
money that the Afghan advisers requested.

NATO steps in

In 2002, the United States began to talk with other countries, mainly
European, who were willing to help stabilize Afghanistan. In this peace-
keeping and reconstruction plan, called the International Security
Assistance Force (ISAF), Germany was to train an Afghan police force,
Japan would disarm the warlords and their armies, England would fight
the drug business, Italy would help Afghanistan reform its court system,
and the United States would train a large Afghan army. The United
States, wanting to carry out its war on terrorists, committed an addi-
tional eight thousand troops to searching out al-Qaeda and Taliban in-
surgents. None of these efforts was very successful.

In November 2003 Zalmay Khalilzad (1951-), an Afghan
American, was appointed to serve as U.S. ambassador to Afghanistan.
Upon becoming ambassador, Khalilzad convinced the Bush administra-
tion to put more resources into the war in Afghanistan. He played a very
strong role in his year and a half as ambassador, from November 2003
until June 2005. Khalilzad helped the new government draft a constitu-
tion, hold democratic elections (in which Karzai was elected president),
and organize a parliament. But as things began to improve, President
Bush urgently needed him for another post—in Iraq.
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In March 2003, the Bush administration had launched an attack on
the nation of Iraq. (See Iraq Invasion.) At first, the engagement went
smoothly and did not require the efforts of the military personnel in
Afghanistan. By 2005, though, the experienced military leadership in
Afghanistan were being recruited in large numbers to help calm the in-
surgency (uprising) in Iraq.

At the end of 2005, the North Atantic Treaty Organization
(NATO; a mutual security and self-defense agreement formed in 1949
among European and North American nations to block the military
threat of the Soviet Union) took command of the fight against insurgents
in Afghanistan. NATO forces there were comprised of 31,000 to 37,000
soldiers from 37 countries; approximately one-third of them were from
the United States. The NATO mission was to stabilize Afghanistan.

In 2006, Afghanistan experienced a major increase in deadly attacks
by suicide bombers and individuals with homemade explosives. The
trend continued into 2007. Insurgents poured into Afghanistan from the
training camps in the Pakistan borderlands. While pursuing the insur-
gents, NATO and U.S. air strikes have killed a large number of Afghan
civilians, resulting in widespread anti-American and anti-Western senti-
ment. Poverty in Afghanistan was widespread, and years of war had
taken a heavy toll on the population.

The U.S. Department of Defense announced in early 2008 that the
number of U.S. troops in Afghanistan was around twenty thousand, the
highest number since the war began in October 2001. An additional
three thousand troops were expected to be sent there by summer to com-
bat the increasingly formidable Taliban forces.

AFL-CIO

See American Federation of Labor—Congress of Industrial
Organizations

African Americans

See Black Codes; Black Panther Party; Black Power Movement;
Buffalo Soldiers; Civil Rights Movement; Great Migration; Jim
Crow Laws; Lynching; National Association for the Advancement
of Colored People; Race Riots of the 1960s; Segregation; Slavery
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AIDS

Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS) is an infectious disease
that suppresses the immune system and prevents its victims from success-
fully fighting off infections that would not be of major concern in
healthy people. The disease is caused by the human immunodeficiency
virus (HIV), which is part of a group of viruses known as retroviruses.

Although the disease did not have a name untl 1982, the first
known cases of AIDS occurred in 1981. In the spring of that year, both
California and New York reported an increase in the number of cases of
Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia (PCP), a life-threatening form of pneu-
monia. In June, the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) reported five
cases of PCP in Los Angeles, all without identifiable causes. The report
is referred to as the beginning of a general awareness of AIDS in
America. Before the end of the year, the first case of AIDS was reported
in the United Kingdom.

Because the first documented cases of AIDS involved young homo-
sexual men, the disease was originally believed to be exclusive to that
population. Intravenous drug users were also transmitting the disease. It
soon became apparent that AIDS could be acquired through blood, as
evidenced by the death of a twenty-month-old child who had received
blood transfusions in 1982. With this discovery, scientists and medical
experts knew the disease was caused by an infectious agent, but HIV was
not identified as that cause until early 1985.

How it works

AIDS was not publicly mentioned until September 17, 1985, when U.S.
president Ronald Reagan (1911-2004; served 1981-89) was asked
about funding for the disease at a press conference. That same year, a
thirteen-year-old boy from Indiana named Ryan White (1971-1990)
was diagnosed with AIDS. White was a hemophiliac (someone who has
blood that does not clot) and had been infected with HIV via contami-
nated blood. Although White posed no risk to other students, he was
banned from attending school and became a national symbol for the
AIDS movement. White died in 1990 at the age of eighteen.

The public was terrified of this new disease, and little was known
about it. Two scientists, French immunologist Luc Montagnier (1932-)
and American immunologist Robert Gallo (1937-) and their teams dis-
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covered HIV as the cause around the same time (1983 and 1984), al-
though they worked independently. HIV leads to AIDS because it de-
stroys a certain type of blood cell necessary to maintaining a healthy

immune system. Although a person can live for years with HIV and not
know it, HIV always leads to AIDS. And AIDS is a fatal disease.

Since the advent of AIDS, researchers have learned much more
about how the disease is transmitted. HIV is spread by sexual contact
with an infected person, by sharing needles or syringes with someone

Several groups often gather to
raise AIDS awareness. One of
the most significant gatherings
happened in October 1996 in
Washington, D.C., when
thousands of people created
the AIDS Memorial Quilt to
honor those who had died
from and were living with the
disease. THE GALE GROUP
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AIDS: Number Of Active Cases By State
June 2001
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This map shows the number of active cases of AIDS in 2001. However, the number is continuing to increase and by 2007 North

America had over 1.3 million people infected with AIDS and HIV. AP IMAGES

who is infected, and by receiving transfusions of infected blood. Babies
born to women who are HIV-positive can become infected either before
or during the birth process. HIV-positive mothers who breastfeed may
transmit the disease to their babies. Sweat, tears, and saliva of infected
people have never been shown to transmit the disease.

AIDS in the twenty-first century

No country is immune from AIDS. According to a United Nations pub-
lication, 33.2 million people lived with HIV in 2007, up from 29 mil-
lion in 2001. Around 2.5 million of those living with HIV in 2007 were
newly infected that year.
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The most severely impacted region of the world in 2007 was sub-
Saharan Africa, where 22.5 million people live with HIV. Sixty-one per-
cent of these people are women. More than three-fourths of all
AIDS-related deaths in 2007 occurred there. In North America, 1.3 mil-
lion were infected, and approximately forty-six thousand adults and chil-
dren were newly infected in 2007.

Medical treatment of HIV and AIDS has made many advancements
since the 1980s. In 1986, a drug called azidothymidine (AZT) was
shown to slow the attack of HIV. Since that time, other drugs have been
found to be effective. Antiretrovirals interfere with the reproduction of
HIV; protease inhibitors interfere with the enzymes HIV requires to take
control of specific body cells; and nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase in-
hibitors interfere with HIV’s ability to sort its genetic material into the
viral code that leads to AIDS.

Although modern medicine helps delay the onset of AIDS in HIV-
positive patients, there is no medicine that will prevent AIDS. The med-
icines available are expensive, and those who need them most can least
afford them. AIDS remains one of the leading causes of death across the
globe and is the leading cause of death in Africa.

Air Force

The U.S. Air Force (USAF) was once part of the Army; it was officially
established as its own branch of the military on September 18, 1947,
with the passage of the National Security Act. Under that act, the
USAF’s mission is to provide prompt and sustained offensive and defen-
sive air operations in combat, to preserve the peace and security of the
United States, and to fly and fight in air and space.

Before 1947, the Army and the Navy provided military aviation.
The army’s aviation section, the U.S. Signal Corps, was created in 1914.
The USAF has fought in every war in U.S. history since World War I
(1914-18). Like other branches of the military, the Air Force also partic-
ipates in humanitarian efforts worldwide. One of the most famous was
the Berlin Airlift of 1948-49.

According to Air Force Magazine, the 2006 USAF had a combined
active duty and reserve field consisting of 302 flying squadrons.

Despite the fact that the USAF is the aviation branch of the military,
most members never leave the ground; instead, they fill the hundreds of
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support positions necessary to maintain successful missions, working as
mechanics, computer specialists, civil engineers, hospitality (restaurant)
workers, lawyers, drug counselors, and others.

The most dangerous jobs in the Air Force are in the Pararescue,
Combat Control, and Combat Weather divisions. These sections consist
of enlisted members who go on special operations missions to rescue per-
sonnel, call in air strikes, and set up landing zones. The Air Force pro-
vides all training for almost every one of these enlisted jobs. After recruits
go through basic training, they attend a technical training school for the
particular positions they have chosen or been assigned.

Officer candidates train at the Air Force Academy in Colorado
Springs, Colorado. The academy was established on April 1, 1954, and
the first class entered in July 1955. Women were first accepted in 1976.
Graduates can be commissioned by any of the branches of the military.
The USAF Academy is one of the most selective colleges in the United
States.

Al-Qaeda

Al-Qaeda (pronounced al KYE-dah; Arabic for “the base”) is a world-
wide terrorist network of organizations and individuals dedicated to
Jjihad (“struggle” or “holy war”) for the cause of Islam. Its goal is to rid
Muslim countries of what it perceives is the corrupting influence of
Western culture and to install fundamentalist Islamic regimes—govern-
ments that rule according to a literal interpretation of the Muslim sacred
texts (the Koran and the Hadith) and enforce sharia (Islamic law). Al-
Qaeda is only one of a number of closely linked Islamic terrorist and in-
surgency groups. The size of al-Qaeda is not known, but estimates run
between several hundred to several thousand members. Some scholars
believe, however, al-Qaeda is actually a small group that has received
undue publicity for acts that have originated with other, connected ter-
rorist groups. Al-Qaeda became notorious in the United States for its ac-
tions in the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks, when members of
the group hijacked four U.S. airplanes. Two of the aircraft destroyed the
World Trade Center in New York City; a third crashed into the Pentagon
near Washington, D.C.; and the fourth crashed in a field in
Pennsylvania.
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Osama bin Laden trained
militant recruits from all
over the world, creating the
al-Qaeda organization.

AP IMAGES

Roots of al-Qaeda

In 1979, the Soviet Union invaded Afghanistan.
Muslim leaders around the world called for a
jihad, fearing the Soviets would establish a secu-
lar (nonreligious) government in the Muslim
country. Thousands of Muslim men, primarily
of Arab origin, volunteered to assist the Afghan
resistance fighters against Soviet troops. With
assistance from the United States, Saudi Arabia,
and Pakistan, the Afghans and foreign fighters—
or mujahideen (holy warriors), as they came to
be known—defeated the Soviet Union in
February 1989. The victory was celebrated as a
triumph for God by the “Afghan Arabs,”
Muslims who had traveled to Afghanistan from
Arab countries and joined the war in the name
of Islam.

Osama bin Laden (1957-) was among the
thousands of mujahideen who fought in
Afghanistan. From a wealthy and prominent Saudi Arabian family, bin
Laden brought financial support to the cause. After the war with the
Soviet Union, bin Laden and his associates started to recruit soldiers and
develop training camps. Bin Laden believed that defeating the Soviet
Union was only the first step in a worldwide jihad campaign to support
Muslims and promote Islamic governments. In Afghanistan, bin Laden’s
early supporters included members of the radical Egyptian group al-
Jihad al-Islami, which was involved in the assassination of President
Anwar el-Sadat (1918-1981) of Egypt in 1981. Bin Laden soon joined
forces with the prominent al-Jihad leader Ayman al-Zawahiri (1951-),
who favored terrorism and violence as the means by which to wage this
international jihad.

Many “Afghan Arabs” returned home after the defeat of the Soviet
Union ready to spark jihad in their own societies. Bin Laden returned to
Saudi Arabia for a short period, but he was stripped of his Saudi citizen-
ship in 1994 because of his extremist views. He set up his organization
briefly in Sudan, but soon international pressure forced Sudan to crack
down on him. Bin Laden moved to Afghanistan in 1996, where he was
sheltered by the Taliban, the tyrannical ruling Islamist group.
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In Afghanistan, bin Laden set up new training camps for militant re-
cruits from all over the world, and his organization came to be known as
al-Qaeda. Bin Laden was one of several primary leaders, including al-
Zawahiri. Al-Qaeda represents itself as an Islamic group based on reli-
gious ideas, but its versions of the fundamental teachings of the Koran
(the Muslim holy book) often differ greatly from mainstream interpreta-
tions. For example, bin Laden reinterpreted the concept of fatwa, a for-
mal legal opinion. In Islam, believers are encouraged to seek answers to
questions they have about Islam by submitting them to an Islamic cleric,
or teacher. The teacher issues a fatwa in response to the question, clari-
fying the issue based on the writings of the Koran. Bin Laden issued his
own “fatwas,” which were neither responses to questions nor issued by
Islamic clerics.

Declaration of jihad against the United States

During the U.S.-led Persian Gulf War (1991) against Iraq, the United
States established military bases in Saudi Arabia. In bin Laden’s view, this
was an occupation of the holy land of Islam in Arabia, where the holy
Islamic sites of Mecca and Medina are located. On August 23, 1996, bin
Laden issued his first fatwa identifying the United States as an enemy
and urging Muslims to kill American military personnel abroad. In
1998, he issued a second fatwa, this time in the name of the
International Islamic Front for Jihad Against the Jews and Crusaders,
urging all good Muslims to kill not only U.S. military personnel but also
U.S. civilians.

Operations

Al-Qaeda’s structure is based on secrecy. It is a worldwide network of or-
ganizations and cells (small groups of three to five people, who are se-
cretly part of the organization but live undercover in society). Terrorist
attacks are often planned, organized, and carried out by small groups
called “sleeper cells,” which remain dormant, or inactive, in foreign
countries for long periods of time. Some of the September 11 hijackers,
for example, lived in the United States for several years, using the time
to plan the attack and learn the skills they needed (in this case, piloting
commercial aircraft). To ensure secrecy, most members of terrorist cells
do not know the identity of or the nature of the tasks carried out by
other members of the organization or even their leaders. By maintaining
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These satellite photos show various hideouts of al-Qaeda—linked militants along the Afghanistan border. Due to substantial

Junding from bin Laden himself, al-Qaeda is able to access the Internet, television, and other media while hiding in remote

areas. AP IMAGES
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secrecy in this way, al-Qaeda has been able to evade most counterterror-

ism efforts.

Al-Qaeda has a sophisticated structure. A primary factor has been
bin Laden’s access to money. He inherited about $250 to $300 million
from his father. With a college education in business, bin Laden was able
to set up a complex financial network. To collect money under the guise
of religious purposes, he created a number of Muslim charities around
the world, including in the United States. Although stationed in remote
areas, al-Qaeda employed satellite communications (the use of artificial
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satellites stationed in space for communications using radio technology
at microwave frequencies) for access to the Internet, television, radio,
and other international media. Bin Laden and al-Zawahiri used the in-
ternational media to voice their beliefs and goals and, most importantly,
to gain worldwide attention. Some experts believe that they placed hid-
den messages in their media statements to communicate to al-Qaeda
cells awaiting instructions.

History

The U.S. government began to identify bin Laden publicly as an inter-
national terrorist in the mid-1990s, when evidence connected him to at-
tacks on U.S. military personnel and assets in Somalia (1992) and Saudi
Arabia (1995-96). In addition, bin Laden was tied to several unsuccess-
ful terrorist plots, including plans to assassinate Pope John Paul II
(1920-2005) in 1994 and U.S. president Bill Clinton (1946—; served
1993-2001) in 1995.

Al-Qaeda

Nineteen servicemen and women were killed in 2000 when the USS Cole was bombed in Yemen by al-Qaeda suicide bombers.

AP IMAGES
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On August 20, 1998, in the wake of the al-Qaeda—led bombings of
the U.S. embassies in Kenya and Tanzania that killed 224 people and in-
jured thousands, President Clinton added al-Qaeda to the U.S. list of
Foreign Terrorist Organizations. On June 7, 1999, bin Laden was added
to the Federal Bureau of Investigation’s Ten Most Wanted list, with a
$5 million reward offered for his capture. The U.S. government dis-
played his picture on wanted posters, matchbooks, and leaflets distrib-
uted worldwide in nearly a dozen languages. Unfortunately, this led
many to believe that bin Laden was single-handedly taking on the most
powerful country in the world, turning him into a popular hero in some
places. In response to the embassy bombings in Africa, President Clinton
ordered air strikes against a bin Laden camp in Khost, Afghanistan, as
well as what was believed to be an al-Qaeda chemical weapons facility in

Sudan.

Bin Laden evaded capture and continued his campaign of terror.
Nineteen U.S. servicemen and women were killed when the USS Cole, a
navy destroyer ship, was bombed in Yemen in October 2000. The bomb-
ing was eventually connected to al-Qaeda and is now seen as a forerun-
ner of what was to come on September 11, 2001. On that day nineteen
al-Qaeda members hijacked commercial airliners and flew them into the
World Trade Center in New York, the Pentagon in Washington, D.C.,,
and a field in Pennsylvania. It was the worst single terrorist attack on
U.S. soil in the country’s history, killing nearly three thousand people.
Al-Qaeda links have been cited for most of the large terrorist acts world-
wide since then, but other powerful and deadly terrorist organizations
may be responsible for some of the violent deeds.

On the run?

After the attacks on September 11, a U.S.-led invasion of Afghanistan
forced al-Qaeda into hiding in Afghanistan. Al-Qaeda’s operations were
damaged, but the organization remained powerful. In 2003, the United
States invaded Iraq and deposed its dictator, Saddam Hussein
(1937-20006). (See Iraq Invasion.) Iraq quickly grew unstable, partly
due to differences between the two major Muslim groups, the Shiites and
the Sunnis. As the Iragi conflict grew, al-Qaeda operators apparently
moved into the country and recruited Iraqi rebels into the organization,
attempting to further destabilize Iraq by igniting sectarian conflict. A
new terrorist group arose called al-Qaeda-in-Iraq.
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In mid-2007 the location of al-Qaeda leaders bin Laden and al-
Zawahiri remained unknown. Individual cells remained secret, and
many financial assets were in the hands of al-Qaeda members. Political
and social conditions around the world continued to produce anger and
resentment against the West, resulting in a constant supply of new re-
cruits for al-Qaeda and connected terrorist groups.

Alabama

Alabama became the twenty-second state of the Union on December 14,
1819. Located in the eastern part of the south central United States, it
borders Tennessee, Georgia, Mississippi, Florida, and the Gulf of
Mexico. Its capital is Montgomery, and the state motto is “We dare de-
fend our rights.”

During the sixteenth century, Spanish expeditions explored the re-
gion now known as Alabama. In 1702, two French naval officers estab-
lished Ft. Louis de la Mobile, the first permanent European settlement
in the region. It remained under French control until 1763, when it was
turned over to the British.

The Spanish took control of Mobile in 1780 during the American
Revolution (1775-83). American troops seized the city in the War of
1812 (1812-15). West Florida, which included Mobile at the time, was
the only territory added to the United States as a result of that war.

Native Americans still held most of present-day Alabama at the start
of the nineteenth century. As American settlers began moving into the
area, the Creek tribe was forced to sign a treaty giving about 40,000
square miles (103,600 square kilometers) of land to the United States.
This opened up about three-fourths of the present state to white settle-
ment.

Statehood and secession

Alabama fever took hold of Americans as they poured in from
Kentucky, Tennessee, Georgia, Virginia, North Carolina, and South
Carolina. Alabama became a territory in 1817 and adopted a state con-
stitution on August 2, 1819. Four months later, Alabama became a state.

Alabama seceded (separated) from the Union in January 1861 and
joined the Confederacy. Montgomery served as capital of the
Confederacy until May, when the seat of government was moved to

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History

Alabama

41



Alabama

42

Richmond, Virginia. Historians estimate that at least twenty-five thou-
sand Alabamians were killed in the American Civil War (1861-65). The
state was readmitted to the Union in 1868.

Industry

Alabama’s economy was based on cotton. The abolition of slavery
brought about an attempt by the state to help build a “New South” in
which agriculture would be balanced by industry. Throughout the 1880s
and 1890s, approximately twenty towns in Alabama claimed to be iron-
working centers. Birmingham became the leading industrial center.

Alabama became home to industries such as coal and steel in the late
nineteenth century, and other industries such as clothing, textiles, and
wood products followed. Even with this diverse economic base, the state
still fell behind in wage rates and per capita income in the early 2000s.
Manufacturing grew at just over half the rate of all state goods and serv-
ices in the years between 1974 and 1983. When recession (a significant
decline in economic activity for an extended period of time) hit from
1980 to 1982, it affected Alabama harder than it did the nation as a
whole. In the beginning of the twenty-first century, the nation entered
another recession, and many people working in manufacturing and the
textile industries lost their jobs.

Civil rights

Alabama was the backdrop to civil rights demonstrations during the
1950s and 1960s. One of the most famous events of the civil rights
movement was the Montgomery bus boycott of 1955, begun when
Rosa Parks (1913-2005) refused to give up her seat to a white man and
move to the back of the bus. Some demonstrations and protests became
violent, such as the 1963 Birmingham Baptist Church bombing in
which four young African American girls were killed. Alabama’s gover-
nor at the time was Democrat George Wallace (1919-1998), who served
four terms. Like most traditional Southerners, Wallace was in favor of
segregation (keeping races separate).

Alabama spent the last decades of the twentieth century trying to
improve its educational system as well as its health care system.
Widespread poverty worked against the state, and in the twenty-first
century it remained one of the nation’s poorest states. According to the
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U.S. Census Bureau, Alabama had the fifth-lowest median (average) in-
come ($38,783) in the nation in 2007. The median income for the
United States as a whole was $48,451.

The Alamo

The Alamo was a mission, or religious compound, built by the Spanish
in the early eighteenth century in what is now San Antonio, Texas. The
four-acre walled compound was devoted to the agricultural and religious
education of the area’s Indians. By the early nineteenth century, the
Alamo had been abandoned by the Catholic Church (see Catholicism)
and taken over by Spanish soldiers. After Mexico won its independence
from Spain in 1821, the Mexican army occupied the compound.

American rebellion

By the 1830s, Texas had a majority of U.S. residents, although the area
belonged to Mexico. In 1835, these residents revolted against Mexico.
The rebels in San Antonio were able to clear their area of Mexican sol-
diers, and they quickly took command of the Alamo compound. On
February 23, 1836, three thousand to four thousand Mexican troops
crossed the Rio Grande—a river that borders what is now Texas and
Mexico—under the command of Mexico’s dictator, General Antonio
Lépez de Santa Anna (1794-1876). Their intent was to recapture the
fortification. A force of 145 Texans, under the joint command of
colonels William B. Travis (1809-1836) and James Bowie (1796—-1836),
prepared to defend the Alamo.

The siege

Santa Anna and his forces approached the stout-walled Alamo mission
and demanded that the rebels surrender. When Travis replied with a can-
non shot, the Mexican army surrounded the fort, and a thirteen-day
siege began. The rebels sent a message to the commander in chief of the
Texas military, Sam Houston (1793-1863), with a plea from Travis for
reinforcements. On March 2, thirty-two of Houston’s men made it
through Mexican lines into the fort. They joined the Alamo’s defenders,
an assortment of men from eighteen different states and several
European countries, many of whom were relatively new to Texas. Among
the rebels was the frontiersman and former U.S. congressman Davy
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Mexican soldiers led by General Antonio Ldpez de Santa Anna stormed the Alamo and defeated Texas rebels trying to hold the
compound. KEAN COLLECTION/GETTY IMAGES
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Crockett (1786-1836) of Tennessee, who led twelve Tennessee volun-
teers. With the 32 newcomers, there were only about 187 men defend-
ing the Alamo against about 4,000 Mexican troops. During the siege,
they suffered from lack of sleep and ran low on ammunition, but no one
tried to flee.

At four o’clock in the morning of March 6, Santa Anna and his
troops stormed the Alamo on all sides. The Texans fought against all
odds. Their guns got hot from heavy firing, their ammunition was nearly
gone, and men began dropping from exhaustion. Even when the
Mexicans penetrated the walls of the Alamo, the defenders continued to
fight, clubbing them with rifles and drawing knives. The last point taken
was the church, where Crockett and his volunteers fell. By eight o’clock
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that morning, the last of the 187 defenders was dead, and about 1,500
of the Mexican troops were killed.

The fall of the Alamo sowed panic throughout Texas. Much of the
civilian population and the government fled toward U.S. soil.
Meanwhile, Sam Houston gathered an army. Six weeks later, marching
to meet Santa Anna, Houston delivered an impassioned address to his
troops, telling them to “Remember the Alamo!” With that cry, they de-
feated the Mexicans at a battle near the San Jacinto River, establishing
the independent Texas Republic.

Alaska

Alaska entered the Union on January 3, 1959, to become the forty-ninth
state. Its name means “great land,” and its motto is “North to the
Future.”

Alaska lies in the northwest corner of North America and is sepa-
rated from the contiguous (adjacent) forty-eight states by Canada. It is
the largest of the fifty states, with a total area of 591,004 square miles
(1,530,699 square kilometers). Alaska occupies 16 percent of all U.S. land.

The state has a number of offshore islands, including Saint Lawrence
and others in the Bering Sea, Kodiak Island in the Gulf of Alaska, and
the Aleutian Islands in the Pacific Ocean.

Between ten thousand and forty thousand years ago, America’s abo-
riginal peoples crossed a land bridge connecting Siberia with America.
These hunter-gatherers from Asia dispersed and became three distinct
groups: Aleut, Eskimo, and Indian.

Russian voyagers landed in Alaska in 1741, and in 1784 the first per-
manent Russian settlement was established on Kodiak Island. Russia sold
its Alaskan territories to the United States in 1867 for $7.2 million, or
two cents per acre. It became known as the Alaska Purchase.

Economy

The gold rush in the late 1880s hastened Alaska’s economic develop-
ment. That progress was overshadowed in 1898, when gold was discov-
ered in Canadas Klondike region. Hundreds of thousands of people
hoping to strike it rich came to the Yukon River valley and other Alaskan
regions, including the Arctic. When the Alaska Railroad was built in
1914, even the most remote wilderness area became accessible.
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Alaska depends heavily upon oil for its economy; 85 percent of its
revenue comes from oil. When overproduction in the Middle East drove
down the price of oil late in the twentieth century, the state’s revenue de-
clined by two-thirds, and the state lost twenty thousand jobs between
1985 and 1989.

In March 1989 the oil tanker Exxon Valdez hit a reef and, in one of
the worst pollution disasters worldwide, spilled nearly eleven million gal-
lons of crude oil that contaminated 1,285 miles of shoreline. The af-
fected areas included Prince William Sound and its wildlife sanctuary,
the Gulf of Alaska, and the Alaska Peninsula. The Exxon Corporation

was fined more than $1 billion in civil and criminal penalties.

Alaska’s Arctic National Wildlife Refuge (AN'WR) has been the sub-
ject of national debate since the 1990s. Some people have favored open-
ing the twenty-million-acre wilderness to oil drilling, a move that failed
to receive enough support from Congress to pass until 2005. At that
time, both the Senate and the House of Representatives voted to approve
drilling as part of a larger bill to reduce federal spending. Many Senate
members remained committed to preventing any drilling, however, and
they threatened a filibuster (a delay tactic used by a Senate minority to
prevent the passage of a bill) if the text regarding drilling in the ANWR
was not removed. The text was removed and, as of early 2008, drilling
was still up for debate.

Unlike most states whose populations vote either Republican or
Democrat, Alaska is overwhelmingly (59 percent) unaffiliated with ei-
ther party. In spite of this, in presidential elections since 1968, the state
has voted Republican ten consecutive times.

At the time of its statchood induction, Alaska was almost completely
dependent upon the federal government for its economic stability.
During the 1970s, its petroleum industry developed, and the construc-
tion of the Trans-Alaska Pipeline brought both money and people to the
state. Other important industries include commercial fishing and
tourism. Tourism brought in $1.5 billion in 2003, which was 5 percent
of Alaska’s gross state product.

Alaska Purchase

The Alaska Purchase was a treaty by which Russia sold territory to the
United States in 1867. The area comprised present-day Alaska and con-
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tained abundant natural resources. Russia was motivated to sell the area

because of financial concerns and its lagging interest in the region.

The region of Alaska, which had been part of Russian territory for
years, had proved to be a drain on the Russian treasury. Years of neglect
hampered the region’s profitability, so Russia was interested in surrender-
ing responsibility for it. With the American population increasing in
California to the south, the Russians decided to open conversations to
sell the area to the United States.

In March 1867, the U.S. secretary of state, William Seward
(1801-1872), and Russian minister Eduard de Stoeckl (1804—1892) ne-
gotiated a treaty under which the United States would purchase Alaska for
$7.2 million. As Alaska had nearly 586,400 square miles, the cost was only
about two cents per acre. Alaska ultimately proved to be rich in natural re-
sources of timber, coal, copper, gold, and oil as well as salmon and furs.

Americans mock purchase

While both governments thought they had negotiated the better deal,
news of the treaty was not well received by Americans. Critics mocked
the treaty with names like Seward’s Folly or Seward’s Icebox. They said
the price was too high for a territory that would prove to be worthless.
Supporters argued that the region’s natural resources would help com-
merce in the region and assist in opening trade with Asia.

The treaty was presented to the Senate on March 30, but public out-
cry prevented its quick approval. The necessary two-thirds vote came
only after an impassioned three-hour speech by Charles Sumner
(1811-1874), chairman of the Senate Foreign Relations Committee.
The treaty passed that day, April 9, and the two countries exchanged rat-
ifications on June 20.

The formal transfer of Alaska occurred on October 18, 1867, before
the United States had paid Russia the agreed price. Political squabbling
delayed approval for funding by the House of Representatives. The ap-
propriations bill was finally approved a year after ratification, and pay-
ment was made on August 1, 1868.

Gold was discovered in Alaska in 1881, and prospectors, merchants,
miners, and explorers streamed into Alaska to seck a fortune. In 1884,
Congress organized the territory by passing the Organic Act, which
placed Alaska under a collection of federal laws and Oregon state laws.
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A second Organic Act in 1912 provided for land ownership, mail serv-
ice, and a civil government under the Territory of Alaska. Alaska became
the forty-ninth, and largest, state in the union in 1959.

Alien and Sedition Acts

In March 1797, John Adams (1735-1826; served 1797-1801) entered
office as the second president of the United States. His term was marked
by challenges both internationally, with a war between France and Great
Britain, and domestically as political differences grew between members
of the Federalist Party and Democratic-Republican Party, the coun-
try’s two main political parties. In 1798, both tensions culminated in the
passage of the Alien and Sedition Acts by the Federalist-controlled
Congress.

Conflict on the high seas

Great Britain and France were at war over issues related to colonization
and commerce. The United States was officially neutral in the war. In
1795, however, the United States had signed a commerce and alliance
treaty with Britain called Jay’s Treaty. France believed Jay’s Treaty was a
breach, or violation, of treaties of commerce and alliance that America
had signed with France during the American Revolution (1775-83).
In angry response, France began seizing American merchant ships
bound for British ports. France forced the sailors on those ships to serve
France in its war with Great Britain. American attempts to negotiate
peace with France in 1797 resulted in the XYZ Affair. Diplomatic dis-
patches revealed that three French agents, referred to as X, Y, and Z in
the reports, had demanded bribes from the American peace envoy before

opening negotiations.

Party politics

Domestic reaction to these foreign affairs emphasized growing philo-
sophical differences between the Federalists and the Democratic-
Republicans. While the actions of the French were not popular, many
Democratic-Republican Americans still distrusted England and sympa-
thized with the ideals of the French Revolution, by which the people of
France overthrew its monarchy in 1789.
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Federalists, maintaining their history of antiforeign sentiment, be-
came suspicious of the loyalty of the thousands of French West Indian
refugees who flocked into the United States in an effort to escape revo-
lutionary terror. The refugees often aligned themselves with the
Democratic-Republicans.

Congress acts

Rallying behind the anti-French sentiment in the wake of the XYZ
Affair, in June and July 1798 the Federalists of Congress passed four acts
of legislation known as the Alien and Sedition Acts. The laws were in-
tended to suppress both alien and domestic subversives, people who op-
posed the federal government. The Alien and Sedition Acts proved to be
convenient tools for undermining the strength of the Democratic-
Republican Party as well.

The first of the four laws, called the Naturalization Act, increased
the length of residency required before an alien, or foreigner, could apply
for American citizenship. Previously the probationary period had been
five years. By increasing the period to fourteen years, the Federalists suc-
cessfully suppressed immigrant citizenship and hence immigrant votes in
America, which hurt mostly the Democratic-Republican Party.

Two of the acts were specifically aimed at removing aliens from
America. The Alien Friends Act allowed the president to deport any alien
suspected of threatening the peace and safety of the United States. The
Alien Enemies Act authorized the president to seize, imprison, or deport
any aliens, dangerous or not, who were citizens of a country at war with
the United States. Neither act was ever enforced, and both expired in
1800.

The Sedition Act proved to be the most controversial and powerful
of the acts. Aimed at citizens and aliens alike, the act made it illegal to
write, publish, or speak anything of “a false, scandalous, and malicious
nature” against the government or the president “with intent to defame
... or to bring them into contempt or disrepute.” Acting on behalf of the
Adams administration, Secretary of State Timothy Pickering
(1745-1829) brought more than a dozen indictments, or formal accusa-
tions, under the Sedition Act. Ten resulted in convictions, including
those against Matthew Lyon (1749-1822), a Democratic-Republican
congressman from Vermont, and the editors of eight major Democratic-
Republican newspapers.
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Backlash

With no public way to criticize the administration or to challenge the
Sedition Act, its opponents turned to state legislatures for relief. Thomas
Jefferson (1751-1836), who was then vice president, anonymously
penned the Kentucky Resolutions as James Madison (1751-1836)
drafted the Virginia Resolutions. Both documents emphasized the rights
of the states to declare federal laws unconstitutional and to decide when
the federal government had overstepped its proper bounds.

While no other states passed official statements of opposition, pub-
lic support for the Sedition Act eventually began to wane. The trials
under the Sedition Act marked an early American confrontation between
the power of the federal government and the liberties and free speech
that people expected to enjoy in their new nation.

Recognizing that the Federalists may have gone too far, President
Adams fired Pickering by May 1800 and no longer urged prosecutions
under the Sedition Act. Although he managed to secure peace with
France by October 1800, the effects of the Alien and Sedition Acts were
profound enough to affect public opinion of the Federalist Party. Vice
President Jefferson, the Democratic-Republican candidate for president
in the election of 1800, won and was inaugurated the day after the
Sedition Act expired by its own terms, on March 3, 1801.

Alien Registration Act

In the early years of World War II (1939-45), some Americans were
concerned that foreigners and subversive, or revolutionary, groups were
plotting to undermine the U.S. government. Although the United States
had not yet entered the war, Congress passed the Alien Registration Act
in 1940 to address some of these concerns.

The Alien Registration Act was proposed by U.S. representative
Howard W. Smith (1883-1976) of Virginia, so the law was also called
the Smith Act. It was quite controversial, because it severely limited free
speech aimed at criticizing the U.S. government. It also required all
noncitizen adults to register with the United States, hence the name of
the act. Section I imposed a $10,000 fine and time in prison for those
who attempted to undermine the morale of U.S. soldiers.

Sections II and III imposed similar penalties for those who sup-
ported or encouraged the overthrow of the government. Merely teaching
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or advising such action was not allowed, even without taking active
steps. The Smith Act also outlawed the publication and distribution of
material that advocated a revolution or the organization of a rebellious
group. The act prohibited attempts to violate any part of the law. A 1948
revision made conviction somewhat harder by requiring proof of overt
acts to advocate or attempt the overthrow of the government. Merely
harboring such beliefs was no longer prohibited under the act.

During the 1940s and 1950s, more than a hundred people were
charged with violation of the Smith Act. Only twenty-nine served time
in prison for their conduct. The government targeted enforcement activ-
ity at members of communist and socialist organizations. (Communism
and socialism are both economic and political theories that advocate
communal ownership of property, and support governments in which
the means of production are owned and controlled by the state for the
good of all citizens.) Cases were appealed to the U.S. Supreme Court.
In 1951, the Court found that the act did not violate rights under the
U.S. Constitution. In 1957, however, the Court decided that teaching
or advocating the overthrow of the government is constitutionally pro-
tected free speech. After that decision speech had to be accompanied by
subversive action in order to be a punishable offense.

Allies

The Allies were the countries united in an alliance in World War II
(1939-45) to fight the Axis countries of Germany, Japan, and Italy. The
countries that first declared war on Germany after its invasion of Poland
in 1939 were the founding Allied forces. They were Poland, Great
Britain, and France.

Many countries joined the Allied efforts over the course of the war.
Twenty-six countries signed the Declaration by the United Nations on
January 1, 1942, uniting them in the Allied cause. More nations would
sign later.

The leading efforts of Great Britain, the Soviet Union, and the
United States in the second half of the war earned them the distinction
as “the Big Three.” Prime Minister Winston Churchill (1874-1965) of
Great Britain, Premier Joseph Stalin (1879-1953) of the Soviet Union,
and President Franklin D. Roosevelt (1882—1945; served 1933-45) of
the United States coordinated the military efforts of the Allies across the
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Amendments

Newspapers across the globe

gave constant updates on the
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movement of Allied forces.
HULTON ARCHIVE/GETTY
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world. China and France, the latter when not occupied by Germany and
its Nazi dictator, Adolf Hitler (1889-1945), played important leading
roles as well.

The Allies managed to defeat the Axis powers even though their re-
sources were stretched around the world. After the capture of Italy’s dic-
tator, Benito Mussolini (1883-1945), Italy switched sides to fight with
the Allies in September 1943. The battles across Europe ended with the
unconditional surrender of Germany on May 7, 1945. Battles around
the Pacific Ocean against Japan continued until the United States used
the atomic bomb for the first time to end the war. After suffering the
devastation of the cities Hiroshima and Nagasaki, Japan agreed to sur-
render on August 10, 1945.

Amendments
See Individual Amendments, e.g. First Amendment
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American Civil Liberties Union

The American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) is an organization founded
to defend equal rights and civil liberties for all Americans, including the
rights to free speech, due process, and freedom of the press.

Founding in 1920

The ACLU has its roots in World War I (1914—18). ACLU founder and
long-time president Roger N. Baldwin (1884—1981) strongly opposed
the war. He joined the antiwar organization American Union Against
Militarism (AUAM) in New York in 1917 and quickly became its most
determined crusader. After the war, on January 20, 1920, Baldwin and
some of his AUAM associates established a new group they called the
American Civil Liberties Union.

Baldwin immediately changed the focus of the ACLU from antiwar
issues to civil liberties. The ACLU’s sole commitment was to the Bill of
Rights, the amendments made to the U.S. Constitution regarding lib-
erties, such as freedom of religion, speech, and press, and the right to pri-
vacy, to assemble peacefully, and to petition the government.

The ACLU was founded during a period known as the red scare of
1920, when an overwhelming fear of Communists was sweeping the na-
tion. Communists are people who believe in an economic or political
system in which property is owned collectively by all members of soci-
ety, and labor is organized for the common good. In 1919, the U.S. gov-
ernment launched nationwide raids to round up and detain alleged
radicals, who it claimed were part of a Communist plot to destroy the
country. The ACLU, still a tiny new organization, worked tirelessly in
the courts to stop the government from violating civil liberties, going to
court to fight its deportation of foreigners for their political beliefs and
its attempts to stop trade unions from organizing.

Famous cases

In 1925, Baldwin wanted to test the powers of his organization on the
issue of free speech. He was particularly concerned about a Tennessee
law that prohibited teaching the theory of evolution in schools. The the-
ory of evolution is a scientific explanation of how changes may have hap-
pened in populations of animals, including human beings, from one
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Roger Baldwin founded the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) and focused on protecting liberties, such as freedom of
religion, speech, and press, and the right to privacy. © BETTMANN/CORBIS
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generation to the next, due to genetic modifications. The people respon-
sible for the anti-evolution laws believed that human development was
the work of God and should not be explained to students in scientific
terms. Baldwin believed the prohibition against teaching a scientific the-
ory was a violation of the right of freedom of speech. He sought out a
teacher willing to break Tennessee’s anti-evolution law so ACLU lawyers
could take the issue to court. John T. Scopes (1900-1970) volunteered,
and thus began a trial that came to be called the Scopes monkey trial,
because of the evolutionary theory that human beings evolved from apes.
Although it lost the case, the ACLU gained notoriety and respect from
the trial.

Since the Scopes trial, the ACLU has been involved in many of the
most famous controversies in American history, playing a role in an esti-
mated 80 percent of the landmark Supreme Court cases related to indi-
vidual rights. During World War II (1939-45), the ACLU challenged
the internment of Japanese Americans, who were forced to leave their
homes and businesses and live in confinement in government camps
simply because of their ancestry. (See Japanese Internment Camps.)
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ACLU lawyers argued a case against religious prayers in public schools,
resulting in the Supreme Court ruling that the practice was unconstitu-
tional. The organization defended many protesters of the Vietnam War
(1954-75). In 1977, it defended the right of the Nazi Party to hold a

demonstration in the predominantly Jewish town of Skokie, Illinois.

ACLU and African American civil rights

From its beginnings, the ACLU made the issue of racial justice a major
part of its program. It established a close working relationship with the
National Association for the Advancement of Colored People
(NAACP). In the 1940s, ACLU leaders developed a proposal for a broad
legal attack on institutionalized segregation, which is the separation of
blacks and whites in public places. It eventually became the basis for
NAACP attorney Thurgood Marshall’s (1908-1993) successful legal
fight against segregation and led to the landmark Brown v. Board of
Education ruling in 1954. The ACLU was also a supporting force in the
African American civil rights movement of the 1960s.

On a number of issues, however, the ACLU and African American
civil rights activists have disagreed. On First Amendment (freedom of
speech) grounds, the ACLU opposed measures designed to restrict the
activities of racist groups such as the Ku Klux Klan. It also opposed ef-
forts by the NAACP to have the racist film Birth of @ Nation banned in
a number of cities. Its position was that the First Amendment guaran-
teed freedom of speech and assembly to all groups and that authorities
could not make distinctions between groups based on their personal be-

liefs.

The twenty-first century

In 2005, the ACLU had five hundred thousand members and handled
about six thousand court cases. Supported through membership dues,
tax-deductible contributions, and grants, the ACLU’s program consists
mainly of litigation (legal proceedings), lobbying (attempts to influence
government activities and policies), and public education.

Throughout nearly ninety years of activism, the ACLU remains
committed to the fundamental principle that the defense of civil liberties
must be universal, or extend to everyone. At times this has resulted in
harsh criticism and the loss of some core supporters. The ACLU’s de-
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fense of the freedom of speech of racist and anti-Semitic groups, such as
the Klansmen and American Nazis, deeply angered some of its support-
ers. The ACLU’s position that civil liberties should not be suspended in
the interest of civil defense was not popular in the first fearful days after
the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks on the United States. Most
historians agree, though, that the ACLU’s insistence on upholding the
Bill of Rights has remained remarkably evenhanded and courageous
amid the changing currents of public opinion.

American Colonization Society

In 1816, the American Colonization Society (ACS) was organized in
Washington, D.C., with the objective of encouraging, and paying for,
free black Americans to establish and live in a colony in Africa.

Why colonization?

For a time, the colonization project seemed to appeal to everyone. Many
of the first members of the ACS were Southerners who supported a grad-
ual abolition (elimination) of slavery. (See Abolition Movement.) They
promoted colonization as a means to deal with the growing numbers of
free blacks that would result from abolition. Soon many Northerners
joined the society, believing, like the Southerners, that free blacks and
whites could not live together without conflict. Colonization appealed to
Southern slave owners as a way to rid the South of troublesome free
blacks, who they feared would incite rebellions among their slaves. It was
also popular with some Northern antislavery advocates, who hoped it
would make slaveholders more willing to free their slaves. Some African
Americans also endorsed the idea in the belief that Americans would
probably never treat them as equals and that they might have a better life
in distant Africa.

Most black Americans, though, argued that the United States had
been the home of their families for generations. They had a clear right to
live there as equals and were willing to fight for that right. Most aboli-
tionists came to strongly oppose the ACS.

Liberia
After a long search for a location for the new colony, the ACS bought a
large area of land on Cape Montserado, in West Africa, about 225 miles
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south of Sierra Leone. There, in 1822, the society established the colony
of Liberia. Liberia’s capital, Monrovia, was named in honor of the fifth
president of the United States, James Monroe (1758-1831; served
1817-25), who, along with Congress, gave the society close to $100,000
to transport black Americans to Liberia. In the project’s first ten years,
about 2,638 blacks migrated to Liberia.

To encourage the colonization of Liberia, the ACS published letters
from blacks who had moved there and had good things to say about it.
It also published The African Repository and Colonial Journal, which
served as strong propaganda (the spreading of ideas or information, both
true and otherwise, to promote or damage a cause) by painting a posi-
tive picture of Liberia for black Americans. The ACS also promised to
provide colonists with land and economic support for six months. This
promise was not always kept, and emigrants were at times left stranded

on the Cape.

In 1838, the Commonwealth of Liberia was formed under the ad-
ministration of a governor appointed by the ACS, and the ACS governed
the country until it became a republic in 1847. By 1846, thirteen to
fourteen thousand free black Americans had immigrated to Liberia
under the plan. Joining these emigrants in Liberia were slaves rescued
from illegal slave-trading ships off the coast of Africa. (See Slave Ships
and the Middle Passage.)

Conflict

By the 1840s, the ACS was mired in controversy. Abolitionists, black and
white, opposed the society’s basic assumption that African Americans
could not live and work in the same communities as white Americans.
They argued that African Americans had worked hard in the United
States and had earned the right to call it home. They thought the ACS
was creating a distraction from what abolitionists considered the only
reasonable course of action—the immediate abolition of slavery in the
United States. Most Southern plantation owners did not approve of the
ACS ceither. They did not want to see African Americans, a group they
considered the region’s labor force, shipped across the Atdlantic.

The news from Africa was not much better. The native people of
Liberia resented the newcomers from the United States. Armed conflict
and bloodshed erupted in the colony. In 1847, the ACS went bankrupt
(did not have enough money to cover its debts). The American Liberians
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took the opportunity to found the independent Republic of Liberia.
Seizing power, they dominated the native groups as well as the Africans
rescued from slave ships, creating a rigid class system in the new coun-
try. The ACS stopped promoting colonization as part of its agenda, and
by the end of the century the group had disbanded.

American Federation of
Labor—Congress of Industrial
Organizations

The AFL-CIO is a voluntary federation of labor unions that represents
workers in various industries. AFL-CIO stands for the American
Federation of Labor and Congtess of Industrial Organizations.

The AFL-CIO began as the American Federation of Labor (AFL) in
1886. At that time, America was in the midst of the Industrial
Revolution. Factory workers were becoming a significant percentage of
the country’s labor force. Workers formed unions to help them bargain
with employers for better working conditions.

The AFL was led at first by Samuel Gompers (1850-1924).
Gompers believed that unions should focus on organizing skilled labor-
ers, but not unskilled ones. Gompers preferred unions to organize based
on the type of work members did, not the industries in which they
worked. He also believed that unions should not be too involved in pol-
itics. Rather they should focus on strategies and tactics for bargaining
with employers.

In the 1930s, the Great Depression (1929-41) made poor working
conditions even worse for laborers. By then, the factory system had a
large number of unskilled laborers in the American workforce. Some
members of the AFL, including John L. Lewis (1880-1969), believed
that unions should organize unskilled workers based on the industries in
which they worked. Lewis also believed that unions had to be more po-
litical and work for laws that favored workers.

At the AFLs annual convention in 1934, Lewis and his friends
helped pass a resolution that resulted in the AFL working to increase or-
ganization among industrial unions. The executive committee of the
AFL disagreed with the resolution. It associated unskilled laborers with
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violent strikes and other radical organizing tactics. So the AFL did not
do much to implement the resolution.

In November 1935, Lewis and others formed the Committee on
Industrial Organizations. They intended to operate within the AFL as a
separate committee. AFL president William R. Green (1872-1952) op-
posed the committee. The AFL ordered the committee to disband and
then suspended it in 1936 and expelled it in 1937.

The AFL-CIO heavily
recruited for members with
posters and pamphlets. The
organization works for
Javorable labor laws and helps
workers bargain with their
employers. THE LIBRARY OF
CONGRESS

UseXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History 59



American Flag

Unions and Race

Organized in 1886, the American Federation
of Labor initially represented the interests of
skilled, white, male, and immigrant workers
from Europe. African Americans were typically
excluded from the unions and related work
with restrictions on membership, apprentice-
ship, and hiring practices. In response, black
workers, particularly railroad porters, long-
shoremen, and plasters, formed all-black
unions on their own. When the Congress of
Industrial Organizations formed in 1938, it
adopted more inclusive racial policies to
strengthen its membership and its bargaining
power with the federal government.
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In 1938, Lewis and his supporters formed
their own organization called the Congress of
Industrial Organizations (CIO). The AFL and
the CIO functioned separately for the next two
decades. The CIO initally had great success,
growing as industry boomed during World War
IT (1939—45). This forced the AFL to modify its

recruitment efforts for its member unions.

After World War II, the federal government
passed many laws to restrict the power of
unions. By the 1950s, the AFL and the CIO de-
cided they needed to work together for favorable
laws and to organize workers for bargaining with
employers. They merged into one federation in
1955, representing around sixteen million work-
ers, about 35 percent of the American work-
force. By the end of the century, the figure fell to
around fourteen million, or 20 percent of the

workforce, as factories began to move overseas, forcing Americans to find

other types of work.

American Flag

The Marine Committee of the Second Continental Congress in

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, adopted a resolution on June 14, 1777,

stating that the flag of the United States would have thirteen stripes, al-

ternating red and white. (See Continental Congress, Second.) The

union would be symbolized with thirteen white stars on a blue field.

There was no direction as to how many points each star would have or

how they would be arranged. As a result, the first American flags varied

in pattern.

Popular legend has it that the first American flag was sewed by a
Philadelphia seamstress named Betsy Ross (1752-1836). Ross knew
General George Washington (1732-1799), who was the leader of the

Continental army at the time. Historians have not been able to verify the

Ross story, although it is known that Ross sewed flags for the

Pennsylvania navy in 1777. Many various flags were sewn throughout

the American Revolution (1775-83), but the flag commonly referred to
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American Flag

as the Betsy Ross flag (with the stars arranged in a circular pattern) did
not appear until the early 1790s.

The first unofficial national flag was called the Grand Union Flag or
the Continental Colors, and it was raised at the request of Washington
near his headquarters outside Boston, Massachusetts, on January 1,
1776. This flag had thirteen alternating red and white horizontal strips
and, in the upper left corner, the emblem of the British flag of the time.
The first official flag, known as Old Glory or the Stars and Stripes, was
approved by the Continental Congtress the following year on the day the
flag resolution was adopted. The emblem of the British Union Flag was

Betsy Ross shows George Washington the first American flag she made in Philadelphia in 1776. A year later, the Continental
Congress formally approved the 13-stripe, 13-star flag of red, white, and blue. AP IMAGES
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replaced by thirteen white stars on a blue background, representing the
thirteen colonies. No one knows with certainty who designed the flag,
though many historians believe it was Francis Hopkinson (1737-1791),
a member of the Continental Congress and signer of the Declaration of
Independence.

In the twenty-first century, the American flag has thirteen horizon-
tal stripes: seven red and six white alternating. The union of fifty states
is represented by fifty white, five-pointed stars on a field of blue in the
upper left quarter of the flag. President Dwight D. Eisenhower
(1890-1969; served 1953—-61) gave specific proportional measurements
for each facet of the flag in August of 1959.

American Indian Movement

The American Indian Movement (AIM) was founded in Minneapolis,
Minnesota, in the summer of 1968 by founders Dennis Banks (1937-)
and Clyde Bellecourt (1939-). Modeling itself after the Black Panther
Party, the organization initially focused on forming street patrols to stop
police brutality and other violence in the local Indian community. A
number of service programs ranging from alternative schools to low-cost

housing followed within the next two years.

Expands to national goals

After 1971, with the recruitment of American Indian activists such as
Russell Means (1939-) and John Trudell (1946-), the organization be-
came national in character and shifted its focus to gaining recognition of
American Indian treaty rights in Indian reservations. (Reservations are
tracts of land set aside by the federal government for use by the American
Indians, often as the result of major concessions on the part of American
Indian communities.) Most of AIM’s activity from late 1972 onward was
based at the Pine Ridge Reservation in South Dakota.

Trail of Broken Treaties

For a time, AIM pursued a strategy of forcing confrontations with fed-
eral, state, and local authorities to gain national attention for the plight
of American Indians. The most spectacular of these clashes was called the
Trail of Broken Treaties.
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Originating on the West Coast in the autumn of 1972, the Trail of
Broken Treaties began as a car caravan of several hundred American
Indians who traveled across the country to Washington, D.C. There
they were prepared to carry out a week-long schedule of ceremonies,
meetings, and peaceful protests. The protesters brought with them a list
of twenty points for presentation to federal officials, calling for the
restoration of treaty activity between federal and tribal governments, the
recognition of existing treaties, the creation of a commission to review
treaty commitments, and much more. The document forcefully asserted
sovereignty (self-rule) for Indian people.

The road-weary protesters expected to find decent accommodations
when they arrived in Washington. Instead, they found they had no as-
signed places to stay, no provisions, and no real acknowledgment from
federal officials. Hundreds found themselves stranded in an unfamiliar
city. On the morning of November 3, caravan participants sought shel-
ter in the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) building while the group’s
leaders met with federal officials. A confrontation between police and
Native Americans soon erupted in the lobby of the bureau. Within min-
utes, the police were pushed out onto the street and the building was bar-
ricaded from within. The protesters officially occupied the BIA building
for the next week.

The takeover of the BIA might have been interpreted by some as a
bold act of political resistance. However, damage to the building and its
contents, and the destruction and removal of important tribal docu-
ments, as well as those pertaining to individual Native Americans, re-
sulted in notable negative press. As the main force behind the Trail of
Broken Treaties, AIM had secured a reputation as a militant (war-like)
organization capable of violence.

Wounded Knee Il

AIM’s membership grew in the early 1970s as many American Indians
joined the movement for American Indians rights. Attention began to
focus on the Pine Ridge Reservation in South Dakota when Richard
Wilson was elected president of the Oglala Sioux tribal council in 1972.
Wilson was accused of buying hundreds of votes in that election. His ad-
ministration was charged with mishandling government funds and
granting questionable contracts to whites. In response to these charges,
Wilson had opponents beaten and their families threatened. He main-
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tained a GOON squad—an acronym for Guardians of the Oglala
Nation—to physically intimidate his opponents.

Investigators from the Department of Justice concluded later that
Wilson had imposed a “reign of terror” on reservation residents and that
federal authorities had funded him to do so. But Wilson won the sup-
port of the BIA by refusing to allow protests within the reservation. The
BIA ignored complaints against him, funded his GOON squad, and sent
its own agents to help him. Means, by then an AIM leader, vowed to run
against Wilson in the next election for tribal chair, but that would not
occur until 1974.

The residents of Pine Ridge voted to impeach Wilson as tribal chair
in 1973, but at his hearing he managed to talk the tribal council into vot-
ing in his favor. Several hundred angry members of the Oglala Sioux tribe
convened a meeting, asking AIM to attend. AIM’s policy was to enter the
reservation only on request. The Oglala Sioux Civil Rights Organization
made the official request for AIM’s help in overthrowing Wilson.

The occupation

On February 26, 1973, AIM members began to caravan to the Pine
Ridge Reservation. As he tried to enter the reservation, two members of
Wilson’s police force beat Means. He later returned, leading a larger band
of about 250 Indians. According to a police report, they broke into the
reservation store at 7:55 PM and took weapons and ammunition. Then
they took over the community of Wounded Knee, the site of the 1890
Wounded Knee massacre. Their original intent appears to have been a
short occupation to negotiate for Wilson’s dismissal and a traditional
tribal government free of BIA interference. The various government
forces, however, blockaded the roads and arrested anyone coming out of
Wounded Knee who appeared to be implicated in the takeover. In re-
sponse, the occupiers set up defenses and barricades of their own. A sev-
enty-one-day armed standoff had begun.

Support for the occupation grew on other reservations. Other
Indians made their way to Wounded Knee. During the occupation, there
was regular gunfire between the federal agents and the occupiers.
Hundreds of thousands of shots were fired into the village; two Indians
were killed and another dozen badly wounded during the fighting. The
occupation ended peacefully when federal officials agreed to discuss vio-
lations of U.S. treaty obligations with the Oglala chiefs.

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History



The aftermath

In the aftermath of Wounded Knee, 562 federal felony charges were lodged
against AIM members. Only fifteen of those resulted in convictions, but the
expense of continuously posting bail and paying attorneys exhausted the
movements funds and diverted its members’ attention for years.

From March 1973 to March 1976, at least 69 AIM members and
supporters died violently on Pine Ridge, while some 340 others suffered
serious physical assaults. In twenty-one of the AIM deaths, eyewitnesses
identified the killers as known GOON squad members. Not one of these

crimes was ever brought to trial as the result of a federal investigation.

The disagreement among the Oglala Sioux did not end, nor did fric-
tion between AIM and the government. A shootout at Pine Ridge in
June 1975, which killed one Indian and two FBI agents, led in 1977 to
a controversial trial and a life sentence for murder for AIM leader

Leonard Peltier (1944-).

Later years

Despite the Wounded Knee trials and Peltier’s conviction, AIM has re-
mained active. The organization has drawn considerable national and in-
ternational attention to the Peltier case. In 1978, AIM participated in the
“Longest Walk,” a national march on Washington, D.C., in the contin-
ued attempt to air Native American grievances. Three years later, AIM
established Yellow Thunder Camp on federal land in the Black Hills of
South Dakota. The establishment of the camp was the first step, accord-
ing to AIM leaders, in reclaiming this sacred land for the Lakota, or
Sioux, people. AIM has also protested against false and harmful images
of Native Americans in the media and as sports team mascots, and

against environmental abuses.

American Party
See Know-Nothing Party

American Red Cross

The American Red Cross was established on May 21, 1881, in
Washington, D.C., by a nurse named Clara Barton (1821-1912) and
some of her acquaintances. Barton had visited Europe just after the
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American Civil War (1861-65), where she learned of the International
Red Cross Movement. Once she returned to America, she campaigned
for an American Red Cross society, which would provide care to the
wounded in time of war and disaster. Sixty-year-old Barton was the or-
ganization’s first leader, and she remained so for twenty-three years.

Under Barton’s leadership, the Red Cross conducted its first domes-
tic and overseas disaster-relief efforts, assisted the U.S. military through-
out the Spanish-American War (1898), and successfully campaigned for
the inclusion of peacetime relief work as part of the International Red
Cross Movement.

The Red Cross received its first congressional charter in 1900 and a
second one in 1905. This charter outlined the purposes of the organiza-
tion and remained in place into the twenty-first century.

With the onset of World War I (1914-18), the Red Cross grew
from 107 local chapters in 1914 to 3,864 in 1918. Membership grew
from seventeen thousand to more than twenty million adult and eleven
million Junior Red Cross members. By the end of the war, the American
public had donated $400 million in funds and materials. Twenty thou-
sand registered nurses were recruited to serve in the military, and addi-

tional Red Cross nurses volunteered to fight the worldwide influenza
epidemic of 1918.

Once the war was over and attention could be turned to peacetime
activities, the Red Cross focused on service to veterans. It enhanced its
programs in accident prevention, safety training, and nutrition educa-
tion. Volunteers were on hand to help victims of the Mississippi River
floods in 1927, those of the severe drought throughout the Great Plains
states known as the Dust Bowl, and those of the Great Depression
throughout the 1930s.

War, again

Once again the Red Cross was called upon in time of war, this time for
World War II (1939-45). More than 104,000 nurses signed up for mil-
itary service as the Red Cross prepared twenty-seven million packages for
American and Allied (forces fighting alongside the Americans) prisoners
of war. (See Allies.) The organization shipped more than three hundred
thousand tons of supplies overseas and initiated a national blood drive
that collected 13.3 million pints of much-needed blood to be used by the
military.
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With the end of the war came another refocus of priorities, and the
Red Cross established the first nationwide civilian blood program, which
eventually supplied almost 50 percent of the blood and blood products
in America. In the 1990s, the organization expanded its role in biomed-
ical research and began “banking” human tissue for distribution. As
America entered other wars, the Red Cross provided services to members
of the military. It has since expanded its services to include civil defense,
HIV/AIDS education, training in CPR (cardiopulmonary resuscitation,
an emergency medical procedure), and the provision of emotional care
and support to disaster victims and survivors. The Red Cross played a
key role in helping the federal government form the Federal Emergency
Management Agency (FEMA) in 1979.

Controversy

After the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks on the World Trade
Center in New York City and the Pentagon near Washington, D.C., the
Red Cross came under scrutiny and was criticized for its handling and
management of donations. The organization established the Liberty
Fund, to which Americans donated $547 million, all of which they as-
sumed would go directly to victims of the tragedy. The fund was closed
in October 2001 after meeting its donation goal. When it was revealed
that only 30 percent of donations directly assisted victims and that the
rest would go toward improved telecommunications, building a blood
supply, and planning for future terrorist attacks, there was public outcry.
The Red Cross then hired someone from outside the organization to
handle the management of the fund, and it was promised that all monies
would go to the victims, survivors, and their families.

Criticism and controversy followed the Red Cross into 2005, the
busiest hurricane season on record. Hurricane Katrina, which hit
Florida, Louisiana, and Mississippi in August, was the most devastat-
ing natural disaster the organization had ever dealt with. The Red Cross
was criticized for its management of nearly $1 billion in donations and
received allegations that it responded more efficiently and quickly to

white victims and neighborhoods than it did to African Americans.
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American Revolution

The thirteen British colonies in America fought the American
Revolution (1775-83) to become independent from Great Britain. (See
Thirteen Colonies.) As a result, a new nation was born, the United

States of America.

Taxation without representation
By the 1760s, the British colonies in America had developed into thir-

teen individual territories with their own economic and political systems.
For the most part, the British Parliament and monarchy had refrained
from being involved in most aspects of colonial life since the early 1700s.
The British maintained and managed their economic interests in the
colonies, but they also allowed the colonies to govern themselves to a
large extent.

The outbreak of the French and Indian War (1754-63) changed
the status of the colonies in 1754. The British provided troops to sup-
port and protect the colonists in the conflict against the French and the
Indians. The war lasted until 1763 and depleted the British treasury.

After the war, the British Parliament sought to replenish its treasury.
Taxes had never been applied to the colonies, but Parliament decided it
was necessary for the colonies to share the responsibility of paying war
debts. Parliament enacted a series of tax measures over the next ten years
that sparked outrage throughout the colonies. Although the vast major-
ity of the colonial population was loyal to British rule, they had grown
used to levying their own taxes through their own governments. As the
colonists had no representation in Parliament, they felt they had no duty

to pay taxes to Great Britain.

Parliament was firm about its decision to tax the colonies, however,
and the series of acts placed on the colonies were strict. Parliament at-
tempted to control colonial trade and passed restrictions on colonial
money. It taxed imports in America through measures like the Tea Act
(1763) and the Sugar Act (1764). Another set of laws included the
Stamp Act (1765), the Declaratory Act (1766), and the Townshend
Acts (1767). These laws placed duties (taxes on imports) on a wide vari-
ety of goods, such as legal documents, glass, and lead.
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American Revolution

The American Revolution
ended shortly after the
surrender, shown here, of
British General Charles
Cornwallis to George
Washington at the Battle of
Yorktown in 1781. TIME &
LIFE PICTURES/GETTY
IMAGES

Tensions rise

The colonies had developed independently over time. Their governments,
economies, and populations were noticeably different. As a result, the

colonies often disagreed on policy matters and rarely united in a cause.
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In reaction to harsh British rule, American colonists rallied together and called for enrollment into the U.S. Army at the start of

the American Revolution. MPI/HULTON ARCHIVE/GETTY IMAGES
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The actions of the British Parliament began to unite the colonies in
common resentment of British rule. The Stamp Act particularly angered
the colonists, as it seemed to affect everyone. Printers were among those
most affected, however, and they aroused public opposition through the

publication of newspapers, editorials, and pamphlets.

The colonists resisted Britain’s actions in a variety of ways. Public

criticism appeared in print over Parliament’s taxation without the con-
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sent of colonial representatives. Merchants and
laborers created the Sons of Liberty, a military-
like club. Ordinary colonists harassed tax collec-
tors, attended public protest meetings, and
participated in boycotts of British goods. In
protest, colonists dumped loads of tea into the
Boston Harbor in December 1773, an event
called the Boston Tea Party.

Increased colonial resistance led to enact-
ment of the Coercion Acts in 1774, by which
Parliament restricted the power of local govern-
dissolved  the

Massachusetts legislature, closed Boston

ments. When  Britain

Harbor, shut down colonial courts, and quar-
tered, or housed, British troops in private
homes, the colonists were inspired to work to-
gether as they never had before. Reaction spread
far beyond Massachusetts, and some Americans
began to consider military resistance.

The colonies organize and fight

In 1774, delegates from the colonies gathered at
the First Continental Congress to evaluate the
level of discontent among all the colonies. (See
Continental Congress, First.) The Congress
sent a petition to the British government seeking
a resolution of their complaints. Though not all
Americans agreed that greater resistance was
necessary, some colonists began to prepare for

war.

American Revolution

Culpeper’'s Rebellion

During the colonial period in America,
England passed dozens of navigation acts to
control trade in the colonies. The acts placed
heavy duties on goods imported into the
colonies, and prevented the colonies from
trading with other nations. Their purpose was
to ensure that colonial trade enriched
England.

In 1677, rebels led by John Culpeper
(1644-1693) revolted against the colonial
government in the Albemarle section of the
colony of Carolina. Dissatisfaction with the
Navigation Acts was at the heart of the rebel-
lion. The rebels seized Thomas Miller, who
collected import duties for England under the
Navigation Acts. They also replaced the colo-
nial government with their own government
for two years, naming Culpeper governor.

The proprietors of the colony eventually re-
sumed control and sent Culpeper to London
to stand trial for treason. Culpeper escaped
punishment with the help of the Earl of
Shaftesbury. The rebellion, though it did not
last, was an early indication of the trouble be-
tween England and the colonies that would
lead to the American Revolution.

Historians generally agree that prior to the outbreak of the

Revolution, only one-third of the colonists actively supported military

action and independence. The remaining two-thirds were either

Loyalists faithful to British rule, or uncommitted either way.

Tensions between the colonists and the British turned hostile on

April 19, 1775. British troops went to Lexington and Concord in

Massachusetts to collect weapons and capture rebels. (See Battle of

Lexington and Concord.) When the British met armed resistance from
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citizen militias, the conflict became violent, and the American

Revolutionary War began.

The colonies united with a vote for independence at the Second
Continental Congress in the summer of 1775. (See Continental
Congress, Second.) Colonial delegates worked to establish an independ-
ent government under the Articles of Confederation. Although the
document provided a unifying government, it proved to be weak: It was
unable to supply the funds, supplies, and military staffing that could

have made for a swifter war.

American victory was due in great part to the strength of command
and leadership from General George Washington (1732-1799). Against
the odds, Washington overcame problems posed by political squabbles, a
weak federal government, inexperienced militias, and lack of supplies.
Though it struggled at first, the Continental Army was transformed into
a disciplined and effective force under Washington’s supervision.

The other key to American victory was the vital support of France.
In May 1779, France and America signed a treaty that provided an al-
liance and loans for the American cause. Spain and the Netherlands also
joined the fight on behalf of the Americans. The combined efforts of
these countries finally brought military victory in October 1781. At the
Battle of Yorktown in Virginia, British General Lord Cornwallis
(1738-1805) surrendered. The war formally ended with the Treaty of
Paris in 1783.

Amistad Insurrection

In the 1830s, Africans were regularly kidnapped by slave traders and sold
in an illegal slave trade. One group of Africans rose up in rebellion
against their captors only to find themselves in a battle within the U.S.
court system. Their story brought the concept of slavery into sharp focus
in a country divided by its beliefs about slavery.

In 1839, a Portuguese slave ship brought a shipload of kidnapped
Africans from present-day Sierra Leone to sell in Havana, Cuba. After
crossing the seas in a cramped and filthy slave ship, a group of fifty-three
Mende-speaking Africans, led by a man named Sengbe, who came to be
called Cinque (c. 1817-1879), were sold to two Spaniards, Jose Ruiz and
Pedro Montes. At this time slave trading was illegal in the United States,
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but the ever-growing demand for slaves had created a flourishing trade
and colonial authorities did nothing to prevent it.

The mutiny

The Spaniards boarded the Africans on the Amistad, a ship heading to-
ward their estates in northern Cuba. During the voyage, the Africans
conversed in sign language with the ship’s crew, asking what would hap-
pen to them. A seaman jokingly gestured that they would be killed and
eaten. Soon after that, the African captives seized control of the ship,
killing two crew members.

The mutineers (people who rebel) spared the lives of Ruiz and
Montes and ordered them to pilot the ship to Africa. The Spaniards pre-
tended to sail east by day, but secretly reversed course by night. After two
months they brought the Amistad to the northern coast of the United
States. The Africans were arrested and jailed in Connecticut, and
charged with committing murder and piracy. Ruiz and Montes, backed
by the Spanish government, pressed a claim for the return of the
Amistad, including its cargo of slaves.

A divided public
While the Africans awaited trial, newspapers across the country carried
their story. Many regarded them as curiosities, but Connecticut’s aboli-

Amistad Insurrection

The slave mutiny onboard the Amistad in 1839 divided the public as to whether the men should be freed. MP1/HULTON

ARCHIVE/GETTY IMAGES
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The testimony of the slave
Cinque about the terrible
conditions on the Amistad was
an important factor in the
Supreme Court upholding
previous court decisions and
declaring the Africans free
and able to return ro their
native land. NEW YORK
PUBLIC LIBRARY PICTURE
COLLECTION
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tionists (people who oppose slavery and work to
end it) eagerly took up the captives’ cause. They
organized an Amistad relief committee and hired
respected attorneys to defend the Africans. Aside
from sympathy for the Africans, the abolitionists
viewed their case as a way to put the institution
of slavery on trial.

Naturally, people from the southern slave
states opposed the abolitionists and sided with
the lawyers prosecuting (pursuing charges
against) the Africans, demanding that they be
returned to their “owners.” Southerners wanted
the courts to uphold what they believed to be
the absolute rights of slaveholders. They feared
slave rebellions and did not want the Amistad
rebels to go unpunished, for fear their own
slaves might follow their example. President
Martin Van Buren (1782-1862;

1847—-41) also wanted to see the Africans deported to Cuba. For him,

served

this solution would avoid diplomatic tension with Spain and keep voters
in the South on his side at election time.

The trial

In the Amistad trial, the defense lawyers asserted that the Africans had
the right to free themselves from the horrible conditions of slavery. They
argued that returning them to Cuba meant certain death for them. In ad-
dition, since the captives had been kidnapped in violation of Spanish
law, the abolitionists argued that the blacks were not legally slaves and
therefore were not “property” belonging to Ruiz and Montes. In January
1840, Cinque, who had learned a little English, electrified the court-
room with his testimony about conditions on the Amistad, at one point
shouting “Give us free! Give us free!”

The judge in the Amistad case ruled in favor of the Africans. He
deemed them innocent of murder and piracy, since they had only acted
to free themselves. He ordered the ship and its goods to be returned to
Ruiz and Montes, but stated that the Africans were to be freed and al-
lowed to return to their homes.

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History



John Quincy Adams for the defense

The prosecution appealed, and the Amistad case went before the U.S.
Supreme Court. At the time, five Supreme Court justices were
Southerners who had owned slaves. The defense sought out former U.S.
president John Quincy Adams (1767-1848; served 1825-29) to pres-
ent its case, banking on his renown as much as on his legal ability. In his
seventies and still an outspoken member of the U.S. House of
Representatives, Adams had been following the Amistad case since the
beginning. He enchanted the court with hours-long orations about the
principles of American freedom and justice. Even as this was going on in
court, though, President Van Buren had stationed a ship nearby with
standing orders to carry the prisoners to Cuba. Abolitionists watched the
ship night and day to ensure that the president did not overstep his pow-
ers and whisk the captives away.

In March 1840, the Supreme Court upheld the earlier court’s deci-
sion. The Africans were free, though reduced in number to thirty-five
owing to deaths in prison. It took almost another year for the Amistad
relief committee to raise money to hire a ship to carry Cinque and the
other Africans back to Sierra Leone. They are the only known Africans
sold as slaves in the New World to return to their lands. Upon his return
home, Cinque was unable to find his wife. He disappeared shortly after
his return and little else is known of his life. In the United States,
though, he remains a symbol of resistance to the Atlantic slave trade.

The Amistad decision did not condemn slavery. It simply held that
Africans who were not legally slaves could not be considered property. If
the Amistad rebels had been slaves by U.S. law, or if the abolitionists had
not intervened on their behalf, the decision would have been very differ-
ent. As it happened, though, the case provided the nation with a rare per-
spective on the human rights of kidnapped African people. Abolitionists
viewed this as a victory, whereas slave owners of the South generally
viewed the decision with contempt.

Antebellum Period

Antebellum is a Latin word that means “before the war.” In American his-
tory, the antebellum period refers to the years after the War of 1812
(1812-15) and before the Civil War (1861-65). The development of sep-

arate northern and southern economies, westward expansion of the nation,
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and a spirit of reform marked the era. These issues created an unstable and
explosive political environment that eventually led to the Civil War.

Separate economies

After the War of 1812, England finally acknowledged American inde-
pendence and began to establish a relationship with the young nation.
With the last of the military threats gone, the United States turned its at-
tention to building a strong nation. Its economy was strong and diverse,

and Americans had a lot to offer other countries.

In colonial times, the southern and northern areas of the country
had diverse economies. Each, however, soon established areas of special-
ization that reflected regional differences. The North, with its great port
cities, began to focus on industry. A constant stream of immigrants pro-
vided cheap labor for the variety of businesses. The South, with its fer-
tile lands, focused on agriculture. By 1815, cotton was the primary crop
in the South. The invention of the cotton gin helped the region serve a
growing worldwide demand for the crop. The institution of slavery pro-
vided the labor to harvest large plantations for greater profits.

As a result of the very different businesses in the North and the
South, their economies developed differently. In Congress, politicians
engaged in heated debates as they tried to serve the needs of their own
region. The institution of slavery was a particularly difficult issue. As the
nation gained territory and westward expansion began, politicians ar-
gued over whether slavery would be allowed to expand into the new
areas.

Expansion and the slavery question
Under President Thomas Jefferson, the United States had made the
Louisiana Purchase in 1803, and the lands began gradually to organize
into states. After the War of 1812, the nation expanded even more rap-
idly. Florida Territory was ceded by Spain in 1819. The Oregon Treaty
and the Mexico Treaty added lands farther west. By 1848, the U.S. ter-
ritory stretched from the Atlantic Ocean all the way to the Pacific Ocean.
In 1821, there were twenty-four states in the Union. By 1861, when the
Civil War broke out, there were thirty-four.

Rapid growth caused growing pains for the young nation. With
every addition of a state, politicians in Congress had to confront the dif-
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ferences between North and South. Slavery was always a point of con-
flict. According to the Constitution, slaves were counted as three-fifths
of a citizen for purposes of federal representation and taxation. If slavery
continued to expand, the Northern politicians would begin to lose influ-
ence in policy decisions. In the interest of economic security, Northern
politicians argued against the expansion of slavery. Southerners sup-
ported the expansion.

Social reforms

The antebellum period was also marked by increased public activism.
During the Second Great Awakening (from 1800 to the 1830s),
Christian morality found energetic expression in religious revivals, mass
meetings where people sought salvation. The spirit of reform also moti-
vated organizations working toward social change. Temperance organiza-
tions hoped to eliminate social ills caused by alcohol consumption.
Others hoped to improve society through education reform and in-
creased literacy. Abolitionists focused on ending slavery everywhere.
Americans debated these issues as the young nation struggled to improve
itself.

Some aspects of the antebellum period, particularly in the South,
have been presented in a positive light in popular movies and books. For
instance, plantation life in the South is sometimes portrayed with nostal-
gia. Such presentations, however, ignore the evil of slavery and the diffi-
cult political and social realities of the times. The antebellum period
came to an end with the outbreak of the Civil War in 1861.

Susan B. Anthony

Susan B. Anthony’s Quaker upbringing greatly influenced the role she
played in nineteenth-century America. Quakers, properly known as the
Religious Society of Friends, had founded their religion on the belief that
priests and places of organized worship are not necessary for a person to
experience God. In the Quaker view, all people have an “inner light” that
can guide them to divine truth. Quakers do not believe in armed con-
flict or slavery, and they were among the first groups to practice equal-
ity between men and women. Anthony led a crusade to ensure that all
women were granted the rights she herself had come to expect.
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Susan B. Anthony was born on February 15, 1820. Her father, a cot-
ton-mill owner, instilled in his children the ideas of self-reliance, self-dis-
cipline, and self-worth. Both her parents were strong supporters of the
abolitionist (antislavery) and the temperance (avoidance of alcohol)
movements. (See Abolition Movement and Prohibition.)

Protests inequality

After completing her schooling at the age of seventeen, Anthony began
teaching in schools in rural New York state. Teaching was one of the few
professions open to women at the time, but wages for men and women
differed greatly. Anthony’s weekly salary was equal to one-fifth of that re-
ceived by her male colleagues. When she protested this inequality, she
lost her job. She then secured a better position as principal of the girls’

division of a private school.

In 1849, after teaching for over ten years, Anthony found her pro-
fessional future bleak. She joined the local temperance society but was
denied the chance to speak at a meeting because she was a woman.
Unwilling to be silenced, she founded the Daughters of Temperance, the
first women’s temperance organization. She began writing temperance
articles for the Lily, the first woman-owned newspaper in the United
States. Through the paper’s editor, Amelia Bloomer (1818-1894),
Anthony met women involved in the recently formed women’s suffrage
(right to vote) movement. (See Women’s Suffrage Rights.)

Works for women's suffrage

In 1851, Anthony met women’s rights leader Elizabeth Cady Stanton
(1815-1902). They formed a deep personal friendship and a political
bond that would last for the rest of their lives. From that point on,
Anthony worked tirelessly for women’s suffrage. She lectured on women’s
rights and organized a series of state and national conventions on the
issue. She collected signatures for a petition to grant women the right to
vote and to own property. Her hard work paid off in 1860 when the New
York state legislature passed the Married Women’s Property Act. It al-
lowed women to enter into contracts and to control their own earnings
and property.

During the Civil War (1861-65), Anthony and most other mem-

bers of the women’s movement worked toward the emancipation of the
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slaves. In 1863, she helped form the Women’s
Loyal League, which supported the policies of
President Abraham Lincoln (1809-1865;
served 1861-65). After the war, Anthony and
others tried to link women’s suffrage with that of
the freed slaves. They were unsuccessful. The
Fifteenth Amendment, finally adopted in
1870, extended voting rights only to black
men—not to women. Anthony and Stanton
continued to fight, forming the National
Woman Suffrage Association.

Brought to trial for voting

The Fourteenth Amendment, adopted in

1868, had declared that all people born in the

United States were citizens and that no legal

privileges could be denied to any citizen.

Anthony decided to challenge this amendment.

Saying that women were citizens and the

amendment did not restrict the privilege of voting to men, she and fif-
teen other women voted in the presidential election of 1872. All sixteen
women were arrested three weeks later, but only Anthony was brought
to trial. The presiding judge opposed women’s suffrage and wrote his de-
cision before the trial even had started. Refusing to let Anthony testify,
he ordered the jury to find her guilty and then sentenced her to pay a
$100 fine. She refused, and no further action was taken against her.

Anthony continued to campaign for women’s rights. Between 1881
and 1886, she and Stanton published a three-volume collection of writ-
ings about the movement’s struggle. Through Anthony’s determined
work, many professional fields became open to women by the end of the
nineteenth century. Nevertheless, at the time of her death in 1906, only
four states—Wyoming, Colorado, Idaho, and Utah—had granted suf-
frage to women. Fourteen years later, in 1920, Congress adopted the
Nineteenth Amendment, finally giving women throughout America the
right to vote.

Antietam, Battle of

See Battle of Antietam
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Anti-Federalists

A loose organization of delegates to the Constitutional Convention of
1787 who shared political goals became known as the Anti-Federalists.
They opposed the policies for a strong central government supported by
a larger group of delegates, members of the Federalist Party. The pres-
ence of the Anti-Federalists forced some compromises during the writing
of the Constitution. The government created by the Constitution, how-
ever, was stronger than the Anti-Federalists desired.

Anti-Federalists worked during the writing of the Constitution to
preserve the power of state government. Mindful of their experience
under an overbearing English government, they sought to limit the
power of a single national government. Some Anti-Federalists believed
that state government was important for maintaining control over local
affairs and keeping power in the hands of the people rather than an elite
ruling class. Other Anti-Federalists simply wanted most governmental
power to come from the state rather than from a central national govern-
ment. Still others were concerned that a strong central government could
too easily violate individual rights to liberty (freedom). Although they
often spoke in terms of democratic governance by the people, the Anti-
Federalists generally did not favor political rights or civil liberties for
women, slaves, and similar groups.

Although the Anti-Federalists managed to work out some compro-
mises during the Constitutional Convention, many opposed the final
draft of the Constitution. They felt that, on balance, it gave too much
power to the federal government. When Alexander Hamilton
(1755-1804), James Madison (1751-1836), and John Jay
(1745-1829) wrote the Federalist Papers to support the ratification (ac-
ceptance) of the Constitution, Anti-Federalists wrote articles to encour-
age the defeat of the Constitution.

The Anti-Federalists failed to defeat the Constitution, which was
ratified in 1788. They generated enough political pressure, however, to
force the Federalists to agree to incorporate a Bill of Rights into the
Constitution. Containing the first ten amendments to the Constitution,
the Bill of Rights protects individual liberty from unfair conduct by the
federal government. The bill also says that any power not granted to the
federal government is reserved to the states and the people.
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The Anti-Federalists never organized themselves into a political
party. As a group, they faded under the first installation of the federal
government in 1789. The aggressive economic policies of Hamilton,
who was the secretary of the Treasury under President George
Washington (1743—1826; served 1801-9), stirred more opposition to
the Federalists. Many who had aligned with the Anti-Federalists organ-
ized under Thomas Jefferson’s leadership to oppose the Federalists as
Democratic-Republicans. The Democratic-Republican Party survived
well into the nineteenth century.

Antiwar Movement (Vietnam)

In every war the United States has fought, there have been protesters.
The antiwar movement during the Vietnam War (1954-75) is particu-
larly memorable because it played out at a time when there were actually
two other strong movements taking place: the student movement and
the civil rights movement.

The civil rights movement, led by Martin Luther King, Jr.
(1929-1968), began in the mid-1950s and attracted not only blacks but
also the era’s young white middle class. These young people saw the civil
rights movement as part of a larger social movement that questioned the
status quo (the existing state of affairs) in general. Racial segregation and
inequality were two of society’s ills, as was an economy sustained by war
and the exploitation of smaller and poorer countries. Even the quality of
education was in question: Students believed that the system promoted
conformity over creativity and individuality.

Reform-minded student organizations and societies formed across
the country in the early 1960s. Some focused on women’s rights, others
on educational reform or civil rights. By 1965, however, the protest
against U.S. involvement in the Vietnam War eclipsed all other con-

cerns.

Early protests

Although the war had begun in 1954, the United Statess involvement
was not significant until 1965. The first antiwar protests were loosely or-
ganized student demonstrations in which protesters gathered to share
their concerns. In April 1965, teachers at college campuses across the
country began hosting “teach-ins,” forums in which U.S. foreign policy
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was explained and criticized. Before the month was over, a national event
in Washington, D.C. was broadcast to more than one hundred colleges.
April also saw the first major demonstration: Students for a Democratic
Society (SDS) organized the event, which attracted around fifteen thou-
sand participants to Washington, D.C.

Many opponents of the Vietnam War were protesting the draft. The
draft is a means of building up the military. Males eighteen and older
had to register with the governments Selective Service, and if their
names were drawn in a lottery, they were required by law to join the mil-
itary and serve in the Vietnam War. The draft, also known as conscrip-
tion, was first used during the American Civil War (1861-65). (See also
Conscription Acts.) The first public draft protest of the Vietnam War
took place in October 1965 in New York City. David Miller broke the
law when he burned his draft card, and for his act of protest he was ar-
rested, found guilty, and served two years in jail. Meanwhile, the antiwar
movement gained momentum as it stretched across the globe. Antiwar
protests were held simultaneously in the United States; Paris, France;
Rome, Italy; and London, England.

Focused and determined

By 1967, the antiwar movement had grown so widespread that those
who were only moderately opposed to the war marched alongside those
with more extreme perspectives. The days of a handful of protesters
standing on a street corner waving signs were gone, and in their place
were groups numbering in the thousands. On October 21, 1967, the
National Mobilization Committee to End the War in Vietnam organized
a rally in Washington, D.C. More than one hundred thousand people
participated in the rally, and thirty-five thousand continued in the
planned march to the steps of the Pentagon.

Protest music played a major role in the antiwar movement. Folk
music was at the height of its popularity, and performers such as Bob
Dylan (1941-), John Lennon (1940-1980), and Peter, Paul, and Mary
loaned their voices to the movement at demonstrations and press state-
ments. Dylan’s 1963 hit “Blowin’ in the Wind” became a theme song of
the movement.

Although most peace activists embraced nonviolence, emotions ran
high, and antiwar slogans such as “Make love, not war,” and “Hell no,
we won't go!” offended parents, spouses, and friends whose loved ones
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Thousands of antiwar protestors demonstrate in front of the United Nations in 1967. AP IMAGES

were fighting overseas. Battles sometimes broke out between protesters

and police, counterprotesters, and armed troops.

Seasons of violence

The violent protests peaked in 1968. The most famous protest of the
year took place in August, just months after the assassination of U.S. sen-
ator Robert F. Kennedy (1925-1968) of New York. The Democratic
National Convention was being held in Chicago, Illinois, that year, and
when it became clear that Vice President Hubert H. Humphrey
(1911-1978) would emerge as the Democratic Party’s presidential
nominee, a coalition of extremist antiwar organizations showed up in
Chicago intent on disrupting the convention.

What they found there were twelve thousand police officers, almost
six thousand Illinois National Guardsmen, and five thousand federal
troops. On the night Humphrey was nominated, rioting broke out all
over Chicago. Some eyewitnesses reported that the authorities provoked
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the demonstrators to violence. By the time the riots had subsided, more
than one thousand people were wounded and almost seven hundred had
been arrested.

In the most notorious confrontation between protesters and police,
on May 4, 1970, at Ohio’s Kent State University, a peaceful protest
ended in tragedy when four demonstrators were shot and killed by
National Guardsmen who opened fire on the protesters. (See Kent State
Shooting.) Nine other students were wounded. The nation was shocked,
and eight million students protested by going on strike from their col-
leges and high schools. Five days after the shooting, one hundred thou-
sand people marched in Washington, D.C., to protest the senseless
deaths of the unarmed students. Singer Neil Young (1945-) wrote a
song, “Ohio,” about the tragedy, and the event is referenced in numer-
ous other songs.

As the Vietnam War
continued, protests grew From the margins to the middle

1 ingl tati / . . g . . P
increasingly confrontationa As violence increased within the antiwar movement, there was a shift in

and violent between . . . . . .
public opinion: Older Americans and prominent public figures became

demonstrators and police.
more vocal in their criticism of the continuing
war. Politicians spoke out against the govern-
ment’s actions, and even some veterans of the
war organized to bring an end to what had be-
come the longest-running war in U.S. history.
The Republican candidate, Richard M. Nixon
(1913-1994; served 1969-74), won the presi-
dential election in 1968 with a campaign plat-
form to end the war.

Nixon had no great plan to bring home the
troops, but he did try to bomb the North
Vietnamese into submission. When that failed,
he put into action a plan that eventually turned
over responsibility for the ground war to South
Vietnam. This was known as “Vietnamization,”
and it did allow U.S. troops to gradually with-
draw, although U.S. air fighters were still stand-
ing by to deploy at a moment’s notice.

Days after the Kent State shooting in 1970,
state police opened fire on student protesters at
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Jackson State College in Mississippi. Twelve students were injured and
two were killed. One student at a New York school responded to the
Kent State shooting by hanging a banner out a dormitory window that
read “They Can't Kill Us All.” Nixon’s response was seen as callous by
members of the antiwar movement. He met with about thirty student
protestors at the Lincoln Memorial in Washington, D.C., just five days
after the shooting, but his attempts at reaching out were condescending

and clumsy.

With the 1971 publication of the Pentagon Papers—a top-secret,
seven-thousand-page government report on the planning and policy
making before and during the war—most Americans began to support
total withdrawal of troops from Vietnam. The report uncovered lies, il-
legal actions, and other unethical behavior on the part of the president,
the government, and the military. By the time the war officially ended in

1975, nearly all of the United States was a part of the antiwar movement.

Appomattox Courthouse

Appomattox Courthouse, Virginia, is the American Civil War site at
which the Confederate army, led by General Robert E. Lee
(1807-1870), surrendered to Union general Ulysses S. Grant
(1822-1885) on April 9, 1865. The surrender is commonly viewed as
the end of the Civil War, although afterward the Confederate States of

America government briefly attempted to maintain its rebellion.

Confederate surrender came after a series of encounters between the
forces under Lee and Grant. Eighty thousand Union soldiers forced
thirty-five thousand Confederate soldiers out of Petersburg, Virginia, in
the end of March 1865. Grant continued pushing the rebels south and

eventually managed to cut them off and surround them.

On April 9, realizing the position the Confederates were in, Lee sent
a flag of truce to Grant. The two generals met that afternoon to arrange
the surrender. By all accounts, Grant was generous with the terms. He
allowed the officers to keep their side arms (weapons kept by the belt;
hand guns and swords) and the soldiers to keep their horses for working
their farms. He also issued rations to the starving Confederates. In all,

7,892 infantrymen surrendered with arms to Union forces at
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Appomattox. A total of twenty-eight thousand Confederate troops were
paroled (released after promising not to fight) by the agreement.

Appomattox Courthouse became a national historic site in 1954.

Arizona

Nicknamed the Grand Canyon State, Arizona entered the Union on
February 14, 1912, as the forty-eighth state. It is the sixth-largest state in
terms of size, with a total boundary length of 1,478 miles (2,379 kilo-
meters). Arizona lies in the Rocky Mountains region of the United States
and is bordered by Utah, Nevada, California, New Mexico, and
Mexico.

It is believed that the region now known as Arizona was inhabited
by several cultures by 500 C.E., including the Anasazi, Mogollon, and
Hohokam. These cultures were in decline by the fourteenth century for
reasons unknown even in the twenty-first century. When the first
Europeans arrived in the sixteenth century, they found native popula-
tions—the oldest of which were the Hopi—living a hunter-gatherer
lifestyle in the river valleys.

Arizona was a largely peaceful territory, even when Mexico revolted
against Spain in 1810. When the Mexican-American War (1846—48)
broke out in 1846, two U.S. armies marched across the Arizona region.
The California Gold Rush in 1849 also brought thousands of
Americans through the region. In 1863, President Abraham Lincoln
(1809-1865; served 1861-65) signed the Organic Act of Arizona, which
created the new Territory of Arizona.

Arizona is largely desert and has a dry, hot climate. The northern re-
gion of the state includes the Grand Canyon, a vast gorge more than 200
miles (320 kilometers) long, up to 18 miles (29 kilometers) wide, and
more than 1 mile (1.6 kilometers) deep. This same region boasts the
Painted Desert, the Petrified Forest, and Humphreys Peak, the highest
point in the state at 12,633 feet (3,853 meters).

Although Phoenix has air quality poorer than most other U.S. cities,
most of the state is known for its clear air, open lands, and breathtaking
forests. Arizona works hard to protect these resources in the wake of a
growing population and tourist industry.

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History



Population and economy

Arizona once was considered a “retirement” state, where people moved
in their sixties. This is no longer true; only 13 percent of the population
in 2006 was age sixty-five and older. The majority of the population (28
percent) was age twenty-five to forty-four. By far, the largest concentra-
tion of the state’s residents (nearly 1.5 million) lived in the capital city of
Phoenix. The next most populated city was Tucson, home to just over
five hundred thousand people.

By the 1970s, Arizona’s agricultural economy had been replaced by
manufacturing, with centers in Phoenix and Tucson. The state’s primary
industries included wood products, computer and electronic equipment,
and transportation equipment. Still, Arizona ranked twenty-ninth in the
nation in terms of agricultural output value in 2005. The state led the
nation in copper and molybdenum production in 2004.

Tourism and travel accounted for more than $13.76 billion in direct
sales in Arizona in 2004, and 27.8 million Americans and another
900,000 international tourists visited the state that year. The state’s
twenty-two national parks and monuments, the most popular being
Grand Canyon National Park, attract millions of visitors annually.

Arkansas

Nicknamed the Natural State, Arkansas was the twenty-fifth state to
enter the Union (June 15, 1836). It is located in the western south-cen-
tral United States, bordered by Missouri, Oklahoma, Texas, Louisiana,
Mississippi, and Tennessee. Arkansas ranks twenty-seventh in size
among the fifty states, with a total area of 53,187 square miles (137,754
square kilometers).

The first Europeans to explore Arkansas were Spaniards, led by
Hernando de Soto (c.1496-1542), in 1541. Prior to their appearance,
the region was inhabited by Quapaw, Caddo, Osage, and Choctaw as
well as Cherokee tribes.

In 2006, Arkansas ranked thirty-second in the nation’s population,
with an estimated total of 2,810,872 residents. Its capital city, Little
Rock, was home to just under 185,000 people. Although much of
Arkansas’s population was once African American, the state lost a sub-
stantial portion of its farm population during the Great Depression
(1929-41; a worldwide economic crisis), and many African Americans
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migrated to industrialized states to look for work. Modern Arkansas is
predominantly white.

Although Arkansas has a diverse manufacturing economy ranging
from textiles to bicycle production and including a major woodworking
industry, its economy continues to be enhanced by the cotton industry.
Other major agricultural industries in the state include soybeans, poul-
try, and fish farming. Arkansas is home to more than fifty Fortune 500
firms, including Tyson Foods and Wal-Mart Stores.

Arkansas is a poor state. In 2004, 17.9 percent of its population lived
below the poverty line, which made Arkansas the fifth poorest state in
the nation. In 2003, 18 percent of the state’s total population had no
health insurance. Of that population, 47 percent had family members
who worked full time, year-round.

In 1957, the Little Rock school system became the site for public
controversy when the school board announced its voluntary compliance
with the Supreme Court’s 1954 Brown v. Board of Education decision,
which called for the desegregation of public schools. On September 5
of that year, nine African American students attempted to enter Central
High School. (See Little Rock Central High School Desegregation.)
Governor Orval Faubus (1910-1994) ordered the National Guard to take
over the school to prevent these children from attending. Guardsmen
were removed via court order later that month. By 1980, Central High
was one of the most racially balanced schools in the South.

Arlington National Cemetery

Arlington National Cemetery is comprised of 624 acres and sits on the
Virginia bank of the Potomac River, opposite Washington, D.C. It was
originally part of the estate of President George Washington
(1732-1799; served 1789-97) and was passed along to his adopted son,
G. W. Parke Custis. Custis’s daughter, Mary Ann, who inherited the es-
tate, married Confederate general Robert E. Lee (1807-1870).

Military hospital erected

The United States seized the estate upon the outbreak of the American
Civil War (1861-65). The military built a fort and a hospital on the site
and the grounds were used as a cemetery. In 1882, the U.S. Supreme
Court declared the property be returned to the Lee family. The family
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accepted $150,000 payment for the land and it became one of the most
important historical sites maintained by the U.S. government.

The soldiers of every war since the American Revolution
(1775-83) are buried in Arlington National Cemetery, as are distin-
guished statesmen, including Presidents William Howard Taft
(1857-1930; served 1909-13) and John E. Kennedy (1917-1963;
served 1961-63). Also in the cemetery is the Tomb of the Unknowns
(also known as the Tomb of the Unknown Soldier), which commemo-
rates the dead of both world wars and the Korean War (1950-53). This
shrine sits on top of a hill overlooking Washington, D.C., and was
opened to the public in 1932. The tomb is guarded twenty-four hours a
day, seven days a week, by the U.S. Army.

Includes ceremonial facilities

The Tomb of the Unknowns is part of the Arlington Memorial
Amphitheater, which seats fifteen thousand people and is host to
Veteran’s Day and Memorial Day services. It was completed in 1921 and
sits on the site where Robert E. Lee once had his gardens.

There are other sites on the cemetery grounds that attract hundreds
of thousands of tourists each year. One of these is a memorial to the
members of the crew who died in the Challenger Space Shuttle explo-
sion in January 1986. There is also a Pentagon memorial, dedicated to
the 184 lives lost during the September 11, 2001, terrorist attack on
the Pentagon.

Army

The U.S. Army was officially established on June 14, 1775. George
Washington (1732-1799) was commander in chief of the first national
army, which included around 8,000 men. In October 1776, Congress
voted to increase the army to include 88 battalions of infantry, or 60,000
men, each of whom would serve for three years, or if they enlisted dur-
ing wartime, for the duration of the war. Two months later, Congress
voted to establish 22 more battalions, for a total of 110. There were ap-
proximately 75,000 soldiers in the Continental army until 1781, when
Congress reduced the number of battalions to 59, a more realistic and
manageable number.
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The original army consisted mainly of infantry (foot soldiers) and
artillery, but it also had a small cavalry (mounted soldiers), a small corps
of engineers, and a few maintenance personnel to repair and maintain
equipment. The army disbanded almost completely after the American
Revolution (1775-83), but some remained to help protect the frontier
settlements.

The army has participated in every war in U.S. history since the
Revolution. After the War of 1812 (1812-15), Secretary of War John
C. Calhoun (1782-1850) established a peacetime army that remained
intact until the start of the Mexican-American War (1846-48). In
1820, that army included about ten thousand troops, but it reduced its
ranks by half later that year and maintained that level until 1835, with
intermittent increases to total up to twelve thousand men.

The Spanish-American War (1898) was the first overseas war for
the U.S. Army. By the end of the war, more than 274,000 men had
joined the army, but most of them never left their training camps in the
United States. After the war, the Army War College was founded and the
school system modernized. Between 1900 and 1916, the army num-
bered from 65,000 to 108,000 officers and soldiers. Their duties ex-
tended overseas and included building the Panama Canal from 1907 to
1914.

In 1903, the army recognized the National Guard as part of its ranks
during emergencies; in 1916, the National Defense Act added a reserve
corps and began to provide officer training in colleges.

World wars

Even with the reforms in place, the army was not ready when World War
I (1914-18) began. The government implemented the selective service
system, or draft, by which all young men had to register, and if their
names were chosen by lottery, they had to join the military. Some were
exempted because of physical or mental illness, but healthy men who
were called to duty had to serve. Within eighteen months, the army grew
from 210,000 to 3,685,000.

The draft was used again during World War II (1939-45).
Numbers reached a peak of around 8.3 million officers and men during
the war, 5 million of whom were deployed overseas to fight. The army
was divided into three commands: Army Air Forces, Army Ground
Forces, and Army Service Forces. The Air Force eventually became its
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own independent military branch; the service forces were responsible for

keeping operations running smoothly on the homefront.

After the war, the United States gained new ground in world affairs,
and with it, added responsibility. A peacetime draft was enacted, and for
most of the next twenty-eight years the army was comprised of both vol-
unteers and draftees. During the Korean War (1950-53), the army was
desegregated, and soldiers all were given equal opportunity for advance-
ment. Before this time, although African Americans had served in the
army since the Civil War, they always had been grouped into units sep-
arate from whites, and were never promoted to officer levels.

The draft continued almost through the Vietnam War (1954-75);
itended on July 1, 1973, when American troops withdrew from combat.
The army once again became voluntary, and it remained so in the
twenty-first century.

War in Afghanistan and Iraq

The Army participated in wars during the twenty-first century. The
United States attacked Afghanistan in October 2001 in response to al-
Qaeda’s involvement in the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks on
U.S. soil. In 2008, that war was still in progress. In March 2003, a coali-
tion of troops led by the United States invaded Iraq. (See Iraq Invasion.)

Peacetime activities

The army has served the nation in peacetime, too. During the nine-
teenth century, soldiers helped survey the lands for the transcontinental
railroad lines, keep peace during Reconstruction (the time of rebuilding
in the South after the Civil War), and explore the West. Army doctors
have contributed to the advancement of modern medicine, and in times

of natural disaster, army personnel provide assistance to victims.

Benedict Arnold

Benedict Arnold was a patriot during the American Revolution
(1775-83). Although he fought heroically for the American cause and
earned the rank of brigadier general, he is most remembered for his acts

of treason.
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Early life

Arnold was born in Norwich, Connecticut, in 1741. His parents,
Benedict and Hannah King Arnold, were well established, and young
Arnold had a good education. The household was strict and religious,
and he was a bit rebellious against the constraints of home. He twice ran
away from home to join a militia fighting in the French and Indian War
(1754-63).

In 1762, Arnold’s parents died. He moved to New Haven,
Connecticut, where he became a druggist and bookseller. He was quite
successful and began another business trading between Quebec, Canada,
and the West Indies. In February 1767, he married into a prominent
family from New Haven. He and his wife, Margaret Mansfield, would
have three sons between 1768 and 1772.

Military career

Arnold became a captain in the Connecticut militia in 1775 and partic-
ipated in the siege of Boston. It was the beginning of a notable army ca-
reer. When his wife died while he was on a mission, Arnold devoted
himself entirely to the Revolutionary cause. He served with distinction
and earned the rank of major general.

Arnold’s military career was plagued with inadequate recognition for
his performance and accusations of misconduct. He prepared his resig-
nation several times, but the personal pleas of General George
Washington (1732-1799) prevented him from actually resigning. The
American cause had many victories as a result of his bold and determined

leadership.

Change of sides

In May 1778, Arnold was assigned to be the commander at Philadelphia
after the British evacuation from that city. He met and fell in love with
a socialite, Margaret Shippen. Over time they would have four sons and
one daughter.

In attempting to entertain and live as an aristocrat, Arnold fell
deeply into debt. Soon after his marriage, Arnold began the treasonous
relationship with the British for which he is so well remembered. It is as-
sumed that a combination of his need for money and resentment of the

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History



authorities responsible for his difficult career motivated him to sell mil-
itary information to the British.

In 1780, Arnold obtained a command at West Point. This was a
strategically important military base, and Arnold offered to turn the fort
over to the British for a financial reward. The plot was foiled when his
contact, Major John André (1750-1780), was caught on September 20
with incriminating documents. André was executed, but Arnold man-
aged to flee to the British in New York. He was received into the British
Army and given the rank of brigadier general of provincial troops. He
continued to fight in the war, though now opposite his countrymen.

End of life
In 1781, Arnold sailed with his family to England. His personality and

reputation for treason made him quite unpopular in England. Although
he attempted to continue military service and a number of business ven-
tures, he had little success. He failed as well to gain sufficient recognition
and compensation for the services he rendered to the British during the
war. It proved to be difficult to establish himself socially as well as eco-
nomically in the new country. The time until his death in London in
1801 was unhappy.

Chester A. Arthur

Chester A. Arthur was the twenty-first president of the United States,
serving from 1881 until 1885.

Climbs the political ladder

Chester Alan Arthur was born to an Irish minister and his wife on
October 5, 1829, in Vermont. He graduated from college in 1848 and
went on to study law. To support himself, he worked in education as a
teacher and a principal. To complete his formal training, Arthur moved
to New York City, where he passed the bar exam in 1854. Two years later,
he opened his own law firm.

Arthur quickly became active in politics in an effort to make con-
tacts and find clients. The Republican Party benefited from the young
lawyer’s knowledge and efforts, particularly New York governor Edwin
D. Morgan (1811-1883), whose 1860 reelection was due in large part
to Arthur’s tireless promotion. As thanks, Morgan appointed Arthur to
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the position of state engineer-in-chief. Within a
year, the outbreak of the American Civil War
(1861-65) caused Arthur to be reappointed as
the state assistant quartermaster general. His du-
ties included supplying housing, food, and
equipment for New York’s militia (volunteer
civilian fighting troops). By 1862, he was pro-
moted as the state quartermaster general.
Arthur returned to his law practice in 1863
when Democrat Horatio Seymour (1819-1886)
was elected governor. He kept close ties with the
Republican Party and with U.S. senator Roscoe
Conkling (1829-1888) of New York in particu-
lar. Conkling was a corrupt politician with a
great amount of power, and he helped secure
Arthur a position as collector for the port of
New York. As collector, Arthur was responsible
for all paperwork filed on imports and exports as
well as for collecting import taxes on goods
coming in from other countries. In such a pow-
erful position of authority, Arthur gave thou-
sands of jobs to fellow Republicans based solely on their political
affiliation. Whether they were qualified to perform these government
jobs was not important. This was known as the spoils system, and
American politics relied heavily on such strategy.

In 1877, President Rutherford B. Hayes (1822-1893; served
1877-81) had the Customs House investigated. Arthur was held ac-
countable for the poor management of the organization and lost his job
in 1878.

Enters vice presidency

Arthur ran as vice president on the James A. Garfield (1831-1881;
served 1881) ticket (list of candidates) in the 1880 election and the duo
won, despite Arthur’s past. Just four months into the Garfield presi-
dency, Charles J. Guiteau (c. 1840—1882), an enraged attorney who had
unsuccessfully sought a government position, shot Garfield. The presi-
dent lingered for ten weeks before dying in September. Arthur took over
the presidency.
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While vice president, Arthur had not joined Garfield in his battle
against Conkling and other supporters of the spoils system. Once he
reached the presidency, though, he wanted to prove himself trustworthy.
He stopped spending time with friends who knew him before his change
of heart, and he began to support civil service (government workers) re-
form.

Arthur was responsible for passing the first federal immigration law
in 1882. The law barred criminals, lunatics, and paupers (extremely poor
people) from entering America. That same year, Congress passed the
Chinese Exclusion Act, which put severe restrictions on Chinese immi-
grants. (See Asian Immigration.)

In 1883, Congress passed the Pendleton Act, which established a
Civil Service Commission that required that applicants to government
agency positions pass a test. No longer would a friendship with a politi-
cian influence who was hired. The act also protected government em-
ployees from being fired for reasons other than job performance. The
Pendleton Act angered Republicans because it allowed members of the
Democratic Party to secure powerful positions in the civil service.

Angering his own party did not concern Arthur. He also sought to
lower taxes so that the federal government did not have an embarrass-
ingly high surplus of revenue each year. Republicans were traditionally in
favor of high taxes, and they were furious over the signing of the Tariff
Act of 1883. The law brought a gradual reduction in import taxes over
the next decade.

A year after he became president, Arthur learned that he had a fatal
kidney disease. He kept this information private, and in 1884, he sought
reelection to avoid the appearance of being afraid of getting beat. He
failed to receive his party’s nomination, however, and died in 1886.

Articles of Confederation

The Articles of Confederation, written in 1776, became the first consti-
tution adopted by the rebelling American colonies to unite them under
a common government. The Articles bridged the gap between the time
the thirteen colonies broke from Great Britain in 1776 and adopted the
Constitution of the United States of America in 1788.

Prior to the revolutionary period, the American colonies functioned
separately. By standing together against the imperial conduct of Great
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Britain during the 1760s and 1770s, the colonies began to feel a sense of
unity. As talk of independence spread, revolutionaries turned their

thoughts to establishing a new nation.

Beginning in May 1775, delegates from the colonies gathered at the
Second Continental Congress to discuss independence from Britain and
to define an independent government. (See Continental Congress,
Second.) While one committee produced the Declaration of
Independence, another sought to create a document that would bring

the independent states together under a central government.

A first draft of the Articles of Confederation was presented as early
as July 12, 1776. Congtress approved a final draft and sent it to the states
on November 15, 1777. Every state was required to ratify, or accept, the
document before it became official. The American Revolution
(1775-83) and political differences between the states delayed ratifica-
tion (acceptance) for nearly five years. Congress started to function as de-
fined by the Articles as soon as a majority of states had accepted it, but
the document was not fully ratified until March 1, 1781.

The Articles of Confederation reflected the conflicts between the
colonies and the imposing rule of the British government. State inde-
pendence was well protected under the Articles. States maintained con-
trol over imposing taxes, regulating commerce, and enlisting troops.
States were to support national efforts through participation of their del-
egates at Congress and contributions of their troops and money to the

central government.

Under the Articles, there were no balanced branches of government;
Congress was the national government. Congress held power over war,
foreign policy, foreign loans, regulation of money, and Indian trade.
Each state sent two to seven delegates to Congress annually, but each
state had only one vote. A simple majority of states normally decided is-
sues, although for the most important ones the consent of nine states was
required. Amendments to the Articles of Confederation required unani-
mous support.

The national government established by the Articles struggled to as-
sert enough control to accomplish its tasks. Dependent on the generos-
ity of the states for war expenses, soldiers, and military supplies,
Congress had trouble managing the Revolutionary War. The politics of
congressional committees, constantly changing delegates, and the nine-
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state requirement for approving some changes further hampered
Congress’s ability to function.

In spite of the difficulties presented by the Articles of Confederation,
Congress functioned well enough to carry the new nation through its
first years. Congress successfully organized a federal government and
raised an army that waged an eventually victorious war. Congress took
charge of negotiating foreign alliances and loans with France and other
nations, as well as a peace treaty with Great Britain in September 1783.
Congress worked to bring national stability and unity with such institu-
tions as a national bank and a standard currency.

Eventually, however, the men who controlled the national govern-
ment wanted it to have greater powers. With support from influential
men such as George Washington (1732-1799; served 1789-97), the
states called for a national constitutional convention in 1787. The
Constitution written at that convention was ratified by the states in 1788,
turning the Articles from a functional document into a historical one.

Asian Immigration

Asian immigrants to the United States arrived from many different
countries, at different times, and for different reasons. There is no single
historical background for Asian Americans, but a wide range of histories.

In 2000, the U.S. Census reported a population of 11.9 million peo-
ple of Asian descent, making up 4.2 percent of the total U.S. population.
The number of Asian Americans had soared since 1960, when there were
only 878,000 people of Asian descent in the nation. The national back-
grounds had changed significantly as well. In 1960, 99 percent of Asian
Americans came from three national backgrounds: 52 percent were
Japanese, 27 percent were Chinese, and 20 percent were Filipino. In
2000, Chinese and Filipino Americans were the largest groups, followed
by Asian Indians, Koreans, and Vietnamese. Japanese Americans were
the sixth-largest group.

Early Chinese immigration

The Chinese were the first Asian immigrants to come to the United
States in significant numbers. A few Chinese seamen and merchants had
arrived on the East Coast of the United States by the end of the eigh-
teenth century, but it was not until the discovery of gold, or California
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Gold Rush, in 1848 that large numbers began the long journey to the
Americas. The 1850 census counted only about 750 Chinese in
California, but by 1852 more than 10,000 aspiring Chinese gold min-
ers had passed through the Customs House in San Francisco.

Spurred on by a harsh economy at home, an estimated 322,000
Chinese people, mostly men, entered the United States between 1850
and 1882. A majority came from the rural provinces of Kwangtung and
Fukien and spoke Cantonese. Although some paid their own way, most
were very poor and financed their passage by the “credit-ticket” system;
that is, they borrowed money from Chinese middlemen, which they
were to repay with interest out of their earnings in America.

The Chinese workers formed urban clusters within larger cities.
These clusters were called Chinatowns, and they operated independently
of the larger cities around them. The Chinese found strength in num-
bers, and they relied upon each other to create a cultural identity that
would protect them against the harsh attitudes of Americans.

The Chinese not only lived in Chinatowns, they also shopped and
socialized there. The culture of Chinatowns was much like that of the
homes the immigrants had left behind. Although these cities-within-
cities were originally overcrowded slums full of crime and violence, many
turned into tourist attractions by the mid-1900s.

Chinese immigrants were treated badly in the United States. They
were subject to discrimination, often violent. They could not become
American citizens, for a 1790 law reserved citizenship for white persons.
Even so, Chinese immigrants journeyed throughout the West, seeking
gold or job opportunities in Nevada, Oregon, Idaho, Colorado, and
South Dakota.

Thousands of non-Chinese travelled from the eastern United States
in search of instant wealth from gold. But most miners were disap-
pointed; they did not find gold simply lying around in streams and
gulches. Mining was hard work, and many men gave up after weeks or
months of finding nothing. Disappointment led to resentment, as
Americans considered their Chinese peers competition for the gold.
Soon the Chinese were accused of stealing the Americans’ wealth.

One other aspect of the Chinese workers frustrated Americans: They
would not fight back. They were a peaceful group of immigrants and ac-
cepted their fate in America. Whereas other groups might respond with
violence, the Chinese instead drew strength from each other. Having de-
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veloped Chinatowns as their home base, they lived largely separate from
the larger cities around them. By limiting their interactions with non-
Chinese, they did not often confront racial hatred face-to-face.

After the Gold Rush, thousands of Chinese went to work in the rail-
road industry. Construction of the Central Pacific—the western half of
the transcontinental railroad—was accomplished largely because of the
skill, dedication, and hard work of some twelve thousand Chinese work-
ers. But most Chinese were publicly denied any credit for their years of
labor. A famous photo taken at Promontory Point, Utah, records the cel-
ebration over the last spike being driven into the Transcontinental
Railroad in 1869. That golden spike connected the east and west by rail-
way. Not one Chinese worker appears in the photo.

After the railroad work was completed, in California in particular,
Chinese labor became an important part of the economy. Chinese labor-
ers converted the swamps of the San Joaquin and Sacramento deltas into
rich farmland. Half of the labor force in San Francisco’s four key indus-
tries—shoes, woolens, tobacco, and garments—was Chinese. Even with
these contributions, the Chinese increasingly became the target of white
resentment and racism.

The first restrictions on immigration

Succumbing to pressure from anti-Chinese groups, in 1882 Congress
passed the Chinese Exclusion Act, the first major restriction on immigra-
tion to the United States. The act prohibited Chinese laborers from en-
tering the United States; it also prohibited them from becoming U.S.
citizens. Another act six years later banned the reentry into the United
States of Chinese laborers who had gone back to China to visit. Thus,
Chinese men could not visit their families or even go home to marry.
These immigration restrictions permanently separated untold numbers
of Chinese families who would never see one another again.

The Chinese Exclusion Act marked the beginning of an illegal im-
migration movement that involved an “underground railroad,” much
like the one used by African American slaves earlier in the century to flee
north to non-slave states. People secretly worked together to smuggle
Chinese citizens into the United States via Texas. The Chinese would be
safely hidden and transported by various men and women on their jour-
ney to the United States. Once in Texas, these aliens attended a secret
school that taught them enough English to help them find work.
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Chinatowns became even more important to the immigrants, as they
needed to find shelter and steady work.

In spite of the Chinese Exclusion Act, the illegal immigration move-
ment caused the Chinese population in America to increase. It peaked in
1890 at around 107,488 people. The number decreased after that,
mostly because the majority of Chinese immigrants were travellers who
had never planned to stay. Using the Chinese underground railroad, they
returned to their native land.

The Chinese were legally forbidden to immigrate to the United
States until 1943, when China became America’s ally (partner) in World
War II (1939—45). At that time, the Chinese fell under regular immigra-
tion law. Most Chinese immigrants who entered the United States after
the war were women, many of them the wives of Chinese men already in

America.

Early Japanese immigration

Japan had been an isolated country until the 1860s, when it embarked
on a program of industrialization and modernization. This program in-
volved imposing heavy taxes on already impoverished peasants (land
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workers), many of whom, encouraged by stories of the “land of money
trees,” left Japan for America.

Japanese laborers were at first recruited to work on the sugar planta-
tions of the independent kingdom of Hawaii, beginning around 1868.
By 1890, some 12,000 Japanese had settled in Hawaii and 3,000 in the
United States. In the 1890s, some 50,000 more Japanese came to Hawaii
and 22,000 to North America. In 1910, the Japanese population in the
United States, by then including the territory of Hawaii, was 153,000.

The Japanese government, unlike the Chinese, was able to regulate
emigration. Wishing to avoid the problems of gambling, prostitution,
and drunkenness that had beset the predominantly male Chinese immi-
gration population, Japan actively promoted the emigration of women.
From the end of the Civil War (1861-65) through the early twentieth
century, the Japanese were the largest group of Asians to immigrate to
the United States.

Filipino immigration

In 1903, the United States annexed (took control of) the Philippines,
which had been a Spanish colony for four hundred years. The Filipinos
were assigned unclear status as U.S. nationals—something between a
foreigner and a citizen. As colonists, they were free to immigrate to the
United States, and many arrived during the period from 1906 to 1934.
Many came as laborers for farms and industry, and a significant number
of Filipino students came to study at American universities on govern-
ment-funded scholarships. These students were expected to return to the
Philippines when they had finished their studies to provide the colony
with their professional skills, but many stayed in the United States.

Further regulation of Asian immigration

The Barred Zones Act of 1917 and the Immigration Act of 1924 effec-
tively ended Asian immigration to the United States. The 1917 law
barred immigration from most of Asia, while the 1924 legislation estab-
lished immigration quotas (a proportional number) for each country; the
quotas for most Asian countries were set at zero. For a time, Filipinos
could enter the United States as U.S. nationals, but in 1935 Congress
passed legislation that imposed a quota of fifty Filipino immigrants per
year. Immigration from Asia virtually stopped.
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The McCarran-Walter Act of 1952 opened immigration to specially
skilled Asians, thus increasing Asian immigration. In 1959, Hawaii be-
came a state. Hawaii’s population was strongly Asian, with people of
Filipino, Japanese, Chinese, and Korean descent. Native Hawaiians are
of Polynesian descent. Hawaiian statehood added significant numbers of
Asian Americans to the U.S. population.

Asian immigration, 1965-2000

It was not until 1965 that large numbers of Asians were able to immi-
grate to the United States. The Immigration and Nationality Act of 1965
abolished the national origins quotas and ended policies that discrimi-
nated against Asian nations. It provided 170,000 visas (documents al-
lowing a person to legally enter the country) for people emigrating from
countries in the Eastern Hemisphere, with no limit for any one country.
The act gave special preference to family members of people already in
the country.

The act dramatically changed U.S. immigration. From only 3 per-
cent of the total of immigrants in 1960, Asians made up 34 percent of
all immigrants to the United States in 1975. The nations of origin began
to change as well.
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Chinese were the largest group of immigrants. In 2000, there were
more than 2.4 million Chinese Americans, making up about 21 percent
of Asian Americans, and recent Chinese immigrants made up the fourth-
largest group of foreign-born U.S. residents. In 2002, the U.S. Census
Bureau reported that the Chinese language ranks second (after Spanish)
among foreign languages spoken in the United States. The Filipino
American population soared as well, from 176,130 in 1960 to 1.8 mil-
lion in 2000.

Immigration by Asian Indians rose from 300 in 1965 to 14,000 in
1975; in 2000 there were 1.9 million Asian Indian Americans. Asian
Indians immigrated to the United States mainly because of widespread
unemployment in their home country. They have settled throughout the
nation. One of the country’s fastest growing ethnic groups, they are also
one of its wealthiest.

In little over a century, the Korean American population has grown
from a small group of political exiles and immigrant laborers in Hawaii
and California to become one of the fastest-growing ethnic groups in the
United States. According to the 2000 U.S. Census, Americans identify-
ing themselves as of Korean descent numbered 1,228,427.

Southeast Asian immigration

There were less than four thousand Vietnamese Americans in 1970. The
Vietnam War (1959-75), a war between the communist North
Vietnamese and the anticommunist South Vietnamese, changed that
dramatically. Despite U.S. participation on their side, the South
Vietnamese were defeated in 1975. On the day the capital city of Saigon
fell, at least sixty-five thousand South Vietnamese fled the country.

The first wave of about 130,000 Vietnamese arrived in the United
States in 1975. That year, the United States passed the Indochina
Migration and Refugee Act, which gave 200,000 Vietnamese refugees
special status and permission to enter the United States. The situation in
Vietnam deteriorated in the following years, and hundreds of thousands
more fled. In the period between 1983 and 1991, 66,000 Vietnamese
entered the United States legally, and 531,310 more arrived between
1991 and 2000.

In 1975, neighboring Cambodia was taken over by the Khmer
Rouge, a radical and brutal revolutionary group under the leadership of
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Pol Pot (1926-1998). The Khmer Rouge aimed to turn Cambodia back
into a farming country and began by forcing Cambodians to move from
the cities to the country, where many starved. The government then
began killing educated and professional Cambodians and anyone con-
nected with Americans. The death toll ran into the millions. When
Vietnam invaded Cambodia in 1979, hundreds of thousands of
Cambodians took advantage of the situation to flee to Thailand. From
there, tens of thousands eventually immigrated to the United States. In
the 1990s, Cambodias political situation improved, and emigration
from the country slowed down. In 2000, there were an estimated three

hundred thousand Cambodian Americans.

In 1975, communist forces took over Laos as well as Vietnam.
Thousands of Laotians fled to the United States, entering the country as
refugees. In 2000, there were 198,000 Laotian Americans.

Other groups of Asian descent, such as Thai, Hmong, Pakistani, and
Taiwanese Americans, have also developed significant populations since

the 1970s.

John Jacob Astor

John Jacob Astor, one of the richest and most powerful men of his time,
was an entrepreneurial wizard who made his fortune from the western
fur trade and urban real estate. Astor played a central role in westward
expansion in the nineteenth century. He created a complex business
structure that spanned the continent and reached out to markets in
Europe, South America, and Asia. In many ways, his business practices
were the forerunners of the large industries of the late nineteenth cen-
tury.

Astor was born on July 17, 1763, in the city of Walldorf in present-
day Germany. At the age of sixteen, he moved to London, England, to
help his brother sell musical instruments. At twenty, he immigrated to
New York City, where he established a prosperous business purchasing
furs in Canada for resale in Europe and the United States. He expanded
his interest in furs and entered the profitable China trade, trading furs
for tea and silk. (See Fur traders and mountain men.) Astor was ex-
traordinarily successful, becoming a millionaire by 1807. According to
many historians, he was the first millionaire in the United States.
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The American Fur Company

In 1808, Astor established the American Fur Company and set out to
command the fur trade from the Great Lakes to the Pacific. To accom-
plish this, he had to challenge the powerful British fur companies in the
West. He hired traders to set up Astoria, a trading post in Oregon, in
1811. From Astoria, the traders were to obtain furs from the Indians and
then ship the pelts directly to China. As promising as the scheme first
seemed, Astor’s timing was poor. In 1812, the United States went to war
with Great Britain in the War of 1812. In 1813, the British Northwest
Company surrounded Astoria and forced Astor’s agent to sell out the en-
tire post for far less than it was worth. A furious Astor was forced to
abandon his Oregon trade.

Although the American Fur Company was unable to capture the
Pacific trade, it nonetheless became the largest American fur trading firm
in the West as Astor expanded his interest in the Great Lakes region. In
1821, the American Fur Company invaded the Upper Missouri fur
trade. By either combining with competitors or buying them out, Astor’s
company managed to capture much of that market as well. But by the
early 1830s, Astor realized that American beavers were rapidly being de-
pleted (over-hunted until there were few left). Beaver hats, once all the
rage in Europe, had gone out of style. He sold the American Fur
Company in 1834, getting out before the market dried up.

Land speculation

Astor had long invested his profits from furs in New York City real es-
tate. After 1834 and until his death fourteen years later, he continued to
buy, improve, and sell land on Manhattan Island. He owned at least $5
million in land when he died. Even as he grew wealthier, his greed
seemed to increase. According to those around him, over the years Astor’s
personality changed. Earlier, he had a reputation as a cunning but fair
employer and an honest dealer. In later life, he became known as a harsh,
selfish, and greedy man.

Astor speculated in land elsewhere, including in the West. (The
town of Astor, Wisconsin, for example, later became Green Bay.) He
bought stock in railroads and canals, purchased government bonds, and
was involved in various banks. When Astor died in 1848, his estimated

worth was $20 million, making him the wealthiest person in the nation.
He left $400,000 to found a library, which became the heart of the New
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York Public Library, today one of the largest in the world. He left most
of the rest of his wealth and businesses to his son William, establishing
one of the great family fortunes of the early United States.

Atlantic Charter

The Atlantic Charter was signed August 14, 1941, four months before
the United States officially entered World War II. It was a joint state-
ment by President Franklin D. Roosevelt (1882-1945; served
1933—-45) of the United States and Prime Minister Winston Churchill
(1874—1965) of Great Britain. The charter reflected their countries
eight common objectives for a postwar world. The objectives emphasized
the different philosophies of the two democracies and the other main
Allied power, the Soviet Union. President Roosevelt hoped the charter
would encourage support in the United States for entering the war

alongside the Allies.

The Atlantic Charter was written during a secret meeting between
Roosevelt and Churchill when the United States was still technically a
neutral country. It was becoming clear to Roosevelt that the United
States would probably enter the war soon, so the meeting covered many
issues concerning the war. Churchill was not convinced of the need for
a joint declaration, but he introduced ideas in a draft statement. A num-
ber of points proved to be controversial, but at the end of the meeting a
final statement was formed. The ideas it contained would prove to be
highly important in guiding Allied initiatives throughout the war and in
establishing postwar peace.

The Adantic Charter included eight basic points. It set forth the
concept that each country should have the right of self-determination.
This meant that territorial changes would happen only with the approval
of the people concerned. Furthermore, each country would be allowed
to establish the government of its choosing. Both powers declared that
they sought no territorial gains from the war. Other points reflected their
hopes for a world in which all nations would have access to trade and
prosperity. They included thoughts on a new system of international se-
curity that would allow freedom of the seas, encourage fewer arms, and
reduce fear in the world.

The Atlantic Charter was welcomed in both countries. Its impor-
tance, however, became clear only after the United States entered the
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war. The Charter helped define Allied goals when it was included as part
of the Declaration by the United Nations in January 1942. Twenty-six
nations embraced the aims of the Atlantic Charter when they signed the
Declaration by the United Nations. That number eventually doubled.

The Atlantic Charter had a significant impact on the postwar world.
The notion of an international system of security prompted the forma-
tion of the United Nations (UN), created in 1945. By grounding itself
in the declaration of 1942, the UN embraced the principles of the
Atlantic Charter. The right of self-determination thus became a guiding
principle in international politics. In the thirty years following the war,
important transfers of political power happened throughout the world.
With encouragement from the Atlantic Charter, many countries were

motivated to establish their independence from outside rule.

Atlantic Slave Trade

In 1502, Spanish colonists asked the king of Spain for permission to
bring African slaves to the New World to provide labor for their large
farms, or plantations. The colonists occupied the West Indies, the islands
in the Caribbean Sea on which explorer Christopher Columbus
(1451-1506) had first landed ten years earlier. In their first decade in the
West Indies, the Spanish colonists had forced Native Americans to do
their labor, but the native Caribbean people were dying in large numbers
from overwork and from the infectious diseases brought to the New
World by the Spanish. The Spanish king gave his approval for the

colonists to import Africans, and the Atlantic slave trade began.

Trade on the African coast

The Portuguese, who claimed the exclusive right to trade on the west
coast of Africa, had started the African slave trade in the early fifteenth
century. While they were trading other goods with the Africans, the
Portuguese noticed that slavery was an accepted part of life there. The
most common form of slavery occurred when one tribe forced prisoners
of war from other tribes to become their domestic slaves. Portuguese
traders soon learned to buy slaves from the African coastal rulers. They
also rented land from the local rulers and built a series of great forts that
looked like castles along the coast of Africa. These forts, called barra-
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coons, were designed to temporarily confine the Africans who had been
purchased by the Europeans and were awaiting transport to Europe.

One of the African coastal kingdoms from which Portugal obtained
slaves was Benin, located in the forests of Nigeria. Benin was a large em-
pire with a powerful army. Like many other coastal kingdoms, Benin
came to accept the slave trade as a fast way to increase its wealth and
maintain its status with Europeans. The Portuguese slave traders later de-
veloped a slave trade in southern Africa in Kongo, virtually destroying
the once-powerful civilization by taking so many of its people into slav-
ery. When profits failed there, they moved on, turning their attention to
Angola, farther south. Using black mercenaries (paid soldiers) equipped
with firearms, they began a long war in Angola, capturing many Africans
in battles that were truly slave hunts. The Portuguese slave traders then
found sources for more captives in the prosperous Swahili coastal cities

of East Africa.

The Atlantic slave trade thrived as the plantations of the New World
grew. By the eighteenth century the actual slave catching was done
mainly by inland groups, such as the Ashanti and the Dahomey, while
the coastal tribes acted as middlemen between the slave catchers and the
European slave traders. The captives usually came from regions 200 to
300 miles inland, often much farther. African slave traders marched the
captives in coffles, or gangs, to the coast. To prevent escape, two slaves
were often linked together by means of a stick with a fork at each end
into which the slaves’ necks were fastened. Once they reached the coast,
the captives were kept in a barracoon. When enough people had been
collected, they were ferried out by canoe to the ships waiting offshore.

British slave trade

The Portuguese claim on the slave trade was soon challenged by French,
Dutch, Swedish, Danish, Prussian, and English slave traders, or slavers.
By 1713, England had a virtual monopoly (exclusive right to the trade)
on the slave trade north of the equator. Around that time, there was a
great boom in the slave trade due to the increasing demand for slaves in
the West Indies, where large tobacco and sugar plantations demanded a
tremendous amount of physical labor.

Unfortunately for the slaves, the profits on the Caribbean planta-
tions were so high that many people were worked to death within a year
or two of arriving. With profits made from the work of one slave in less
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After slaves were caught, they were marched to the coast. To prevent escape they were often yoked together by means of a stick
with a fork at each end into which the slaves’ necks were fastened. ENGLISH SCHOOL/THE BRIDGEMAN ART LIBRARY/GETTY
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than a year, the plantation owners were able to purchase another person
to replace one who had died. The English city of Liverpool was built
largely on money made from this inhuman, but booming, trade. The
people of Africa became convinced that white men were cannibals who
ate nothing but human flesh, as they could think of no other explana-

tion for the enormous demand for African people.

Slave trade begins in the colonies

In the early days, English colonies in North America depended on
European indentured servants for labor. Indentured servants were indi-
viduals who were committed to working for someone for a fixed num-
ber of years, usually in exchange for the price of their passage to the
colonies. Indentured servants had few rights during their period of serv-

ice, but after it was over they were free. By the seventeenth century, the
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supply of indentured servants began to run short, and the colonists
sought African slaves to meet labor demands.

The first black slaves landed in Jamestown, Virginia, in 1619. They
were treated as indentured servants. Although they were not treated as
well as their European counterparts, at least some of the early African
slaves gained their freedom at the end of their contract. Some went on
to become property owners and professionals. But within a few decades
African slaves in the colonies had come to be considered human prop-
erty rather than indentured servants.

Initially all the original thirteen colonies had slaves. Small farms in
New England, however, had much less use for physical labor than the
plantation system in the South, which relied heavily on slave labor.
When demand grew for sugar, tobacco, rice, and cotton, the number of
slaves in the South grew as well, and slaves became concentrated there.
(See Slavery in the Antebellum South.) Slavery was abolished in most
northern colonies at the end of the eighteenth century, but the New
England colonies continued to take an active part in the slave trade itself
by providing ships and crews and selling the slaves in the South.

Triangular trade and the Middle Passage

The Adantic slave trade developed into a triangular, or three-legged,
trade in the mid-eighteenth century. A captain in Europe or New
England would load up with rum and other goods to trade and sail to
Africa, where the goods would be exchanged for slaves. He would then
take his slaves to the West Indies or the Americas and sell them, taking
on a cargo of molasses, which he would transport to New England to be
made into rum. In this way, a captain was never forced to sail with an
empty hold and could make a profit on each leg of the voyage.

The base of the triangle, the two- to five-month voyage in which the
African captives were transported across the Atantic Ocean to the
Americas, became known as the Middle Passage. (See Slave Ships and the
Middle Passage.) The captives were packed into tiny spaces and forced to
live in unbearable conditions for the voyage. Many died on the way.

Scholars believe between twelve and fifteen million Africans were
brought across the ocean during the four-hundred-year history of the
African slave trade between 1500 and 1900. The great majority of them
went to the West Indies and Brazil. By comparison, what became the
United States imported relatively few slaves, about five hundred thou-
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African American slaves work the land on a plantation in the South, which relied heavily on slave labor. HULTON
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sand people. Many of the slaves who came into the United States were
purchased from the West Indies, not directly from Africa.

Prohibiting foreign slave trade

By the end of the eighteenth century, opposition to the slave trade grew
strong in Europe and the United States. Great Britain abolished the trade
in 1807, and the United States did the same in 1808, prohibiting the im-
port of slaves from foreign countries but continuing to allow the sale of
slaves between states. (See Abolition Movement.)

The Adantic trade continued to increase despite the prohibitions
against it. The invention of the cotton gin in 1793 and the development
of the power loom created an almost unlimited demand for cotton and
resulted in fresh demands for slaves. The value of a prime field hand rose
from $500 to $1,500. The records of one slave smuggler showed that on
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a single successful trip he made a net profit of $41,439. Two or three
such voyages could make a man wealthy for life.

The illegal slave trade

The slavers started using fast ships that were rarely caught by the much-
slower British patrol ships on the African coast. As slavery was still legal
in Africa, the native rulers continued to erect barracoons along the coast
and await cruising slavers. Arriving slave traders would signal from their
ships, usually by flags, that they were in the market for a certain number
of slaves. The captives were then ferried out and quickly loaded onto the
slave ships; the slaver would then sail for the West Indies at high speed.
Unless a frigate (a type of warship) was able to catch a slaver in the act
of loading, capture was highly unlikely.

In 1840, the British Navy, tired of seeing the barracoons packed
with slaves along the coast, finally burned them after freeing the captives.
As a result, the barracoons had to be relocated far inland, which made
loading the slaves onto ships much more difficult. Meanwhile, slaves
continued to be run into southern ports of North America.

The end of the slave trade

With the abolition of slavery in the United States and the end of the
American Civil War (1861-65) in 1865, the Atlantic slave trade largely
came to an end. (Brazil continued its trade in slaves until 1888, when it
became the last country in the Western Hemisphere to outlaw slavery.)
For Europeans and Americans, the Atlantic trade and slave labor had re-
sulted in prosperity, at least for a time. For Africans, the slave trade was
decimating. It bled dry great sections of the continent, leaving commu-
nities so weak that they could not harvest crops. The slave trade also en-
couraged local wars and discouraged the development of Africa’s
resources because the trade was so enormously profitable that nothing
else could compete with it.

Atomic Bomb

The scientific discovery that would enable the creation of the atomic
bomb occurred on the eve of World War II (1939-45). In 1934, exper-
iments with uranium by Italian physicist Enrico Fermi (1901-1954) led
to the discovery of nuclear fission. Scientists found that each fission of a
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uranium-235 nucleus releases 100 million times more energy than is re-
leased in a chemical reaction.

Most of the scientists who worked on nuclear fission experiments
were German or Italian. They fled their native countries as German dic-
tator Adolf Hitler (1889-1945) and the Nazis began their ascent to
power. Had these men not emigrated to America, it is quite likely that
Hitler would have been the one to control the use of the atomic bomb.

In the late 1930s, scientist Albert Einstein (1879—1955) wrote a let-
ter to President Franklin D. Roosevelt (1882—1945; served 1933—45),
encouraging a national effort for the development of an atomic bomb.
The government did not move quickly. It was not until mid-1942 that a
program, authorized by Roosevelt, began to build the bomb. The
Manbhattan Project was the name given to the work by a division estab-
lished within the Army Corps of Engineers. The sole purpose of this
project was to develop the atomic bomb.

The first nuclear bomb test was conducted on July 16, 1945, in New
Mexico. The test was a success, detonating a bomb as powerful as 20,000
tons of TNT explosives. Within a month, two such bombs were dropped
on Japan, killing an estimated 110,000 to 150,000 people and injuring an-
other 200,000 or more. On August 15, six days after the second bomb was
dropped, Japan announced its surrender, bringing World War II to an end.

By 1962, two thousand nuclear weapons existed across the globe.
The Soviet Union and the United States owned 98 percent of them. By
the end of 2007, there were still 26,000 nuclear warheads in existence;
more than 95 percent belong to Russia and the United States.

Stephen Austin

Stephen Fuller Austin was the chief colonizer of Texas. He carried out his
father’s dream of creating an agricultural society in the remote Spanish-
held region. He was largely responsible for founding the state of Texas.

Early years

Stephen Austin was born on November 3, 1793. His father, Moses
Austin, was a mine owner. In 1798, the Austin family moved to the
province of Spanish Louisiana, where Moses established and operated a
lead mine south of St. Louis. In 1804, young Stephen Austin began
school in Connecticut and then entered Transylvania University in
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Kentucky. In 1810, he returned to Missouri, which had become part of
the United States because of the Louisiana Purchase (1803). Austin
worked at a bank in St. Louis, and in 1814 he was elected to the
Missouri Territorial Legislature.

In 1820, Austin moved to the Arkansas Territory, where he estab-
lished a farm on the Red River. He was appointed district judge that
same year. It was obvious that Austin had natural leadership ability. In
1821, he went to New Orleans to study law.

Moses Austin's dream

Around this time, events set in motion by his father changed the course

of Austin’s life. Moses Austin decided to found a farming colony in the
unsettled land in the Spanish province of Texas.
In 1821, Moses secured a grant from the
Spanish authorities that permitted him to settle
three hundred families in Texas. These families
would agree to become Spanish subjects in re-
turn for grants of land. Moses Austin, however,
died before he could begin his colonization ven-
ture. As he lay dying, he asked Stephen to carry
out his dream of founding a colony in Texas.

Founding the colony

Austin had just secured his father’s colonization
grant from the Spanish authorities when Mexico
became independent from Spain in 1821. The
grant was no longer valid. Austin traveled to
Mexico City to speak directly with the new
Mexican government. He could not immedi-
ately secure a grant for his Texas colony and
ended up staying in Mexico City for a year.
While there, he learned to speak and write in
Spanish and made many friends among the
Mexican leaders. The Mexican government fi-
nally approved the grant in early 1823.

Austin returned to Texas and assumed direc-
tion of the colony, which grew rapidly. By the
end of 1824, almost all three hundred colonists
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permitted by the colonization charter had received land grants. The
Austin colony was centered along the rich land of the Brazos River. The

small town of San Felipe became its chief settlement.

Texas, Mexico

In 1824, the Mexican government approved additional colonies of
Anglo-Americans (white, non—Hispanic Americans) in Texas. Austin was
able to bring hundreds more families into Texas, and by 1830 he had at-
tracted some five thousand. Among this population was a significant

number of African American slaves.

By the 1830s, the Mexican government was concerned that too
many Anglo-Americans had immigrated to Texas. As a result, it passed
the law of April 6, 1830, which (among other restrictions) ended all fu-
ture immigration into Texas from the United States. Austin worked hard
to secure a repeal of this law. He once again went to Mexico City to
lobby for measures favorable to Texas. Although he failed to secure all the
concessions he wanted, he did convince the government to repeal some

of the most objectionable aspects of the law.

Rebelling

By the time Austin returned to Texas in late 1831, Anglo-Texans had
grown impatient. The town council of San Felipe called for a convention
of Anglo colonists to discuss the abuses of the Mexican authorities in
Texas. The Convention of 1832 drafted a long list of terms the Anglo-
Texans wanted the Mexican government to grant. A year later, a second
convention met and drafted a provincial constitution for Texas as a sep-
arate state within Mexico. Austin was chosen to deliver this document to
the Mexican government, and he left for Mexico City in May 1833.

After Austin presented the proposed Texas constitution to govern-
ment officials in Mexico City, he wrote a letter to the town council in
San Antonio describing the political situation in Mexico. A Mexican
government official got hold of this letter and claimed that Austin’s de-
sire for Texas to form its own government constituted treason. Arrested
in early January 1834, Austin remained in prison until December of that
year. He was not able to return to Texas until July 1835. Confinement in
the harsh Mexico City prison permanently ruined his health.
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The revolution

During Austin’s absence from Texas, many Anglo-Texans had come to
favor a complete break with Mexico. The Texas Revolution began on
October 2, 1835, with a skirmish between Anglo and Mexican troops
near Gonzales, Texas. Austin was named commander of the revolution-
ary army, a position he held for only a few months. The Texas govern-
ment then appointed him as an agent to the United States, charged with
finding materials and supplies for the revolt. Austin spent much of the
Texas Revolution seeking help in the United States.

Austin returned to Texas during the summer of 1836 after the Texas
Revolution had ended in an Anglo-American victory. Sam Houston
(1793-1863), the commander-in-chief of the Texas armed forces during
the revolution, was elected president of the new Republic of Texas.
Austin, who lost to Houston in the election, became secretary of state
but served only a few months until his death on December 27, 1836.

Automobile Industry

When industrialist Henry Ford (1863-1947) introduced his now-fa-
mous Model T automobile in 1908, he changed the lives of millions of
Americans.

Ford did not invent the automobile; the Model T was not Ford’s first
car. His contribution to the automotive industry was designing a car that
was so simple and affordable that the average American could own one.
The Model T was that car. In 1908, more than ten thousand of them
sold for $825 (the equivalent of about $19,000 in 2007 using the
Consumer Price Index), each in the first year of production. Because of
innovative production techniques that eventually included the moving
assembly line, the price dropped to $575 (about $12,000 in 2007)
within four years, and sales skyrocketed. By 1914, Ford owned 48 per-
cent of the automobile market. His new car-manufacturing plant was
turning out one Model T every ninety-three minutes. By 1927—years
after the perfection of the assembly line—Ford was producing one car
every twenty-four seconds. The price dropped to $300 (about $3,500 in
2007).

Ford made more than cars. He made it possible for Americans to live
in the country and work in the city. For those who did not like city life,
he allowed for the development of an entirely different lifestyle: the sub-
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Henry Ford sits in his invention, the Quadricycle. The vehicle had four large bicyclelike wheels, was steered with a system like

that in a boat, and had two forward speeds.

urbs. His innovations created jobs and allowed for mobility on a scale
never before known. Suddenly, distances between loved ones did not
seem so great, and families could visit relatives or take summer vacations.
Tourism became a major American industry. Weekend jaunts to the
country became a popular pastime, whereas before, the farthest one
could hope to travel in one trip was fifteen miles or so. Horses pulling
wagons or carriages could not be expected to go farther than that.

It can be argued that the introduction of Ford’s economical Model
T had the greatest effect on the lives of women. Where once their lives

centered around the home, if for no other reason than that they had no
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This production assembly line puts together Ford’s Model T, a car affordable enough for most Americans to own. AP IMAGES
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means of transportation at their disposal, they now could travel conve-
niently. Rural women could visit their neighbors miles away without
having to leave an entire afternoon open for the walk or horse ride. They
could shop at their local merchants or venture farther to stores where se-
lection and price were more consumer friendly. The car made women
more visible in towns and society in general, giving them an independ-
ence and power they had never had.

Thanks to affordable cars, more people could attend colleges and
universities, and hospitals were now more accessible. More cars meant
the development and maintenance of new roads and highways that con-
nected one region to the next. By the 1950s, interstate highways were
built, connecting one end of the country to the other.

America was not the only producer of automobiles, but World War
IT (1939-45) bombs had destroyed factories in Japan. Recovery was
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Henry Ford

The world of industry was forever changed in
1913, the year Henry Ford invented the assem-
bly line. As is often the case with inventions,
one might wonder why it took so long for any-
one to come up with the idea of the assembly
line. It is a logical way to build something.

Henry Ford was born July 30, 1863, in
Michigan. Although he was born into a farming
family, he showed an early interest in all things
mechanical. He left home at the age of sixteen
to work as an apprentice (student assistant) for
a machinist in Detroit. In 1888, he married and
supported his family by running a sawmill.

Ford took a job with the Edison Illuminating
Company in Detroit in 1891. He began as an
engineer and was promoted to chief engineer
just two years later. During this time, he began
spending his free hours experimenting with in-
ternal combustion engines. In 1896, he in-
vented the Quadricycle. This vehicle had four
large bicyclelike wheels, was steered with a sys-
tem like that in a boat, and had two forward
speeds.

Pleased with his progress, Ford established the
Ford Motor Company in 1903. He was the
company'’s vice president and chief engineer.
Ford introduced the Model T car five years
later. Only two or three cars were made each
day at the Ford plant. Small groups of men

would work on each car using components
purchased from outside manufacturers. It was
not an efficient way to build vehicles.

The Model T changed the way America lived.
Ford's cars were selling faster than he could
build them, so he moved his factory to a bigger
plant in the Detroit suburb of Highland Park in
1910.

Ford was the first industrialist to manufacture
interchangeable and standardized parts. He
eventually made many models of automobiles,
but many of the parts in each model were the
same as those in other models. By making one
part to fit all cars, Ford was able to lower the
cost of his autos, thus making them more af-
fordable for more consumers.

In keeping with that efficient spirit, Ford in-
vented the assembly line. Workers stood in one
place while a moving belt carried each car
along. Every worker was responsible for incor-
porating one part onto the automobile. Parts
were delivered to each worker by a carefully
timed conveyor belt so that assembly was
smooth and efficient. Again, this invention al-
lowed Ford to lower the cost of his cars be-
cause it now took less time to assemble each
one. Soon, he was the largest car manufacturer
in the world.

slow, but Japan produced 1,070 passenger cars in 1949. Throughout the

Korean War (1950-53), Japan served as a supply depot for United

Nations troops—just as the major U.S. automakers had done during

World War II. They manufactured trucks for them, and in addition, pro-

duced 1,594 cars in 1950. In 1955, automobile production increased to

20,220, still not enough to pose a threat to America.
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Japanese automobile companies realized that most Asians could not
afford vehicles, and if they wanted to stay in business, they would need
to export. In 1957, Toyota sold 288 cars in the United States. The fol-
lowing year was better, with sales at 821. Nissan also chose to export and
sold 1,131 cars and 179 trucks in 1959; another 1,294 cars and 346
trucks sold the following year. In the mid-1960s, Nissan and Toyota
bought some of the smaller Japanese manufacturers, and Mitsubishi
partnered with Isuzu.

Japanese autos were not the only exports to the United States;
German cars, led by Volkswagen, outsold Japanese vehicles throughout
the 1960s and into the 1970s. In fact, Volkswagen opened the first for-
eign-owned U.S. auto manufacturing plant in 1978 (and closed in 1987
due to increasing Japanese presence). Regardless of where the cars were
made, all the exports were compact. America, meanwhile, continued to
produce larger cars. This proved to be its downfall. When gas prices sky-
rocketed in 1973, Americans demanded more fuel-efficient cars. In
1975, 695,000 Japanese cars were sold in the United States, and sales
only increased for the remainder of the decade. In 1980, Japan manufac-
tured 7 million automobiles compared to 6.4 million produced by the
United States. Nearly 2 million of those cars were exported, and for the
first time, Japanese car production exceeded that of America and became
the number one manufacturer in the entire world.

In the last decade of the twentieth century, automobile companies
turned to innovation in hopes of revitalizing the market. Automakers de-
veloped the sport utility vehicle (SUV), a lighter type of truck that could
be driven on and off the road. As the end of the first decade of the twenty-
first century approached, high gas prices forced automakers to reduce
SUV and truck production in favor of smaller, less gas-guzzling cars.

In 2006, Toyota continued to be the industry leader in manufactur-
ing, followed by General Motors (once the largest U.S. corporation),
Ford, Volkswagen, and Honda.

Aviation

The Wright Brothers—Wilbur (1867-1912) and Orville
(1871-1948)—were the first men to successfully fly an airplane. They
did it in Kitty Hawk, North Carolina, on December 17, 1903. They
flew 120 feet (37 meters) in twelve seconds. The brief flight was the re-
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sult of years of experimentation, research, and sheer determination. And
it was the dawn of mechanical flight.

Before the Wright brothers took to the air in their powered airplane,
the only means of air transportation was the hot air balloon. The first
human flight in a balloon took place in Paris, France, in 1783.
Ballooning became a favorite pastime in Europe in the late eighteenth
century, but those balloons were not steerable, so passengers were at the
mercy of the weather and wind. Gliders followed, and then the Wright
brothers made their famous first airplane flight. They used the research
and experiments of their predecessors to build the first aircraft that could
sustain flight.

Military aviation

Airplanes proved a major asset in time of war. Bulgaria was the first
country to use airplanes for military service, in the First Balkan War
(1912-13). Both sides fighting in World War I (1914-18) relied heav-
ily upon airplanes as weapons. In 1914, the French attached a machine
gun to the front of one of their planes, thus allowing aircraft to shoot at
one another. Pilots of such planes were known as aces, and they were
publicized as modern-day knights. One German ace, Manfred von
Richthofen (1892-1918), became known as the Red Baron. He shot
down eighty planes in air-to-air combat.

Technological advancements led to improved aircraft for use in
World War II (1939-45). This era of advancements is known as the
Golden Age, and it was during this time that Amelia Earhart
(1897—-1937) became the first woman aviator to cross the Atlantic Ocean
on a solo flight. The zeppelin, a hydrogen-filled airship, named
Hindenburg crashed and burned in New Jersey in 1937, killing thirty-
five people and bringing an end to the airship.

One of the most impressive achievements of the Golden Age was the
development of instrument flight, for which aviator Jimmy Doolittle
(1896-1993) is credited. He was the first pilot to use nothing but instru-
ments to guide him in taking off, flying, and landing. Prior to that, avi-

ators relied on sight.

Aircraft production increased during World War II, and a German
aviator flew the first jet plane in 1939. Germany also led the way in de-
veloping the first cruise missile, ballistic missile, and manned rocket. By
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the end of the war, America had produced more than 160,000 aircraft of
various types.

Commercial aviation

Once World War II ended, military aircraft were used to transport peo-
ple and goods. Soon many airlines were established, with routes that
crossed North America and other continents. The first American airliner
took to the skies in 1949. In 1956, the Boeing 707 was introduced, rais-
ing the level of comfort, speed, and safety. As passengers began to con-
sider flying as commonplace as driving a car, the military continued
making progress in aviation technology. The sound barrier was broken in
October 1947, and soon the space race was in full swing as America and
the Soviet Union competed to be the leader in space exploration.

The space race resulted in the first men landing on the moon.
American astronauts Neil Armstrong (1930—) and Buzz Aldrin (1930-)
made their lunar landing in 1969, the same year Boeing announced its
747, the largest aircraft ever to fly. Even in the first decade of the twenty-
first century, the 747 is one of the largest planes, and it transports mil-
lions of passengers each year.

Britain unveiled the first supersonic passenger airplane in 1976. The
Concorde remained in service for twenty-seven years before it was re-
tired. It remains an icon of success for the aviation industry.

Modern aviation

The Federal Aviation Act was passed in 1958, thereby establishing the
Federal Aviation Administration (FAA). The major roles of the FAA in-
clude regulating U.S. commercial space transportation and civil aviation,
promoting safety, and encouraging new aviation technology. One of the
FAA’s first tasks was to develop an air traffic control system to prevent in-
air collisions.

The industry was deregulated throughout the 1980s, which resulted
in an influx of smaller airlines and the merging of larger airlines. In order
to compete, airlines dropped their ticket prices in the 1990s as the num-
ber of cities served increased.

After the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks, airline security be-
came top priority as regulations were tightened and strict airport security
procedures were implemented.
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The Axis powers were the countries that unified against the Allied coali-
tion (which included Poland, Great Britain, France, and, later, the
United States and the Soviet Union) in World War II (1939-45).
Germany, Japan, and Italy were the founding powers of the Axis alliance.
Later it included Bulgaria, Romania, Slovakia, and Hungary, among oth-
ers. Military planning was led by German dictator Adolf Hitler
(1889-1945), Italian dictator Benito Mussolini (1883—1945), and
Prime Minister Hideki Tojo (1884-1948) of Japan.

The Axis powers concentrated efforts to conquer territory in two
parts of the world. Germany led efforts in Europe while Japan led efforts
in the Pacific. This strategy forced the Allied troops to split their re-
sources between two areas of the world. At the height of their expansion,
the Axis powers dominated large parts of Europe, Africa, Asia, and the

Pacific Ocean. In the end, however, they were completely defeated by the
Allies.

The Axis alliance began to evolve in 1936 when Italy and Germany
signed a pact of friendship. The term axis stems from a statement
Mussolini made at the time that all of Europe would revolve around the
Rome-Berlin axis resulting from the friendship. The Tripartite Treaty
that officially established the Axis powers as a military threat was signed
by Germany, Italy, and Japan on September 27, 1940. The three coun-
tries wanted to build empires and establish a new world order. The treaty
recognized a sphere of interest for each country and contained promises
that they would help each other attain their economic, political, and mil-
itary goals. Other countries later joined the Axis efforts.

The Axis powers were defeated in World War II. In a twist of poli-
tics, Italy’s Mussolini was imprisoned, and Italy entered into a pact with
the Allies in September 1943. Germany continued to fight intensively
until it was pushed back across Europe. It surrendered unconditionally
on May 7, 1945. The Allies, however, continued to fight in the Pacific
arena against Japan until August 1945. Japan surrendered only after the
United States dropped the atomic bomb on the cities of Hiroshima and
Nagasaki.
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Baby Boom Generation
After World War II (1939—45), American soldiers returned home from

their victory ready to take advantage of a prosperous economy. Whereas
the economic depression of the 1930s led to a drop in marriage and birth
rates, the 1940s told a different story. There were nearly 2.3 million mar-
riages in 1946, an increase of more than six hundred thousand over
1945. This was the first year of what became known as the baby boom,
which lasted throughout most of the 1950s and into the early 1960s.
Between 1948 and 1953, more babies were born than had been over the
previous thirty years. Those born between 1946 and 1964 are called
baby boomers.

The U.S. population increased from 150 million in 1950 to 179
million in 1960. This was the largest ten-year increase in population to
date. By the middle of the next decade, baby boomers themselves
reached childbearing age and birthrates again increased.

Effects

By 1958, children aged fifteen and younger comprised almost one-third
of the American population. Toy sales that year capped at $1.25 billion,
and diaper services were a $50-million enterprise. Many businesses prof-
ited from the baby boom, including school furniture companies, car
manufacturers, home builders, even road and highway construction and
paving companies. The suburbanization of America, in which large
areas of homes were built on the outer edges of a city, developed at an
amazing rate as growing families increased the demand for housing out-
side urban areas.

125



Bacon's Rebellion

126

Baby boomers were the first generation to be raised with televisions
in their homes. This technology gave boomers a sense of generational
identity not available to those who came before them. Boomers’ lives
have been defined by events such as Woodstock (a rock music festival
that took place in Woodstock, New York, in 1969), the Vietnam War
(1954-75) and the accompanying antiwar movement, the assassination
of President John F. Kennedy (1917-1963; served 1961-63), the civil
rights movement, and experimental use of recreational drugs and alco-

hol.

“Overcrowding” is a term directly related to the baby boom genera-
tion. First it was the maternity wards of hospitals, which had a difficult
time keeping pace with the upsurge of births. As boomers grew, schools
became overcrowded. The 1950s and 1960s also saw an increase in the
number of children and young adults entering the juvenile justice sys-
tem. The term “juvenile delinquent” was given to those who did not fit
into the societal norms, and juvenile institutions filled to overflowing. By
the 1970s, colleges and universities experienced twice the number of stu-
dents entering as in the previous generation. As boomers graduated, the
job market became saturated, and graduates had trouble finding jobs in
their fields. By the 1990s, housing prices skyrocketed as boomers reached
middle age and thus began to settle down. Owning a home—a big
home, if possible—was part of that goal.

The drastic increase in population placed a burden on education,
healthcare, and other social service systems in the United States. Larger
sums of public money were required to maintain these systems and keep
them running smoothly. According to the U.S. Census Bureau, 330 baby
boomers turned sixty every hour throughout the year 2006.

The first baby boomer filed for early retirement in October 2007,
thus becoming the first to begin collecting Social Security. Social
Security is a government system into which workers pay a certain
amount, depending on their income level. In return, they can collect
monthly payments once they retire and until they die.

Bacon's Rebellion

In the spring of 1676, Nathaniel Bacon Jr. (1647-1676) led a revolt
against the governor of Virginia and local Indian tribes. Over the course
of months, events unfolded into a significant uprising known as Bacon’s
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Rebellion. The immediate events that sparked the rebellion concerned a
political ~disagreement between Governor William Berkeley
(1606-1677) and Bacon, who was a member of Berkeley’s council. It re-
mains uncertain what other factors caused Bacon to take such drastic ac-

tions.

Unfolding of events

During the summer of 1675, there were several Indian raids against the
colonists of Virginia. When a group of Virginians took revenge by mur-
dering some Indians, the tribes increased their attacks. Governor
Berkeley refrained from sending troops to counter the attacks and opted
instead to build a chain of forts along the frontier.

A group of angry planters persuaded Bacon to lead a band of volun-
teers against the Indians, aggressive and friendly alike. Bacon petitioned
the governor for a commission to organize the volunteers. Afraid of a
full-scale war, the governor declined and warned Bacon that further ac-

tion would define him as a rebel.

Governor Berkeley’s warnings went unheeded, and in May 1676
Bacon set off with a force of three hundred men to the southern frontier.
There they slaughtered and plundered a friendly tribe. Governor
Berkeley declared Bacon a rebel for his actions and demanded that he be
captured.

Bacon was imprisoned temporarily. He confessed his error and re-
ceived a pardon from the governor. Days later, he slipped back to his
home. He returned to the government in June with five hundred armed
men. He forced Berkeley and the House of Burgesses (Virginia’s legisla-
tive body) to grant him a formal commission to fight the Indians.

When Governor Berkeley attempted to raise forces to assert his own
authority, Bacon turned on him. Civil war ensued. Berkeley was driven
to the eastern shore of Virginia, leaving Bacon in charge of the western
border. Bacon proceeded against another friendly tribe as Governor
Berkeley took control of the capital, Jamestown. When Bacon arrived in
Jamestown in September with six hundred men, he forced the governor’s
retreat and burned the town. A little more than a month later, Bacon
suddenly fell ill and died. Governor Berkeley was able to return to con-
front Bacon’s forces and suppress the rebellion. By February 1677,
Governor Berkeley had reestablished his authority over Virginia.
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In January 1677, royal commissioners (justices conducting an inves-
tigation on behalf of England) and one thousand English troops arrived
in Virginia to investigate the uprising and to restore order. They arrived
with royal pardons for the rebels, but Governor Berkeley rejected them.
He ordered the execution of twenty-three rebels. The commissioners
viewed the governor’s actions as cruel, and they removed him from his
post. Berkeley returned to England in May to defend himself but died
before seeing the king.

Aggravating factors

While historians argue over the exact causes of Bacon’s Rebellion, a few
factors are considered to be particularly important. Virginia was a rap-
idly growing, but unstable, society at the time. Competition for political
and social positions increased in the midst of such instability.

Social instability was further complicated by a slow economy.
Overproduction of inferior tobacco and high taxes led to financial diffi-
culties and hardships. Governor Berkeley’s leadership was ineffective,
and many were generally dissatisfied with the government. The known
disagreement between Berkeley and Bacon over the governor’s Indian
policy was probably exaggerated by each of these factors.

Banking Crisis of 1933

A nationwide panic ensued in 1933 when bank customers descended
upon banks to withdraw their assets, only to be turned away because of
a shortage of cash and credit. The United States was in the throes of the
Great Depression (1929-41), a time when the economy worsened,
businesses failed, and workers lost their jobs. Bank customers did not
have the benefit of government protection during the panic. The crisis
led to government reform to protect bank deposits.

President Hoover and the Great Depression

The Great Depression began in October 1929, when the value of stocks
traded on the stock market in New York fell tremendously. In only a few
weeks, investors lost a sum of money that approached the national cost
of fighting World War I (1914-18). At the time, banks opened as they
always had, five weekdays plus Saturday mornings. Despite the severity
of the stock market crash, within months political leaders announced

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History



brightly that the country was recovering and business was healthy.
Financial panics in the past had usually come and gone quickly after
speculators absorbed their losses. This time, however, the economy did
not recover quickly.

In 1932, President Herbert Hoover (1874—1964; served 1929-33)
took steps to improve the economy. He created the Reconstruction
Finance Corporation, a government project for lending billions of dol-
lars to various enterprises, including banks. The injection of money did
not help enough. Shantytowns of tin and wood spread across the coun-
try and became known as Hoovervilles. Homeless people on park
benches tried to keep warm with newspapers, known as Hoover blan-

kets.

Bank runs

When depositors rushed to withdraw their money from a bank, the in-
cident was called a bank run. Bank runs were spurred by fears that banks
would go bankrupt, taking the savings of depositors with them. The
mere hint of a bank closing often was enough to send depositors scram-
bling to withdraw their money. This resulted in banks, which do not

keep enough cash on hand to cover all of their deposits, often collapsing.

Bank runs had serious effects because of unsound banking practices.
During the 1920s, many banks had not acted in a responsible fashion.
Some had lent money for poor investments. Others extended danger-
ously large credit to financial speculators. When the stock market
crashed, many banks saw their assets evaporate. Creditors who had lent
money to the banks liquidated what remained, and individual depositors
were left with nothing.

Because few companies in the 1920s provided pensions for workers,
many used the banks as a place to deposit a lifetime’s worth of savings in
anticipation of retirement. When the banks went under, many of these
people, old and unable to work, lost everything. More than fourteen
hundred banks collapsed in 1932, taking with them $725 million in de-
posits. The public scrutinized the remaining banks. At the first sign of
trouble, a run on the banks occurred, and the banks usually ended up

closing, many permanently.
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Bank holidays

By March 1933, before President Franklin D. Roosevelt (1882—1945;
served 1933-45) took office, about nine million people had lost their
savings. It was clear that some action was necessary. State after state de-
clared banking “holidays” that month, briefly closing local banks to pre-
vent nervous depositors from creating bank failures with bank runs.

The day after his inauguration, President Roosevelt called Congress
into a special session and announced a four-day nationwide banking hol-
iday. While the banks were closed, the president introduced the
Emergency Banking Act of 1933, which Congress passed the same day.
During this bank closure, many people ran short of cash. In an era be-
fore credit cards, people without hard currency were unable to purchase
groceries or attend public events.

These short-term and relatively minor hardships were offset by the
fact that the federal banking holiday worked. In his first radio “fireside
chat,” broadcast three days after the banks were closed, President
Roosevelt reassured the public that the banks had been made safe. The
president’s personal charm and his fondness for decisive action were ap-

parent in this first New Deal success. The New Deal was a series of leg-
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islative and administrative programs initiated by President Roosevelt as a
way to combat the effects of the Great Depression. Within the month,
banking deposits had grown by more than a billion dollars.

The Pecora investigation

While the Roosevelt administration was busy restoring public confi-
dence in banks, Congress was punishing bankers for old violations of the
public trust. In 1933 and 1934, sensational hearings were held that de-
tailed theft and fraud on the part of many bankers and other members
of the business community. This introduced the term “bankster” to the
cultural vocabulary.

The Senate Banking and Currency Committee, led by appointed
New York legal counsel Ferdinand Pecora (1882-1971), revealed that the
brokerage house of Lee, Higginson, and Company had defrauded the
public of $100 million. National City Bank head Charles E. Mitchell
(1877-1955), with a salary of $1.2 million, paid no income tax and had
issued $25 million in Peruvian bonds that he knew to be worthless.
Former secretary of the treasury Andrew Mellon (1855-1937) and
banker J. P. Morgan (1837-1913) had also managed to avoid taxes, and
twenty of Morgan’s partners had paid no taxes in 1931 and 1932.

Throughout the hearings, the public was introduced to such Wall Senator Carter Glass

Street tactics as selling short, pooling agreements, influence peddling, in-  ponsored the Glass-Steagall

. . . . . Banking Act, which lated
sider trading, and the wash sale. By using such techniques, traders artifi- amlerng £ict, whieh reguiate
many of the unstable practices

i i that led to the Great
other traders. National City Bank, for example, took bad loans, repack- " pepession. ap imaces

cially inflated the worth of their stocks or gained financial advantage over

aged them as bonds, and sold them to unwary
investors. Although such actions were techni-
cally legal, many viewed them as unethical and
immoral, and the public reputation of bankers
and financial businesspeople fell to a new low.

Banking regulation: the FDIC

The first reform to result from the Pecora inves-
tigation was the Glass-Steagall Act of 1933. It
was a law sponsored by U.S. senator Carter

Glass (1858-1946) of Virginia and U.S. repre-
sentative Henry Steagall (1873-1943) of
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Alabama amid a rash of bank failures. The law regulated many of the
unsound practices that contributed to the Great Depression, including
making it illegal for banks to deal in stocks and bonds.

The act created the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC)
to insure small depositors against the loss of their savings if a bank went
under. The FDIC initially guaranteed deposits to a maximum of $5,000.

Bataan Death March

During World War II (1939—45), the United States had to fight battles
in two parts of the world. German troops were aggressively taking over
Europe while Japanese troops were seizing control of the Pacific Islands
and China. As a result, American troops and resources were spread be-
tween the two places. Most American attention, however, was focused
first in Europe. U.S. troops in the Pacific faced battles with fewer re-
sources and little backup.

U.S. troops trapped
Soon after the attack on the Pearl Harbor naval station in Hawaii in
December 1941, American troops were fighting to defend an airfield in
the Philippines. By the end of December, the American and Filipino forces
were forced to retreat to the Bataan peninsula. By February, the Japanese
attack had been defeated. The Japanese, however, had cornered the
American troops with their backs to the sea. A large blockade isolated the
Philippine Islands, preventing the Americans from escaping and receiving
supplies. As a result, food, medicine, and ammunition ran dangerously
low. Soldiers were starving and suffering from malaria and dysentery.
After four months of holding the Japanese back without additional
resources, the American troops were seriously weakened. On April 3,
1942, the Japanese attacked again. This time they easily cut through
American defenses. On April 9, more than seventy thousand American
and Filipino soldiers surrendered. It was the largest American army ever
to surrender.

Prosecuted for war crimes

The Japanese brutality that followed was eventually judged a war crime.
The starving and sick troops were forced to walk over sixty miles to the
prisoner of war camp. It is now known as the Bataan Death March, be-
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cause it is estimated that between five thousand and ten thousand men
did not survive the march. Intense heat, little food or water, and random
acts of violence caused their deaths. Some managed to escape, but for the
fifty-four thousand who made it to Camp O’Donnell, the brutality of
the march was only the beginning,.

Battle of Antietam

The Battle of Antietam was an American Civil War (1861-65) battle
that happened along Antietam Creek near Sharpsburg, Maryland, on
September 17, 1862. Confederate general Robert E. Lee (1807-1870)
had undertaken an invasion of the North. He hoped to gain the loyalty
of people in Maryland and boost the strength of the Confederate States
of America (or Southern) cause in the border state. He also hoped to
lure federal troops away from Virginia to relieve the area temporarily
from the ravages of war. Lee’s advance north was a great threat to the
Union and its capital, Washington, D.C. Union general George B.
McClellan (1826-1885) learned of some of Lee’s plans and pursued the
Confederates.

On the night of September 13, Lee heard that McClellan had
learned of his plans. Rather than retreating in the face of an army twice
as big as his, Lee decided to face the federal troops, so he paused in
Sharpsburg. McClellan advanced on the evening of September 16 and
carefully moved his men into position.

The battle that ensued the following day marked the bloodiest sin-
gle day of the war. McClellan launched a series of uncoordinated attacks
on three sectors of Lee’s forces. The Confederate forces were pushed back
but avoided complete disaster with the arrival of troops from Harper’s
Ferry, Virginia (now part of West Virginia) under Confederate general
A. P Hill (1825-1865). Fighting only paused with the dark of night.

On the following day, Lee stood fast, but McClellan did not renew
his attack. Lee recognized that a renewed attack was futile and so ordered
a retreat to Virginia. His troops withdrew across the Potomac River on
September 19. McClellan’s forces were badly crippled as well, so he de-
cided not to pursue Lee’s forces.

The battle’s dead, wounded, and missing totaled over twelve thou-
sand for each side. The battle, however, is remembered for more than its

casualties. Many historians regard it as the turning point of the war. The
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Battle of Bunker Hill

stunning victory by the Union provided U.S. president Abraham
Lincoln (1809-1865; served 1861-65) with military progress for which
he had been waiting,.

Lincoln followed the victory with an announcement of his
Emancipation Proclamation. The proclamation declared freedom for
slaves in the rebelling states. It changed the war from a political crusade
to preserve the Union into a crusade to free the slaves and end slavery.
The addition of a moral element to the North’s cause impassioned sup-
porters, made it a difficult war to abandon, and swung foreign support
to the Union’s side. All of this contributed to the eventual Union victory.

Battle of Bunker Hill

The Battle of Bunker Hill was fought on June 17, 1775. It was the first
major battle of the American Revolution (1775-83). It is also called the
Battle of Breed’s Hill for the actual site of the clash.

The Battle of Bunker Hill had its roots in the colonial siege of
Boston, Massachusetts. In an effort to get British soldiers out of the
area, the colonists took control of the city. When they learned of a British
plan to use troops to regain control, the colonists acted to stop them.
Nearly fifteen hundred troops marched to Charlestown, just across the
Charles River from Boston. There they embedded themselves on Breed’s
Hill, just below Bunker Hill, in the dark of night.

Barriers saved colonists

When the British discovered the colonists, they

set out to displace them with an army of twenty-

War Slogans

The Battle of Bunker Hill is the source of the
famous war slogan, “Don't shoot [or fire]
until you see the whites of their eyes.”
Historians debate who was the speaker of the
command. Some say it was American General
Israel Putnam (1718-1790), while others say
it was Putnam’s second-in-command, Colonel
William Prescott (1726-1795). It also could
have been an unidentified person lost in his-
tory.
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two hundred men. The colonists, however, were
well protected behind barriers they had made.
The colonists successfully defended themselves
during two of the three British advances. During
the first two, the British suffered great losses.
During the third advance, the colonists were
running out of ammunition and retreated.

The colonists suffered approximately 450
soldiers captured, wounded, or killed. Though
the British pushed back the rebelling colonists,
they suffered nearly 1,000 casualties, about half of
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Battle of Gettysburg

their army. The British claimed victory, but the great number of casualties
gave the colonists encouragement to continue fighting for their cause.

Battle of Gettysburg

The Battle of Gettysburg is one of the most famous events of the
American Civil War (1861-65). It took place from July 1 to July 3,
1863, in Gettysburg, Pennsylvania. Gettysburg is about thirty miles
south of the state capital of Harrisburg. The battle was part of the at-
tempt by the army of the Confederate States of America to invade the
northern states and discourage Union support. The clash at Gettysburg
was the deadliest of the war. Union victory ended the Confederate march
north, forcing its army to retreat.

Confederate general George E. Pickett’s charge during the Battle of Gettysburg in 1863. The Union victory at Gettysburg is
considered by many as a major turning point in the American Civil War. HULTON ARCHIVE/GETTY IMAGES
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Remembering Gettysburg

Gettysburg has a national cemetery where

By May 1863, the Confederate Army had
defeated the Union Army in several important
battles. The Northern population was growing
more dissatisfied with the lack of Union

President Abraham Lincoln (1809-1865; progress, and a peace movement was growing.
served 1861-65) gave his famous Gettysburg The Southern population, particularly in
Address in 1863. The battlefields of Virginia where most of the fighting occurred,

Gettysburg are now preserved at Gettysburg

National Military Park.

was struggling to support the armies. Essential
provisions like food were running low.
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A bold strategy

Hoping to relieve Virginia from his armies, find provisions in the fields
of Pennsylvania, and stir up antiwar sentiment in the North,
Confederate general Robert E. Lee (1807-1870) decided to invade the
North and perhaps capture Harrisburg. His troops numbered seventy-
five thousand men organized into three corps.

Union troops met the Confederate invasion at Gettysburg on July 1,
1863. Nearly ninety thousand troops under the leadership of Union gen-
eral George C. Meade (1815-1872) fought bitterly for three days to
block the Confederate march. With great losses on both sides, General
Lee retreated to Virginia on July 4. His army was severely weakened,
with more than twenty thousand captured, wounded, or killed. The
Union Army suffered approximately twenty-three thousand similar
losses.

The Battle of Gettysburg was a major Union victory and is often
considered the turning point of the Civil War. Though General Meade
was criticized for not pursuing Lee’s army in its retreat, Meade’s army
earned praise for its success in stopping the invasion.

Battle of Iwo Jima
Iwo Jima is an island in Japan’s Volcano Islands, 750 miles (1,207 kilo-
meters) south of Tokyo. During World War II (1939-45), its location
was of strategic importance, and it became the site of a bitter battle be-
tween American and Japanese forces in February 1945.

By early 1945, the American campaign in the Pacific had pushed the
Japanese back from their aggressive takeover of many islands. The
Americans were close enough to begin attacking Japan itself, but the
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Japanese base on Iwo Jima was able to detect the
American bombers on their way to Japan, pro-
viding warning of approaching raids. The base
on Iwo Jima was also able to launch planes that
harassed the American bombers.

The capture of Iwo Jima became more im-
portant to the Americans. Under Lieutenant
General Holland M. “Howlin® Mad” Smith
(1882-1967), American marines mounted an
attack to seize the island. The Japanese, however,
were very well protected. Miles of tunnels, rocky
volcanic terrain, and twenty thousand soldiers
made the Japanese position difficult to over-
come.

On February 16, 1945, American forces as-
saulted the island defenses from the air and the
sea. Three days later, marines landed on the
beaches. After four days, the American marines
held the most terrain, but the Japanese were well
entrenched and fought strongly. American
forces secured the island on March 17, but re-
sistance did not end for another nine days.

The battle left nearly five thousand
Americans and twenty thousand Japanese dead.
Many more were wounded. American control of
Iwo Jima proved to be immensely important in
the American push to end the war with Japan.
Controlling a safe place for airplanes and troops
so close to Japan allowed the Americans to be
more aggressive and helped to force a Japanese
surrender by August.

Battle of Lexington and Concord

The Photograph and the
Monument

The Battle of Iwo Jima quickly became sym-
bolic of the strength and determination that
the soldiers possessed to protect American lib-
erty and freedom, regardless of the cost.
Associated Press photographer Joe Rosenthal
(1911-2006) captured the moment in an un-
forgettable picture that showed the emotion
of the hard-fought victory. On February 23,
1945, after days of bitter fighting, thousands
of American soldiers paused to watch forty
marines scale Mount Suribachi to plunge an
American flag into the volcanic rim. To protect
the first-raised flag from souvenir hunters, it
was replaced three hours later during a second
flag raising. Rosenthal's memorable moment
captured this raising as six soldiers, five
marines, and a naval corpsman planted an im-
mense, 8 x 4.5-foot flag. More than sixty
years later, the photograph remains inspira-
tional and meaningful to the American public.

On November 10, 1954, the Marine Corps
Memorial was unveiled near Arlington,
Virginia. At its heart is an immense bronze
sculpture inspired by Rosenthal’'s photograph.
Designed by Felix de Weldon (1907-2003),
the Iwo Jima Monument rises 110 feet from
the ground and weighs one hundred tons.

Battle of Lexington and Concord

The Battle of Lexington and Concord was the first battle of the
American Revolution (1775-83). It was fought in the towns of
Lexington and Concord, Massachusetts, and the roads in between on

April 19, 1775.
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The Battle of Lexington and Concord was the first battle of the American Revolution and considered a victory for American

colonists. AP IMAGES
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In the years leading up to the war, Great Britain had imposed a se-
ries of laws that displeased the colonists. In 1774, the colonists gathered
in the First Continental Congress to explore how to react to Britain’s
colonial policies. (See Continental Congress, First.) The Congress and
various colonial communities passed resolutions telling Great Britain
that they would not continue to accept British policies unchallenged.

In 1775, Great Britain prepared to respond to possible rebellion in
America. Ministers in London imposed embargoes on (blocked) the
shipment of arms and ammunition to America. General Thomas Gage
(1721-1787), who was governor of Massachusetts and commander-in-
chief of British forces in America, made plans to seize gunpowder sup-

plies held by the colonists.
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Battle of Lexington and Concord

Midnight rides

After nightfall on April 18, 1775, Lieutenant Colonel Francis Smith
(1723-1791) and Major John Pitcairn (1722-1775) assembled British
troops in boats at their fort in Boston to cross Boston Harbor. Their des-
tination was a colonial gunpowder storage in Concord. Colonists moni-
toring British movements saw the British troops, triggering the famous
midnight warning rides of men like Paul Revere (1735-1818) and
William Dawes (1745-1799) to assemble colonial forces.

As Smith’s men marched on a road toward Lexington, Smith realized
the colonists were aware of their movements. He sent a message back to
Gage asking for reinforcements while sending Pitcairn ahead with a

small force of men to take control of a bridge over the Concord River.

Pitcairn and his men reached Lexington in the early morning hours
of April 19, 1775. A group of colonial militia men led by Captain John
Parker (1729-1775) was assembled on the village green, off the main
road. Pitcairn diverted his men to the green, where they fired on the
colonists, killing eight and wounding ten more. According to an account
by American printer Isaiah Thomas (1770-1802) published on May 3,
1775, the colonists were dispersing as ordered by the British when the
British fired on them.

The British troops continued to Concord to destroy the gunpowder
supplies. They arrived around eight o'clock in the morning. The
colonists had managed to remove some of their supplies to safety. After
destroying some supplies, flour stores, and buildings, the British re-
treated toward Lexington around noon as a crowd of four hundred mili-
tiamen approached. The British suffered many casualties throughout the
day as they marched through Lexington back to Charleston,
Massachusetts, where they crossed the bay back to Boston. Colonial
militiamen hiding along the road fired upon the British during the re-

treat.

At the end of the day, the British had 273 casualties out of 1,800
men who had been involved in the day’s activities. American casualties
totaled 95 men. Americans considered it an early victory in what became

a war for independence.

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History

139



Battle of Midway

140

Battle of Midway

The Battle of Midway was a naval battle between Japan and the United
States during World War II (1939-45). It occurred around the atoll (is-
land) of Midway, in the central Pacific Ocean, from June 3 to 6, 1942.
It is remembered as an astonishing American victory that marked a turn-
ing point in the war in the Pacific.

Until the Battle of Midway, the Japanese fleet had great successes. It
caused great damage to the American naval force and conquered islands
across the Pacific with little challenge. When the Japanese decided to
take Midway from American occupation, they were confident of another
victory.

Japanese admiral Isoroku Yamamoto (1884-1943) assembled the
largest fleet ever put together by the Japanese navy. There were 185 war-
ships, including 4 aircraft carriers. Part of the fleet was deployed to the
Aleutian Islands, southwest of the Alaska mainland, to strike American
forces there. The bulk of the fleet spread out to move with stealth toward
Midway.

The Japanese intended to make a surprise attack, but American in-
telligence learned of the plans. Because they had cracked certain Japanese
codes, the Americans were able to learn where, when, and in what
strength the Japanese forces would appear. With little notice and im-
mense effort, the American fleet prepared to meet the greater Japanese
fleet. Although they were outnumbered, the Americans carried the ad-
vantage of surprise.

The battle began on June 3 when American bombers took off from
Midway and attacked the approaching Japanese. They caused no signif-
icant damage. The following morning, unaware that the American fleet
was present, the Japanese admiral sent only half of his planes out to at-
tack. The Americans launched all of their planes and, while suffering sig-
nificant losses, managed to slow the Japanese attack considerably.

Before Japan could launch a second air attack, the Americans coun-
tered with an air attack on the Japanese carriers. No direct hits were
made, but they managed to force the carriers to scatter to avoid the at-
tacks.

During the raids, the Japanese learned of the American fleet’s pres-
ence. Admiral Yamamoto called all planes to return for refueling and re-
arming. In the process, the carriers’ decks were littered with fuel and
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bombs. Another wave of American planes arrived when the ships were
highly flammable, and the Americans easily sank three Japanese carriers.
The fourth Japanese carrier escaped to inflict crippling damage to a U.S.
carrier, but it also was disabled and sunk the following day.

On June 5, the Japanese began to retreat. Further scuffles brought
more losses to both sides over the next two days, but most of the dam-
age was complete. The Japanese fleet had lost four carriers and its air-
craft. Unlike the industrially prepared United States, Japan could not
recover quickly from the losses. As a result, the superior Japanese fleet
was severely weakened and lost the advantage in the Pacific Ocean. The
Battle of Midway was an important victory that enabled the American
forces to begin pushing the Japanese back from their aggressive occupa-
tions.

Battle of the Bulge

On December 16, 1944, the German army mounted a surprise attack on
Allied forces in World War II (1939-45). Now known as the Battle of
the Bulge, it was the last desperate offensive made by the Germans.
Though the element of surprise initially gave the advantage to the
German army, the Allied troops managed to regain ground and force a
German retreat by the end of January 1945.

Nazis hoped to divide Allies

By December 1944, the plan to conquer Europe launched five years ear-
lier by Nazi German leader Adolf Hitler (1889-1945) was losing on all
fronts. From Italy, France, and the Soviet Union, Hitler’s armies were
being forced back to Germany. To prevent an Allied invasion of the
homeland along the western border, Hitler organized a surprise attack.
Hoping to split the Allies, he planned to push them back, capture
Antwerp, and thus be in a position to negotiate peace. With few men
available for such an attack, Hitler assembled his remaining reserves and
relied on surprise to accomplish his goals. They secretly gathered more
than two hundred thousand men and twelve hundred tanks near the
Ardennes region of Belgium and Luxembourg, where the Allied presence
was weakest.

The German forces waited for the weather to worsen to prevent
Allied air support. On December 16, snow and fog presented the ideal
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opportunity to strike. German armies attacked along a sixty-mile front
of the Allied lines. They drove forward hoping to separate the Allied
armies. With the Allied armies being pushed back in this region, a bulge
of German pressure formed in the Allied front. This bulge of German

presence into the Ardennes region gives the battle its name.

December skies cleared

The German army had some success, including the capture of Bastogne
and the isolation of some American troops. The weather cleared on
December 23, however, enabling Allied planes to attack the Germans
and to drop supplies to Allied ground forces. Though the battle began to
turn at this point to favor the Allied counteroffensive, it would not end
quickly. Bitter fighting continued until January 28, when the last of the
bulge was eliminated and the Allied forces had recovered all the ground

lost.

The Battle of the Bulge is remembered as the last major German of-
fensive. It was a large-scale attack that left many casualties on all sides.
Opver six hundred thousand Americans were involved in the fighting, and
nearly ninety thousand were captured, wounded, or killed. The Germans
had nearly eighty-five thousand similar casualties. Hitler used the very
last of his reserves in the offensive. Germany was severely weakened and

fell to Allied forces just a few months later.

Battle of Little Bighorn

See Custer’s Last Stand

Battles of Bull Run

During the American Civil War (1861-65), only one hundred miles
separated the Confederate capital of Richmond, Virginia, from the
Union capital of Washington, D.C. There were many violent encoun-
ters between the two sides within this stretch of land during the war, in-
cluding two Battles of Bull Run. Bull Run is the name of a small stream
near the site of the battles. Manassas, Virginia, was the closest town, so

the battles are also called the Battles of Manassas.
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The First Battle of Bull Run

The First Battle of Bull Run (Manassas) took place on July 21, 1861. It
was the first major battle of the Civil War. Although the war had started
in South Carolina in April, the two sides had only engaged in small skir-
mishes before Bull Run. Public opinion, however, called for greater ac-
tion. The Union army was still gathering volunteers and trying to train
its men, but President Abraham Lincoln (1809-1865; served 1861—-65)
faced pressure to suppress the rebellion. Under orders from Lincoln,
Union general Irvin McDowell (1818-1885), who was posted near the

nation’s capital with thirty-five thousand men, advanced southward.

Two forces from the Confederate States of America waited to the
south in Virginia. General Pierre Beauregard (1818-1893) had nearly
twenty-two thousand men in his command along the line of Bull Run
Creek, across the main highways to Washington. General Joseph E.
Johnston (1807-1891) had nearly twelve thousand posted nearby in the
Shenandoah Valley. When the Confederates became aware of the attack,
they gathered along Bull Run Creek. General Johnston and his forces ar-
rived to support General Beauregard on July 20, 1861, despite Union at-

tempts to interfere with Beauregard’s movement.

Union general McDowell attacked the Confederate forces on the
morning of July 21. At first, his well-planned assault drove the
Confederates back. The continuing arrival of fresh men from General
Johnston’s troops, however, gave the Confederates an advantage. The
Union began a retreat. Though orderly at first, the retreat gave way to
confusion when a bridge was destroyed. As Union troops continued to
retreat to Washington, the Confederates abandoned their pursuit at
Centreville, Virginia. They were too exhausted and disorganized to per-

sist.

While the Confederates seemed to win the battle, it proved to be in-
decisive, like so many Civil War clashes. Neither the North nor the
South won a great advantage, but many men lost their lives. A total of
nearly 900 were killed (481 Union, 387 Confederate) and 2,500
wounded (1,011 Union, 1,582 Confederate). Over 1,000 were reported
missing (1,216 Union, 12 Confederate). The battle foreshadowed the
brutal toll that the Civil War would take.
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The Second Battle of Bull Run

The Second Battle of Bull Run occurred in the same area as the first one,
near Manassas, Virginia. The battle took place from August 29 to August
30, 1862, following the siege of Richmond by the Union. Confederate
general Robert E. Lee (1807-1870) intended to shift the battles to the
north towards Washington, D.C., to relieve pressure on Richmond.

Confederate soldiers launched a successful series of attacks on the
Union troops, who were under the direction of Major General John Pope
(1822-1892) of Virginia. Forcing a retreat back to Washington, the
Confederates improved their position for an invasion into Maryland.
The cost was high for both sides. The Union army had 1,747 killed,
8,452 wounded, and 4,263 missing or captured. The Confederates had
1,553 killed, 7,812 wounded, and 109 missing. General Pope was re-
lieved of his command to hold him responsible for the defeat.

Bay of Pigs

See Cuban Missile Crisis

Beat Movement

The Beats were writers who formed an artistic protest movement from
1950 to 1959. Declaring themselves nonconformists, this small group of
poets and novelists had a great deal of influence on the culture of their
day. They became American antiheroes.

Who they were and what they did

The term “beat” has never been clearly defined. Jack Kerouac
(1922-1969), largely considered the leader of the Beat Movement, is
said to have coined the term Beat Generation when he said that he and
his friends were beaten down in frustration at the difficulty of individual
expression at a time when most artists were conforming to society. On
another occasion, Kerouac said “beat” was derived from “beatific,” sug-
gesting the Beats had earned intellectual grace through the purity of their
lives.

Other prominent members of the movement were Allen Ginsberg
(1926-1997), William S. Burroughs (1914-1997), and Neal Cassady
(1926-1968). They inspired each other to turn away from materialism
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to lead lives of adventure in search of meaning,
and proposed that others follow their lead. In re-
ality, the movement was very much an experi-
ment with controlled substances, characterized
by rampant drug and alcohol abuse and a fasci-
nation with the criminal world, especially drug
dealers. A drunken Burroughs accidentally killed
his second wife while trying to shoot a glass off
her head. In another incident, Kerouac and
Burroughs were charged as criminal accessories
after Lucien Carr, a member of the Beat circle,
killed a man, possibly in self-defense, who was
obsessed with him.

Media attention

Life magazine covered the Beat Movement

closely, describing the Beats in 1959 as “sick lit-

tle bums” who were unwashed, uneducated, un-

motivated, and unprincipled. The magazine helped establish the
stereotype of the beatnik as a character who wears a goatee, sandals, blue
jeans, and a dirty sweatshirt and answers to the name “Daddy-o0.” Beat
women, called chicks, were depicted wearing black leotards, short skirts,
heavy black eyeliner, and pale lipstick. As depicted in the media, beat-
niks hung around in coffechouses, listening to jazz, and “hip” and “far
out” were the catchphrases of the day. Many Americans saw the Beat in-
fluence as a threat, fearing it would spread from the East Coast and San
Francisco into the heartland.

Beat writing

The literary establishment was as critical of the Beats’ writing as the pop-
ular media was of their attitudes. Many dismissed Beat writing as imma-
ture and uninteresting. Literary historians generally regard poet Ginsberg
as the most credible figure of the movement. Unlike other Beats, he
graduated from college and therefore had a literary tradition on which to
draw. He wrote just one book during the Beat heyday, but it became the
cornerstone of the movement. Howl, with its famous first line, “I saw the
best minds of my generation destroyed by madness, starving hysterical
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Prominent member of the
Beat movement Allen
Ginsberg reads poetry to a
crowd. Ginsberg’s book Howl
became one of the top-selling
volumes of American poetry
ever published. AP IMAGES
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naked, ” was published in 1956 by Lawrence Ferlinghetti (1919-), a San
Francisco publisher.

The book was soon banned for obscenity, and Ferlinghetti was ar-
rested for printing obscene material. The media pounced on the trial,
bringing Ginsberg’s lament over the state of American culture into the
spotlight. By the time Ferlinghetti was acquitted and the ban lifted, ten
thousand copies of Ginsberg’s book had sold. By 1980, more than a
quarter million had sold. How!/ remains one of the top-selling volumes of
American poetry ever published and a major influence on American po-
etry.

Kerouac is arguably the most popular of the Beat writers. His novel
On the Road (1957) became the definitive statement of Beat principles.
Published just one month after the How!/ obscenity trial, On the Road
gained popularity through incessant media coverage of the Beat
Movement. In the novel, characters based on the author, Ginsberg, and
Cassady take a road trip in search of the meaning of life. It struck a chord
with students of the era who wondered what life after college would

hold.

Cassady was a key figure not for his own writing but for the influ-
ence he had on other Beats, who admired his wildness and spontaneity.
Raised in the slums of Denver, Colorado, by fifteen a prostitute and
petty thief, he met Kerouac in 1945 and began traveling with him. Their
travels were the basis of Kerouac’s On the Road, which turned Cassady
into a symbol of Beat virtue.

Burroughs was considered by the others as more of a father figure.
He published his first novel, Jfunkie, in 1953, at a time when he felt his
life unraveling. His drug abuse problem, in fact, turned into a lifelong
heroin addiction. The novel that brought him fame was published in
1959 in France. Naked Lunch, written in experimental style, was not
published in America until 1962. The work was highly controversial for
its use of sensitive material and obscene language. The book was banned
in many regions; in a censorship trial in 1966, the book was found not
to violate any obscenity statutes.

End of an era

By the late 1950s, the Beats had done and said what they had set out to
do. Kerouac eventually faded from the literary scene. He died in 1969,
at the age of forty-seven, from internal bleeding brought on by cirrhosis
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of the liver, a disease associated with alcoholism. Ginsberg broadened his
horizons and remained a key figure in the avant-garde movement of the
1960s and 1970s. He died in 1997, at age seventy, of liver cancer
brought on by hepatitis, a disease usually caused by drug and alcohol use.
Burroughs continued to write and died at the age of eighty-three from a
heart attack. Cassady became the unofficial mascot of the hippie move-
ment of the 1960s. He died in Mexico at the age of forty-one of myste-
rious causes.

Beatlemania

The most influential and famous musical group to emerge in the 1960s
was a quartet from Liverpool, England, known as the Beatles. Members
included John Lennon (1940-1980), Paul McCartney (1942-), George
Harrison (1943-2001), and Ringo Starr (1940-). The band’s first
recording was the tune “Love Me Do,” and it was released in Britain in
October 1962. By 1963, the Beatles were a sensation in England and
adoring fans followed them everywhere. In early 1964, all of their one-
night performances had to be cancelled due to rioting.

The Beatles first visited America on February 8, 1964, to appear on
the popular television variety program The Ed Sullivan Show. Seventy
million viewers tuned in, and a new record was set for the most-watched
television appearance. It helped that Americas media publicized the
event. Magazines and newspapers carried photographs, reports, and in-
depth articles chronicling the lives of the band nicknamed the Fab Four.

The Beatles took America by storm. Seemingly overnight, teenage
boys were sporting long hair just like the Beatles, and teenage girls plas-
tered their bedroom walls with posters and magazine pages of their fa-
vorite Beatle. Concerts sold out in record time, and police were required
to keep the frenzy of female fans under control; it was not uncommon
for hysterical teens to faint during a concert. In both Britain and
America, Beatles tunes such as “I Want to Hold Your Hand” sold mil-
lions of copies, and the sound of the group could be heard in nearly every
household that included teenagers.

While teens across the country raised the Beatles to a godlike status,
parents and other adults feared the influence the Fab Four wielded over
the younger generation. John Lennon did not help dispel the idea that
his band’s music was an evil influence when he made the comment that
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the Beatles were more popular than Jesus. That one statement led to
record-burning throughout the nation, and adults were more deter-
mined than ever to squash Beatlemania.

The Beatles were an unstoppable force throughout the 1960s, how-
ever. Their cross-country tour in 1964 only cemented their place in
American culture, as did the five movies they made, the most popular of
which were A Hard Days Night and Help! Their appeal lay in more than
just their music. For millions of young people, the Beatles represented
freedom from authority and convention. Each member was charismatic,
and together, they were irresistible to a young America that was em-
broiled in the unpopular Vietnam War (1954-75). The Beatles, their
music, and their charm provided American youth a much-needed escape
from the harsh realities of the era.

The Beatles stopped touring in August of 1966. They focused exclu-
sively on recording in the studio. In 1970, the Beatles broke up, and
members began to pursue solo projects and careers.

Alexander Graham Bell

Alexander Graham Bell is remembered as the inventor of the telephone.
He was also an outstanding teacher of the deaf, an inventor of many
other devices, and a leading figure in the scientific community. Bell in-
vented the graphophone, the first sound recorder, as well as the photo-
phone, which transmitted speech by light rays. Among his other
innovations were the audiometer, a device used to measure hearing; the
induction balance, used to locate metallic objects in the human body;
and disc and cylindrical wax recorders for phonographs.

Early life

Bell was born in 1847 in Edinburgh, Scotland, to a family of eminent
speech educators and musicians. His father, Alexander Melville Bell,
taught speech to the hearing and speech impaired and wrote textbooks
on correct speech. Bell’s mother was a portrait painter and an accom-
plished musician.

Bell received his early education at home. He graduated at age four-
teen from the Royal High School in Edinburgh. Bell then enrolled as a
student teacher at Weston House, a nearby boys’ school, where he taught
music and speech and, in return, received instruction in other subjects.
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Experiments with harmonic telegraph

Bell’s father had invented “visible” speech, a code
of symbols for all spoken sounds that was used to
teach deaf people to speak. Bell studied at
Edinburgh University in 1864 and assisted his
father at University College, London, from 1868
to 1870. During these years, he became deeply
interested in the study of sound, especially as it
affects hearing and speech. Bell followed this in-
terest throughout his life, inspired in part by the
acoustic experiments of German physicist
Hermann von Helmholtz (1821-1894), which
gave Bell the idea of telegraphing speech.

Bell’s interest in speech and communication
led him to investigate the transmission of sound
over wires. With financial assistance from Gardiner Hubbard and
Thomas Sanders, grateful fathers of two of his deaf pupils, Bell experi-
mented with developing the harmonic telegraph, a device that could
send multiple messages at the same time over a single wire. Using vibrat-
ing membranes and an actual human ear in his tests, Bell also investi-
gated the possibility of transmitting the human voice by wire.

Invention of the telephone

Early in 1874, after having emigrated to the United States a few years
earlier, Bell met Thomas A. Watson (1854-1934), a young machinist
and technician with expertise in electrical engineering. Watson became
Bell’s indispensable assistant and the two spent substantial time together
experimenting with transmitting sound.

In the summer of 1874, Bell developed the basic concept of the tele-
phone using a varying but unbroken electric current to transmit the
sound waves of human speech over a wire. At the urging of his financial
backers, however, who were more interested in the potential of the har-
monic telegraph, Bell did not pursue the telephone idea for several
months. He resumed work on it in 1875 and, by September, began to
write the required patent specifications.

Bell received his patent on March 7, 1876, and on March 10, the
first official message transmitted by telephone passed from Bell to
Watson in their workshop: “Mr. Watson, come here, I want you!”
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Founds Bell Telephone

After a year of refining the new device, Watson and Bell, along with
Hubbard and Sanders, formed the Bell Telephone Company in 1877.
The Bell Company built the first long-distance line in 1884, connecting
Boston and New York. Bell and others organized the American
Telephone and Telegraph Company in 1885 to operate other long-dis-
tance lines. By 1889, when insulation was perfected, 11,000 miles of un-
derground wires travelled through New York City.

Bell’s claim to the invention of the telephone was challenged in more
than six hundred lawsuits. The courts eventually approved Bell’s patent,
and the Bell Company’s principal competitor, Western Union Telegraph,
agreed to stay out of the telephone business. The Bell Company, in turn,
ceased work on the telegraph. In 1899, with the sale of the Bell
Company to a group of investors, Bell’s financial future was secure and
he could devote the rest of his life to working as an inventor.

Bell's later interests

The magazine Science (later the official organ of the American
Association for the Advancement of Science) was founded in 1880 be-
cause of Bell’s efforts. As National Geographic Society president from
1896 to 1904, Bell fostered the success of the society and its publica-
tions. In 1898, he became a regent of the Smithsonian Institution in
Washington, D.C. He was also involved in sheep breeding, hydrody-

namics (the dynamics of fluids in motion), and aviation projects.
Bell died in Nova Scotia, Canada, in 1922.

Irving Berlin

Irving Berlin was born Israel Baline in Temun, Siberia, on May 11, 1888.
He fled with his family to New York in 1893 to escape the Russian per-
secution of Jews. Berlin’s family settled in Manhattan’s Lower East Side,
a section of the city in which most Jewish immigrants resided.

Because his family was so poor, Berlin did not go to school but
worked instead. He made money singing on street corners, and later he
held a job as a singing waiter. It was during this period that he began
writing songs. In 1907, he published “Marie from Sunny Italy” and
signed his work I. Berlin. He would become famous with that last name.
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The road to fame

Berlin held various odd jobs in the music industry in a neighborhood
known as Tin Pan Alley. He eventually worked as a lyricist for music pub-
lisher Waterson & Snyder. His tune “Alexander’s Ragtime Band” became
an instant hit in 1911 and earned him the title King of Tin Pan Alley.

Berlin’s musical talent was natural; he never received any formal
training. He developed his style by playing only the black keys on the
piano, so most of his early songs were written in the key of F-sharp.

Berlin was one of Americas most successful songwriters by the
1920s. He began to stage his own music revues and comedies. Although
he suffered through the Great Depression (1929—41) and lost his for-
tune like so many others, he managed to rebuild his career.

Although Broadway had been good to Berlin, he wanted to try his
talents in Hollywood. He wrote the scores for many hit musical movies,
including the 1942 musical Holiday Inn. One of his songs from that mu-
sical, “White Christmas,” remains the best-selling song ever recorded,
even in the twenty-first century.

Sound of a nation

Berlin’s musical abilities bolstered the nation through two world wars.
He wrote patriotic songs that kept hope alive during some of the most
frightening and difficult times America had known. His most famous
patriotic song, “God Bless America,” was written during World War I
(1914-18) but was sung in public for the first time in 1938.

Berlin was responsible for some of the most popular love songs of
the twentieth century. By the time of his death on September 22, 1989,
he had received numerous awards and become an icon of American pop-
ular music. His tunes helped shape the genre of pop music as he experi-
mented with a variety of styles. More than that, however, Berlin became
America’s voice. Whether hopeful or fearful, he embodied a nation’s col-

lective soul and put its thoughts to music.

Bilingual Education

The United States has always been home to significant numbers of non-
English speakers. Sometimes the language differences have been toler-
ated by English-speaking Americans, but not always. In the first half of
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Bilingual Education

A little girl reads a book in
Spanish in a dual language
first grade classroom in Dodge
City, Kansas. The city has the
highest bilingual enrollment
in the state. AP IMAGES
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the nineteenth century, for example, the most prevalent language next to
English was German. In the 1850s, bilingual schools (schools in which
two languages were taught) teaching in German and English were oper-
ating in Baltimore, Maryland; Cincinnati and Cleveland, Ohio;
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Indianapolis, Indiana; Milwaukee, Wisconsin; and St. Louis, Missouri.
Similarly, Louisiana, with its large French-speaking population, allowed
bilingual instruction in its schools. (See New France.) Several states in
the Southwest had Spanish as well as English instruction. Hundreds of
thousands of children in the United States were educated in a language
other than English.

Anti-immigrant movement

Around 1900, anti-immigrant sentiments in the country increased.
Several states passed laws against teaching in other languages. Immigrant
children who did not speak English began to have a hard time in the
public schools. In 1908, only 13 percent of the immigrant children en-
rolled in New York City schools at age twelve were likely to go on to high
school, as opposed to 32 percent of native-born students. This trend was
mirrored across the country as non-English-speaking immigrant chil-
dren, not understanding the language spoken in their classrooms, fell
further and further behind.

During World War I (1914-18), an intense wave of nationalism
(pride and loyalty to one’s own country, sometimes in an excessive way)
swept the country. It reinforced the negative reaction of many Americans
to the large number of immigrants entering the country. By 1925, thirty-
seven states had passed laws requiring instruction in English regardless of
the dominant language of the region. This opposition to bilingual edu-
cation continued into the 1950s. Many children whose native language
was not English received a very poor education in the public school sys-

tem.

Federal government support

After the Cuban revolution of 1959, waves of Cubans fled to South
Florida. Florida’s Coral Way school district established the first state-
supported program in decades to instruct students in Spanish, their na-
tive language, thereby easing their transition to English. The bilingual
program provided all students, Anglo and Cuban, instruction in both
Spanish and English with excellent results. With the success of the Coral
Way project, state and local government involvement in language educa-

tion became accepted.
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The federal government soon took up the cause, starting with the
Civil Rights Act of 1964, which prohibited discrimination in educa-
tion, and the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965, which
funded schools and provided help for disadvantaged students. In 1968,
after considerable debate, Congress passed a bill that amended (modi-
fied) the Elementary and Secondary Education Act. Under the amend-
ment, the federal government would provide funding for bilingual
education to school districts with a large proportion of non-English-
speaking students who lived in poor neighborhoods. To receive funding,
districts would be required to provide instruction in a student’s native
language until the child could demonstrate competence in English. The
federal government put hundreds of millions of dollars into bilingual ed-
ucation programs nationwide by the mid-1970s.

Supreme Court support

In 1974, the Supreme Court gave its support to bilingual education in
Lau v. Nichols. The ruling states that school districts with a substantial
number of non-English-speaking students must take steps to overcome
the students’ language differences. After that ruling, the federal govern-
ment was able to force school districts to initiate bilingual education
plans. These Lau plans greatly expanded the number of bilingual pro-
grams across the country. They set standards to determine which stu-
dents qualified for inclusion in a program and when they could be
allowed (or forced) to exit. During this period, test scores repeatedly
showed that non-English-speaking students who participated in well-de-
signed bilingual programs consistently performed at the same level as
their English-speaking classmates.

English immersion

None of the new acts or policies clearly addressed the goals of bilingual
programs. Should the programs aim to send the student quickly back to
regular English-language classes, or should they take a slower approach,
allowing the student to maintain good grades and stay up to standard
with his or her age level in school? Different programs addressed these
questions in their own ways, and the lack of clarity contributed to a con-
flict that lasted into the 2000s. By the 1980s, a growing number of op-
ponents of bilingual education believed that, rather than speeding
immigrants into the English-speaking mainstream, bilingual education

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History



was causing them to hold onto their native languages and cultures. The
critics considered this undesirable. Studies showed that some bilingual
programs were allowing students to remain in bilingual classes longer
than three years and were not teaching them sufficient English to func-
tion in mainstream classrooms. In the early 1980s, the federal govern-
ment quietly withdrew its support for native-language instruction
programs.

In 1984, the government began providing funding for English im-
mersion programs—programs that placed non-English-speaking stu-
dents in all-English classes, forcing them to learn English in a hurry or
be left behind. Several studies in the mid-1980s showed that the per-
formance of the limited-English students in the English immersion pro-
grams declined. Meanwhile, public attitudes in California, with its
rapidly growing foreign-born population, became increasingly hostile to
bilingual programs. In 1998, California adopted an English-only re-
quirement for instruction in all its schools. Arizona and several other
states followed.

Bilingual education remained controversial in the 2000s. Advocates
contended that non-English-speaking children will receive little or no
education unless they are taught in their own language during the years
when they are first learning English. With a poor start due to language
difference, students are much more likely to drop out of school and con-
sequently face low-paying jobs and poverty in the future. Opponents
argue that students in bilingual programs may not be motivated to learn
English as well as they should and will therefore not be able to secure
good jobs later in life. They argue that the government should not use its
funds to help non-native people preserve their cultures in the United
States.

Bill of Rights

The Constitution of the United States of America is the document that
created the federal government. The first ten amendments, or changes,
to the Constitution are known as the Bill of Rights. The Bill of Rights
was inspired by suggestions from members of the state legislatures that
approved the Constitution in 1788.
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The first ten amendments to
the Constitution, known as
the Bill of Rights, contain
rights and freedoms that the
U.S. government must not
violate. MPI/HULTON
ARCHIVE/GETTY IMAGES
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Concerns about the Constitution

The Constitution was written by the Constitutional Convention in
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, in 1787. The Convention contained dele-
gates from twelve of the original thirteen colonies, later states. The del-
egates gathered at the Convention to improve the national government
that existed under an agreement called the Articles of Confederation,

which had been adopted in 1781.

After writing the Constitution through the summer of 1787, the
Convention delegates sent it to the thirteen states for ratification, or ap-
proval. The Constitution stated that it would become effective upon rat-
ification by at least nine states. The Constitution had strong support
from influential politicians who wanted the United States to have a pow-
erful central government. These people were known as Federalists; they
were members of the Federalist Party.
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Many Americans had great concerns about creating a strong federal
government. Called Anti-Federalists, these people preferred that state
governments have more power than the national government. While the
Anti-Federalists objected to several parts of the Constitution, they fo-
cused their opposition on the absence of a bill of rights. In doing so, they
hoped to gather enough popular opposition to prevent the Constitution
from being ratified by the states.

A bill of rights is a document that specifies the rights of citizens that
cannot be violated by a government. A bill of rights was not a new idea
in 1787. Several states had a bill of rights in their state constitutions, in-
cluding the Virginia Declaration of Rights and the Massachusetts Bill
of Rights. There were older examples from English history: the Magna
Carta (1215), the Petition of Right (1628), and the Bill of Rights
(1689). Supporters of the idea found inspiration in the writings of
philosophers John Locke (1632-1704), John Milton (1608-1674), and
Thomas Paine (1737-1809).

Most Federalists either did not believe or were not too concerned
that basic rights could be violated by the government set forth in the
Constitution. They pursued the ratification of the Constitution as writ-
ten by the Constitutional Convention, without a bill of rights. As the
state conventions met to discuss ratification after the summer of 1787,
however, it became apparent that the Anti-Federalists had mustered sup-
port for the notion of a bill of rights.

To convince the Anti-Federalist delegates to vote for ratification, the
Federalists agreed to seek a federal bill of rights. As the state conventions
began to approve the Constitution, they proposed more than one hun-
dred amendments for the protection of individual liberties. By the time
the Constitution was ratified by the required nine states in 1788, it was
obvious that a bill of rights would have to be adopted.

Writing a bill of rights

The first U.S. House of Representatives assembled early in April 1789
with the Federalists in control of the government. (See Legislative
Branch.) James Madison (1751-1836), a Federalist and the primary
author of the Constitution, assumed leadership for creating a bill of
rights. His personal plan was to write a bill of rights that would appease
the Anti-Federalists without detracting from the powers of the federal
government.
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On June 8, 1789, Madison proposed that the House begin consid-
eration of eight resolutions on amendments to the Constitution. The
amendments were sent to a committee of ten members, including
Madison, on July 21. Eventually the committee recommended a total of
fourteen amendments to be considered by the full House of
Representatives. After lengthy debate, the House voted that the amend-
ments should not be written into the existing Constitution but should
be added as a supplement. On August 24, the House proposed seventeen
amendments to be sent to the Senate for its consideration.

The Senate began its debate the following week. Senate concerns
prevented the passage of the amendments, so a committee of three U.S.
senators and three U.S. congressmen gathered in September. They
worked out a compromise agreement consisting of twelve amendments.
Both the Senate and the House of Representatives passed the amend-
ments and forwarded them to President George Washington
(1732-1799; served 1789-97) to be sent to the states for ratification.

The original Constitution provides that amendments do not be-
come effective unless ratified by at least three-fourths of the states. Two
of the twelve amendments proposed by Congress in 1789 failed to be
ratified, but the required number of states approved the other ten
amendments by December 15, 1791.

The Bill of Rights

The Bill of Rights contains rights and freedoms that the government of
the United States is not supposed to violate. The freedoms of religion,
speech, the press, and assembly (the right to gather in a group) are set
forth in the First Amendment. The Second Amendment protects the
right to bear arms. The Third Amendment prevents the government
from forcing a homeowner to house a soldier during peacetime against
the owner’s consent. The Fourth Amendment prohibits the government
from conducting unreasonable searches and seizures of people and their
property. The protection of life, liberty, and property also appears in the
Fifth Amendment.

The right to fair treatment in legal cases against a citizen appears in
the Fifth Amendment, Sixth Amendment, Seventh Amendment, and
Eighth Amendment. The Ninth Amendment says the provision of spe-
cific rights in the Constitution does not imply the denial of other rights.
Finally, the Tenth Amendment says governmental power not given to
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Birmingham Baptist Church Bombing

the federal government by the Constitution is retained by the states and

the people.

The Bill of Rights is a popular and controversial part of the
Constitution. Many citizens celebrate it as the bedrock of freedom in
America. Other citizens believe federal power has grown stronger than
the rights and freedoms that the Bill of Rights is supposed to protect.
Important Supreme Court decisions often depend on the interpretation
of the Bill of Rights. More than two centuries after its adoption, the Bill
of Rights retains an important role in drawing the line between fair and
unfair government actions and between the rights of citizens as individ-

uals and as collective members of a society.

Birmingham Baptist Church
Bombing

During the civil rights movement of the 1950s and 1960s, the
Sixteenth Street Baptist Church in Birmingham, Alabama, served as an
organizing center for rallies and marches for racial desegregation, the
process of ending the enforced separation of blacks and whites in public
places. Many renowned civil rights leaders, such as Fred L. Shuttlesworth
(1922-), Dick Gregory (1932-), Ralph Abernathy (1926-1990), and
Martin Luther King Jr. (1929-1968), used the church as their head-
quarters at one time or another.

Birmingham was a seat of white resistance to desegregation. The
citys public safety commissioner, T. Eugene “Bull” Connor
(1897-1973), was extremely hostile to the civil rights movement and
scorned federal orders to integrate his city. Governor George Wallace
(1919-1998) of Alabama was a strong segregationist as well and had
vowed to disobey federal court orders to desegregate the schools. The Ku
Klux Klan, a national white supremacy organization known for its use

of violence, intimidation, and terrorism, was very strong in Birmingham.

Birmingham Sunday

On September 15, 1963, four hundred African Americans gathered to
worship at the Sixteenth Street Baptist Church. Just a few days earlier,
the courts had ordered the Birmingham schools to be desegregated, and
tensions between white segregationists and blacks were high. (See
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Desegregation of Public Schools.) Four girls—Cynthia Wesley, Carole
Robertson, and Addie Mae Collins, each of them age fourteen, and
Denise McNair, age eleven—were in the basement of the church when a
bomb exploded, killing them instantly. Others in the church were seri-
ously injured. That same day, two white Eagle Scouts shot at two black
boys on a bicycle, killing the thirteen-year-old riding on the handlebars.
Worried about black reprisals for the bombing, Governor Wallace or-
dered three hundred state troopers to patrol Birmingham. That evening,
an officer shot and killed a fleeing black man.

King spoke at a joint funeral for three of the girls, urging African
Americans to keep up their struggle for equality despite the murders.
Eight thousand people gathered for the funeral, some of whom were
white. No Birmingham city officials attended.

Slow justice

The Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) quickly began to examine
four suspects in the bombing, Robert Chambliss (1904-1985), Bobby
Frank Cherry (1930-2004), Thomas Blanton, and Herman Cash. All
were white supremacists (people who believe that white people are supe-
rior to other races). Cherry was an expert with explosives and had been
seen placing the bomb in the church. Chambliss was charged with mur-
der and possessing dynamite without a permit. He was found not guilty
of murder and received a six-month jail sentence for having the dyna-
mite. The FBI did not bother to provide the prosecution with the ample
evidence it had uncovered of the four men’s connection to the bombing,.
FBI director J. Edgar Hoover (1895-1972), explained that he did not
believe it was a worthwhile pursuit because a local jury would never con-
vict these men of murder. The FBI dropped its own investigation.

The case was reopened in the 1970s. Using the evidence on hand,
Chambliss, at the age of seventy-three, was tried and convicted of first-
degree murder in the bombing. He went to prison in 1977 and died
there in 1985. Another of the suspects, Cash, died in 1994. In 2000,
thirty-seven years after the bombing, Blanton and Cherry were finally
brought to trial for their part in the murders. Cherry had been bragging
about it for years. Both men were convicted of murder and sentenced to

life in prison. Cherry died in prison in 2004.
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Birmingham Protests

In the early 1960s, Birmingham, Alabama, had a rocky history concern-
ing race relations. The city had a population of 340,000 people, 40 per-

cent of whom were African American, and it was reputed to be the most

The Birmingham protests were among the largest ever launched during the civil rights movement. AP IMAGES
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segregated city in the United States. (Segregation is the enforced separa-
tion of blacks and whites in public places.) In 1961, the freedom riders,
a group of activists bent on achieving desegregation on buses and in bus
stations across the South, had been violently attacked there. (See
Freedom Rides.) More than fifty unsolved bombings had earned the city
the nickname of “Bombingham” among southern blacks. Despite the
danger, in 1963 civil rights leaders decided to fight the city’s racist poli-
cies.

One of the great leaders of the civil rights movement in
Birmingham was the outspoken Baptist minister Fred L. Shuttlesworth
(1922-). When the Alabama legislature outlawed the National
Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP) in the
state in 1956, Shuttlesworth organized the Alabama Christian
Movement for Human Rights (ACMHR). It had grown to be the largest
civil rights organization in the state. Realizing that local activism was not
strong enough to overcome Birmingham’s racial problems, in late 1962
Shuttlesworth invited the renowned nonviolent civil rights leader
Martin Luther King Jr. (1929-1968) to come to Birmingham to lead
an all-out campaign to confront the city’s segregation and economic dis-
crimination.

King knew that segregation was unlikely to be defeated in the South
without a greater degree of involvement by the federal government. He
believed a well-publicized campaign in Birmingham could be the means
to force President John F. Kennedy (1917-1963; served 1961-63) and
his administration to take an active role in protecting the rights of
African Americans. King and Shuttlesworth began planning.

“Bull” Connor

Politics in the city of Birmingham delayed the protest. Birmingham’s
commissioner of public safety, the staunchly segregationist T. Eugene
“Bull” Connor (1897-1973), controlled Birmingham’s fire and police
departments and dominated the city government. He had embarrassed
many prominent citizens of the city with his refusal to go along with
court-ordered desegregation. Connor was running for mayor in March
1963, and many hoped he would lose. King decided to postpone the
Birmingham protests until the elections were over, not wanting to pro-
voke racial tensions that could strengthen Connor’s campaign. Connor
lost the election.
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Demonstrations begin

On April 3, King’s Southern Christian Leadership Council (SCLC)
and the ACMHR began a large-scale, nonviolent campaign of protest
marked by a sit-in movement (demonstrations in which protestors
would sit down and refuse to move), marches, and a well-organized eco-
nomic boycott (refusal to do business) against downtown businesses. But
even though he was voted out of office, Connor would not step down as
public safety commissioner without a fight; as the protests began, he
filed a lawsuit to remain in his job. Although the Alabama Supreme
Court eventually ruled against Connor (on May 22, 1963), the short-
term result was a confusing situation in which Connor was left in con-
trol of Birmingham’s law enforcement.

The Birmingham protests were among the largest ever launched dur-
ing the civil rights movement; they continued for sixty-five days and
nights. One week after they began, Connor obtained an injunction, or
order, from the state court against further demonstrations. King openly
defied the injunction.

“Letter from a Birmingham Jail”

On April 12, police arrested King and a number of other demonstrators.
While he was in jail, a newspaper published a letter from clergymen that
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questioned his timing for the protest and his defiance of the injunction.
In response, King wrote his famous “Letter from a Birmingham Jail.”
Originally penciled in the margin of a newspaper, the letter became a
classic expression of the moral injustice of segregation and the urgency
of the civil rights movement.

King was released after eight days, but more demonstrators went to
jail. In early May, running short of adult protesters, King encouraged
children from the public schools to demonstrate. Up until this time,
Connor had been fairly restrained in his handling of the protests.
Infuriated by the continuation of the protests, he attempted to shut
down the demonstrations by using greater force, including police dogs
and fire hoses. At the peak of the demonstration on May 6 and 7, ap-
proximately two thousand protesters had been arrested, and the state
fairgrounds had been pressed into service as a temporary jail.

Growing concern

By this time, Birmingham was the nations leading news story.
Photographs and films of protesters being attacked by dogs and blasted
by fire hoses were being seen around the country and overseas. On May
7, some young blacks had vented their anger and frustration by battling
with police and other whites in the downtown area. Many began to fear

a major riot would erupt.

Birmingham’s white and black leaders began serious talks. The
Kennedy administration sent Assistant Attorney General Burke Marshall
(1922-2003) to the city to pressure both sides to come to terms. During
the final stages of negotiations, both the president and his brother, U.S.
attorney general Robert F. Kennedy (1925-1968), kept in frequent
contact with Marshall.

Finding agreement

On May 8, the demonstrations were suspended, and two days later a for-
mal agreement was signed. Downtown merchants agreed to desegregate
lunch counters, drinking fountains, and other facilities, and to hire at
least some African Americans in clerical jobs. In addition, a permanent
biracial committee (one with both black and white members) was to be
established. Any demonstrators still in jail were to be released. The agree-
ment occasioned a heated argument between King, who supported the
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terms, and Shuttlesworth, who thought the terms were too open to eva-
sion. Segregationist extremists made a last-ditch attempt to disrupt the
agreement by bombing the Gaston Motel, which had served as the
protests command center. Despite a night of rioting, the agreement

held.

Impact

The “Battle of Birmingham” was one of the most dramatic confronta-
tions of the civil rights movement. The newspaper and television pictures
of nonviolent protesters—some of them no more than six years old—
being bitten by police dogs or swept off their feet by high-pressure fire
hoses provided the movement with some of its most powerful images.
The violent images made thousands of Americans aware of the injustices
African Americans faced in the Deep South. This made it easier for civil
rights organizations to raise funds. The protests also inspired African
Americans across the South; about two hundred communities organized
similar campaigns in 1963.

Events in Birmingham also succeeded in achieving King’s goal of
promoting a greater federal role in eliminating segregation in the South.
In an address in June 1963, President Kennedy called for a new civil
rights bill. The landmark Civil Rights Act of 1964 would not pass for
another year, but much of its groundwork was laid by the events of 1963.

The agreement in Birmingham was a milestone, but within the city
racial tension remained strong. Hostility to desegregation ended in
tragedy on September 15, 1963, when a bomb was detonated by white
supremacists at the Sixteenth Street Baptist Church, killing four African
American girls (see Birmingham Baptist Church Bombing).

Black Codes

Black codes were laws passed immediately following the American Civil
War (1861-65) by the former Confederate States of America. They
were designed to prevent blacks from having the full rights of citizens
and to restore, as much as possible, the labor and racial controls of slav-
ery. The first black codes were passed in South Carolina and
Mississippi in 1865, and they quickly appeared in other states through-
out the South. Although they differed in form from each other, their

aims were the same.
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Before the Civil War, many states throughout the United States had
laws that prevented blacks from enjoying the same rights as whites. By
the end of the Civil War, much of that had changed in the North. This
became increasingly true with America’s adoption of the Fourteenth
Amendment and Fifteenth Amendments of the Constitution in 1868
and 1870, which require equal protection under state laws and the right

to vote, respectively.

The situation was quite different in the South. The emancipation of
four million slaves dramatically affected southern white society. The sys-
tem of slavery had empowered whites to keep blacks subordinate and
had allowed the southern economy to thrive on the cheap labor of slav-
ery. The system had been legalized by slave codes that defined the lim-
ited rights of blacks in the South.

With slavery abolished under the Thirteenth Amendment in 1865,
the legal status of blacks became uncertain. Southern legislatures began
to enact black codes based largely on the pre-existing slave codes. In
many instances the black codes seemed to provide legal rights for newly
freed slaves. They allowed blacks to marry, own property, negotiate con-
tracts, and have limited participation in court proceedings against other

blacks.

In reality, however, the black codes provided inferior rights and
thereby ensured that southern blacks would remain subordinate to
whites. The laws restricted where blacks could live and which trades they
could practice. Many laws put limitations on labor contracts and prop-
erty ownership, so blacks found themselves effectively slaves again to
their employers or landlords. The punishments for breaking many of the
laws were extremely harsh. Although many of the black codes attempted
to mask racial intentions by avoiding the specific mention of race, they
were obviously aimed at black southerners.

The black codes shocked many northerners and sparked concern
about the effectiveness of reintegrating the southern states into the
Union. The requirements for reintegration in the Reconstruction plan
of President Andrew Johnson (1808—1875; served 1865—69) were eas-
ily met and demanded little change from the southern state govern-
ments. As a result, the enactment of black codes provoked conflict
between the executive branch and legislative branch of the federal gov-

ernment for control of the process of Reconstruction.
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The Republican Congress seized control of Reconstruction efforts
and forced changes in policy. By requiring new constitutions and govern-
ments in the southern states, Congress managed to abolish some black
codes. Congress passed legislation to protect the rights of freed slaves, in-
cluding the Civil Rights Act of 1866 and proposals for the Fourteenth
and Fifteenth Amendments. Such legislation attempted to guarantee full
citizenship and rights for blacks.

After Reconstruction, however, many of the racially discriminatory
policies that shaped the black codes began to reappear. So-called Jim
Crow laws, named for a character in a popular minstrel show, reintro-
duced similar inequality that resulted in black segregation and subordi-
nation until passage of the Civil Rights Act of 1964.

Black Friday

Black Friday is the nickname given to September 24, 1869. On that day,

thousands of American investors lost their fortunes.

During the American Civil War (1861-65), the government at-
tempted to keep the economy steady by issuing a large sum of money
backed by nothing but credit. The American public understood that the
plan after the war was to have the government buy back the “green-
backs,” as they were called, with gold. The greenbacks that the govern-
ment would buy back would be replaced with currency backed by gold.

Two men—stockbroker James Fisk (1834-1872) and financier Jay
Gould (1836-1892)—did not want the government to rid itself of the
gold. They hoped to buy up as much gold as possible and hold onto it
while its value rose. When they could sell it at a profit, they would. The
government’s plan would ruin their scheme because it would put more
gold on the market, which would force the value down.

Gould was smart enough to know he could not convince President
Ulysses S. Grant (1822-1885; served 1869-77) to do what he wanted
on his own, so he and Fisk befriended financier Abel Rathbone Corbin
(1808-1881), Grant’s brother-in-law. Together, the three men ap-
proached the president, who gave no clear response to their proposal.
Gould and Fisk were encouraged that the president even took the time
to speak with them, so they kept at their plan. Corbin knew the assistant
treasurer of the United States, Daniel Butterfield (1831-1901), who

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History

Black Friday

167



Black Panther Party

168

agreed to let Fisk and Gould know when the government was ready to

sell gold.

All seemed to be going according to plan, but Grant became suspi-
cious of his brother-in-law’s unusual interest in the gold market. He hap-
pened upon a letter written by his sister to his wife, and in the letter was
an explanation of Gould’s scheme. Grant, furious that he had been
conned by family, contacted Corbin and ordered him to stop the plan.
He then ordered the sale of $4 million in government gold.

Gould and Fisk began buying as much gold as they could on
September 20, 1869. They watched gleefully as the value soared. On
September 24, the price of an ounce of gold peaked at $162.50. But
when the $4 million worth of government gold hit the market, people
panicked at the prospect of their own gold losing value, and they at-
tempted to sell their gold while the price remained high. Within fifteen
minutes the price of gold dropped to $133 per ounce. Investors could
not get rid of their gold fast enough, and many men lost their fortunes
in what became known as Black Friday. Railway stocks lost nearly all
their value, and businesses across the nation were left paralyzed.

Black Panther Party

The Black Panther Party, originally called the Black Panther Party for
Self-Defense, was founded by Bobby Seale (1937-) and Huey P. Newton
(1942-1989) in October 1966 in Oakland, California. Seale and
Newton began working together as students at Merritt Community
College, where they successfully fought for a black studies curriculum.
Having carefully researched California gun laws, they established armed
Black Panther patrols to curb police brutality.

On April 1, 1967, police killed an unarmed black man in a town
near Oakland. The man’s family came to the Black Panther Party for as-
sistance. Organizing armed street rallies and confronting the local sher-
iff, the Panthers mobilized massive support. When a bill was introduced
to the state legislature that would make it illegal for the Panthers to carry
their arms in public, the group took its protest right into the capitol
building in Sacramento. Images of members of the Black Panther Party
at the capitol with their black berets, powder-blue shirts, black leather
jackets, and large guns shocked Americans across the nation.
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Stokely Carmichael, a Black Panther prime minister, gives a rousing speech to an attentive university campus crowd. AP IMAGES

Growing membership

The strategy of armed self-defense attracted many frustrated blacks to
the party, particularly impoverished African Americans living in cities.
Many were followers of Malcolm X (1925-1965), who had strongly
questioned the nonviolent tactics of the civil rights movement.
Malcolm X called for black nationalism, or the promotion of a distinct
black identity, as opposed to integration into white society.

Eldridge Cleaver (1935-1998), the author of a widely read book of
prison essays called Soul on Ice (1967), joined the group in its early days.
He was soon followed by Student Nonviolent Coordinating
Committee (SNCC) activist Kathleen Neal Cleaver (1945-), whom he
married in 1967. When Newton was arrested in October 1967 follow-
ing a confrontation in which a police officer was killed, the Cleavers
stepped into leadership positions in the party, traveling coast to coast to
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gather support for the “Free Huey” campaign. (Newton was convicted of
murder in 1968 but acquitted on a technicality in 1970.) Eldridge
Cleaver, who had spent nine years in prison for attempted murder, had
a gift for attracting media attention and was largely responsible for the
growth of the party over the next several years. About forty chapter of-
fices opened throughout the United States, and the Black Panther Party

grew to more than five thousand full-time members.

Black Panther philosophy

The Black Panthers identified themselves as part of an international
struggle to overthrow capitalism (free-market economic systems, such as
those in the United States and most of Europe, in which individuals and
companies compete for their own economic gain with little governmen-
tal interference). They were self-proclaimed Marxists, people who pro-
fessed the ideas of nineteenth-century socialist philosopher Karl Marx
(1818-1883), who believed that all of history was a struggle between the
working classes and the wealthy.

An extremely powerful influence on the Panthers was the writing of
black Caribbean revolutionary psychologist Frantz Fanon (1925-1961),
who had played an important role in the struggle for Algerian independ-
ence from France. From Fanon, the Panthers derived their belief that
black Americans’ history and culture had been dominated, distorted, and
nearly destroyed by whites. They believed the white “colonizers” imposed
their own culture and system of values on blacks, a conquered people.
The Panthers believed that the solution was to reeducate blacks to their
true cultural identity—a process of empowerment best undertaken by

separating from white society.

From the start, the Black Panther program emphasized social needs.
The party provided free direct services to the poor and disabled, includ-
ing breakfast for children, testing for disease, ambulance services, shoes,
escorts for senior citizens, and legal aid. The Black Panthers’
Intercommunal Youth Institute, a school, was honored by the governor
of California for providing the highest level of elementary education in
the state.

Because their revolutionary goals went beyond the interests of

African Americans, the Panthers built coalitions with many nonblack or-
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ganizations. They were the only major black organization to endorse gay
and lesbian rights in the early 1970s. Further, they established official
diplomatic relations with a number of revolutionary governments inter-

nationally, including Algeria, China, Cuba, and Vietnam.

SNCC merges with the Panthers
By 1967, many SNCC members were frustrated with the slow pace of

the well-known group’s nonviolent protest methods. In February 1968,
the Black Panthers and SNCC announced that the two groups would
merge. Stokely Carmichael (1941-1998), a leader of SNCC, was
named Black Panther prime minister. The union was brief and contro-
versial. Cleaver and Carmichael were soon arguing about the place of
whites in the movement; Cleaver criticized Carmichael’s “paranoid fear”
of whites. In August, SNCC officially disassociated itself from the Black
Panthers.

FBI targets the Panthers

The U.S. government saw the activities of the Black Panthers as a seri-
ous threat. J. Edgar Hoover (1895-1972), the director of the Federal
Bureau of Investigation (FBI), ranked the Black Panther Party as the
number-one threat to American security and made the group a target of
COINTELPRO (the Counter Intelligence Program), an FBI program
that investigated and, if possible, disrupted radical political organizations
within the United States. FBI agents went undercover, joining the
Panthers for the purpose of causing as much trouble as they could from
within the group. Police also raided Panther offices. The FBI operation
leveled against the Panthers resulted in divisions within the party, shoot-
outs between Panthers and police, arrests, and killings of key Panther
leaders.

Ultimately, internal division and constant police raids brought about
the end of the Black Panther Party. The group had played a dramatic role
in the struggle for racial equality and justice at a time when the tactics of
nonviolent civil disobedience were faltering. By organizing poor and
alienated blacks into a powerful political movement, the Black Panther

Party transformed the face of urban politics.
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Black Power Movement

The black power movement became a force among African Americans
around 1965. It was so diverse and loosely coordinated, it is almost im-
possible to define. Although white Americans tended to interpret the
“black power” slogan as a call to racial violence, blacks most often under-
stood it as a call for racial pride and the achievement of political and eco-

nomic power.

Frustrations in the mid-1960s

In the mid-1960s, the African American civil rights movement had
seen many successes. Nonetheless, some activists were frustrated with the
slow pace of change. They heard the call of the revered civil rights leader
Martin Luther King Jr. (1929-1968) to remain nonviolent in the face
of brutality, but they were not convinced that sit-ins (see Sit-in
Movement), marches, and Freedom Rides were the answer.

The nonviolent civil rights movement of 195465 had produced ex-
pectations that were difficult to fulfill. Blacks could enter restaurants, but
many lacked the money to pay for a meal. Blacks could vote, but they
had not gained the power to improve their lives through the political sys-
tem. Many civil rights activists began to respond to the words of African
American leader Malcolm X (1925-1965), who believed that African
Americans should remain separate from the white population because, in

his view, American society was—and always would be—racist.

SNCC and black power

The Student Nonviolent Coordinating Committee (SNCC; pro-
nounced “snick”) was founded upon nonviolent principles in 1960 by
student activists who were committed to confronting American racism
and segregation. Operating in the most oppressive areas of the South and
facing constant danger, dedicated SNCC workers were celebrated for
their courage in the face of white intimidation in the early 1960s. By
1965, they were frustrated with the federal governments failure to pro-
tect their rights, and they faced continuing racism and economic and po-
litical inequality. That year, the SNCC gave up its nonviolent methods
and its goals of organizing southern communities. It adopted instead the
philosophy of black power promoted by SNCC leaders Stokely
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Stokely Carmichael was an influential figure in the black power movement, which promoted racial pride as well as political and

economic success within the black community. AP IMAGES

Carmichael (also known as Kwame Turé; 1941-1998) and H. Rap
Brown (later known as Jamal Al-Amin; 1943—).

At that point, the SNCC voted to exclude whites from important
positions. The organization increasingly pushed for withdrawing from
the American mainstream and forming a separate black society. From its
offices in Atlanta, the organization churned out “black power” bumper
stickers depicting a lunging black panther and history pamphlets that
stressed the teachings of Malcolm X. This turn toward militancy created
tension between the SNCC and some of the veteran civil rights leaders.

The Black Panthers and beyond

The most aggressive wing of the black power movement was the Black
Panther Party for Self-Defense, organized in 1966. The Panthers carried

loaded firearms to public appearances and considered themselves at war
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with the white power structure. By the end of the decade, the militant
party had considerable support, especially among young African
Americans. For a short time, the Black Panthers and the SNCC merged.

The Panthers were only one among many activist groups. While
some black power groups called for their own black nation in Africa, oth-
ers wanted to establish a new homeland in the United States. The major-
ity of black power groups tried to create black communities in which
African Americans controlled their own economic and political destinies
and took pride in their own history and culture.

What is “black power”?

Carmichael popularized the term “black power” in 1965. He defined
black power many times, and not always in the same way, but the gen-
eral idea was that African Americans had the right to define and organ-
ize themselves as they saw fit and to protect themselves from racial
violence. The term was disconcerting to moderate African American
leaders, who feared it would provoke hostility among whites and undo
their progress in civil rights. The term did, in fact, terrify many main-
stream whites, who interpreted the term to mean African American
domination and possibly even race war rather than simply black empow-
erment.

“Black power” was a political slogan, but it also denoted a cultural
movement. African Americans emphasized their enhanced sense of pride
through art and literature. Playwright and poet LeRoi Jones (1934-),
who changed his name to Amiri Baraka, became a leader of the black arts
movement, which sought to create positive images for blacks. Popular
black singers such as James Brown (1933-20006) and Aretha Franklin
(1942-) expressed the spirit of “soul.” Sports figures such as boxer
Cassius Clay (1942-), who changed his name to Muhammad Ali, also
identified with black power sentiments. At the 1968 Olympics, two
African American athletes raised clenched fists in a “black power salute”
on the victory stand after their event. At numerous colleges and univer-
sities, black students demanded black studies programs that would em-
phasize the contributions of African and African American people.

The influence of black power groups like the Black Panthers dwin-
dled during the 1970s, but the commitment to black power within the
African American community remained strong.
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Black Tuesday

Tuesday, October 29, 1929, is remembered as Black Tuesday in the
United States. That day, the value of stocks on the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE) plummeted, and many Americans lost their savings.
Black Tuesday is commonly regarded as the beginning of the Great
Depression, an economic recession in which much of the country strug-

gled to keep food on the table and a roof overhead.

Economic prosperity

The United States had a great sense of prosperity during the 1920s. A
strong economy and technological advancement brought luxury items
like radios, vacuum cleaners, and automobiles into the lives of average
Americans. Many such items could be bought on credit by paying in
monthly installments. The growing sense of optimism and prosperity in
the country led many people to acquire heavy loads of debt, or borrowed
money that they had to repay.

The dream of making a fast fortune and the ability to buy stocks on
credit prompted ordinary Americans to invest their small savings in the
stock market. Stocks, or shares, represent part ownership in a company.
An investor chooses to buy stocks in hopes that the value of the stock will
go up, so they can sell the stocks for more than they paid. Stock prices
can rise as more people become interested in the stock or if the company
performs well. Likewise, the value will fall if few people buy the stock or
if the company is not successful. When that happens, investors lose
money. Stocks are bought and sold at stock exchanges, and in 1929 the
NYSE was the primary exchange in the country.

Buying on credit

Buying stocks in the 1920s was made easy by brokerage firms. Investors
were encouraged to buy stocks “on margin.” This meant the investor
paid a small percentage of the total cost of the stocks and borrowed the
rest from the broker. If the value of the stock rose, then the investor still
made money. If the value of the stock dropped, however, then the bro-
ker could demand more money to cover some of the loss, an act known
as a “margin call.” If the money was not paid, the broker could choose
to sell the stock at current market prices. This meant that the investor

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History

Black Tuesday

175



Blacklisting

176

would not only lose the investment but also often end up owing more
money to the broker. As stock prices were rising steadily through the
1920s, many investors thought buying on margin was safe.

During the 1920s, there was little regulation of the stock market.
Certain unregulated practices inflated the value of stocks. Often the
value of stocks reflected investor interest in a company rather than the
performance of the company. Some powerful investors took advantage of
inside information to manipulate stock prices and make immense prof-
its. With stocks performing so well, few people recognized the subtle
signs that companies were actually struggling.

The crash

Stock prices reached a record high on September 3, 1929, then began a
slow but steady decline. Although there were small rallies of increased
value, the decline continued through September and October. By the
end of October, fear and apprehension began to mount among all in-
vestors. As more and more brokers demanded their money with margin

calls, values continued to drop.

Stock prices began to plummet on Thursday, October 24, when
thousands of brokers placed margin calls to their investors. Bankers pre-
vented a complete collapse of the market on that day, but only temporar-
ily. By Tuesday, October 29, the continued loss of stock values created
panic among investors. Selling occurred at such a rate that the market
crashed. Many investors, large and small, not only lost their savings but
also found themselves in great debt.

Stock market prices continued to decline for the next two and a half
years. The stock market crash of Black Tuesday developed into a long-
lasting depression that affected every aspect of American life for a decade.

Blacklisting
See Hollywood Blacklisting

Elizabeth Blackwell

The first woman in America to receive a medical degree, Elizabeth
Blackwell crusaded for the admission of women to medical schools in the
United States and Europe.
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Elizabeth Blackwell was born in England on February 3, 1821, and
when she was twelve her parents emigrated with their nine children to
New York City. Her father became an ardent supporter of the abolition
movement (someone who wants to eliminate slavery). In 1838, the
Blackwells moved to Cincinnati, Ohio, but within a few months
Blackwell’s father died. The three oldest girls supported the family for
several years by operating a boarding school for young women.

Medical school

In 1842, Blackwell accepted a teaching position in Henderson,
Kentucky. Local racial attitudes offended her strong abolitionist convic-
tions, and she resigned at the end of the year. On her return to
Cincinnati, a friend urged her to study medicine. The following year,
Blackwell moved to Asheville, North Carolina, and later to Charleston,
South Carolina, where she taught school and studied medicine in her
spare time.

When her attempts to enroll in the medical schools of Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania, and New York City were rejected, she wrote to a number
of small northern colleges. In 1847, she was admitted to the Geneva
Medical College in New York. Because women had never gone to med-
ical school, all eyes were upon her, and Blackwell proved to be an out-
standing student. In 1849, at the top of her class, she became the first
woman to graduate from medical school; the event was highly publicized
in the United States and Europe. Because no hospitals in the United
States would hire her, she went to Paris, France, to work at a women’s
and children’s hospital for further study and practical experience. While
working with the children, she contracted a severe eye infection that left
her blind in one eye.

Practice in the United States

Handicapped by partial blindness, Blackwell gave up her ambition to be-
come a surgeon and began practice at St. Bartholomew’s Hospital in
London. In 1851, she returned to New York, where she applied for sev-
eral positions as a physician but was rejected because of her sex. She es-
tablished a private practice in a rented room, where her sister Emily, who
had also pursued a medical career, soon joined her. Their modest prac-
tice later became the New York Infirmary and College for Women, op-
erated by and for women. The Womens Medical College opened in
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November 1868, adjacent to the New York Infirmary, with Blackwell as
professor of hygiene. It was the first school devoted entirely to the med-
ical education of women.

During the Civil War (1861-65), she organized a unit of women
nurses for field service. The army at this time had no hospital units. This
association soon became the U.S. Sanitary Aid Commission, officially ap-
pointed by President Abraham Lincoln (1809-1865; served 1861-65).

In 1869, Blackwell set up practice in London and continued her ef-
forts to open the medical profession to women. Her articles and her au-
tobiography attracted widespread attention. From 1875 to 1907, she was
a professor at the London School of Medicine for Women. She died at
her home in Hastings in 1910.

Bleeding Kansas
See Kansas-Nebraska Act

Bluegrass Music
See Country Music

Bomb

See Atomic Bomb; Enola Gay; Manhattan Project

Daniel Boone

Daniel Boone’s life spanned the final days of the original thirteen
colonies and the birth of the United States as a nation-state. His adven-
tures included wartime service as a soldier, exploration west of the
Appalachian Mountains, and political service with Americans such as

Patrick Henry (1736-1799) and Thomas Jefferson (1743-1826).

Early life
Boone was born on November 2, 1734, in a rural township near Reading,
Pennsylvania. He was the sixth child of eleven born to Squire and Sarah
Boone. The Boone family farmed their homestead and operated a black-
smith shop. Boone learned reading, writing, and math at home.

Boone received his first rifle at age twelve. He spent much time
learning to hunt and explore in his wooded surroundings. His family left
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Pennsylvania in 1747 when they were rejected
from their Quaker church because Boone’s
older brother, Israel, married a woman who was
not a Quaker. They settled in Virginia and then
in western North Carolina.

War and love

From 1754 to 1763, the British colonies fought
in the French and Indian War against France
and its Native American allies. Boone served for
the British as a teamster (wagon driver) and
blacksmith in a campaign against Fort
Duquesne led by General Edward Braddock (c.
1695-1755), who died in the attack. During the
campaign, Boone met John Finley, with whom
he would work as an explorer.

Boone was back in North Carolina when he
wed Rebecca Bryan in August 1756. They had
met in 1754 when Boone’s sister Mary married Explorer; politician, and
William Bryan. Together, the Boones had ten children. Rebecca birthed  soidier Daniel Boone.
another child whom she had with Daniel’s brother, Edward, during
Daniel’s absence in another battle of the French and Indian War. Rebecca
told Daniel that she thought he had died, and that Edward had com-

forted her through the difficult time.

The pioneer
Frontier hostilities between Britain and France ceased around 1760. In
November of that year, Boone and other explorers crossed the Blue
Ridge Mountains to explore what became Tennessee. Boone made land
claims in his travels, but had trouble throughout his life enforcing them.
In 1769, a judge hired Boone to lead an expedition into Kentucky.
Along with Finley and others, Boone traveled through the Cumberland
Gap into Kentucky. Boone helped cut a trail that would be used for
decades by pioneers headed west.
In 1775, Boone became head of a colony in Kentucky called
Boonesborough. He was captured in 1778 by Shawnee Indians and lived
with them for four months. When he learned of their plan to attack
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Boonesborough, he escaped to warn the colony. The colony survived the
attack, but Boone, then a colonel in the American army’s efforts to end
British control of the colonies, was court-martialed for his time with the
Shawnees, who were friends of the British. Boone won the trial and was
promoted to the rank of major.

Politics, wanderlust, and final years

Boone was elected to the Virginia legislature twice in his life, in 1771
and 1781. He disliked politics, however, and moved his family a num-
ber of times in the ensuing years, including to Ohio and to what became
West Virginia.

By 1799, Boone had lost most of his land holdings to lawsuits and
creditors. At age sixty-five he moved his family to Alta Luisiana, or
Upper Louisiana, which was still controlled by Spain. The Spanish gave
Boone 850 acres of land plus more for family members to attract him to
their colony. After the United States took control of the territory in the
Louisiana Purchase of 1803, U.S. land commissioners ruled that
Boone’s land claims were invalid. Congress, however, later confirmed
some of the grant.

Boone’s wife Rebecca died in 1813. Boone spent his remaining years
wandering and living with some of his many children. He died at his son
Nathan’s house in Missouri on September 26, 1820. In 1845, the
Kentucky legislature arranged to have his remains moved to a burial site
in Kentucky in honor of his pioneer work there. The Daughters of the
American Revolution erected a memorial at the original gravesite in
Missouri in 1915.

Boone’s legendary status took root while he was alive. In 1784, John
Filson published a biography called 7he Adventures of Colonel Daniel
Boone. Three years after Boone’s death, Lord Byron wrote the poem
“Don Juan” with seven stanzas on Boone.

Boston Massacre

On the evening of March 5, 1770, tensions between English soldiers and
the civilians of Boston, Massachusetts, erupted into a violent encounter
now known as the Boston Massacre. An incident that began with the ha-
rassment of one English soldier ended with the deaths of five colonists
and injuries to six others. The incident was an indication of colonial dis-
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satisfaction with English rule. Later it would be depicted as a fight in the
battle for colonial liberty.

Tensions rising

The roots of the Boston massacre lay in the deep colonial resentment of
measures taken by the English Parliament. The Townshend Acts of
1767, in particular, had imposed taxes that affected businesses employ-
ing the working poor. As colonial resistance to the acts increased,
England sent soldiers to America in 1768 to maintain order.

Tensions rose as the colonists began to suspect that the English sol-
diers were permanently stationed within the colonies. Soldiers began to
bear the brunt of the citizens’ anger and frustrations and were subjected
to harassment and acts of violence. The culmination of this tension was
the Boston Massacre.

The incident

On March 2, an English soldier approached a rope maker in hopes of
finding extra work during his off-duty hours. The rope maker insulted
the soldier. Eventually the argument turned into a fight that involved
other citizens and soldiers and lasted into the next day.

On March 5, angry townspeople confronted another soldier who
was on duty and began to harass him. Several other soldiers came to his
defense. Captain Thomas Preston ordered them not to fire, but the
crowd began pelting the soldiers with mud, ice, and snow. Although
Preston attempted to maintain order, the soldiers fired. One soldier later
claimed he had received an order to do so. Three colonists died immedi-
ately, two others died later, and six others were injured.

Preston and his soldiers were arrested and taken into custody. Most
Bostonians believed that the soldiers deliberately fired into the crowd. A
trial did not come until October 1770. John Adams (1735-1826), who
later became the second president of the United States, served as the de-
fense lawyer for the accused. Preston and six of his men were acquitted
(found not guilty). Two soldiers were convicted of manslaughter, but
they received the small punishment of branding on their thumbs before
returning to their regiments. The Boston Massacre added to growing
colonial resentment of England, which resulted in the start of the
American Revolution in 1775.
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Boston Tea Party

On the evening of December 16, 1773, a group of angry Boston citizens
boarded three ships belonging to the East India Company docked in
Boston Harbor. In protest of the British Parliament’s Tea Act (1773), the
group quietly dumped more than ninety thousand pounds of tea into the
harbor. The incident has become known as the Boston Tea Party. It trig-
gered a series of events that led directly to war and eventually to inde-
pendence for America.

Parliamentary acts

The Boston Tea Party represents the difficult relationship between
England and the thirteen colonies following the French and Indian
War (1754—63). The French and Indian War was the last and most ex-
pensive of the colonial wars between France and England. The cost of
defending the American colonists throughout the war had wiped out the
British treasury.

Thinking that the colonies should help pay for past war debts and
for the future cost of keeping English soldiers for their defense,
Parliament passed a series of acts to raise money from the colonies.
Among the measures passed by Parliament, the Townshend Acts (1767)
were most unpopular. Instead of placing a direct tax on materials the
colonists bought and sold, these acts imposed duties on items imported
into the colonies. This made certain important items such as lead, glass,
paint, paper, and tea more expensive.

Citizens protested by refusing to buy the taxed products and by sign-
ing nonimportation agreements throughout the colonies. Faced with such
widespread opposition, the British government repealed the Townshend
duties (taxes) in March 1770. To prove that Parliament had the right to
tax the colonies, however, it preserved a three-penny duty on tea.

Corporate affairs

Between 1771 and 1773, the relationship between the colonies and
England seemed fairly calm. However, Parliament’s passage of the Tea
Act in 1773 brought the period of peace to an abrupt end. The Tea Act
was not passed with the intention of disciplining the American colonies.
It was instead an attempt to revive the struggling East India Company.
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Boston Tea Party

The tension between the original thirteen colonies and England boiled over with the Boston Tea Party, when colonists snuck
onboard English ships and dumped 342 chests of tea into the harbor. TIME & LIFE PICTURES/GETTY IMAGES

The legislation effectively cut wholesalers out of the tea trade by allow-
ing the East India Company to sell tea directly to its own agents in
America.

By avoiding the cost of using wholesalers, the East India Company
was able to sell tea more cheaply than other tea companies could. This
allowed the company to monopolize, or dominate, tea sales in the
colonies. The monopoly angered colonists at all levels of society. Business
for wholesalers and local merchants decreased. Tea smugglers were hurt
by the competition of more affordable tea on the market.

In November of 1773, the first shipments of East India Company
tea since the passage of the Tea Act began to arrive in ports throughout
the colonies. They were met with hostile receptions. In New York and
Philadelphia, angry crowds forced officials to send the tea ships back to
England without unloading their cargoes. A tea ship was burned in
Annapolis, Maryland, and arsonists in New Jersey burned a warehouse

where unloaded tea was stored. The governor of Massachusetts, Thomas
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Hutchinson (1711-1780), decided to face down the demonstrators in
his colony.

Boston's tea

Three ships from the East India Company attempted to unload tea in
Boston. A group of Boston citizens, led by revolutionary statesman
Samuel Adams (1722-1803), refused to allow the tea to be taken off the
ships. Governor Hutchinson called on the Royal Navy to blockade the
harbor so the ships could not leave the port. Knowing that British law
required ships to unload cargo after twenty days in port, the governor
hoped to sidestep the demonstrators.

On December 16, the twenty-day period came to an end. Although
Adams and others tried to convince Governor Hutchinson to allow the
ships to return to England, he refused. Later that evening, a group of
about seventy colonists disguised as American Indians silently boarded the
ships. They broke open and dumped 342 chests of tea into the harbor.

In response to the Boston Tea Party, Parliament passed a series of
measures, known as the Intolerable Acts, to punish the citizens of
Massachusetts. The punitive laws, however, served to unite the colonists,
who soon organized the First Continental Congress to plan a strategy for
dealing with England. (See Continental Congress, First.) The conflicts
between England and the colonies soon escalated into violence and the
American Revolution (1775-83).

William Bradford

William Bradford was an Englishman who settled Plymouth Colony
with the Pilgrims in 1620. The Pilgrims traveled to the New World to
find a place where they could practice religion and community life with-
out interference from the Church of England. As governor of the colony
for most of his adult life, Bradford helped it survive hardships to become
a permanent settlement.

Early life

Bradford was born in Austerfield, Yorkshire, England, in March 1590.
His father, a farmer named William, died when Bradford was one. His
mother, Alice, died six years later in 1597. Relatives cared for Bradford
after that.
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Bradford began attending a Puritan church when he was twelve.
Puritans were Christians who wanted to reform the Church of England,
which Puritans felt had too many fancy rituals. Around age sixteen,
Bradford joined a church of Separatists in Scrooby, England, led by John
Robinson (1575-1625) and William Brewster (c. 1566-1644).
Separatists were Puritans who wanted to separate from the Church of

England.

The Church of England considered Puritanism a threat to its power,
so Puritans were often harassed in England. In 1608, the Scrooby con-
gregation moved to Holland to practice religion freely. For twelve years,
first in Amsterdam and then in Leyden, the Scrooby congregation exper-
imented with living as an English community in a foreign land. Bradford
worked in the textile industry during this time and married Dorothy
May. He had a son with Dorothy and three children with Alice
Carpenter Southworth, whom he married in 1623 after Dorothy’s death
years earlier.

The Pilgrims

The Scrooby congregation eventually decided to leave Holland. Living
in Dutch country made it hard for the community to retain its English
character and customs. The congregation did not wish, however, to re-
turn to persecution in England.

In London, the Scrooby congregation found investors from the
Virginia Company who wanted to send settlers to the New World for
harvesting its resources for a profit. In 1620, Bradford and about one
hundred others sailed on the Mayflower with plans to settle in the area
that would become Virginia. In November they arrived around present-
day Cape Cod, Massachusetts, and by December they landed at
Plymouth Bay and settled for the winter.

At Plymouth Bay, the Pilgrims were outside the area where the
Virginia Company had power to establish colonies. (See Colonization.)
This forced the Pilgrims to create their own government, which they did
under a legal agreement called the Mayflower Compact.

Settling into colonial life

Half of the colonists at Plymouth died during the winter of 1620, in-
cluding Governor John Carver (c. 1576-1621). The colonists elected
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Bradford to be their new governor. Bradford organized the colonists to
build a community, find food, and negotiate with Native Americans as
necessary. He also had responsibility for overseeing justice and managing
the colony’s business affairs.

Bradford and the colonists met a Native American named Squanto,
who had spent some time in England and spoke English. Squanto
(16002-1623) taught the colonists how to plant corn and preserve fish.
Bradford negotiated with the chief of the local Wampanoag tribe for a
peace treaty that lasted four decades.

Over the years under Bradford’s guidance, Plymouth Colony sur-
vived early hardships and became a permanent settlement. The investors
did not find it as profitable as other New World colonies. Still Plymouth
Colony managed to pay off its initial debt by 1648.

Later years

In his later years, Bradford taught himself how to read the Bible in
Hebrew, and he studied Greek, classical poetry, and philosophy.

From 1630 until 1650, Bradford wrote a book about the Pilgrims,
called Of Plymouth Plantation. The book reflects Bradford’s transition
from viewing Native Americans as savages to respecting them. Toward
the end of his life, Bradford thought that the colonists should purchase
native lands that they wished to use, an idea that other colonists rejected.

Bradford died in Plymouth Colony in May 1657.

Broadway

Broadway is a street in New York City running the length of the borough
of Manhattan. A few theaters were built along Broadway around the turn
of the nineteenth century; more soon followed. In the twentieth century,
the Broadway district became the center of mainstream American theater
and the home of some of the best-known musical and dramatic produc-
tions in the English-speaking world. In 2007, thirty-nine professional
theaters made up the Broadway theater district.

The early theaters

The earliest theater in the Broadway district, the elegant Park Theater,
opened in 1798. By 1820, a few more were built in the area, notably the
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Broadway

Vaudeville shows were popular variety acts featuring comedians, jugglers, singers, and dancers. Vaudeville started out rowdy and
crude, with audience participation sometimes spiraling out of control, but eventually evolved into a more cultured theater
experience. © UNDERWOOD & UNDERWOOD/CORBIS

3,000-seat Bowery Theater and Chatham Gardens. The Park brought in
English actors to perform classic drama such as the plays of William
Shakespeare (1564-1616). The other theaters catered to more popular
tastes. With the rise of industrialism and immigration in the mid-1800s,

increasing numbers of the working class attended these urban theaters.

Melodrama, blackface minstrelsy, and vaudeville

The most popular form of play in the early nineteenth century was the
melodrama, with its exaggerated moral conflicts, stock characters (types
used over and over again), and predictable format. Some of the better
melodramas drew a mix of sophisticated and uneducated audiences. One
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example was the six-act adaptation of Harriet Beecher Stowe’s 1852
novel Uncle Tom’s Cabin by George L. Aiken (1830-1876). The play
had the basic elements of the melodrama, with its arch villain, suffering
innocents, thrilling spectacles, comic relief, and poetic justice. It also
dealt seriously with slavery, the most heated social issue of its time.

Blackface minstrelsy, another popular form of entertainment, was
featured in Broadway theaters beginning in the late 1820s. It usually
consisted of several white male performers imitating in an exaggerated
style the songs, dances, and speech patterns of southern blacks.
Performers blackened their faces with burnt cork, dressed in rags, and
played banjos, fiddles, and tambourines.

Vaudeville shows were popular variety acts featuring comedians, jug-
glers, singers, and dancers. In its original form, vaudeville was rowdy and
often crude, with audience participation sometimes spiraling out of con-
trol. By the end of the nineteenth century, theater owners began to pro-
duce “refined vaudeville” acts for family audiences. The 3,200-seat Niblo’s
Gardens was one of the first Broadway theaters for the new vaudeville.

In 1866, The Black Crook: An Original Magical and Spectacular
Drama in Four Acts opened at Niblo’s Garden. This is considered the first
American “book musical”—that is, a musical with a plot and characters.
The rather high-brow cultural event at a low-brow vaudeville house was
the most commercially successful Broadway play up to that time.

The Syndicate

By 1900, theatrical touring troupes based in New York took their long-
running Broadway shows on the road, performing them in theaters
throughout the country. The system of booking plays nationwide was
complicated, and six New York theater owners took advantage of the tur-
moil. Emulating the robber barons of the steel, railroad, and oil indus-
tries (business leaders whose unethical practices often involved driving
competitors out of business), these theater owners formed the Theatrical
Syndicate in 1896. They brought order to theater bookings, but took
nearly complete control over American theater in the process.

By 1900, the Syndicate controlled more than five thousand U.S.
theaters, including virtually every first-class stage. To maximize its prof-
its, the Syndicate began to cut costs, undermining the quality of its

shows. It soon faced competition from ambitious new rivals such as the

Shubert brothers (Lee, Sam, and Jacob), who in 1905 began building
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their own chain of theaters. They managed to break the Syndicate’s mo-
nopoly on the American theater in 1915, but like the Syndicate, the
Shuberts exerted tight control over their extensive theatrical empire.
Because of the Syndicate’s emphasis on profits in the early years of
the century, Broadway theater became, and has remained, an extremely
conservative commercial enterprise. It produces expensive shows de-
signed to appeal to large audiences and make a large return on investors’
money. Broadway is not known for experimenting with new art forms.

The boom period

Around the turn of the twentieth century, there were sixteen theaters on
Broadway, with others nearby and many new theaters under construc-
tion. The theater district extended more than a mile, from Thirteenth
Street to Times Square (formerly Longacre Square). Streetlights illumi-
nated the thriving area, which became known as the Great White Way.
Broadway theaters offered about seventy plays in the 19001901 season,
and that number increased each year.

As the Roaring Twenties began, Broadway was in its heyday. In
1917, 126 plays were produced; that number soared to 264 in 1928. The
Broadway district was home to seventy to eighty theaters. Melodrama
and vaudeville gave way to many new forms, ranging from serious drama

to musical comedy to light entertainment.

Development of musical theater

In 1900, vaudeville performer George M. Cohan (1878-1942) began to
focus his ambitions as a playwright, songwriter, and performer on the
Broadway theater. In 1904, Cohan created the patriotic musical comedy
Little Johnny Jones, which featured the hit songs “Give My Regards to
Broadway” and “Yankee Doodle Boy.” Other Cohan musical comedies
included such popular songs as “You're a Grand Old Flag” and the pop-
ular World War I-themed “Over There.” Audiences craved his simple
patriotic messages and upbeat songs. The title of one of Cohan’s 1901
shows, The Man Who Owns Broadway, soon became his own nickname.

By the 1910s, musical forces such as Irving Berlin (1888-1989)
and George (1898-1937) and Ira Gershwin (1896-1983) were putting
their song-writing talents to work to create generally mediocre musical
plays featuring outstanding songs. These artists first wrote the songs and
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then developed a thin plot to tie them together in a show. The Gershwin
production Lady Be Good in 1924 introduced dancing star Fred Astaire
(1899-1987). Singer Al Jolson (1886-1950) made his debut (first ap-
pearance as a performer) at the Winter Garden Theatre in 1911, winning
the audience over with a brilliant performance.

In 1907, Florenz Ziegteld (1867-1932) presented the Follies of
1907, the first of his famous series of revues featuring beautiful showgirls
in lavish costumes. The Ziegfeld Follies became the longest-lived series of
musical revues in show-business history. As the Follies progressed, the
acts became more elaborate. Rope-twirling humorist Will Rogers
(1879-1935) made his Follies debut in 1916, and singer-comedian
Eddie Cantor (1892-1964) in 1917. Together with Fanny Brice
(1891-1951) and W. C. Fields (1880—1946), these comics added a cru-

cial dimension to the beautiful-girls show.

During the 1910s and 1920s, Ziegfeld mounted more than three
dozen Broadway shows in addition to his Follies, most of them musical
comedies. Perhaps his greatest triumph was the 1927 production of
Show Boat, by Jerome Kern (1885-1945) and Oscar Hammerstein 11
(1895-1960). The musical featured acclaimed songs such as “OI'’ Man
River” and “Can’t Help Lovin’ Dat Man.” Show Boat is considered the
forerunner of the modern American musical drama.

The Depression and World War Il

The Roaring Twenties were followed by the stock market crash of 1929
and the Great Depression (1929-41), a time of economic troubles
around the world. Many Broadway theaters went out of business; others
greatly reduced their productions. Many former theaters became movie
houses, as movies took over a significant portion of theater audiences.
Despite the obstacles, Broadway produced some of its greatest musicals
in the 1930s. It was the prime era for the Gershwin brothers” work, and
for musicals from new composers such as Cole Porter (1891-1964).

The turning point for the modern Broadway musical occurred dur-
ing World War II (1939-45) with the Richard Rodgers (1902-1979)
and Oscar Hammerstein musical play Oklahoma! Taking up where Show
Boat had left off, Rodgers and Hammerstein wrote the play for this mu-
sical first and then made everything in it, including the songs, work to
develop the plot, characters, and drama. Oklahoma! was an instant suc-
cess, setting a record for its Broadway run and forever changing the na-
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ture of the American musical. The 1950s saw many more musical dra-
mas, including My Fair Lady (1956), which set the record for the longest
run of any theater production in history; West Side Story (1957); and
Rodgers and Hammerstein’s final musical, The Sound of Music (1959).
Attendance at musicals dropped during the late 1960s and 1970s. As
tastes changed with the introduction of rock music, some musicals, such
as Hair and Grease, attempted to adapt to the times. Broadway still had
its share of traditional musicals, and some continued to be smash hits.
But the decrease in productions and audiences continued into the 2000s.

Non-musical Broadway plays

The 1920s brought a boom in serious American drama as well as musical
productions. In 1920, Beyond the Horizon, the first full-length play by
Eugene O’Neill (1888-1953), debuted on Broadway and won that year’s
Pulitzer Prize. O’Neill probed the dark side of humanity and bucked the
trend towards lighter fare. His plays were critical successes, and many cul-
tural observers felt he raised the artistic standards on Broadway.

Continuing the development of realism were the two major play-
wrights of the 1940s and 1950s, Arthur Miller (1915-2005) and
Tennessee Williams (1911-1983). Miller’s first major triumph, Death
of a Salesman, premiered on Broadway in 1949. It was America’s first
tragedy of a common man, Willy Loman. Williamss 7he Glass
Menagerie premiered on Broadway in 1945, using Williams’s own trou-
bled family relations as subject matter. A Streetcar Named Desire, which
opened on Broadway in 1947, was directed by Elia Kazan (1909-2003)
and starred Marlon Brando (1924-2004).

Most Broadway plays of the 1950s were written and directed by
white men, but in 1959 A Raisin in the Sun, a play by Lorraine
Hansberry (1930-1965) about an African American family confronting
racism, debuted to a standing ovation. It was the first play by a black
woman to be produced on Broadway. Gradually, Broadway stages began
to reflect the multicultural society. By the 1980s, many plays written by
and about minorities and women were commercial and critical successes.

Non-musical Broadway plays were not universally serious. Neil
Simon (1927-) became Broadway’s most reliable and commercially suc-
cessful playwright beginning in the 1960s by dedicating himself to light
entertainment. Simon’s well-made Broadway comedies include 7he Odd

Couple (1965) and The Sunshine Boys (1972).
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Off-Broadway and Off-Off-Broadway

In the 1950s, the enormous expense of producing theater on Broadway
led to the development of smaller theaters outside Times Square, collec-
tively referred to as Off-Broadway. Off-Broadway provided a challenge
to Broadway, opening the door for alternative theater. The 1960s saw the
rise of Off-Off-Broadway, alternative theatrical performances staged in
small coffechouses off Broadway’s main theater row. These coffechouses
boomed, allowing experimentation in drama to flourish. By 1966, the
number of Off-Off-Broadway productions was twice that of Broadway
and Off-Broadway combined.

Broadway today

Broadway celebrates its own players every year with the Antoinette Perry
Awards, better known as the Tony Awards, established in 1947. These
awards are only for productions that open in the major Broadway theaters.

In 2007, Broadway had only about half the number of theaters it
had in the 1920s. It has never been able to regain the popularity it en-
joyed during the 1920s. Still, some of the best writers, directors, per-
formers, costume and set designers, composers, and many other theater
professionals continue to bring their talents to this center of U.S. theater.
The thirty-nine official Broadway theaters remain a popular tourist at-
traction in New York City and continue to draw crowds. Total Broadway

attendance in 2005 was just under twelve million.

Brown Berets

The Brown Berets were a militant Chicano (Mexican American) civil
rights group, modeled in part on the African American Black Panther
Party. Like the Black Panthers, the Brown Berets arose out of a desire to
fight discrimination and especially to defend the Mexican American

community from police brutality.

A youth group

The Brown Berets got their start at a Mexican American youth confer-
ence in East Los Angeles, California, in 1966, at which high school stu-
dents gathered to discuss problems facing Mexican Americans. The
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students continued to work together over the next year, and their group
took the name Young Chicanos for Community Action (YCCA).

In late 1967, the YCCA opened the Piranya Coffee House as a site
from which to promote community consciousness and recruit members.
The YCCA adopted a brown beret as a part of its uniform and thus be-
came known as the Brown Berets. Emphasizing the right of self-determi-
nation and defense against aggression, the Brown Berets considered
themselves nationalists—that is, they identified themselves first and fore-
most as Chicanos and rejected the idea that they should adjust their tra-
ditions and culture to assimilate (blend in) with the mainstream U.S.
culture. They had a formal code of conduct and ethics.

In practice, the Brown Berets emphasized opposition to police bru-
tality and discrimination in the schools. During the group’s main period
of activity—from 1967 through 1972—the Brown Berets developed
more than twenty chapters and published the newspaper La Causa. In
May 1969, the Brown Berets opened the East Los Angeles Free Clinic,

offering a range of medical services.

The Brown Berets participated in the major events of the Chicano
movement, including the East Los Angeles “Blow Outs,” organized
demonstrations in which more than ten thousand students walked out
of Garfield, Roosevelt, Lincoln, and Belmont high schools to protest ed-
ucational discrimination against Chicanos.

The Chicano Moratorium

In late 1969, the Brown Berets formed the Chicano Moratorium
Committee, which organized annual marches to protest the large num-
ber of Chicano soldiers dying in the Vietnam War (1954-75). A year
later, they called for a national Chicano Moratorium to protest not only
the Vietnam War but also oppression by police. The Moratorium, held
in Los Angeles in 1970, became one of the country’s largest antiwar
protests, with nearly twenty thousand people in attendance.
Opverreacting to a minor incident, the police attacked the peaceful
demonstrators. In the ensuing violence, respected Chicano journalist
Ruben Salazar (1928-1970) was killed.

In 1971, the Brown Berets conducted a March Through Aztlan,
marching one thousand miles from Calexico, California, to the state’s
capital, Sacramento, to protest police brutality, racial discrimination, and

the Vietnam War. In 1972, they occupied Santa Catalina Island off the
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Southern California coast, arguing that the island had not been specifi-
cally named in the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo of 1848, which ended
the Mexican-American War (1846-48) and resulted in Mexico ceding
California to the United States. Therefore, according to the Brown
Berets, the island still belonged to Mexico. In late 1972, in response to
repeated harassment by police, the Brown Berets disbanded. In the
1990s and 2000s, local Brown Beret groups formed for many of the
same purposes and with the same basic principles as the original group.

Brown, John
See Harpers Ferry Raid

Brown v. Board of Education

The Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, adopted in
1868, gives all Americans, regardless of race, equal rights and equal pro-
tection under state and federal laws. Yet at the beginning of the 1950s,
American society was still separated into black and white. Hotels, trains,
parks, restaurants, apartment houses, and even state voting precincts
were segregated by race through state statutes called Jim Crow laws.
African Americans were criminally prosecuted and jailed for attempting
to ride the same trains or eat in the same restaurants as whites.

Racial segregation (the separation of races) had been established by
law in the United States in 1896 in the Supreme Court case called
Plessy v. Ferguson. Homer Plessy was an African American man who at-
tempted to ride in a whites-only railroad car in Louisiana. When he was
charged with violating Louisiana’s Jim Crow law, Plessy argued all the
way to the Supreme Court that the law was unconstitutional. In a seven-
to-one vote, the 1896 Court declared that the Fourteenth Amendment
did not prohibit state laws from treating people differently according to
the color of their skin as long as that treatment was “equal.” The “sepa-
rate but equal” doctrine created by the Plessy decision lasted for nearly
sixty years, until the 1954 decision of Brown v. Board of Education.

Topeka, Kansas, 1950s

In 1950, Oliver Brown was told that his eight-year-old daughter could
not attend the Topeka, Kansas, neighborhood elementary school four
blocks from their home because Kansas law required African Americans
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George Hayes (left), attorney
Thurgood Marshall (center),
and James M. Nabrit (right)
celebrate the landmark Brown
v. Board of Education U.S.
Supreme Court decision in
Washington, D.C., in 1954.
THE LIBRARY OF CONGRESS

to attend separate schools. Brown joined with other African American
families to engage the National Association for the Advancement of
Colored People (NAACP; a prominent civil rights organization) to file
a lawsuit against the board of education of Topeka. They claimed that
segregation violated their children’s constitutional rights under the
Fourteenth Amendment. For four years, the families lost their case but
appealed it to progressively higher courts. In 1954, Brown v. Board of
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The plaintiffs in the Brown v. Board of Education case that attempred to obliterate the ‘separate but equal” doctrine. CARL
IWASAKI/TIME & LIFE PICTURES/GETTY IMAGES
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Education reached the U.S. Supreme Court along with three similar
cases.

The plaintiffs’ attorney, Thurgood Marshall (1908-1993), later a
Supreme Court justice, argued that racially segregated public schools
were not equal and could not be made equal. He believed, therefore, that
the laws were in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment. He claimed
that the only way for the Court to uphold segregation in 1954 was “to
find that for some reason Negroes are inferior to all other human be-
ings.” The Supreme Court agreed and unanimously rejected the “sepa-
rate but equal” doctrine of Plessy v. Ferguson, stating that “in the field of

ublic education the doctrine of ‘separate but equal’ has no place.”
p p q p
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Reaction

The Brown decision hit the country like a bombshell. At the time of the
ruling, 40 percent of public-school students lived in areas that required
segregation by law. Mandatory-segregation laws were in effect in
Alabama, Arkansas, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky,
Louisiana, Maryland, Mississippi, Missouri, North Carolina,
Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, West
Virginia, and Washington, D.C.

Heated opposition to Brown came immediately. Several states defied
the court decision. Louisiana and Georgia voters enacted bills to permit
racially segregated education in November 1954. Georgia allowed pub-
lic educational funds to be provided to individuals to establish private
segregated schools. Michigan voters approved, almost two to one, a state
constitutional amendment to permit the abolition of public schools if
there was no other way to avoid racial desegregation of schoolchildren.
Similar actions were taken in Alabama, Mississippi, North Carolina, and
South Carolina.

“All deliberate speed”

Reversing segregation was not going to come easily, and the Court real-
ized the tremendous resistance local politicians and school boards would
have to its decision. Therefore, the Brown decision was argued again over
the issue of how to bring about desegregation. In Brown 11 (1957), Chief
Justice Earl Warren (1891-1974) and the Supreme Court required local
federal district courts to assess local obstacles to integration and decide
whether local school boards were making honest attempts at the deseg-
regation of public schools. The nation’s public schools were ordered to
desegregate “with all deliberate speed.”

Desegregation was extremely unpopular. Attempts by African
American students to follow court-ordered integration resulted in riots
in cities such as Milford, Delaware; Mansfield, Texas; Clinton,
Tennessee; and New Orleans, Louisiana. President Dwight D.
Eisenhower (1890-1969; served 1953-61) believed that the Supreme
Court had attempted to force the nation to integrate too quickly and of-
fered no help. Even many African American leaders and intellectuals,
such as writer Zora Neale Hurston (1891-1960) and activist W. E. B.
Du Bois (1868-1963), disliked the idea, doubting that African
American children would be treated equally in desegregated schools.
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White southerners continued to use tactics of obstruction and delay.
Desegregation did not occur in the Deep South until the mid-1960s.

Nonetheless, Brown had an immediate effect on the hearts and
minds of African Americans, and many historians consider it the start of
the modern civil rights movement. Movement leaders stated that
Brown influenced their activities, if only because it showed that the na-
tion’s highest court believed that the Constitution supported their civil
rights.

James Buchanan

James Buchanan devoted his presidency to trying to maintain the
Democratic Party’s North-South coalition (voting bloc), which he be-
lieved would keep the United States intact in the years prior to the Civil
War (1861-65). He was unable to keep his party or the United States in-
tact, and he is probably most often remembered for this failure.

Buchanan was born on April 23, 1791, and raised in a large, re-
spected family in Pennsylvania. He received a good education in his
hometown and graduated from Dickinson College in 1809. After col-
lege, Buchanan studied law, and he was admitted to the Pennsylvania bar
in 1812. He quickly established a successful law practice. The two main
ingredients of his success were his knowledge of the law and his talent for
giving speeches and debating.

Enters politics

Buchanan’s political career began with his election to the Pennsylvania
House of Representatives in 1813. As a Federalist (a member of the
Federalist Party, which sought a strong central government and an in-
dustrialized society), he opposed the War of 1812 (1812-15), a conflict
between England and the United States over trade issues. He feared that
it would be harmful to northern industries. Once war was declared,
though, he enlisted in the military.

Buchanan became a member of the U.S. House of Representatives
in 1820. The U.S. victory in the War of 1812 had destroyed the
Federalist Party, leaving the United States with only one political party,
the Democratic-Republican Party. In the election of 1824, four
Democratic-Republicans ran for president, splintering the party. Those
who supported Andrew Jackson (1767-1845) would become the
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Democratic Party, and those who supported
John Quincy Adams (1767-1848) formed a
new party, the Whigs. The majority of former
Federalists joined the Whig party, but Buchanan
supported Jackson.

A Jacksonian Democrat

Adams won the election of 1824, although
Jackson had gotten the majority of popular
votes. During the Adams administration,
Buchanan actively opposed many of the presi-
dent’s efforts. It was during this time that he
made his first public statement on slavery, call-
ing it a moral and political evil, but one that
would endure for years to come.

After ten years in the House, Buchanan be-
came the minister (diplomatic representative) to
Russia. He returned in 1833 and was elected to
the U.S. Senate. As a member of the Democratic Party, Buchanan real-
ized he must support Jackson, who had followed Adams as president.
When Jackson announced his ambition to crush the national bank (a
commercial bank regulated by the federal government), Buchanan sup-
ported Jackson, even knowing that this action would hurt his home state
of Pennsylvania, where the Second National Bank of the United States
was located. The bank, located in Philadelphia, had held the nation’s fed-
eral funds for nearly two decades. Buchanan chose to be a loyal
Jacksonian Democrat in opposing the bank, motivated, at least in part,
by his national (rather than state) political ambitions.

From 1845 to 1849, Buchanan served as secretary of state to
President James K. Polk (1795-1849; served 1845-49), representing
the government in foreign affairs, and then he became the minister to
Great Britain. When he returned from England in 1856, Buchanan
found the United States more deeply divided than ever by the 1854
Kansas-Nebraska Act. The act repealed the Missouri Compromise of
1820, which had permitted Missouri to be admitted as a slave state
while banning slavery in the remaining northern portions of the
Louisiana Purchase. The Democratic Party was bitterly divided be-
tween its members in slave-holding states and its members in free (non-
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slave-holding) states. Buchanan had avoided the conflict simply by being
out of the country, and some believed he was the only candidate who
could mend the Democratic Party’s wounds and save the Union. Thus
he became the party’s candidate.

In the 1856 presidential election, Buchanan was not a favorite of ei-
ther the North or the South, but those who opposed the Democratic
Party were too divided to take the election. Buchanan did not get a ma-
jority of the popular votes, but he did win the presidency. He defeated
the Republican Party candidate, John C. Frémont (1813-1890), and
the Know-Nothing Party candidate, former president Millard Fillmore
(1800-1874; served 1850-1853).

The presidency in 1856

Buchanan’s administration was haunted by the question of slavery in the
U.S. territories. He hoped that the Supreme Court’s verdict in the Dred
Scott case in 1857 would settle the issue once and for all. Dred Scott (c.
1795-1858) was a slave who had sued for his freedom based on his res-
idence in a free territory, where he and his slave owner had moved. The
Supreme Court ruled against him, stating that he was still the property
of his owner even though he had lived in a free state. To Buchanan and
many others, the Dred Scort decision meant that only states—and not the
federal government—had the authority to prohibit slavery within their
boundaries.

Buchanan believed that the Democratic Party had held the Union
together during the recent conflicts; as president, he felt it was his job to
unite the party. He tried to keep Southerners from abandoning it by
strongly upholding the right to own slaves in slave-holding states. In his
zeal to please Southerners, he attacked abolitionists (people who sought
to abolish slavery) and placed many prominent Southerners in high po-
sitions in Washington. But the South could not be appeased so easily.
With most of the new states destined to be free of slavery, the North was
sure to gain power at the South’s expense. The old North-South coalition
of the Democratic Party had been pushed to the breaking point. The ter-
ritory of Kansas had reached a state resembling civil war over the issue
of slavery. Buchanan’s compromises were inadequate to stop the divide.

Buchanan chose not to run for president in 1860. The Democratic
Party splintered into three sectional factions, whose candidates, Vice
President John C. Breckinridge (1821-1875), U.S. senator Stephen A.
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Douglas (1813-1861) of Illinois, and former U.S. representative John
Bell (1797-1869) of Tennessee, lost to Republican candidate Abraham
Lincoln (1809-1865; served 1861-65). Lincoln had spoken strongly of
limiting the expansion of slavery. When Lincoln won the election, the
South prepared to secede (withdraw from the Union). Buchanan had
been warned, but he had not prepared for the secession. During his last
days in office, his administration fell apart as the Civil War between the
North and the South began.

Buchanan supported the Union throughout the Civil War. He died
in 1868, remembered most for the last few months of his administration,
when the country divided.

Buffalo Bill

See William “Buffalo Bill” Cody

Buffalo Soldiers

Approximately 20 percent of the U.S. Cavalry involved in the Plains
Indian Wars (1866—90) were African American soldiers. These soldiers
made up the Ninth and Tenth U.S. Cavalry Regiments.

The Cheyenne and Comanche tribes nicknamed these men Buffalo
Soldiers because they were courageous and strong, qualities shared with
the mighty buffalo. The hair of the Buffalo Soldiers reminded the tribal
warriors of the tuft of hair between a buffalo’s horns, as well. Given that
the buffalo was important and necessary to the Native Americans’ way of
life, the nickname was an honor, and one the soldiers accepted with
pride.

The Buffalo Soldiers fought in more than 177 conflicts against the
Plains tribes, and at least seventeen Medals of Honor were awarded them
throughout the Indian Wars.

Fighting was not all they did, however. The Buffalo Soldiers mapped
miles of southwestern frontier territory (wilderness at the edge of a set-
tled region) and strung hundreds of miles of telegraph lines. Without the
protection of these famous soldiers, construction crews would not have
survived long enough to build the railroads throughout the frontier.

The Buffalo Soldiers participated in many other wars, including the
American Civil War (1861-65), the Spanish-American War (1898),
and both World War I (1914—18) and World War II (1939-45).
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Bulge, Battle of the

See Battle of the Bulge

Bull Run, Battles of

See Battles of Bull Run

Bunker Hill, Battle of

See Battle of Bunker Hill

Bureau of Indian Affairs
The Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) is the federal agency responsible for

administering policies for Indian nations and communities.

Organization

The BIA was created in 1824 as a part of the U.S. War Department, a
cabinet department that was the forerunner of the Department of
Defense. Its task was to handle the growing problems caused by the
westward expansion of the United States into territories mainly inhab-
ited by the Indians. The early BIA had three levels of administration. Its
leaders, including the commissioner, were stationed in Washington,
D.C. BIA superintendents were posted throughout Indian-occupied
lands, where they oversaw territorial-level agencies. Indian agents and
subagents lived among the various tribes. The BIA remained within the
War Department until 1849, when Congress transferred the Indian
agency to the Department of the Interior.

The BIA was accused of abuse, mismanagement, and corruption
from its early days and throughout the nineteenth century. Many of the
agency’s top administrators received their jobs as political favors; they
were not qualified for the job or even interested in the plight of the
American Indians. Many pocketed the money set aside for the Indians.

Taking the land

The BIA came into being around the same time that Congress passed the
Indian Removal Act of 1830. The act authorized the federal government
to transfer Indians living in the eastern part of the country to lands west
of the Mississippi River. The BIA was responsible for the task of confin-
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ing them to designated Indian reservations in the West and training
them to adapt to mainstream American ways. For several decades, the
BIA concentrated on Indian removal and relocation, which involved dis-
lodging, usually by force, entire Native American communities from
lands throughout the ever-expanding United States.

By 1870, the federal government had secured most of the present-day
United States from the Indians. It signed treaties with them that prom-
ised the Indians that they could remain on their reservation lands forever.
In 1871, however, the government called for an end to treaties. The
Indian Appropriations Act declared Indians to be wards (people under
the protection and care) of the government and gave the BIA the author-
ity to carry out the government’s role as guardian on the reservations.

Allotment
On February 8, 1887, Congress passed the Dawes Severalty Act

(General Allotment Act), designed to promote the concept of individual
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ownership of land by dividing the reservations into tracts and allotting
one tract to each Indian. This was a tremendous change for most tribes,
because Native American land was traditionally held in common by all
members of the community and used for the good of everyone. Under
the act, the individual tracts of land “given” to the Indians were to be
held in trust (something held by one party for the benefit of another) for
twenty-five years while the Indians received training in farming and
other mainstream American customs.

The effect of the Dawes Act was to destroy the social and political
systems of the tribes while transferring authority to powerful BIA Indian
agents. The BIA staffed the tribal government, courts, and law enforce-
ment agencies with hand-picked Indians who were willing to cooperate
in pursuing the agency’s goals. The BIA drafted a Code of Indian
Offenses that prohibited many traditional cultural and religious prac-
tices. While the Indians were being trained to become farmers, the BIA
rationed their food and necessities of life. The agency thus could starve
into submission those Indians who refused to crop their hair short, who
continued to paint their faces, or who persisted in engaging in traditional
religious ceremonies. The bureau also assumed responsibility for the ed-
ucation of young Indians. Not surprisingly, its policy was to provide
them with knowledge and skills necessary to fit into mainstream society.
Students were not allowed to speak their native languages or practice
many of their customs.

Indian New Deal

By the mid-1930s, it was clear that the Dawes Act had failed to benefit
the Indians. The BIA-administered reservations were in disastrous shape,
while those reservations owned and operated by the tribes as a group had
fared much better. President Franklin D. Roosevelt (1882—1945; served
1933-45) promised reform. He appointed sociologist John Collier
(1884-1968) commissioner of the BIA to help carry out the “Indian
New Deal.” Under Collier’s direction, the BIA stopped trying to force
Native Americans to adapt to the non-Indian ways. Management of
reservations was turned over to the tribes. Reservation schools were free
to teach traditional Indian culture and languages in the classroom.

The BIA was not always popular after the reforms of the 1930s. In
1972, the American Indian Movement (AIM) staged a demonstration
in which the protesters took over BIA headquarters in Washington,
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D.C., in protest of the federal government’s Indian policies. In the
1990s, various groups accused the BIA of mismanagement of tribal
funds. Nevertheless, in the early 2000s, the BIA continued to act as
trustee over 55.7 million acres of land held in trust by the United States
for the 561 federally recognized tribal governments. The agency is re-
sponsible for developing the forests, farms, and other resources of these
lands and protecting water and land rights. The BIA also continues to
provide education, health, and social services.

Aaron Burr

Aaron Burr was born on February 6, 1756, in Newark, New Jersey. His
father, Aaron, was the pastor of the Newark Presbyterian Congregation.
His mother, Esther, was the daughter of the well-known theologian
Jonathan Edwards (1703-1758).

Before the younger Aaron was a year old, his father took a post as
president of the College of New Jersey (later Princeton University), and
the family moved to Princeton. His father died a few months later, in
September 1757. The deaths of his mother and grandparents followed
within the next year. Aaron and his older sister, Sarah, moved to the care
of Timothy Edwards, a twenty-year-old uncle.

Burr prepared for college and graduated from Princeton at seven-
teen. He began to study theology to become a minister, but in 1774 he
abandoned those studies. Instead he decided to become a lawyer. That
plan, however, was delayed by the American Revolution (1775-83).

Military service

The Battle of Lexington, which opened the war, inspired Burr to join the
Revolutionary cause. (See Battle of Lexington and Concord.) He and
Benedict Arnold (1741-1801) fought in the expedition to take Quebec.
Although the attack was unsuccessful, Burr served with distinction.

In the spring of 1776, Burr joined the staff of General George
Washington (1732-1799) as a major. Their personalities conflicted, and
Burr was transferred to the staff of General Israel Putnam (1718-1790).
Burr served with distinction in the battle of Long Island and in the evac-
uation of New York.

In July 1777, Burr was appointed lieutenant-colonel in the
Continental line. He earned a reputation for discipline and daring as the
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leader of a regiment stationed in Orange
County, New York. The hardships of his sta-
tions, however, took a toll on Burr. His health
began to suffer, and in March 1779 he submit-
ted his resignation. After a long period of recov-
ery, Burr returned to the study of law.

Law and politics

In 1780, Burr was well enough to begin his
study of law with determination. He eventually
relocated to Haverstraw, New York, and was ad-
mitted to the New York Bar as an attorney in
early 1782. In July, he married Theodosia
Bartow Provost, the widow of a British army of-
ficer. Over the course of their twelve years to-
gether, she gave birth to four children. Only
one, a daughter, survived into adulthood, and
she disappeared at sea in 1812. Theodosia died
in 1794.
In the fall of 1783, the Burrs moved to New
York City, where Burr established a law practice. He was a highly re-
spected attorney. With the encouragement of a radical political group,
Burr gained election to the New York State Assembly. He served from
1784 to 1785 but refrained from being nominated for another term.

Burr continued to be entangled in the work of the state’s political
factions. As a result, he earned an appointment as the state attorney gen-
eral in 1789. In 1791, he began to serve in the U.S. Senate. It was dur-
ing this time that Burr gained an enemy in Alexander Hamilton
(1755-1804), who was secretary of the treasury under President
Washington.

During his six years in the Senate, Burr became associated with the
politics of Thomas Jefferson (1743-1826), President Washington’s sec-
retary of state. After James Monroe (1758-1831) left the Senate, Burr
became the spokesman for the policies of the Jeffersonians. In 1796,
both Burr and Jefferson ran for president, but Vice President John
Adams defeated both of them. At that time, representatives from each
state voted in the election; the first-place finisher was declared president,
while the second-place finisher automatically became vice president. In
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1796, that meant that Adams would be president and runner-up
Jefferson would be vice president. Failing to gain reelection to the Senate
the same year, Burr returned to New York in 1797. There, he was elected
to the State Assembly again and served until 1799.

Vice presidency

During Adams’s presidency, political parties became clearly defined in
the young nation. Jefferson’s supporters, including Burr, belonged to the
Democratic-Republican Party. In the election of 1800, Jefferson and
Burr received the same number of electoral votes, tying for the presi-
dency. The Constitution required that the election be decided by the
House of Representatives. In the tie-breaking vote there, Jefferson was
elected president, and Burr became vice president, thanks in part to
Hamilton’s support for Jefferson. As vice president, Burr was not very
popular with members of either the Federalist Party or the Democratic-
Republican Party. By 1804, the Twelfth Amendment had been passed,
which required electors to vote for president and vice president sepa-
rately. New York governor George Clinton (1739-1812) wound up
being elected as Jefferson’s second-term vice president.

With Burr’s days as vice president numbered, his political friends
nominated him for the governorship of New York. Although he gathered
some support, Burr’s popularity had continued to decline. His political
rivals, especially Hamilton, worked against him as well. He was defeated
by a heavy majority.

Hamilton’s scorn during the New York election infuriated Burr and
prompted a duel between them. Burr fatally shot Hamilton on July 11,
1804, at Weehawken, New Jersey, while still serving as vice president.

Declining popularity

Burr’s duel with Hamilton, while giving him political revenge, brought
many difficulties as well. Although duels were still common, they were
not legal in either New Jersey or New York. Hamilton was immensely
popular and had many admirers who were angered by the event. Officials
in both New York and New Jersey charged Burr with multiple crimes, in-
cluding murder. He fled first to Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, and then to
South Carolina. Although he eventually beat the charges and returned
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to complete his term as vice president, the end of his term in March
1805 effectively marked the end of his political career.

Another incident contributed to the decline of Burr’s reputation. It
appears that between 1805 and 1807 he was involved in plans either to
separate the western states from the Union or to conquer the Spanish
possessions of Texas and northern Mexico, or perhaps to accomplish
both feats. The facts are so unclear that Burr’s intentions remain clouded
today. It is clear, however, that Burr was working toward some sort of up-
rising.

In preparation for his plans, Burr recruited volunteers, gathered sup-
plies, and sought financial assistance. Among those plotting alongside
Burr was the commanding general of the U.S. Army, James Wilkinson
(1757-1825), who promised to supply Burr with troops. Wilkinson,
however, changed his mind and decided to further his own career by re-
vealing Burr’s plans to authorities.

Burr was arrested and tried for treason. Fortunately for him, politi-
cal sparring between President Jefferson and Chief Justice John Marshall
(1755-1835) resulted in Burr’s acquittal. Upon his release, Burr sought
refuge in Europe.

Last years

Burr’s reputation both socially and politically had plummeted. He was
heavily in debt, and creditors were relentless. Burr retreated and set sail
for England in June 1808. Ever hopeful of gathering support for his
plans, Burr traveled from England to Sweden, Denmark, Germany, and
France. He failed to gain support, however, and decided to return home
to his daughter and grandson. Due to an unfortunate string of events, he

did not return home until May 1812.

Burr returned to New York, where he had little difficulty reestablish-
ing his legal practice. Within the year, both his grandson and daughter
died. Financial difficulties continued to plague him. He suffered a minor
stroke in 1830. In July 1833, Burr married a much younger and wealth-
ier woman, Eliza Jumel. After only four months, they separated due to
arguments concerning finances. Her request for divorce was granted after
a dramatic trial. Burr died on September 14, 1836, the day the divorce

was to become effective.
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George H. W. Bush

A successful businessman, George Herbert Walker Bush emerged as a na-
tional political leader during the 1970s. After holding several important
foreign policy and administrative assignments in Republican Party pol-
itics, he served two terms as vice president under Ronald Reagan
(1911-2004; served 1981-89), and he went on to serve one term as
president beginning in 1988.

George H. W. Bush was born on June 12, 1924, and led a privileged
childhood as the son of a wealthy Connecticut senator. He graduated
from a prestigious private school and was accepted at Yale University, but
he changed his plans when the United States entered World War II
(1939-45). Bush enlisted in the U.S. Naval Reserve, and by the end of
1943 he was the youngest fighter pilot in the navy. He was awarded the
Distinguished Flying Cross for his actions on a September 2, 1944, mis-
sion in the South Pacific, during which his plane was shot down and he
parachuted to safety. When he returned home, Bush married Barbara
Pierce (1925-) and entered Yale. After graduating, he moved to Texas.
By 1954, he was president of the Zapata Offshore Company. Drilling for
oil in the Gulf of Mexico had already made him wealthy.

Enters the world of politics

Bush was active in the Republican Party in Texas, and in 1966 he was
elected to the U.S. House of Representatives. In December 1970, he was
appointed U.S. ambassador to the United Nations (UN). In 1973, Bush
became the chairman of the Republican National Committee. The next
year, he was appointed head of the U.S. Liaison Office in the People’s
Republic of China, and in 1975, President Gerald R. Ford (1913-20006;
served 1974-77) called him home to head the Central Intelligence
Agency (CIA; the government agency responsible for obtaining and an-
alyzing information about foreign governments, corporations, and indi-
viduals). Bush served until 1976 and won high marks for improving

agency morale.
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Begins service under President
Reagan

Bush sought the Republican presidential nomi-
nation in 1980. He was viewed as an attractive
moderate alternative to the conservative Ronald
Reagan, but he did not get the nomination. He
accepted Reagan’s offer of the vice presidential
slot despite their differences of opinion on sev-
eral key issues. During his two terms as Reagan’s
vice president, Bush loyally supported the
Reagan agenda.

The presidency
In 1988, Bush was elected president.
Immediately after taking office, he improved re-
lations with Congress and the press. He pre-
ferred to negotiate differences between
economic and political interests rather than take
strong positions of his own. This was true in his
foreign policy as well. During his first year in of-
fice, the Communist governments of the Soviet
Union and Eastern Europe self-destructed, creating an entirely new bal-
ance of world powers. Bush supported the Russian reformist president
Mikhail Gorbachev (1931-) and maintained a remote and formal rela-
tionship with all the countries of the former Soviet Union.

In the spring of 1989, Chinese students began massive demonstra-
tions in support of democracy in Tiananmen Square, located in the heart
of China’s capital, Beijing. When the government crushed the demon-
strations with military force, Bush at first spoke out against the actions
of the Chinese leadership and imposed limited sanctions (punishments,
such as stopping trade, to express disapproval), but he soon sent repre-
sentatives to Beijing to ease the tension between the United States and
China. Later he opposed congressional attempts to toughen the sanc-
tions and restored China’s most-favored-nations trade status.

Bush was initially halfhearted about U.S. initiatives to stop the drug-
smuggling Panamanian dictator Manuel Noriega (c. 1935-). After an
American soldier was killed by one of Noriega’s soldiers in 1989, how-
ever, Bush authorized a full-scale military invasion of Panama. The ma-
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jority of Noriega’s forces surrendered after a few hours. Noriega was cap-
tured a few weeks later. In 1992, he was convicted in Florida on drug-
dealing charges.

The Gulf War

Under the leadership of military dictator Saddam Hussein (1937-2006),
Iraq invaded Kuwait in 1990 and proclaimed it a new Iraqi province.
Bush launched Operation Desert Storm, mobilizing international forces
that destroyed Hussein’s air and land military capabilities in a six-week
war that was televised virtually from start to finish. The action resulted
in minimal U.S. casualties, and in the end President Bush’s approval rat-
ing soared to a new high and established him as a powerful force in world
affairs.

Despite the apparent total victory, the war failed to oust Hussein
from power in Iraq. Bush ruled out further military action in Iraq but
urged continued international economic sanctions against the Hussein

regime.

Fails to win second term

After the Gulf War, many believed Bush would be unbeatable in the next
presidential election. Yet by 1992, the nation’s economy was in a down-
turn, the national deficit (the amount the federal government needs to
borrow to make up the difference between what it spends and how much
it collects in taxes) had soared, and crime was rising. In the general elec-
tion, a popular independent candidate, Texas businessman Ross Perot
(1930-), divided the Republican Party. (See also Third Parties.) The
Republicans were further divided in the general election, with economic
conservatives on one side and social and religious conservatives like Pat
Buchanan (1938-)—who had challenged Bush in the Republican pri-
maries—on the other. In the end, Perot took a whopping 19 percent of
the popular vote, and the Democratic Party candidate, Arkansas gov-
ernor Bill Clinton (1946-), won the election.

In retirement, Bush kept as low a profile as could be expected with
two of his sons, President George W. Bush (1946—; served 2001-) and
Florida governor Jeb Bush (1953-) prominently in the national spot-
light.
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George W. Bush

George Walker Bush was born on July 6, 1946, in New Haven,
Connecticut, where his father, George H. W. Bush (1924-), was en-
rolled at Yale University. After his father graduated in 1948, the family
moved to Texas, where the senior Bush worked as an executive in the oil
industry. Like his father, George W. Bush attended Phillips Academy (a
private school that prepares students for college) in Andover,
Massachusetts, and went on to Yale University. He was an average stu-
dent, president of his fraternity, and a member of an exclusive secret
group, the Skull and Bones Society. While Bush was still at Yale in 1966,
his father was elected to the U.S. House of Representatives. After serving
in Congress, George H. W. Bush went on to hold positions in the pres-
idential administrations of Richard Nixon (1913-1994; served
1969-74) and Gerald R. Ford (1913-2006; served 1974—77) before
being elected vice president and president in the 1980s.

In 1975, George W. Bush earned a master’s degree in business ad-
ministration from Harvard. He served as a pilot for the Texas Air
National Guard before beginning a career in the oil and gas business. He
quickly gained a reputation for fast cars and occasionally heavy drinking.
In later years, he admitted to being irresponsible in his youth. After
working in the energy industry for several years, Bush met Laura Welch
(1946-), an elementary school teacher and librarian. They married in
1977, and their twin daughters were born in 1981. Bush ran for a seat
in Congress in 1978 but lost the election. He had some difficult times in
the oil business, but eventually built a small, successful company.

Change of ways
In 1985, under the influence of Baptist evangelist minister Billy
Graham (1918-), Bush experienced a religious conversion. A year later,
he stopped drinking alcohol. To those who knew him, these events were
seen as major turning points in his life. When his father won the
Republican nomination for president in 1988, Bush helped manage his
presidential campaign. He gained respect in Washington, D.C., for ral-
lying the campaign team through the ups and downs of the tight race.
Back in Texas after the election, Bush organized a group of wealthy
investors to buy the Texas Rangers, a major league baseball team. Riding
a wave of popularity, he decided to run as the Republican candidate for
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Republican George W. Bush
won the controversial 2000
election and became the forty-
third president of the United
States. AP IMAGES

governor of Texas in 1994. To the surprise of many, he won the election.
After only a year in office, Bush was hailed as the most popular big-state
governor in the country. He worked to improve public schools, cut taxes,
and put welfare recipients to work, and he encouraged new business and
job growth. Bush won reelection in 1998 with 68 percent of the vote.

By January 2000, Bush was the frontrunner of a large field of
Republican presidential candidates and became the party’s nominee that
summer. Since some people questioned Bush’s grasp of national issues
and foreign affairs, he selected the experienced Dick Cheney (1941-) to
be his running mate. Mixing a folksy approach with clear policy meas-
ures, Bush maintained a slight lead against the Democratic nominee,
Vice President Al Gore (1948-), as the 2000 election approached.

A controversial election

Shortly after 8 PM on election day, Tuesday, November 7, 2000, news
agencies began projecting that Gore had won the popular vote and
seemed headed for an electoral college victory. (The electoral college is
the group that directly elects the president and vice president. Each state
is allotted a number of electors equal to the number of its representatives
and senators in Congress, and each presidential candidate has a slate of
electors assigned to that candidate. When a candidate wins the popular
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vote in a state, the electors assigned to that candidate vote for him or her
in the electoral college.) Around 10 PM, news reporters began referring
to Florida’s popular vote as too close to call. When daylight came on
Wednesday morning, there was still no new president-elect.

The problem was in Florida. Vote tallies completed in Florida were
extremely close, and serious voting problems had arisen in four Florida
counties. Recounts began. Republican officials tried to have the recounts
stopped since accepting the tallies as they were would have resulted in a
victory, though a very narrow one, for Bush. Democrats took the matter
before state judges. The Florida Supreme Court ruled unanimously
(7-0) that manual recounts could continue. Bush’s lawyers appealed the
ruling to the U.S. Supreme Court. The nation waited to find out who
would be the next president.

On December 12, a bitterly divided Supreme Court ruled 5—4 that
the recounts were unconstitutional. It ordered a halt to all further re-
counts. Gore conceded the election to Bush.

The presidency

Bush took office ready to cut taxes, improve schools, build an antimissile
defense system to intercept long-range missiles launched at the United
States, create a White House department of faith-based (religious) initia-
tives, and reform immigration policy and Social Security. He drew criti-
cism soon after taking office when he refused to sign the Kyoto Protocol,
an amendment to the international treaty on climate change that re-
quired nations to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in their countries.

On September 11, 2001, terrorists hijacked commercial airliners
and attacked the World Trade Center in New York and the Pentagon in
Washington, D.C. (See September 11, 2001, Terrorist Attacks). With
Congress uniting behind him, Bush announced a war on terrorism. In
October, the United States led an invasion into Afghanistan (see
Afghanistan Conflict), where al-Qaeda, the terrorist group responsible
for the attack, was headquartered.

The Bush administration set up a new department, the Homeland
Security Department, to consolidate the different government agencies
that protect the nation from terrorist attacks and other disasters. Bush
aides put together the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001, which gave law en-
forcement agents more power but caused controversy by treading upon
civil rights.
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Going on the offensive

Not long after invading Afghanistan, Bush announced that Iraq, North
Korea, and Iran were “axes of evil,” saying that they were illegally build-
ing up weapons of mass destruction (weapons capable of causing mas-
sive numbers of deaths, injuries, or destruction that fall into one of three
categories: biological, chemical, and nuclear or radiological weapons)
and that the United States would not allow them to do so. He stepped
up his case against Iraq’s president, Saddam Hussein (1937-2006),
claiming that Iraq continued to build weapons of mass destruction even
after the United Nations (UN) had concluded otherwise. The Bush ad-
ministration also claimed that Iraq had links to al-Qaeda, and the ad-
ministration asked the UN for a mandate to strike. The UN voted not
to participate in an attack.

Proceeding without the United Nations, the Bush administration
put together a coalition of forces dominated by American and British
troops, with support from Australia, Denmark, and Poland, and drew up
plans to invade Iraq. Worldwide opposition to an Iraq invasion was
demonstrated on February 15, 2003, when protests drew between six
and ten million people in hundreds of cities around the world.
Nonetheless, the U.S. military assembled 125,000 troops in Kuwait; the
United Kingdom assembled another 45,000. The coalition gave Hussein
forty-eight hours to comply with requests for inspection and then at-
tacked, starting the Iraq War. Investigations in Iraq after the war had
started revealed no significant weapons of mass destruction; the link be-
tween Iraq and al-Qaeda was disproved. The initial attack overthrew
Hussein, who was later hanged, but the war continued, fueled by Iraqi
insurgents (rebels) who resented the American occupation of Iraq and by
a growing civil war among Iraqi factions.

Although Bush tried to accomplish other things in his presidency,
the ongoing Iraq War dominated his tenure in office nearly completely.
During his first term in office, Bush was able to sustain popular support
for his mission, and he was reelected to a second term. Soon after his re-
election, however, his popularity began to plunge as the war dragged on.
Then, on August 29, 2005, Hurricane Katrina, one of the most disas-
trous storms in U.S. history, struck the Gulf Coast, wreaking havoc in
Mississippi and Louisiana. In New Orleans, the levees that protect the
city from flooding broke down, causing 80 percent of the city to flood.
For days, thousands of New Orleans citizens were stranded. Critics
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claimed that the Bush administration, and particularly the Federal
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), did not seem to grasp the
severity of the situation in the city. Their delays in getting help to New
Orleans caused chaos and suffering, which was meanwhile being viewed
on nationwide television. For an administration that had prided itself on
security and being ready for disaster, its handling of the rescue of New
Orleans in the aftermath of Katrina was viewed as a black mark.

In the 2006 congressional elections, the Democrats won a majority
in both the House and the Senate for the first time in more than a
decade. The growing ranks of critics of the president accused him and his
top aides of having manufactured evidence of weapons of mass destruc-
tion and al-Qaeda links to win support for the Iraq invasion. Critics also
held that the administration had given too little thought to the political
situation in Iraq and the Middle East and thus provided too few troops
to handle the insurgency that followed the invasion. Even some
Republicans broke rank, calling the administration’s handling of the war
incompetent. Bush’s approval ratings in national polls slipped below 50
percent in January 2005 and continued to plunge, with a disapproval
rating hanging in the mid-60s in 2007.

Busing for School Desegregation

In the 1954 landmark case Brown v. Board of Education, the Supreme
Court ruled that segregated public schools (schools that separate black
and white students) violated the constitutional right of equal protection
for all citizens. A year after the Brown ruling, the Court convened again
to determine how to desegregate, or end school segregation. (See also
Desegregation of Public Schools.) The Court stated that desegregation
should proceed with “all deliberate speed.” Federal district judges were
instructed to examine school systems on a city-by-city basis to create
plans to correct illegal segregation. Since this guidance was vague, many
school systems remained segregated for years.

In the 1960s, civil rights lawyers from the National Association for
the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP) filed lawsuits on behalf
of black parents and children requesting the courts to require desegrega-
tion plans for individual cities. In a 1969 decision, Alexander v. Holmes
County Board of Education, the Supreme Court indicated that it would
no longer tolerate delays in school desegregation. But exactly how to de-
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segregate schools remained a question until the Supreme Court ruled on
the Swann v. Charlotte-Mecklenburg Board of Education case in 1971.

Swann v. Charlotte-Mecklenburg

The Charlotte-Mecklenburg school district included the city of
Charlotte, North Carolina, and rural Mecklenburg County. Twenty-
nine percent of the district’s school-age children were black, most of
them concentrated in one area of Charlotte. Schools in the district were
essentially either all-white or all-black, and the all-black schools were
more poorly equipped than the all-white schools. In 1965, NAACP at-
torney Julius LeVonne Chambers (1936-) initiated a lawsuit to end
racial segregation in the Charlotte public schools. The first ruling in
Swann v. Charlotte-Mecklenburg made only vague requirements for
change. Initially, the school district adopted a plan that supposedly per-
mitted students to transfer between schools if there were open places
available. After these changes, though, only 490 of the 20,000 black stu-
dents in the district attended schools that contained any white students,
and most of these students were in one school that had only seven white
students. The few black students who attempted to attend all-white
schools were often attacked by mobs of angry whites.

Chambers filed another legal action in 1969. Federal District Judge
James B. McMillan (1916-1995) found that the Charlotte schools were
still illegally segregated. With the assistance of education consultants,
McMillan developed and imposed a desegregation plan in the public
schools that involved transporting white children to previously all-black
schools and black children to previously all-white schools to achieve de-
segregation. By mixing black children and white children in every school
building, the school officials would no longer be able to provide ade-
quate educational resources only for white students. Since blacks tended
to live in one area of the city, this required transporting the children.

Many white residents did not want their children to attend schools
with black children. Judge McMillan received threatening telephone
calls and was ostracized (excluded from social events) by the community.
Chambers was directly attacked. Firebombs and dynamite damaged his
office, car, and home. The school board still wanted to avoid desegrega-
tion and appealed to the Supreme Court to overturn Judge McMillan’s
busing plan.
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Many people expected at least some of the Supreme Court justices
to rule against busing as a tool for desegregating schools. President
Richard Nixon (1913-1994; served 1969-74) had campaigned against
the forced busing of school children. Nixon’s two appointees to the
Supreme Court, Chief Justice Warren Burger (1907-1995) and
Associate Justice Harry Blackmun (1908-1999), were presumed to agree
with the president’s view. Nonetheless, after much debate, on April 20,
1971, the Court ruled unanimously that judges could order school dis-
tricts to use busing as a means to desegregate schools.

Busing plans nationwide

The use of busing spread as federal judges began to hear more lawsuits
challenging discriminatory conditions in school systems. For once, de-
segregation plans were not limited to the South. In a 1973 case, the city
of Denver, Colorado, was ordered to create a busing plan.

In 1974, a federal court ordered the schools in Boston,
Massachusetts, to desegregate through an aggressive busing program.
Boston’s neighborhoods had long been divided by nationality and race.
The court-ordered busing unleashed a storm of protest, frequent rioting,
and even attacks on students. Residents of white neighborhoods threw
rocks and bottles at buses and attacked black passersby. Violence be-
tween black and white students led to the presence of police on school
grounds during much of the controversy. The violent conflict over bus-
ing in Boston lasted for years.

Eventually, most schools adjusted to busing, and desegregation be-
came an accepted aspect of life in many public schools. In smaller cities,
busing programs gave black students the opportunity to receive educa-
tional benefits that had previously been denied to them. Public opinion
research indicated that, especially in southern states, the implementation
of desegregation orders was accompanied by an increase in racial toler-

ance.

Milliken v. Bradley

In many large metropolitan (city) areas, however, schools failed to be-
come racially mixed. Due to desegregation and busing requirements in
the cities, many whites moved to the suburbs. As middle-class residents
and businesses fled the cities, many cities were growing poor. Central city
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schools that often served poor minority students had significantly fewer
resources than neighboring suburban schools for maintaining buildings
and providing high-quality educational programs. To desegregate
schools, the federal courts would have had to mix city school districts
with neighboring suburban school districts.

After Swann, President Nixon had appointed four justices to the
Supreme Court. In 1974, the Court issued a divided five-to-four deci-
sion in Milliken v. Bradley that prevented busing plans from crossing
school district boundaries. Thus, in many large cities, segregation, and
inferior education for black students, continued.
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John C. Calhoun

John C. Calhoun was the first to develop the concepts of states™ rights
and Southern secession from the Union in the decades leading up to the
American Civil War (1861-65). He was convinced that the only way to
preserve the South’s institution of slavery lay in separation of the slave
states from the free (non-slave) states.

Early years
Calhoun was born on March 18, 1782, in rural South Carolina. His

Scotch-Irish family was relatively wealthy and owned twenty or more
slaves. His father was a judge and served in the state legislature. Calhoun
graduated from Yale in 1804. He then studied law and established a law
practice near his family home. In 1811, he married a distant cousin, and
the marriage brought him a modest fortune. In 1825, he established a
plantation in South Carolina.

Calhoun was a handsome young man with a commanding presence.
He had little humor and no cultural interests, and he concerned himself
almost completely with ideas, politics, and business. He was considered
a great thinker.

War hawk

Calhoun’s political career began in 1807 with a speech he delivered de-
nouncing Britain for violating American rights at sea. He was elected to
the South Carolina legislature in 1808 and two years later won election
to the U.S. House of Representatives. In Congress, he became one of the

221



John C. Calhoun

John C. Calhoun fought for a
way to preserve the Southern
states’ institution of slavery.
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“war hawks,” a group of congressmen led by
U.S. representative Henry Clay (1777-1852) of
Kentucky, who strongly and impatiently urged
war with England. Calhoun became chairman
of the Foreign Affairs Committee, where he
played a major role in moving the country into
the War of 1812 (1812-14) against Great
Britain.

After the war, Calhoun pushed for a
stronger military establishment. He advocated
measures that he himself would later denounce
as unconstitutional, such as federal encourage-
ment of manufacturing interests by means of a
protective tariff (a duty, or tax, paid on imports),
and federally funded internal improvements like
roads and canals.

Calhoun held top positions through several
presidential administrations. He was secretary of
war under James Monroe (1758-1831; served

1817-25), and he served as vice president under both John Quincy
Adams (1767-1848; served 1825-29) and Andrew Jackson
(1767-1845; served 1829-37). He had expectations of becoming presi-
dent, but he fell out of favor because of his involvement in the nullifi-
cation controversy.

Nullification theory

Just before Jackson was elected president, Congress passed an extremely
high protective tariff, taxing goods coming into the United States from
other countries. This tariff raised the prices of imported goods, making
them less competitive against goods produced within the country. The
Tariff of 1828 (also known as the Tariff of Abominations) protected only
those goods manufactured in the industrial North. The South had no
such protections for its agricultural products. Europeans, resenting the
tariffs on their products in the United States, were far less likely to buy
any American products.

Most Southerners hated the tariff, but the cotton planters of South
Carolina were especially angry. South Carolina was already facing eco-
nomic disaster as its soil became depleted (its nutrients reduced or used
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up) by the overplanting of cotton. The proposed tariff would only fur-
ther damage the frail economy.

Calhoun turned to the Constitution to find a way for his state to
avoid the tariff. In 1829, he secretly wrote and distributed copies of The
South Carolina Exposition and Protest, a pamphlet with an unusual inter-
pretation of the Constitution. Calhoun argued that the Union (the
United States) had not been formed directly by the people of the United
States; rather, it had been formed through the individual states, of which
the people were citizens. According to Calhoun, it was the states, and not
the federal government, that were supreme in power. Thus, when a state
objected to a law passed by a majority in the federal government, that
state had the right to nullify the law (block its enforcement) within its
borders until three-quarters of the other states overruled its decision. At
the time it was overruled, the state could choose to yield to the will of
the other states, or to secede (withdraw) entirely from the Union.
President Jackson, who believed in preserving the Union at all costs, was
furious when he learned that Calhoun, his vice president, was the author
of this doctrine.

Jackson threatened military force to collect the duties in South
Carolina. In December 1832, Calhoun resigned from the vice presidency
after being elected by South Carolina to the U.S. Senate to defend its
cause. Clay brought forth a compromise, which Calhoun supported, to
lower the tariff gradually over a decade. The crisis subsided for a time.

A sectional position
Calhoun was outspoken in his support of slavery in the South. In the
Senate in the 1830s, Calhoun attacked the abolitionists (people who
wish to eliminate slavery altogether), demanding that their publications
be excluded from the mails and their petitions not be received by
Congress, and finally urging a prohibition on all protests against slavery.
By 1837, he was defending slavery as “a positive good” and had become
an advocate for the suppression of open discussion and a free press.
Calhoun began to write his political theory in the middle 1840s.
These political writings were published after his death. In them he in-
sisted that the Constitution should be based on the principle that people
are not equally entitled to liberty. He argued against government by the
will of the majority, which he believed would necessarily take away the
rights of minorities (such as Southern slave owners). He proposed to give
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the minority groups a veto power over federal legislation. He also pro-
posed having two executives, or presidents, for the Union, each to be
chosen by one of the great sections of the country, with the agreement of
both necessary for federal action.

Calhoun’s shift to a sectional position (one concerned with a partic-
ular region and its interests) had virtually destroyed his chances for the
presidency, but he continued to aspire to that office. He declared his can-
didacy in 1843 but withdrew to accept appointment as secretary of state
for the last year in office of President John Tyler (1790-1862; served
1841-45). In that position, Calhoun championed the annexation of
Texas as a slave state. He negotiated a treaty of annexation, but it did not
pass in Congress.

For the rest of his life, Calhoun fought federal acts that in any way
encroached on the South’s right to choose its own institutions.
Determined to see the Southern way of life preserved, he must have fore-
seen the trouble ahead. As he lay dying in 1850, his last words were,
“The South! The poor South!”

California

California entered the Union as the thirty-first state on September 9,
1850. Located on the Pacific coast, California is neighbor to Oregon to
the north, Nevada and Arizona to the east, and Mexico to the south.
The state capital is Sacramento, in the north-central region. California
obtained statehood at the conclusion of the Mexican-American War
(1846-48), near the height of the California gold rush, and on the
verge of the American Civil War (1861-65).

The region that became California was populated by migrants from
Asia who crossed an ice bridge to North America during the last Ice Age,
probably around fifteen thousand years ago or earlier. By the time
Europeans began to explore the region, there were several Native
American tribes living in the area.

Spaniards who had conquered the Aztecs in what is now Mexico ex-
plored southern California in the sixteenth century. Ocean travel up the
West Coast was difficult because of wind and currents, so the area went
mostly unsettled by Europeans until the eighteenth century.

In the late eighteenth century, as Russians explored California, Spain
decided to strengthen its control of the area by establishing missions
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among the Native Americans. (See Spanish Missions.) The first of the
missions, or stations from which missionaries could spread Christianity,
was established in 1769 in San Diego. However, the missionaries had lit-
tle success. Disease carried by Europeans greatly reduced the Native
American population.

The Mexican period and war

Mexico won independence from Spain in 1821. The mission system col-
lapsed, and political control of the area of California became chaotic. In
1833, the Mexican government took land from the missions and gave it
to political favorites for settlement. The new settlers established

rancheros, ranches for cattle-raising and agriculture.

During California’s Mexican period, increasing numbers of trappers,
traders, and other settlers migrated to the area from the United States.
The U.S. government tried, unsuccessfully, to negotiate with Mexico for
the purchase of California. In 1846, the same year that the Pacific
Northwest became part of the United States, settlers seized the Mexican
garrison (military post) in Sonoma and declared California an independ-
ent republic. In May 1846, the United States went to war with Mexico.

Fighting in California during the Mexican-American War was slight.
Californians surrendered to American explorer and militia leader John
Charles Frémont (1813-1890) in January 1847. The United States won
the war the following year, and Mexico ceded California to America on
February 2, 1848, under the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo. The United
States agreed to pay Mexico over $18 million.

Statehood

Days before the signing of the treaty, gold was discovered at Sutter’s Mill,
a sawmill on the south fork of the American River in north-central
California. The gold rush that followed brought the population of
California to over sixty thousand, which was the number necessary for a
territory to become a state. At that time, Congress was debating whether
to allow slavery in new territories, so it failed to establish an official gov-
ernment for California.

Californians took matters into their own hands. Forty-eight dele-
gates attended a constitutional convention in Monterey, California, in
September 1849. The constitution they wrote outlawed slavery in
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California, mostly to prevent slaves from being used in gold mining in-
stead of free men. The voters of California ratified, or approved, the con-
stitution in November.

California petitioned Congress to become a state. Southern states
objected to admitting California as a free state rather than a slave state.
They relented, however, under the Compromise of 1850. The compro-
mise, which set out several new laws regarding slavery and new U.S. ter-
ritories, cleared the way for Congress to admit California as the
thirty-first state. President Millard Fillmore (1800-1874; served
1850-53) signed the admission law on September 9, 1850.

Twentieth century

California’s population became increasingly urban in the early twentieth
century. In April 1906, a major earthquake struck San Francisco, engulf-
ing the city in flames for three days. Hundreds of people perished in the
disaster, and around twenty-eight thousand buildings were destroyed.
Within three years, twenty thousand new buildings had been erected,
and the city was reviving.

California experienced an influx of migrants from the Dust Bowl of
the Great Plains throughout the 1930s. Drought and devastating wind
storms left thousands of people homeless and out of work. They mi-
grated to California in hopes of finding a better life.

Millions arrived in California during World War II (1939-45).
Expansion of military installations, shipyards, and aircraft plants created
new jobs and attracted both whites and ethnic minorities. By 1942, Los
Angeles had the second-highest Mexican population after Mexico City.
Not all minorities were welcome, however. Because America was at war
with Japan, the federal government suspected the loyalties of people of
Japanese descent. Under the executive order of President Franklin D.
Roosevelt (1882-1945; served 1933-45), ninety-three thousand
Japanese American citizens were forced into internment camps until the
end of the war. (See Japanese Internment Camps.)

California’s major cities have captured the national imagination—
Los Angeles primarily for the movie and television industry, San
Francisco for its dramatic beauty and vibrant history as well as its earth-
quakes. Both cities have at times also struggled with a reputation for vi-
olence and social unrest. In the 1960s, San Francisco became known as
a haven for hippies and the scene of the drug culture. In the 1990s, Los
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Angeles made the news for cases of police brutality and corruption as
well as street riots. Most notable were the Los Angeles riots of 1992,
which resulted after African American motorist Rodney King (1965-)
was shown on video being beaten by police officers. When they were ac-
quitted of the charge of using unnecessary force, riots broke out. In the
twenty-first century, California fulfilled its image as home to the stars
when citizens elected former Hollywood actor Arnold Schwarzenegger
(1947-) as governor in 2003 and again in 2006.

The state’s population in 2006 was just over 36.4 million, with 60.9
percent whites, 35.5 percent Latino or Hispanic, and 12.4 percent Asian.
Los Angeles was the largest city with nearly 4.0 million residents. San

Diego came in second with nearly 1.3 million.

Because the state has a diversified economy, it has been able to re-
main more stable than others in time of recession. It is the leading indus-
trial state and ranks first in nearly every general manufacturing category.
The motion-picture industry provides hundreds of thousands of jobs.
Agriculture is important to California, which grows about 55 percent of
all fruits and vegetables marketed to the United States.

Tourism is another major source of employment. Each year, millions
of people from across the world visit the state. Main attractions include
San Franciscos Golden Gate Bridge, Chinatown, and Fisherman’s
Wharf; Disneyland, in Anaheim; the Big Sur coastal region; the state’s
twenty-one national parks, including Redwood, Yosemite, and Sequoia;
and of course Hollywood.

California Gold Rush

On January 24, 1848, a carpenter named James Marshall (1810-1885)
was working on a sawmill on the American River in northern California
when he saw a gleam of gold in the river. After his discovery, rumors of
gold began to circulate around the country. Later that year, President
James K. Polk (1795-1849; served 1845-49) notified Congress of the
discovery of gold in California, and gold fever broke out in the nation.
Driven by dreams of wealth, thousands made the long journey to
California, joining in the greatest mass migration in American history. In
the following years, a fortune in gold was mined, and the West Coast was
transformed.
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Mining towns and small camps sprang up all over California during the gold rush. Miners merely needed a pick, a shovel, and a
pan to try and find gold. THE LIBRARY OF CONGRESS
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Getting there

Once they had decided to go west, many Americans living on the east-
ern seacoast traveled to California by sea. Within a month following the
president’s message to Congress, sixty-one ships left the Atlantic seaports
for the six-month voyage around Cape Horn at the southern tip of South
America, arriving at their California destination in the summer of 1849.
Other easterners tried to take a shortcut by taking a steamship to Panama
and then crossing the Isthmus of Panama, the narrow strip of land that
lies between the Caribbean Sea and the Pacific Ocean, linking Central
and South America. They then boarded another ship on the Pacific side
of Panama, bound for California. This was a rough route with a great
risk of infectious disease, but it became overcrowded with gold seekers
nonetheless.

The largest number of gold seekers went to California over land. The
most popular route was the Oregon Trail. With so much traffic along
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the trails, however, the grass supply needed for animals was soon ex-
hausted, and water holes along the trail became infected with disease.
Most immigrants knew nothing about traveling along plains or over
mountains. Guides were scarce, and many guidebooks and newspaper
accounts were misleading. The trails were marked by the graves of those
who had succumbed to infectious diseases such as cholera, dysentery, or
mountain fever.

A new California

At that time, California was a sparsely populated territory that had only
recently been ceded to the United States by Mexico in 1848. The popu-
lation of the future state hovered at thirteen thousand, about half of
whom were Californios, people of Spanish or Mexican descent. A flood
of about eighty thousand gold seekers arrived in 1849, and the popula-
tion swelled to three hundred thousand by 1854. The immigrants were
mostly young and male. Because of the vast wealth that could be made,
the gold rush attracted people from all social classes. Both professional
men and unskilled laborers could be found in the gold fields, working
side by side.

California’s sleepy villages and muddy camps grew into cities in
record time. At the beginning of 1849, San Francisco had a population
of eight hundred. By 1850, its population had reached twenty thousand,
and ten years later it was fifty thousand. Other towns, like Marysville,
Sacramento, and Stockton, also expanded, becoming supply centers for
the miners. Hundreds of mining camps sprang up near the diggings with
picturesque names, such as Poker Flat, Hangtown, Red Dog, Hell’s
Delight, and Whiskey Bar, expressing the sentiments of a predominantly
male society. The large influx of people accelerated California’s move to
statehood in 1850.

Getting rich

For those who made it to the mining areas of northern California in the
early days of the gold rush, all that was needed was a pick, pan, and
shovel. Gold was not hard to find. Deposited in streambeds, it could be
harvested simply by poking around with a knife and digging it out with
a spoon. Water could also be used to mine for gold. Flowing through a
tin pan, the water would carry off the lighter particles of dirt and leave
the heavier gold behind. A miner could earn $16 a day by panning an
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ounce of gold; in comparison, at that time farm hands earned about $1
for a twelve-hour day. People frequently earned the same amount in two
weeks in the gold fields that they would have earned in a full year at
home. From 1849 to 1855, an estimated $300 million worth of gold was
taken from the California gold fields.

The sudden wealth of the miners made prices soar. One miner told
of paying $43 for an ordinary breakfast at a boarding house near the
mines. The cost for the same breakfast before the gold rush was 25 cents.
Fortunately, there was very little for the miners to buy in the makeshift
mining towns. The men wore shabby clothing that was often patched,
lived in tents or lean-tos, and ate drab food. Since at first there were no
banks, miners usually kept their money in their pockets or at their camp-
site. The early miners had a reputation for honesty and generosity.

The new wealth attracted many people who hoped to profit indi-
rectly. Dentists, doctors, lawyers, builders, road workers, launderers,
cooks, and boardinghouse operators could charge extremely high prices
and make far more money at the time in California than anywhere else
in the country.

Disappointment

The gold rush was not a dream come true for everyone, though. As eco-
nomic pressures mounted, prejudice against racial and national minori-
ties increased. Anglo-Saxons from New England, the South, the
Missouri frontier, and elsewhere discriminated against Peruvians,
Mexicans, and Chinese. In 1852, the new state of California passed the
Foreign Miner’s Act, which required very high fees of Chinese miners,

making it nearly impossible for them to make a living at the mines.

A few years after the initial strike, the gold that was easy to find had
already been mined. It became more difficult for a miner to realize
dreams of wealth. Large companies began to dominate the gold-mining
industry, and they hired miners for wages. By 1854, miners who could
obtain jobs were averaging only $75 a month. Many miners left in bit-
ter disappointment.

The gold strike greatly enriched the United States and transformed
California from a wild frontier territory to a wealthy, well-populated
state. The new city of San Francisco boasted a thriving arts and letters

scene, with important newspapers in many languages, a host of literary

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History



figures, and many painters and other artists. What had once seemed like
the edge of the world was suddenly a vibrant part of the United States.

The Call of the Wild

Jack London (1876-1916) was an adventure writer whose stories earned
him a reputation as a powerful storyteller. During his career, he was the
nation’s most commercially successful writer. His stories often featured
canines, both tame and wild, and the most popular tales were set in the
wilderness of Alaska or the Klondike region of Canada. Without excep-
tion, all of London’s stories included grand adventure and the common
theme of survival in nature.

His 1903 novel, The Call of the Wild, is arguably London’s most
well-known tale and is considered a classic in the canon of American lit-
erature. It is unique in that it is told from the perspective of a dog.

The Call of the Wild

Jack London’s classic novel Call of the Wild tells the story of a kidnapped dog forced into the life of a sled dog—all told from the

dog’s perspective.
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Plot

The plot revolves around a 140-pound dog named Buck, who is half St.
Bernard and half sheepdog. Buck enjoys a comfortable life in California.
When gold is discovered in the Klondike region of Canada, there is an
immediate need for sled dogs. Buck is kidnapped and sold to dog
traders, who “train” him by beating him with clubs. He is shipped to the
Klondike and must adapt to the difficult life of a sled dog. In doing so,

he relearns the instincts of his wild ancestors.

Buck experiences an intense and violent rivalry with Spitz, the lead
dog on the sled team. He eventually kills Spitz and takes over as lead dog.
He and his team are eventually sold to another group of men who are in-
experienced in the wilderness. This inexperience leads to tragedy as the
dogs begin to starve and die. By the time they reach the gold mining
camp, just five of the original fourteen dogs are alive. When both the
men and the dog team fall through the ice to their deaths, Buck escapes
and finds a new master.

Buck has total devotion to this kind master, but more and more he
finds himself drawn further to the wild. When his master is murdered by
Yeehat Indians, Buck attacks and kills several of them. In the aftermath,
he heads into the wild, where he becomes leader of a wolf pack.

Themes

The struggle for survival is a clear theme in The Call of the Wild, but
London expounded upon it to go beyond struggle to mastery. This
theme is most evident in the relationship conflict between Buck and
Spitz, for it is when Buck kills his rival that he completely turns his back
on his once-comfortable life and establishes himself as the master of the

wild. The end of the death scene is described:

A pause seemed to fall. Every animal was motionless as though turned
to stone. Only Spitz quivered and bristled as he staggered back and
forth, snarling with horrible menace, as though to frighten off im-
pending death. Then Buck sprang in and out; but while he was in,
shoulder had at last squarely met shoulder. The dark circle became a
dot on the moon-flooded snow as Spitz disappeared from view. Buck
stood and looked on, the successful champion, the dominant primor-

dial beast who had made his kill and found it good.
Another theme of the novel is the power of primitive instincts.
London makes it clear that Buck not only must learn to adapt to the
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frozen wilderness, but that he recovers memories passed down from his
wild ancestors. As dogs (and humans, since dogs are the main characters
in this story) become civilized, they bury their instincts. London wrote,
“He was older than the days he had seen and the breaths he had drawn.
He linked the past with the present, and the eternity behind him
throbbed through him in a mighty rhythm to which he swayed as the
tides and seasons swayed.”

The importance of individualism is another main theme in London’s
novel. Although the dogs in the pack depend upon one another for sur-
vival and the ability to work as a team, there is no denying that individ-
ualism is a highly valued trait in the wilderness. London gives his readers
this message by making the important step of mastery possible only by
having him cut loose from the pack and strike out on his own. Even the
love and devotion of a caring master is not enough to satisfy Buck; he

eventually strikes out on his own.

Impact
Because The Call of the Wild features dogs as the main characters, it is

sometimes classified as juvenile fiction. But its complex and interwoven
themes go beyond those commonly found in young adult novels, and al-
though the plot revolves around dogs, the story is not abour dogs, but
about survival and mastery, heritage and individualism.

London’s novel was an immediate success when published in 1903.
The late 1800s had seen a major gold rush in the Klondike region, and
the prospect of getting rich quick appealed to many Americans willing
to take the risks on an adventure to the north and west. The California
gold rush had taken place in 1848, but the challenges of finding gold
were nothing compared to those associated with the frozen wilderness.
This air of excitement loaned itself well to London’s tale; readers were

eager for stories such as his.

Another reason for the novel’s success is that it was written in such a
way so as to appeal to a wide reading audience. The interest of the story
spans all age groups and social classes, and taken as a whole text, it con-
tains universal messages about struggling and overcoming obstacles.
These are themes that apply to every life, in every culture throughout
history. In addition, London wrote it with a deep respect and reverence
for the natural world, and his vivid descriptions reflect this. For these
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reasons, 1he Call of the Wild remains one of the most widely read books
in the world, even more than one hundred years after its publication.

Camp David Accords

The Camp David Accords were historic agreements for peace in the
Middle East that were developed with the help of U.S. president Jimmy
Carter (1924—; served 1977-81). At his Maryland presidential retreat,
Carter met with Menachem Begin (1913-1992), prime minister of
Israel, and Anwar El-Sadat (1918-1981), president of the Arab Republic
of Egypt, over a twelve-day period in 1978. The announcement of the
Camp David Accords marked a major breakthrough in bringing peace to
the troubled region.

An issue of land

For hundreds of years, the Middle East (regions in Southwest Asia and
parts of North Africa) has been the site of conflict that is at once politi-
cal, cultural, and religious in nature. The battles have been numerous
and bloody. In particular, the conflict over a region called Palestine
emerged as the most serious issue for the area in the twentieth century.
Palestine is made up of parts of modern-day Israel, territories of the Gaza
Strip (along the Mediterranean Sea), and the West Bank (area west of the
Jordan River).

In 1947, the United Nations voted to partition (divide) Palestine.
There was to be a Jewish state, an Arab state, and an independent
Jerusalem state. The Arabs did not approve of this plan. When the Jews
claimed Israel as an independent state, the Arabs refused to recognize it
because 75 percent of former Palestine was within its borders. The Arabs
also refused to create their own separate state. War broke out with Egypt,
Syria, Lebanon, Iraq, and Transjordan (now known as Jordan) leading
the attack on Israel. By the end of the war, two-thirds of the Arab pop-
ulation in Palestine had lost their homes and were expected to assimilate
(adapt and blend) into surrounding cultures. The Arab-Israeli conflict

had begun.

Diplomacy at work

When Jimmy Carter took office in 1977, one of his goals was to resolve
the conflict in the Middle East. He met with Begin and Sadat September
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5-17, 1978, at Camp David. Carter’s determination not to leave until
some sort of peace had been reached fueled the negotiations and kept the
warring countries’ leaders from leaving the talks when the situation got

tense.

The first accord is called “A Framework for Peace in the Middle
East.” The second is titled “A Framework for the Conclusion of a Peace
Treaty Between Egypt and Israel,” and it led to the formal Egypt-Israeli
Peace Treaty signed in March 1979. The agreements outlined how rela-
tions between the two countries would proceed in terms of political in-
dependence. They also call for billions of dollars of assistance given
annually from the United States to both Israel and Egypt. This subsidy
is still being provided in the twenty-first century.

The Camp David Accords did not solve all the problems of the
Middle East. As a direct result of his willingness to negotiate, Sadat was
assassinated in 1981 by a radical group of Arabs. But while many
Egyptians were unhappy with the accords, they could not deny the many
economic and political advantages the agreements provided. The world’s
perception of Egypt changed markedly as a result of the Camp David
Accords.

Al Capone

Al Capone became famous in the 1920s as one of the most notorious
criminals in American history. He considered himself a businessman, but
his business was organized crime. Even in the twenty-first century,
Capone remains a symbol of the Roaring Twenties.

Capone was born on January 7, 1899, the fourth of nine children of
Italian immigrants. His father was a barber and his mother a seamstress.
Capone grew up in a rough neighborhood in Brooklyn, New York,
where he learned at an early age how to survive street life. As a teen, he
joined several youth gangs.

Capone dropped out of school at the age of fourteen after getting
into a fight with a teacher. He joined the Five Point Juniors, a younger
branch of a criminal organization called the Five Point Gang. Capone
learned racketeering (illegal business transactions) through his gang affil-
iation. During this time, he also held legitimate jobs.
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Earns his nickname

At one point, young Capone worked as a bartender, where he made the
mistake of insulting a female patron. The woman’s brother defended his
sister’s honor by slashing Capone’s face three times with a knife. Capone’s
facial scars never disappeared, and they earned him the nickname
“Scarface.”

While still a teen, Capone met Mae Coughlin, a department store
clerk two years his senior. Coughlin and Capone married in December
1919 just after Mae gave birth to Albert Francis “Sonny” Capone. Sonny
was their only child.

In 1921, Capone received an invitation from a gangster he knew
from his Five Point Gang days to move to Chicago, Illinois, and join the
operation of James Colosimo (1877-1920). Capone moved his family to
the city just as Prohibition (the constitutional ban on the manufacture
and sale of alcoholic beverages that was intended to improve society) was
beginning. Despite the new law, people still wanted to drink alcohol.
Gangsters (the popular term for members of organized crime) knew this
and realized they could make a great deal of money by providing the il-
legal beverages. The sale and distribution of illegal liquor, known as
bootlegging, quickly became a focus of organized crime, alongside gam-
bling and prostitution.

Becomes a household name

Soon after his arrival in Chicago, Capone became second in command
of organized criminal activity on the south side of the city. His boss,
Johnny Torrio (1882-1957), was the man who had apprenticed him in
his early gang days and summoned him to Chicago. Torrio recognized in
Capone a shrewd businessman who did not act without careful consid-
eration.

Capone and Torrio formed relationships—not all good—with other
criminal organizations across the country. Their main enemy was George
“Bugs” Moran (1903-1959), who ran crime on the north side of
Chicago. Moran’s gang tried to kill Capone and Torrio in January 1925.
Capone and Torrio survived the attempt, but Torrio was seriously
wounded and retired to Italy, leaving Capone in charge.

Capone’s empire included speakeasies (places where illegal liquor
was sold and consumed), gambling establishments, prostitution rings,
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nightclubs, racetracks, and liquor distilleries. He earned as much as
$100,000 a year and protected his businesses by paying police officers
and political leaders on the side. With these powerful authority figures
accepting his bribes, Capone made Chicago nearly lawless. It was a city

of intense violence and corruption.

Everyone knew who Capone was. With a penchant for flashy suits
and jewelry, he made quite a spectacle wherever he went. He was not all
bad, as he used his wealth to help the needy. Capone opened one of the
city’s first soup kitchens during the Great Depression (1929-41).

Shocks the nation

As the 1920s progressed, the level of organized crime violence escalated.
This increase in crime only served to make the public outcry against
Prohibition even louder. On February 14, 1929, an event of catastrophic

violence occurred that shocked the nation.

Capone’s feud with Moran was well-known. A recent attempt on the
part of Moran to kill a close associate of Capone’s led Capone to seek re-
venge. Moran’s gang used a garage as a drop-off site for shipments of il-
legal liquor. Seven members of that gang were at the garage on February
14, 1929, when a group ambushed them. The men were dressed as po-
lice officers, so Moran’s men assumed this was a raid on their bootlegging
operation and turned to face the wall with their hands in the air. The
uniformed men were Capone’s gang dressed in stolen outfits. They shot
the men facing the wall as well as more members of the gang who burst
in. Moran’s men were gunned down with nearly two hundred bullets.
Although Capone was in Florida at the time, he was widely credited with
what came to be called the St. Valentine’s Day Massacre. Capone was
never prosecuted.

President Herbert Hoover (1874—-1964; served 1929-33) re-
sponded to the St. Valentine’s Day Massacre by cracking down on organ-
ized crime, and on Capone in particular. The mob boss was imprisoned
for a year, and when released, faced even greater pressure to cut back on
his illegal pursuits. The Justice Department set up a squad of special
agents headed by Eliot Ness (1902-1957). Ness and his nine men be-
came known as the Untouchables, and they worked around the clock to
fight organized crime, especially bootlegging, police corruption, and

racketeering.
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Ness and his men finally brought Capone down, but not for murder
or racketeering. The gangster was sent to prison in 1931 for failing to
pay his income taxes. He owed the government more than $200,000.
During his trial, Capone attempted to bribe the jury into finding him
innocent. At the last minute, however, the judge switched jury members,
and Capone was convicted on four counts of tax evasion, a charge that
landed him in jail for eleven years.

During his imprisonment, Capone lost his influence as a mob boss.
He spent his last years in jail ill, as the syphilis (a sexually transmitted dis-
ease) he had contracted as a teen came back in its final form. Capone suf-
fered brain damage and spent his final years living quietly in Florida. He
died in 1947 at the age of forty-eight.

Stokely Carmichael

Gifted, handsome, and well-spoken, Stokely Carmichael rose to fame as
the chair of the major civil rights group, the Student Nonviolent
Coordinating Committee (SNCC, called “Snick”). In contrast to civil
rights leader Martin Luther King Jr. (1929-1968) and his nonviolent
approach, Carmichael became known for his use of the slogan “black
power,” which advocated a militant, or aggressive, struggle for liberation
from white oppressors. (See Black Power Movement.) Carmichael’s
quest for black empowerment also included self-reliance among African
Americans; pride in African American identity and culture; and a sepa-
ration from white culture.

Teenage civil rights activist

Carmichael was born on June 29, 1941, in Trinidad. He joined his par-
ents in the United States when he was eleven, living in the Harlem area
of New York City. His status as a foreigner and his self-described “hip”
demeanor made him popular among his white schoolmates. Carmichael
was a bright student. When his family moved to the Bronx, he was ad-
mitted to the Bronx High School of Science, a school for gifted youths.

While Carmichael was in high school, the African American civil
rights movement was gaining momentum. During Carmichael’s senior
year, four African American college students staged a sit-in at the whites-
only lunch counter at a Woolworth’s store in Greensboro, North
Carolina. (See Sit-in Movement.) Carmichael joined a national boycott
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of Woolworth’s stores hoping to pressure Woolworth’s owners to deseg-
regate all of its stores’ facilities throughout the country. He then traveled
to Virginia and South Carolina to join antidiscrimination sit-ins.

Joins SNCC

Because of his growing sensitivity to the plight of blacks in the United
States, Carmichael refused offers to attend white colleges and decided to
study at the historically black Howard University in Washington, D.C.,
where he majored in philosophy. While he was in college, he joined a
local organization called the Nonviolent Action Group, or “NAG,”
which was affiliated with the Atlanta-based SNCC. In 1961, Carmichael
traveled to the South to join the freedom riders, a group of black and
white activists who rode interstate buses in an attempt to end segrega-
tion policies on buses and in stations. As one of the freedom riders,
Carmichael was jailed for forty-nine days in Jackson, Mississippi. He
was twenty years old.

Lowndes County Freedom Organization

After graduating in 1964, Carmichael became a full-time organizer for
SNCC. He was chosen to direct the Council of Federated Organizations
(COFO) office in Greenwood, Mississippi, for the Mississippi Freedom
Summer voter registration project that year.

Next he devoted himself to SNCC’s African American voter registra-
tion project in Lowndes County, Alabama. Lowndes County’s black res-
idents were poor and landless. Though they were by far the majority of
the population, 86 white families owned 90 percent of the land in the
county and controlled the government. Few blacks were registered to
vote.

When he realized that the Alabama Democratic Party was led by
the segregationist and self-proclaimed white supremacists (people who
believe white people should rule), Carmichael decided he would not en-
courage African Americans to register as Democrats. Instead, he helped
form an independent party, the Lowndes County Freedom Organization
(LCFO). The LCFO ran candidates for the offices of sheriff, coroner, tax
assessor, tax collector, and three school board seats. His efforts increased
the number of registered black voters in the county from 70 to 2,600.
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The LCFO chose a snarling black panther as its symbol. Less than
two years later, Huey Newton (1942-1989) and Bobby Seale (1937-),
black activists in Oakland, California, sought permission to use the
LCFO’s black panther emblem for their newly formed Black Panther
Party.

Turning from nonviolence

In 1965, Carmichael became the president of the SNCC. As the SNCC
leader, he was asked to participate in a freedom march in Mississippi that
had been the idea of James Meredith (1933-), the first black student to
attend the University of Mississippi. Meredith had originally planned to
lead the march by himself, but he had been shot when he traveled to
Mississippi. He welcomed the help of civil rights leaders King and his
Southern Christian Leadership Conference (SCLC), along with Floyd
McKissick (1922—-1991) of the National Association for the
Advancement of Colored People (NAACP), and Carmichael. King and
McKissick agreed that the march would be nonviolent and interracial.
Carmichael strongly disagreed.

Carmichael’s outrage at racism had deepened with his activism. In
his years in the Deep South, he saw savage violence, threats, and intim-
idation doled out to protesters. He began to distance himself from civil
disobedience and the nonviolent protest movement. He also became in-
creasingly hostile to the aid offered by white civil rights workers.

Black Power

During the Mississippi freedom march, Carmichael began to articulate
his views about “black power” before television cameras, defining “black
power” as the right of blacks to define and organize themselves as they
saw fit and to protect themselves from racial violence. In his 1967 book
Black Power (co-written with Charles V. Hamilton), Carmichael ex-
plained further that ending segregation was not the answer to American
racism. Carmichael believed that only economic and political independ-
ence for African Americans could lead to an end of discrimination and
to black empowerment. He was willing to fight for that independence

even if it meant creating a separate black nation.

As the revolutionary fervor of the 1960s deepened, SNCC changed

course to become a “black power” organization. Carmichael decided not
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to run for re-election as its leader in 1967. His political emphasis was
shifting. He spoke out against the Vietnam War. While he was abroad
that year, he spoke out so strongly against U.S. policies and actions that
some politicians talked of charging him with treason. Indeed, upon his
return in 1968, U.S. marshals confiscated his passport. Meanwhile, the
radical Oakland, California-based Black Panther Party made him its
honorary prime minister. He resigned from that post the following year,
rejecting Panther coalitions with white activists.

Moves to Africa

In 1968, Carmichael married South African singer-activist Miriam
Makeba (1932-). The next year, he left the United States for Conakry,
Republic of Guinea, in West Africa. There he worked for the restoration
to power of the deposed Ghanaian leader Kwame Nkrumah
(1909-1972), who shared many of his views about U.S. imperialism.

In Guinea, Carmichael took the name Kwame Turé. Over the next
decades, he founded the All-African Revolutionary Party and continued
to promote the idea of a black revolution to answer the problems of
racism and injustice. In 1996, Carmichael was diagnosed with prostate
cancer. The government of Trinidad and Tobago awarded him a $1,000
per month grant to help with medical bills. Groups of his American sup-
porters also pitched in. He died in Guinea in late 1998.

Andrew Carnegie

Andrew Carnegie was born in Scotland in 1835. He and his family im-
migrated to the United States and settled in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania,
in 1848. By that time, Pittsburgh was already a heavily industrialized
city. Smog hovered over the streets and buildings, and black soot filled
people’s noses and covered their clothes.

Carnegie began working full time at the age of thirteen, and he con-
tinued to work until the age of sixty-five. With a start in the cotton mills,
he moved to hold various positions with telegraph agencies, the railroad
industry, and other enterprises. Having wisely invested his money,
Carnegie saved enough to start his own business in the 1870s. With
Pittsburgh being one of the major industrial cities in America at the
time, it only made sense for him to get involved in a key industrial busi-
ness: the steel industry.
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Carnegie established Carnegie Steel in the 1870s, and by employing
a keen sense of business and understanding of technology, his personal
net worth reached $400,000 (about $5 million in twenty-first century
money) by the time he was thirty-three years old. In April 1887,
Carnegie married Louise Whitfield; ten years later, their one and only
child—a daughter—was born.

Carnegie’s steel mills were the most modern of their time, models for
those yet to come. His determination to undersell the competition and
rule the industry made him incredibly wealthy, but his employees were
paid unjustly low wages and worked in unsafe conditions. Injuries were
common occurrences in the Carnegie mills, even though his mills had
the latest and most advanced equipment. In order to pay for that equip-
ment, the steel magnate underpaid his laborers and cut corners wherever

he could regarding safety.

Writes “The Gospel”

Carnegie’s instinctive business sense and rags-to-riches story made him
one of the most respected men in America. And yet his wealth troubled
him. Having grown up in poverty, he understood the struggles and suf-
fering of the poor. Despite this concern, he continued to keep his work-
ers in poverty, and so his was a life of paradox (inconsistency).

In 1889, Carnegie published “The Gospel of Wealth,” an essay in
which he explained his philosophy on wealth and how to distribute it
after death. He believed the wealthy had a responsibility to give back to
society and work for its greater good. Such a philosophy attracted much
attention at a time when the bulk of society’s wealth was concentrated in
the hands of very few, and those very few believed for the most part that
they deserved their wealth. They also believed that those living in poverty
did so because God willed it.

Homestead strike

Personal philosophy aside, Carnegie’s mills were operated by unhappy la-
borers. These employees belonged to a union (a formally organized asso-
ciation of workers that advances its members views on wages, work

hours, and labor conditions). Carnegie and his business partner, Henry
Clay Frick (1848-1919), had managed to keep union laborers under
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control at their other steel mills. But the mill in Homestead,
Pennsylvania, was different; the union still had power.

In late June 1892, the union expressed its dissatisfaction with condi-
tions at the Homestead mill but indicated they were willing to negotiate.
Carnegie was in Scotland at the time, so Frick was in charge. Instead of
negotiating, he shut down the mill and locked out thirty-eight hundred
workers. On July 6, workers seized the mill and sealed off the town from
strikebreakers (temporary workers who would do the job the strikers
would not).

Frick called in three hundred Pinkerton Detective Agency men, and
what ensued was twelve hours of mayhem and violence. While the de-
tectives used rifles, the laborers used whatever else was at their disposal,
including cannons. Four times the detectives tried to surrender; four
times their white flag was shot down. Finally, their surrender was ac-
cepted. Both sides had suffered fatalities, and the surviving detectives
were brutally beaten by townspeople.

Frick, still unwilling to negotiate, called in eighty-five hundred
National Guard troops to allow strikebreakers to go to work at the mill.
Although many businesses in town refused to serve the strikebreakers,
public sentiment outside of Homestead was against the union workers,
mostly because they had used violence.

Carnegie got word of what was happening. Although he publicly
supported Frick’s decisions, in private, he berated him for his lack of
good judgment. The partnership ended, as did the friendship. In the
end, the union workers failed to achieve any of their goals. Three hun-
dred of them reapplied and were hired again. An angry Carnegie slashed
their wages even further and completely crushed the union in that mill.

Retires to a life of philanthropy

Carnegie sold his steel empire to U.S. Steel in 1901 for $250 million, the
equivalent of about $4.5 billion in twenty-first century money. With
that sale, he became the wealthiest man in the world. He was sixty-five
years old.

Within ten years, Carnegie had donated more than $43 million to
libraries and other causes. In 1911, he founded the Carnegie
Corporation to promote the advancement of knowledge and under-
standing. That foundation remains one of the largest philanthropic
groups in the twenty-first century.
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By the time of his death in 1919, Carnegie had given away $350
million, with instructions to give away the remaining $30 million to var-
ious foundations and charities. His legacy lives on in the many diverse
charitable foundations he established.

Carpetbaggers

The term carpetbagger arose in the South after the American Civil War
(1861-65). At first, people used it to refer to any unwelcome stranger.
The term soon evolved, however, to refer particularly to a northern busi-
nessman or politician who came south to take advantage of the postwar
environment. Many northerners became politically active in the South
during the Reconstruction years—the time when the states that had
separated from the Union were reorganized after the Civil War—and
many local southerners strongly resented them.

Carpetbags were a common suitcase made of strong fabric resem-
bling carpet. The term carpetbaggers indicated that the northerners were
so transitory that all they brought with them could fit into a carpetbag.
In hopes of preventing northerners from building a lasting political pres-
ence, southern Democrats used the term to accuse Republican northern-
ers of taking advantage of the economic and social challenges facing the
South. Southern foes hoped to create an image of poor, meddling north-
erners who were working only for their own selfish interests.

Many northern Republicans were sincere and played important roles
in southern politics during the first few years of Reconstruction. The ef-
forts of the southern Democrats to oppose them, however, eventually
paid off. Carpetbaggers disappeared as Democrats reclaimed political
power throughout the South.

Cars
See Automobile Industry

Jimmy Carter

James Earl Carter Jr. was born on October 1, 1924, into a farming fam-
ily in Plains, Georgia. His father was a farmer and local business owner,
his mother a nurse, and there were three other children in the family.
When the young Carter, known as Jimmy, was four, the family moved to
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a community called Archery to operate a peanut
farm. The farm was a success, but even so, the
family home was not equipped with running
water or electricity.

Carter graduated from high school in 1941
and enrolled in college. His stay was cut short
when he received an appointment to the U.S.
Naval Academy in Maryland in 1942. There he
excelled in electronics and naval tactics. Carter
graduated near the top of his class in 1946 and
served in the U.S. Navy until 1953. He married
Rosalynn Smith (1927-) the year of his gradua-
tion, and the couple eventually had four chil-
dren.

The Carter family moved to Norfolk,
Virginia, soon after the marriage. When Carter’s
father died in 1953, young Carter resigned his
commission and returned home to run the
peanut farm. With the help of his wife, he
turned it into a million-dollar business.

Enters politics

Carter was an active member in the Plains community, where he served
on the board of education, joined other civic organizations, and was a
deacon in his church. Carter’s commitment to his Baptist faith gave him
a liberal view on race, and amid the severe racial tensions of the 1950s
South, his was a voice of tolerance.

Carter ran for a seat in the Georgia state senate in 1962 as a
Democrat but lost in the primary. When he was able to prove his oppo-
nent had committed voter fraud, he easily won the general election. He
earned a reputation as an outspoken, effective legislator and was re-
elected to another two-year term in 1964.

Carter ran unsuccessfully for governor in 1966. Despite the loss, he
was convinced he could use politics as a tool to achieve good works.
Between 1966 and 1970, Carter traveled the state, studying problems
and making nearly eighteen hundred speeches. He won the governor’s
seat in 1970. In that position, he increased the number of African
American state employees by 40 percent and pushed through a law stat-
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ing that the poor and the wealthy areas of Georgia must have equal ed-
ucational funding.

While governor, Carter became more active in the Democratic
Party on a national level. In 1974, staff members of Republican presi-
dent Richard Nixon (1913-1994; served 1969-74) broke into
Democratic campaign headquarters. This event became known as the
Watergate scandal, and it shook American politics to its core. It was
during this upheaval that Carter announced his plans to run for presi-
dent. In the 1976 campaign, he won the Democratic Party nomination,
and on November 2, he defeated President Gerald R. Ford (1913-2006;
served 1974-77), who had taken over the presidency when Nixon re-
signed amidst the disgrace of the Watergate scandal.

A one-term president

Carter was known for his down-to-earth leadership style. He wore cardi-
gan sweaters instead of business suits, and he walked in parades rather
than ride in a limousine. He was what he said he was: a regular man of

the people.

His was a difficult presidency, however. Unemployment and inflation
were high, and there was trouble with Iran. On November 4, 1979, mil-
itant Iranian students took over the American Embassy in Tehran, Iran,
and held 52 Americans hostage for 444 days. The students were angry
with the Carter adminstration because it had allowed Iran’s deposed Shah
into the United States for medical treatment. America had supported the
Shah for years, but many Iranians resented him for his Western influences
and repressive practices. Carter could not get the hostages freed, and in
April 1980, eight U.S. Marines accidentally died when a rescue attempt
had to be aborted. The Iran hostage crisis was a nightmare for the pres-
ident, and it would haunt him throughout his term.

Carter achieved some major feats while in office. In September
1977, he negotiated the Panama Canal Treaties, a controversial move
that gave control of the American-built canal to the Central American
nation of Panama in the year 2000. Until that time, control would be
shared between the United States and Panama. Many Americans and the
Republican Party believed this negotiation to be a bad move strategi-
cally. The Panama Canal is a neutral canal, meaning that ships from all
countries may use it for commerce. America had been in control of the
canal since its completion in 1903. Carter’s negotiations allowed

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History



America the permanent right to defend its neutrality, but control was
given to Panama, an unstable country led by a brutal military dictator.
After signing the treaties, Carter visited Panama with his wife and twelve
senators. While there, the politicians urged Panama to soften its policies.
Ultimately, the treaties led to improved relations between Latin America
and Panama.

On September 17, 1978, Carter negotiated a peace agreement be-
tween Egypt and Israel, two countries long embroiled in violent conflict.
This agreement is known as the Camp David Accords. He also contin-
ued normalizing diplomatic and trade relations with the People’s
Republic of China. Carter made great efforts to minimize the number of
nuclear arms produced by both the United States and the Soviet Union.
His efforts resulted in negotiations known as the SALT (Strategic Arms
Limitation Talks) II Treaty in 1979. Congress was reluctant to ratify the
treaty because it was feared the terms would weaken the United States.
When the Soviet Union invaded Afghanistan in late 1979, Carter with-
drew the treaty, and it was never ratified. Even so, the commitments out-
lined in SALT II were honored by both the United States and the Soviet
Union.

America’s economic situation was difficult for various reasons while
Carter was in office. That fact, coupled with the hostage situation, left
Carter at a disadvantage when it came time for reelection. The
Republican Party challenger, former California governor Ronald
Reagan (1911-2004; served 1981-89), defeated the former peanut
farmer by one of the largest margins in history. Carter kept his efforts fo-
cused on the release of the hostages, who finally were freed on January
20, 1981, the day of Reagan’s inauguration—literally minutes after
Reagan was sworn in as president. Former president Carter represented
the U.S. government in West Germany, where the hostages were wel-
comed at a military airbase and underwent medical tests.

Post-presidency

In the years immediately following his term in the Oval Office, histori-
ans considered Carter a decent man but one ill-equipped for leading the
nation. More recent analysis assesses Carter’s decisions and actions in a
more positive light. For example, though he was criticized for the way he
handled the Iran hostage crisis, he did manage to bring home all 52
Americans alive without breaking any laws.
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Carter used his post-presidency to champion causes he believed in.
In 1981, Carter established the nonprofit Carter Center in Atlanta,
Georgia. The organization’s purpose is multifaceted and includes the
promotion of human rights and health care in Third World countries,
the monitoring of democratic elections overseas, and the maintenance of
immunization records for Atlanta children. Carter also aligned himself
with Habitat for Humanity, a nonprofit organization that builds low-in-
come housing around the world.

Carter maintained his role as a statesperson into the twenty-first cen-
tury. In 2002, he received the Nobel Peace Prize for his efforts, only the
third U.S. president to win the honor. The other two were Theodore
Roosevelt (1858-1919; served 1901-9) and Woodrow Wilson
(1856-1924; served 1913-21). Carter continues to dedicate his life to
humanitarian issues around the world and has published scores of books
on various topics.

George Washington Carver

George Washington Carver was a talented man who survived slavery
and the loss of both parents at an early age. He spent his life trying to
improve agricultural methods so that farmers could rise above poverty.
He is perhaps most famous for inventing many uses for the peanut.

Born to slaves

George Washington Carver was born in a small cabin in Diamond,
Missouri, shortly before the end of the American Civil War (1861-65).
His mother was a slave owned by Moses and Susan Carver (slaves took
the last names of their owners). His father, also a slave, was killed in an
accident shortly after his son’s birth. After Carver’s mother was kid-
napped, he and his brother were raised by the Carvers. Although they
struggled financially, the Carvers were loving parents to the orphaned
boys. Carver spent much of his childhood outdoors, where he explored
his natural surroundings. He built a pond and even grew a plant nursery
in the woods. His hobby earned him the nickname “plant doctor.”

At the age of ten, Carver left his family to attend a school that al-
lowed African American students. He took care of himself by working
odd jobs and living with different families. In 1885, when he was twenty
years old, he graduated from high school and was accepted at Highland
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College in Kansas, but when he arrived he was
turned away because the school did not accept
African Americans. Carver, lacking money and
prospects, found work on a nearby fruit farm.

Down but not out

The discrimination that kept Carver out of
Highland College did not discourage him from
furthering his education. In 1890, he began at-
tending Simpson College in Iowa, where he
hoped to study painting. His art teacher recog-
nized Carver’s talent, but knew he would find it
difficult to be accepted as an artist. She sug-
gested a career in botany (the study of plants)
and helped him get admitted to the Iowa
Agricultural College in Ames.
It proved to be a wise move for Carver. He
got involved in a variety of clubs and activities at
the college, and he was an excellent student whose natural talent in agri-
culture made him popular among his peers and professors. Carver re-
ceived his bachelor’s degree and stayed on for graduate work. He received
his master’s degree in 1896.

Tuskegee calls

After earning his master’s degree, Carver received a surprise invitation
from respected educator Booker T. Washington (1856-1915), the
African American founder of the Tuskegee Institute in Alabama.
Tuskegee had been established in the 1880s as an industrial and agricul-
tural school for African American students. It was the first of its kind and
a great success. Carver was asked to become its director of agriculture,
and he accepted.

In addition to being head of the department, Carver worked with
local farmers. The region was devastatingly poor, and Carver helped by
writing instructional pamphlets on farming. He also established a mobile
school that crossed the South, visiting farmers and teaching them better
agricultural methods. At first, when it began in 1906, the school was
nothing more than a mule-drawn cart, but before long, the cart was re-
placed by a truck carrying farming tools and exhibits.

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History

George Washington Carver

George Washington Carver
spent most of his life trying to
improve agricultural methods
so that farmers could rise
above poverty. AP IMAGES

249



Willa Cather

250

In 1910, Carver became the director of a new research department,
and his title became “consulting chemist.” Carver enjoyed the research
that went along with this new title, but he lacked a proper laboratory and
equipment. Most of the time, he had to make his own equipment out of
old bottles, wire, and other materials at hand.

The field of scientific agriculture—the exploration of alternative
farming methods—was new at the time. In his attempts to improve the
quality of life for local farmers, Carver analyzed water and soil, experi-
mented with paints made of clay, and searched for new, inexpensive
foods to supplement their diets. The most versatile resource Carver
found was the peanut. He used it to restore nitrogen to the depleted soil,
and from it he made soap, shampoo, metal polish, even adhesives. The
one thing he did not make from peanuts was peanut butter.

Honored for lifetime achievements

Carver became an advocate of “chemurgy,” the concept of putting chem-
istry to work in industry for farmers. He met industrialist and automo-
bile pioneer Henry Ford (1863-1947) in 1937, and the two formed an
immediate and lifelong friendship. In 1940, Carver founded the Carver
Museum to continue and preserve his work, and at its opening Ford ded-
icated the museum.

Shortly after the opening of the museum, Carver’s health began to
fail. Carver died of injuries from falling down a flight of stairs, and he
was buried next to Booker T. Washington. On his headstone was carved,
“He could have added fortune to fame, but caring for neither, he found
happiness and honor in being helpful to the world.”

Carver received numerous awards and honors during his lifetime.
After his death in 1943, he was twice featured on commemorative postage
stamps. He was elected to the Hall of Fame for Great Americans in 1977
and inducted into the National Inventors Hall of Fame in 1990. Carver’s
birthplace in southwestern Missouri is now a national monument—the
first national birthplace monument honoring a non-president.

Willa Cather

Willa Cather was born on December 7, 1873, the first of seven children
to Charles and Mary Cather. She spent her childhood at Willowshade,

the family farm in Virginia. Cather enjoyed the freedom of a rural
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lifestyle, with much of her time spent outdoors. In 1883, the family
moved to Red Cloud, Nebraska, leaving behind the farm for a life on
the western frontier. Cather missed Willowshade, and the experience of
having to leave it behind left her feeling resentful of change.

Red Cloud was a town populated by immigrants from all over the
world: Russia, Poland, Germany, Sweden, and others. She forged friend-
ships with foreign-born girls her own age, and her experiences on the
frontier living among immigrants would later inform the themes of some
of her novels.

At an early age, Cather decided she wanted to become a medical
doctor, but that ambition changed as she aged. Cather began her career
as a writer in 1891, when she entered the University of Nebraska. There
she excelled at journalism and short story writing, and her first published
piece appeared in the prestigious Boston magazine. Upon publication,
Cather realized writing was her gift, and she devoted herself completely
to the craft.

After graduating in 1865, Cather briefly wrote for a newspaper in
Lincoln, Nebraska, before moving to Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. There
she took a job as editor for a magazine called Home Monthly. Before long,
she moved over to the Pittsburgh Daily Leader, a newspaper that em-
ployed her as copy editor and music/drama critic.

Becomes a serious writer

Cather gave up news writing to become a teacher in 1901. During this
time, she met Isabelle McClung, daughter of a prominent Pittsburgh
judge. The two formed a relationship that would last a lifetime, and
Cather was later known to have said that every book she ever wrote was
for McClung. Historians have long speculated on the nature of Cather’s
and McClung’s relationship, and many believe the two were lovers.
Cather’s longest relationship was with her companion Edith Lewis; the
two women were together for more than forty years.

McClung’s wealth allowed Cather to write without the strain of hav-
ing to earn a living. They traveled together to Europe in 1902, and the
trip was followed by the publication of a book of poetry titled April
Twilights in 1903. A collection of short stories, The Troll Garden, was
published in 1905, and the two books came to the attention of S. S.
McClure (1857-1949), publisher of the popular McClures magazine. He
gave Cather a job as managing editor in 1906, a position that allowed
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the writer to become part of the blossoming literary world rooted in the
New York City neighborhood of Greenwich Village. Cather kept her job
with the magazine until 1912, when she resigned to write fiction.

That same year, Cather published her first novel, Alexander’s
Masquerade, which established the frontier theme that would weave its
way into her other novels. Her next novel, O Pioneers!, was a literary suc-
cess. Again, the story involved farm life and prairie scenes reminiscent of
Cather’s childhood experiences.

Cather’s best known novel, My Antonia, was published in 1918. She
followed that with two more titles by 1927, and by that time was recog-
nized as a moral writer who embraced traditional values while writing
about a world of changing standards and shifting morality. Though lesser
known than some of her other works, One of Ours earned Cather the
Pulitzer Prize in 1922.

Cather’s later years were spent in New York City, where she estab-
lished friendships with artists and musicians. She continued publishing
novels and short stories until 1936. For her work, she was awarded the
Howells Medal of the American Academy of Arts and Letters in 1930,
and the National Institute of Arts and Letters gold medal for fiction in
1944. In 1962, Cather became the first woman inducted into the
Nebraska Hall of Fame. She was voted into the Hall of Great Westerners
in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, in 1974 and was inducted into the
National Women’s Hall of Fame in Seneca Falls, New York, in 1988.

Cather died on April 24, 1947, at the age of seventy-three. The
Nebraska State Historical Society established the Willa Cather Historical
Center in 1978. The Center includes the author’s childhood home as
well as other buildings connected to her writing.

Catholicism

The Catholic presence in America was small until the nineteenth cen-
tury. Today, largely due to heavy immigration from Catholic countries in
the nineteenth and twentieth centuries, nearly one-third of the U.S. pop-
ulation is Roman Catholic.

Catholic hierarchy

The ultimate leadership over Catholic churches of all nations is the
Vatican, the headquarters of the church based in the independent city-
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state of Vatican City, which is located within the city of Rome, Italy.
From the Vatican, the pope, the head of the Catholic Church, rules
Catholics throughout the world. To administer the churches in the vari-
ous countries, the pope appoints national church leaders, particularly
archbishops and bishops, who are subject to his rule.

In 2007, the United States had forty-five archbishops, the highest-
ranking bishops who head large Catholic districts called archdioceses.
Bishops are priests who teach church doctrine, but who also minister
church government. The United States has 290 active bishops. The
United States Conference of Catholic Bishops, founded in 1966, is the
official governing body of the U.S. Roman Catholic Church. It is sub-
ject to the authority of the pope.

Origins of American Catholicism

The earliest Catholicism in the United States arrived with the Spanish
missionaries who founded a mission in St. Augustine, Florida, in 1565.
Through the nineteenth century, Spain continued to found missions in
the present-day southeastern United States, Texas, New Mexico,
Arizona, and California in their efforts to convert the native people to
the Roman Catholic faith. (See Spanish Missions.) France sent Catholic
missionaries to North America in the seventeenth century, establishing
missions in Canada, and later bringing Catholicism to the vast French
territory called Louisiana.

At the time of New World settlement, England was a Protestant na-
tion, but it had a significant Catholic population. (See Protestantism.)
In 1632, an English Catholic, Caecilius Calvert, Baron of Baltimore
(1605-1675), founded Maryland, the first British Catholic colony. The
Catholic presence in the American colonies remained fairly small
throughout the colonial era.

The first bishops

In 1789, American Catholics numbered only about thirty thousand and
were concentrated in Maryland and Kentucky. That year, John Carroll
(1735-1815) was elected the first U.S. Catholic bishop, and he would
later become archbishop of Baltimore, Maryland. Carroll’s vision of the
church was greatly influenced by the spirit of American democracy. He
supported the lay trustee system of church government, in which elected
laymen (people who are not members of the clergy) worked with the
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clergy to govern the local parish community. A
parish is a district, or neighborhood, with its
own church.

Carroll wanted Catholicism in the United
States to be free from foreign influence. Seeking
to train a clergy that would be familiar with
what he described as “the American way of
life,” he founded Georgetown Academy (later
Georgetown University in Washington, D.C.)
and St. Mary’s Seminary in Baltimore. Carroll
was a strong supporter of religious freedom and
of separation of church and state, as estab-
lished in the First Amendment of the U.S.
Constitution.

Carroll died in 1815 and French cleric

Ambrose Maréchal (1764—1828) was named

archbishop of Baltimore. Maréchal’s vision

of Catholicism was entirely different from

Carroll’s. In his view, the clergy, not the laymen,

ruled; he strongly opposed any notion of

democracy in the church. These two differing

understandings of Catholicism—Carroll’s dem-

ocratic vision and Maréchal’s more authoritarian

approach—have remained a source of conflict within the U.S. Catholic

Church.

Catholic immigration

Irish immigration began on a large scale in the 1830s and swelled in the
1840s, along with a surge in German immigration. Between 1830 and
1860, this increased the Roman Catholic population in the United States
considerably: from 318,000 to more than 3 million. Nearly 2 million
Catholics in 1860 were immigrants. Other Catholic immigrants began
arriving in large numbers later in the century.

Although Catholic communities developed in the farming areas of
the Midwest, the vast majority of immigrating Catholics settled in cities,
where there were manufacturing jobs. By the end of the nineteenth cen-
tury, as many as twenty-eight different language groups claimed mem-
bership in the Catholic Church. The Irish and Germans were the most
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numerous national groups, and Polish and Italian immigrants were not

far behind.

Anti-Catholicism

The influx of large numbers of Catholics in what previously had been a
primarily English Protestant society unleashed hostilities among some
native-born Americans, particularly in the cities of the northeast. As
early as the 1830s, shocking anti-Catholic popular literature began to
circulate. Stories and pamphlets depicted sexual orgies behind the walls
of Catholic convents, inflaming suspicion and prejudice. The first large-
scale anti-Catholic violence in the United States occurred in
Charlestown, Massachusetts, in August 1834, where a mob burned
down a convent after a rumor spread that priests there were confining a
nun against her will.

Continued conflict between Catholics and Protestants arose over
city school systems. In most schools, students recited Protestant hymns
and prayers and read the Protestant King James Bible; even the textbooks
had anti-Catholic biases. Catholic leaders asked that the schools stop
using the Protestant Bible and eliminate Protestant hymns and prayers.
Some Catholic leaders went further, asking that the state finance
Catholic parochial (parish) schools. Their wishes infuriated anti-
Catholic groups. Anger mounted, resulting in a riot in New York City in
1842 and a bloody three-day riot in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, in
1844 in which Protestants destroyed two Catholic churches.

In the 1850s, the Know-Nothing Party (or American Party), whose
motto was “Americans must rule America,” rose to political prominence.
Antiforeign and anti-Catholic party members took an oath that they
would not vote for any foreigners, Roman Catholics in particular. By
1854, the Know-Nothing Party had over one million members and had
elected governors, mayors, and congressmen. Former U.S. president
Millard Fillmore (1800-1874; served 1850—53) ran as the party’s pres-
idential nominee in the 1856 election, but lost. The controversial issue
of slavery soon split the party, and its decline was as rapid as its rise.
Nonetheless, the Know-Nothings made Catholics feel that they were not
welcome in the United States. Catholic immigrants gathered together in
their own neighborhoods, creating a world set apart from the rest of

American society.
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The national parish

Traditionally, Catholic people worshiped in a neighborhood church; na-
tionality had little to do with church membership. In the immigrant
neighborhoods of urban America, though, immigrant Catholics wanted
to worship in a church where services and sermons were in their native
language and where they could continue the traditions and customs of
the Old World. Thus, the key institution of the American Catholic
world in the nineteenth and early twentieth century was the national
parish, with specific churches for each immigrant nationality.

National parishes were more than places to worship. In immigrant
neighborhoods, they were the center of community life. In addition to
the church, parishes often included a school, a convent for the nuns, or
sisters, who worked in the parish, a home for the parish clergy, a hall for
social and recreational events, and often a high school or orphanage.

In 1884, American bishops urged that all parishes build a Catholic
parochial school. Although that did not happen, 37 percent of Catholic
parishes supported a school by 1900. Essential to the development of the
parochial schools were the sisters who taught in them. Sisters were also
involved in founding hospitals and orphanages and performing a variety
of social welfare tasks.

Changes in the church

In the United States in the first half of the twentieth century, the major-
ity of American Catholics were fairly recent immigrants. The church re-
mained traditional, as it had been in Europe. It was a stern overseer of
community life and personal morality and a preserver of ancient tradi-
tions that made sure its members knew their place. Services were con-
ducted in Latin, rather than the native language, and Catholic education
tended to stifle intellectual questioning. Many American Catholic lead-
ers ardently denounced modern life, especially condemning birth con-
trol, divorce, and morally suspect entertainment, such as the movies.
By the 1950s, however, the Catholic immigrant population was tak-
ing its place in the American middle class. Part of the reason for their
prosperity was that trade unions were forcing businesses to grant higher
wages and benefits to workers. Two-thirds of all unionized workers were
Catholics, and so American Catholicism was strongly tied to labor
unions. (See Labor Movement.) A labor union is an organization that
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serves its members’ collective interests with regard to wages and working
conditions. Catholic trade-union leaders convinced church fathers to
take up the plight of the poor.

At the same time, Catholic journalist and social reformer Dorothy
Day (1897-1890) began social justice campaigns in the Catholic Worker
Movement, opening houses of hospitality where the poor and unem-
ployed could find food and shelter. Day and other Catholic reformers
tried to live according to Catholic precepts, forming a progressive
Catholic counterculture that attracted Catholics and drew many con-
verts to the faith.

Vatican Il

In 1959, the newly elected pope, John XXIII (1881-1963), summoned a
council to bring the Catholic Church up-to-date. The Vatican II council
was conducted in four sessions between 1962 and 1965. Among its many
rulings, the council gave bishops more freedom, proclaimed that other re-
ligions besides Catholicism were of value, supported religious freedom,
rejected anti-Semitism, and promoted a more active social role for the
church. Vatican II decreed that the Catholic Mass was to be conducted in
the country’s native language. Laypeople were to acquire a larger role in
determining the affairs of the church. The United States Conference of
Bishops was created as the ruling body of the church within the United
States. It, too, gave laypeople a role in the workings of the church.

Conservative Catholics objected to the changes. Some found the
drift from authority to individual choice disturbing. On the other hand,
progressive Catholics were disappointed that Vatican II had not taken
bolder steps to bring the church into step with modern times. From the
1960s to the 1980s, many American Catholics stopped following some
of the strict Catholic teachings, increasing friction between them and the
leaders of the traditional church.

Contraception, abortion, and women's rights

After Vatican II, many American Catholics felt that issues of contracep-
tion, abortion, and sexuality were personal matters that could be handled
without the church’s interference. But in 1968, Pope Paul VI
(1897-1978) reasserted the church’s traditional ban on artificial birth
control. American Catholics, particularly women, responded with disap-
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pointment and anger. By the end of the 1960s, many surveys indicated
that nearly three-quarters of Catholic women were privately using artifi-
cial birth control. Many members of the Catholic clergy were openly—
and bitterly—opposed to the pope’s ruling. The Church’s position on
birth control remains the same in the twenty-first century.

The issue of abortion came into the forefront of heated debate in the
1970s. The Vatican had labeled abortion an unspeakable crime, and it
urged church leaders to act against it. American Catholics for the most
part believed that abortion was wrong, but many did not believe it was
a mortal sin, or an act of murder. An increasing number of American
Catholics felt that women had the right to decide the fate of their own
bodies and that abortion was not a decision to be made by a male-dom-
inated church. The National Coalition of American Nuns helped to
sponsor a pro-choice advertisement in 1984, but the official stance of the
church today, supported by Pope Benedict XVI (1927-), still forbids
abortion in Catholic society.

American Catholics also led the battle for equality of the sexes in the
Catholic Church, demanding a larger, more visible role for women in the
church. In 1985, Gallup polls found that 47 percent of American
Catholics were in favor of women priests. In 1988, U.S. Catholic bish-
ops, realizing the need for some new official statement on women’s role
in the church, published the “Partners in the Mystery of Redemption.”
The church condemned sexism as a sin; yet it still did not favor women

priests, contraception, or abortion.

Sexual abuse scandals of the 2000s
Beginning in late 2001 and early 2002, the Catholic Church in the
United States repeatedly made national headlines due to a series of sexual
abuse accusations made against its priests. Many were accusations of child
molestation. In 2004, the church’s review board issued a report on the mo-
lestation problem from 1950 to 2002, recording 10,667 abuse claims over
those fifty-two years. In this report, about forty-three hundred priests, or
4 percent of U.S. priests, had been accused of sexual abuse. However,
many observers point out that these numbers include only those who re-
ported abuse. The actual numbers are probably significantly higher.
American Catholics were most angered that the church had covered
for the abusers, in some cases allowing them to continue the abuse in
other parishes. Authorities blamed the continuing pattern of abuse on
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church leaders who protected abusive priests rather than risk scandal by
revealing the truth. Belatedly, steps were taken to end the pattern. At its
June 2002 general meeting in Dallas, Texas, the Catholic bishops of the
United States adopted a “one strike, you're out” policy that removes from
active ministry any priest who has sexually abused a minor, whether that
abuse occurred forty years ago or occurs tomorrow.

The lawsuits against the church continued. By 2005, Catholic dio-
ceses across the United States were paying millions of dollars in damages
to victims of child sexual abuse at the hands of priests. As a result, the
Catholic Church faced devastating financial problems. Churches were
forced to lay off employees, close offices, and shut down schools and
seminaries to pay the high price of lengthy legal battles.

By the end of 2007, there were nearly sixty-eight million Catholics
in the United States. According to a 2004 poll, 60 percent of Catholics
were non-Hispanic whites, or Caucasians; 31 percent were Hispanic; 4
percent were African American; and 5 percent were of other ethnicity.

Central Intelligence Agency

After December 7, 1941, when Japanese warplanes struck the island of
Pearl Harbor in Hawaii in a surprise attack, the United States vowed to
improve its intelligence (secret information about an enemy or potential
enemy) capabilities. An investigation into the Pearl Harbor bombing re-
vealed that intelligence about a possible attack had been known in the
lower levels of U.S. bureaucracy but had never been shared with the
White House or military.

All efforts were focused on fighting and winning World War II
(1939-45), but once it was over, U.S. president Harry S. Truman
(1884-1972; served 1945-53) proposed the creation of an agency that
could provide the president and the administration with more accurate
and better coordinated intelligence. The National Security Act of 1947
established the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA), to be led by a director.

The CIA would gather, evaluate, and share intelligence within the
federal government. Its operators would report to the president of the
United States via the newly created National Security Council (NSC).
The CIA would also perform other functions and duties beyond those
related to information collection and analysis. Almost immediately, one
of those duties involved the fight against global communism.
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Communism is a political system in which the government controls all
resources and means of producing wealth. By eliminating private prop-
erty, this system is designed to create an equal society with no social
classes. However, communist governments in practice often limit per-

sonal freedom and individual rights.

The Truman Doctrine

In 1947, President Truman outlined what became known as the Truman
Doctrine, a plan that would guide American diplomacy for the next four
decades. Truman explained that the United States had a responsibility to
protect free people from being controlled by outside pressures. The CIA
became a key factor in Truman’s efforts to fight the spread of commu-

nism as it conducted covert (secret) operations.

Although never spelled out in detail in the National Security Act, the
CIA’s anticommunism mission quickly took on a life of its own. As the
Cold War (1945-91; a war not of physical fighting, but of increased ten-
sion and competition) between the United States and the Soviet Union
progressed, funding for the CIA’s activities shifted from collection and
analysis to covert operations. Its activities ranged from spying to outright
violence, including secret wars fought against communists in places like
Iran, Cuba, Afghanistan, and Iraq. The CIA also attempted to assassinate
procommunist leaders in the developing world, among them, Fidel
Castro (1926-) of Cuba. Assassination plots on the part of the CIA were
wholly approved of until President Gerald R. Ford (1913-2006; served
1974-77) prohibited them by executive order in 1976.

Tarnished reputation
Although the CIA has proven to be a valuable tool for presidents both in

time of war and peace, it has been harshly criticized for its activities. In
1973, CIA director James Schlesinger (1929—-) commissioned reports on
the illegal activities of the organization. The results of the reports, known
as the “Family Jewels,” were published on the front page of the New York
Timesin 1974. According to the “Family Jewels,” the CIA had murdered
numerous foreign leaders and had more than seven thousand American

citizens under surveillance for their antiwar activities.

The CIA was involved in the biggest scandal of President Ronald
Reagan’s (1911-2004; served 1981-89) time in office. In late 1986, it
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was discovered that the president’s administration had made secret
arrangements to provide funds to Nicaraguan conzra (counterrevolution-
ary) rebels fighting the Sandinista (a political party that espoused beliefs
similar to those of communism) government in Nicaragua. The funding
came from the sale of weapons to Iran, a country that had captured
American hostages and held them for more than a year. (See Iran
Hostage Cirisis.) Congress had outlawed the activity, but Reagan’s ad-
ministration ignored the law and proceeded with the secret operation.

When it was discovered that the CIA played a key role in the Iran-
Contra Affair, Congress passed the Intelligence Authorization Act in
1991, which required an authorizing chain of command rather than giv-
ing all the power to the director. The act also redefined “covert opera-
tions” as secret missions in areas where the United States is neither
openly nor apparently engaged.

The CIA has been at the center of numerous other controversies
since its establishment in 1947.

Challenger Space Shuttle Explosion

On January 28, 1986, millions of Americans watched as the Challenger
space shuttle exploded just seventy-three seconds after launching from
Cape Canaveral, Florida. The explosion killed all seven crew members

aboard.

The Challenger was the twenty-fifth space shuttle flight under the
National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) program.
Originally scheduled to lift off on January 22, inclement weather caused
the flight to be postponed for six days.

The crew of the Challenger was comprised of five men and two
women, including Christa McAuliffe (1948-1986), the first school-
teacher chosen to fly into space. Commander Dick Scobee (1939-1986)
led the crew, which, in addition to McAuliffe, included Michael Smith
(1945-1986), Ronald McNair (1950-1986), Ellison Onizuka (1945
1986), Gregory Jarvis (1944-1986), and Judith Resnick (1949-1986).

What really happened?

The shuttle exploded after its fuel tank tore apart and leaked liquid oxy-
gen and hydrogen, causing a massive fireball to form at an altitude of
46,000 feet. Both of the shuttle’s boosters continued to climb, as they
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The space shuttle Challenger explosion on January 28, 1986, killed seven astronauts and was one of the greatest tragedies in the

NASA program. AP IMAGES
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were unaffected by the fuel tank damage. The shuttle itself tore to pieces
as it was flung free of rocket components.

Like any major tragedy, the explosion of the Challenger space shut-
tle is shrouded in myth. Contrary to what many believe, the crew did not
die instantly. Investigations indicate that all seven astronauts were still
alive when the cabin hit the surface of the water two minutes and forty-
five seconds after breakup. What cannot be known is if any were con-
scious. The shuttle hit water at a speed of 200 miles per hour, which
killed them upon impact. The cause of the explosion was faulty O-ring
seals, resulting in structural failure.

On February 1, 2003, the space shuttle Columbia also exploded, but
this time it happened just sixteen minutes before its scheduled landing.
Again, all seven crew members—five men and two women—perished.

The cause of that accident was damage to the left wing when a piece of
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foam from an external tank hit it upon takeoff. At the launch, this oc-

currence was not considered a safety concern.

Samuel de Champlain

Samuel de Champlain was a French explorer who helped colonize New
France in the New World in the seventeenth century. He made over
twenty voyages between Europe and the New World, founded the
French settlement at Quebec, and wrote six books about his adventures.

Early life

Champlain was born in the seaport town of Brouage in France around
1567. Parish records are missing, so his exact birth date is unknown.
Historians suggest that Champlain was raised as a Protestant (see

Protestantism) but he converted to Catholicism sometime before 1603.
Not much else is known about his childhood.

Growing up in a seaport town, Champlain learned navigation and
mapmaking as a youth. He fought as a sergeant in religious wars on the
side of Protestant king Henry IV (1553-1610) until 1598. After that, he
went on a voyage to the West Indies, now called the Caribbean, for over
two years.

Acadia

In 1603, Champlain joined an expedition to the River of Canada, which
was later renamed the St. Lawrence River. The expedition also explored
the area that Champlain called Acadia (present-day Nova Scotia).
Champlain realized that the areas they explored had valuable resources,
especially animals. Investors from France could get animal furs in trade
with Native Americans to sell back in Europe. Champlain learned from
the local natives about the existence of the Great Lakes, which he
thought might be a northwest passage from the Atlantic Ocean to the
Pacific Ocean.

Back in France, Champlain was chosen to be the geographer on an
expedition to Acadia led by Pierre du Gua de Monts (c. 1558-1628), to
whom the French king had given a monopoly on fur trade in the region.
(See Fur Traders and Mountain Men.) The voyagers spent their first
winter at a fort they built along the Saint Croix River, near the future

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History

Samuel de Champlain

263



Samuel de Champlain

264

border between the United States and Canada. About half of them died,
largely from scurvy, a disease caused by a lack of vitamin C.

For the second winter, the expedition moved its base across the Bay
of Fundy to Port Royal (present-day Annapolis Royal). This was the main
settlement for Acadia until 1607, when Henry IV canceled de Mont’s
trading privileges. Champlain spent three years sailing and mapping the
region, including present-day Maine; Cape Cod, Massachusetts; and
Rhode Island. The expedition returned to France in 1607.

Quebec

By 1608, Champlain had found investors to finance another expedition
to the New World. Arriving in July, thirty-two voyagers built a fort at the
settlement called Quebec City. Champlain would spend the rest of his

life building the settlement into a profitable colony for France.

From before 1603, French explorers had been trading with the
Algonquian and the Montagnais tribes. The Huron tribe to the west, in
the region around Quebec, was an ally of the Algonquians and the
Montagnais. To develop fur trading in the region, Champlain formed al-
liances with these tribes. In July 1609, Champlain and the other settlers
joined the Hurons in a battle with the Hurons’ enemy to the south, the
Iroquois confederacy. This began over 150 years of hostility between
France and the Iroquois.

Champlain faced regular challenges over the next two decades as
politics in France altered colonial authority in the New World. He spent
much time in France negotiating with government officials and financial
investors for the support he needed for his efforts. When he was around
forty years old, he married twelve-year-old Hélene Boullé (1598-1654),
the daughter of the secretary to the king’s chamber. Exploring the New
World in 1615, Champlain reached as far as Lake Huron, probably mak-
ing him the first European to see it.

Back in France between 1616 and 1618, Champlain crafted a com-
prehensive plan for colonization of New France. Quebec would be a per-
manent customs station for trading in the region. Military posts would
protect France’s interests. Explorers would sail the Great Lakes searching
for the Northwest Passage, and missionaries would work to convert the
native tribes to Christianity to give France greater control over the area’s
resources. The plan received the governmental and financial support nec-
essary to send Champlain back to Quebec in 1618.
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Later years

Champlain worked hard over the next decade to explore New France and
to establish profitable trade with native tribes. After war erupted between
England and France in 1627, English vessels arrived at Quebec in 1629,
forcing the undersupplied French settlers to surrender.

Champlain was back in Europe for the next four years. He worked
during this period to get England to return Quebec to France. He also
spent time writing about the adventures of his life.

After England and France reached peace in 1632, England returned
Quebec to France, and Champlain returned in 1633 to command the
area. He spent the final years of his life, often sick, in Quebec, dying
there on December 25, 1635.

César Chavez

Renowned labor leader César Estrada Chévez founded the United Farm
Workers, an organization that led its members in the fight for improved
working conditions and brought hope to poor migrant workers and their
families.

When Chdavez was born on March 31, 1927, his parents owned a
farm in Yuma, Arizona. But soon after his birth, the United States expe-
rienced the Great Depression (1929—41), a period in the late 1920s and
1930s when the United States suffered from an extremely slow economy
and widespread unemployment. At the same time, a severe drought hit
the American Southwest. Like many farmers, the Chévez family lost its
property in 1937. The Chdvezes were forced to wander throughout
Arizona and California as migrant farm workers, seeking temporary em-
ployment harvesting other landowners’ crops. With all the moving
about, Chévez attended more than thirty different schools and was able
to achieve only a seventh grade education.

The plight of migrant farm workers

Life for migrant farm workers was incredibly difficult. They toiled in the
hot sun for hours picking beans, peas, grapes, beets, cucumbers, toma-
toes, cotton, and other crops. Sometimes they were paid fifty cents for
every basket they picked. Other times they were paid only twenty cents.
At the end of the day, some farm owners subtracted money from the la-
borers’ pay for any water they drank while in the fields. At night, farm
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workers were often forced to sleep in rundown
shacks or in their cars. Since many of the mi-
grant laborers knew little English, unscrupulous
farm owners often swindled them out of the
money they had rightfully earned for their work.

Faces racism
Throughout the 1930s and 1940s, Chévez and

his family faced racism wherever they went.
Restaurants refused to serve Mexican Americans
and theaters allowed them to sit only in certain
sections. In 1944, when he was seventeen years
old, Chdvez joined the U.S. Navy to fight in
World War II (1939-45). Even while fighting
for his country, he experienced discrimination
because of his Mexican American background.
After two years of service, Chdvez returned to
California to work on the farms. In 1948, he
married Helen Fabela, settled down in a one-
room shack in the town of Delano (where he
picked grapes and cotton), and began to raise a family. Over the years,

the couple had eight children.

In 1952, Chdvez began working as a community organizer for the
Community Service Organization (CSO), a group that sought better liv-
ing conditions for migrant farm workers. Going from door to door at
night, he helped workers with day-to-day problems, or with applications
to become U.S. citizens. He encouraged all to register to vote. By 1958,
Chavez had become director of the CSO in California and Arizona.

Struggles to form a union

Chdvez had heard many complaints from migrant workers about their
working conditions and pay. Since the workers were not organized as a
group, however, they could not effectively protest the situation. Over the
next few years, Chédvez tried to convince CSO leaders to develop a spe-
cial farm labor union that would work to improve the rights of migrant
workers. When the CSO refused to do so, Chdvez resigned from the or-
ganization in 1962.
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Chavez returned to Delano, where he began to organize the National
Farm Workers Association. For several years, Chdvez worked eighteen-
hour days for very little or no money at all. By continually pressing ahead
with his efforts, he slowly increased the union membership.

Huelga!

In 1965, the migrant grape pickers in Delano, who worked under harsh
conditions for a dollar an hour, went on strike (stopped working).
Though Chévez had not agreed with the timing of the strike, once the
huelga (Spanish for “strike”) was on, Chdvez worked tirelessly for the
cause. The picket lines grew as more and more workers left the fields.
Nonetheless, the landowners refused to give in to the workers’ demands
for better wages and working conditions. Some even threatened the
workers with violence.

Chévez believed in nonviolent methods of social change (see civil dis-
obedience). He responded to the landowners’ threats by calling for a coun-
trywide boycott of grapes. By discouraging the American people from
buying grapes until working conditions for grape pickers improved, he at-
tracted national attention to the plight of the farm workers. Many large
labor unions supported Chdvez and the strikers, including the American
Federation of Labor—Congress of Industrial Organizations (AFL-CIO)
and the United Auto Workers. Robert F. Kennedy (1925-1968), an in-
fluential senator from New York, gave his support to the cause.

In March 1966, the strikers marched 250 miles from Delano to the
California capital of Sacramento to take their demands to state officials.
By the time they arrived, one of the large grape companies had agreed to
sign a contract with the workers.

To strengthen the association, Chdvez merged his organization with
part of the AFL-CIO, America’s oldest and strongest group of unions.
The new union was called the United Farm Workers Organizing
Committee (UFWOC). After 1972, it was known simply as the United
Farm Workers (UFW).

Hunger strike

The struggle against the grape growers continued throughout the late
1960s. In February 1968, to draw more attention to the strike, Chévez
began a twenty-five-day fast, during which he ate no solid food. People
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across the nation sympathized with Chdvez’s commitment to the cause
and his nonviolent means to achieve justice. The grape boycott spread
and the grape companies lost money. Finally, in June 1970, vineyard
owners agreed to a contract with the UFWOC that gave workers health
insurance benefits and a raise in pay.

Chdvez turned his attention to the problems of America’s lettuce
workers. The Teamsters, a large union of truck drivers and warehouse
workers, had signed contracts with lettuce growers that hurt rather than
helped migrant workers. Chédvez again organized strikes and rallies, and
he called for a national boycott of lettuce. The struggle against the grow-
ers and the Teamsters, which at times grew violent, finally came to an
end in 1975 when California governor Jerry Brown (1938-) signed into
law the state’s Agricultural Labor Relations Act. This was the first bill of
rights for farm workers ever enacted in the United States, and it allowed
them to vote on which union would best represent their needs. In elec-
tions held in August of that year, the UFW easily beat the Teamsters.

Continues fight

In the 1980s, Chévez protested against grape growers who used pesti-
cides (chemicals used to kill insects) on their crops. He believed the pes-
ticides were dangerous to the farm workers who picked the grapes and to
the consumers. He called for another boycott, and in 1988 he fasted for
thirty-six days. Although his fast again gained national attention, the
boycott did not take hold as earlier ones had.

Chavez died in his sleep on April 23, 1993. More than thirty thou-
sand mourners formed a three-mile-long funeral procession to carry his
body to its final resting place. In 1994, President Bill Clinton (1946—;
served 1993-2001) posthumously awarded Chdvez the Presidential
Medal of Freedom, the nation’s highest civilian honor.

Checks and Balances

Checks and balances refers to a system of separation of powers within a
government. The framework of separation is intended to balance govern-
mental power to prevent any part of the government from overreaching
its defined responsibilities. The Constitution of the United States, writ-
ten in 1787 and adopted in 1788, established a system of checks and bal-
ances for the U.S. federal government.
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Systems of government throughout the world use different systems
of checks and balances. The Constitution defines three divisions of gov-
ernment for the United States: the legislative branch, the executive
branch, and the judicial branch. Each branch is responsible for a sepa-
rate governmental function, and the conduct of each branch can be eval-
uated and challenged (or “checked”) by the other two branches, at least

to some extent.

The three branches

The legislative branch is made up of two separate chambers of Congress:
the Senate and the House of Representatives. Congress is responsible for
making the nation’s laws. Each chamber checks the power of the other,
as both need to approve bills (proposed laws) for them to become laws.
The legislative branch as a whole is checked by the powers of the other
two branches. The judicial branch has the ability to decide that a law is
unconstitutional and therefore invalid. It also has the power to interpret
what a federal law means. The executive branch has the ability, through
the president, to veto, or reject, a law passed by Congress. A presidential
veto can be overridden by a two-thirds vote of Congress.

The executive branch, led by the president, has the responsibility of
enforcing the nation’s laws. The armed forces as well as many adminis-
trative and regulatory departments and agencies are under the control of
the executive branch. The judicial branch checks the executive branch by
interpreting the laws in legal cases involving the executive branch and its
departments. The legislative branch balances the executive branch by
overriding presidential vetoes, approving presidential appointments, and
using the power to impeach and remove executive officers who commit

certain crimes.

The judicial branch consists of a system of federal courts, with the
U.S. Supreme Court at the top. The Supreme Court has the responsi-
bility of hearing cases that involve constitutional questions and federal
laws, and it makes decisions based on its interpretations of those laws.
The executive branch has the ability to appoint judges as openings occur.
The legislative branch has to approve those appointments and has the
power to impeach judges if needed. By using amendments to rewrite
laws, Congress has the power to change the effect of a court’s interpreta-

tion of the laws.
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The authors of the Constitution embraced the system of checks and
balances, knowing the danger of abuse of governmental power. By estab-
lishing three branches of government, they attempted to ensure that no
single branch would wield more power than the others by compelling
each branch to be checked by the other two. Over time, interpretation
of the Constitution and laws has created a complex system of ways in
which the checks and balances function.

Chicago Seven Trial

The Chicago Seven—or Eight, as they were before one was eliminated
from the case—were defendants in one of the most celebrated political
trials in American history. The trial was a showcase of 1960s countercul-
ture, which mixed radical—and very youthful—politics with the era’s
cultural movements, such as self-expression, sexual liberation, recre-

ational drug use, and rock and roll music.

Democratic Convention, 1968

In August 1968, the Democratic Party held its national convention in
Chicago, Illinois. (National conventions are meetings of the delegates of
a political party held every four years to nominate the party’s presiden-
tial and vice presidential candidates.) At the time, U.S. involvement in
the Vietnam War (1954-75) and the struggle of the civil rights move-
ment were causing passionate protest movements throughout the United
States. Two groups, the National Mobilization Committee to End the
War in Vietham (MOBE) and the Youth International Party (YIR
known as “Yippies”), planned protest demonstrations in Chicago during
the national convention.

As the convention approached, Chicago mayor Richard ]. Daley
(1902-1976) denied almost all protest permit requests, and prepared to
fight the protesters. The five thousand demonstrators who gathered in
Chicago were confronted by twelve thousand police officers, six thou-
sand U.S. Army troops, and five thousand National Guard members.
Police repeatedly attacked the demonstrators with tear gas, guns, and
clubs. On the worst night, police clubbed and pushed demonstrators
through a plate-glass window as television cameras rolled. Hundreds of
protesters were arrested, and hundreds more were injured in the tumult.
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The Anti-Riot Act

Earlier in 1968, a group of conservative senators had passed a provision
that came to be known as the Anti-Riot Act. The new statute made it a
violation of federal law to travel in or use the facilities of interstate com-
merce (such as buses or trains) with the intent to incite riot. After the
convention, the U.S. Justice Department drew up indictments (official
criminal charges) for violation of the act against five MOBE and Yippie
leaders, plus three other men involved in the protests.

A committee appointed by outgoing president Lyndon B. Johnson
(1908-1973; served 1963-69) to investigate the incident concluded that
unrestrained police violence had been responsible for the episode.
Nonetheless, the newly installed administration of President Richard M.
Nixon (1913-1994; served 1969-74) decided in March 1969 to indict
eight protest leaders for conspiracy to commit one or more of three of-
fenses: crossing state lines with intent to riot; teaching the making of in-
cendiary (fire-related) devices; and obstructing firefighters and police
from performing their duties. Two defendants—John Froines (1939-)
and Lee Weiner—were relatively unknown campus activists barely men-
tioned in the trial and cleared by the jury on all counts. The other six—
David Dellinger (1915-2004), Rennie Davis (1941-), Tom Hayden
(1939-), Jerry Rubin (1938-1994), Abbie Hoffman (1936-1989), and
Bobby Seale (1937-)—were prominent radicals.

The players

Tom Hayden was a long-time leader of Students for a Democratic
Society (SDS), a social-justice organization. He had also worked with
the African American civil rights organization Student Nonviolent
Coordinating Committee (SNCC). In 1962, Hayden wrote 7he Port
Huron Statement, which described SDS philosophy and served as a gen-
eral guide for the New Left, the collective term used to describe the
1960s and 1970s movement focusing on college campus mass protest
and other radical actions.

Hayden’s close friend Rennie Davis was also an active SDS leader,
and the two of them had previously organized political events with long-
time peace activist and MOBE leader David Dellinger. In early 1968,
Davis and Hayden convinced Dellinger’s organization to send them all
to Chicago to prepare for large-scale antiwar demonstrations at the
Democratic Convention.
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The Chicago Seven defendants, back row from lefi: Abbie Hoffinan, John Froines, Lee Weiner, David Dellinger, Rennie Davis,
and Tom Hayden; in the front Jerry Rubin (and his girlfriend). AP IMAGES
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Jerry Rubin came to Chicago by a different route. A full-time activist
for civil rights, he had participated in the Free Speech Movement of
1964 at the University of California’s Berkeley campus. Rubin developed
a reputation for theatrical politics in 1966 when he was summoned for
questioning by the anticommunist House Un-American Activities
Committee (HUAC). He arrived dressed as a soldier from the American
Revolution and started passing out copies of the Declaration of
Independence. Rubin had moved to New York to join Abbie Hoffman’s
efforts to fuse cultural and political radicalism. Together, Hoffman and
Rubin had carried out a series of creative and absurd actions, such as
throwing wads of dollar bills over the observation ledge of the New York
Stock Exchange, causing all business on the floor below to stop as bro-
kers scrambled for the money. In 1967, they created the “Yippie!” move-
ment. In a January 1968 statement, the Yippies announced a “Festival of
Life” to serve as an alternative to the upcoming “Convention of Death”

in Chicago.
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Bobby Seale was chair of the Black Panther Party, a revolutionary
organization that promoted the organization and self-defense of black
people. Seale was an odd addition to the Chicago Eight. He had been in
Chicago only one night and had not even met some of the other defen-
dants with whom he had allegedly conspired. He was one of the few
Panther leaders to have escaped exile and jail until then, and many his-
torians believe that law enforcement authorities were eager to pin some-
thing on him.

The trial begins

Despite the diverse backgrounds of all of the defendants, government
prosecutors alleged that they comprised a single conspiracy. The protest
was called a “riot.” The trial opened on September 24, 1969. Noted civil
rights lawyer William Kunstler (1919-1995) led the defense. Judge
Julius Hoffman (1895-1983) presided. Hoffman (no relation to Abbie)
was a 74-year-old Republican millionaire with substantial investments in
the defense industry and little or no patience with the countercultural

movement or its leaders.

The “Eight” becomes “Seven”

The first clash of the trial concerned Seale, whose attorney had to un-
dergo surgery just before the trial. Judge Hoffman refused to delay the
trial, thus denying Seale the attorney of his choice, and refused to permit
Seale to defend himself. As the trial began, Seale interrupted every time
his name was mentioned, and called the judge names for refusing to let
him represent himself. On October 28, Judge Hoffman warned Seale
that he could be bound and gagged if he continued, and the next day the
judge followed through on his promise. Although physically constrained,
Seale managed to free himself a number of times. Eventually, Judge
Hoffman ruled Seale’s case a mistrial, sentencing him to several years in

jail for contempt. The Chicago Eight became the Chicago Seven.

Theatrical display
As the trial focused on the remaining seven defendants, it seemed that
the entire American counterculture movement was on display. Defense

witnesses included a long list of counterculture celebrities: Beat poet
Allen Ginsberg (1926-1997); author Norman Mailer (1923-2007); co-
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median Dick Gregory (1932-); psychedelic drug research advocate
Timothy Leary (1920-1996); and rock stars, leftist political figures, and
many other well-known faces of the era.

The trial sometimes had a playful character to it. The defendants
found that the trial had given them a priceless opportunity to publicize
their views. The defense and the prosecution traded insults and offended
the standards of courtroom propriety outrageously. In October, the
National Guard had to be called to manage the unruly crowds gathering
outside the courtroom.

The defense tried to establish that the primary responsibility for the
violence lay with Mayor Daley and law enforcement officials. It also ar-
gued that the Anti-Riot Act violated constitutional rights to freedom of
speech and assembly and that it had been introduced by legislators who

Demonstrators attack Chicago police outside the trial of the Chicago Seven. Many in the counterculture movement saw the trial
as an indictment of their way of life. NATIONAL ARCHIVES AND RECORDS ADMINISTRATION
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wanted to stop the progress of the African American Civil Rights
Movement. The defense pointed out that the charge of “conspiracy to in-
cite riot” is so vague that it could easily be applied to people planning a
peaceful protest demonstration.

The verdicts

In February 1970, the jury cleared Froines and Weiner of all charges. It
found the other five defendants innocent of conspiracy, but guilty of in-
citement to riot. Judge Hoffman sentenced each to the maximum five
years in prison and $5,000 fine and gave them additional jail sentences
for contempt. The high-publicity trial had generated a great deal of sup-
port for the defendants. Half a million people protested the verdict
across the country. Protesters in California burned a bank to the ground.

After the defendants had spent several weeks in jail, a federal court
of appeals released them on bail. On November 1, 1972, the court re-
versed the earlier conviction. Years later, records were released that re-
vealed an unethical collaboration among Judge Hoffman, the
prosecutors, and the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) to secure a
conviction. Several jurors said that they had been intimidated into a
guilty vote. Another trial was held on the contempt charges in late 1973.
Dellinger, Hoffman, Rubin, and even Kunstler were convicted, but the
presiding judge decided not to sentence them to any time in jail. At last,

the Chicago Seven trial was over.

Child Labor in the Early Twentieth
Century

The 1900 U.S. census (a count of the nation’s population and related sta-
tistics taken every ten years) showed that 1.75 million children (about
18.2 percent) aged ten to fifteen years old were working. Not included
in the census were children younger than ten who held jobs in mills, in
factories, and on the streets. Had this group been included, the total
number of child laborers would have exceeded two million (about 21
percent).

Children held many types of jobs. Kids as young as five often

worked as newsies (children who sold newspapers on the streets), toiling
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into the midnight hours. They often got sick because of the long hours
and bad weather, and many died due to lack of nutrition and medicine.

Other young children worked in factories, running large machines.
They worked twelve- to fourteen-hour shifts, eating only during break
time. Children’s jobs also included rolling cigars, weaving baskets, pick-
ing fruit, working with oysters and shrimp, and setting bowling pins.
Many of these jobs required children to work many hours even before

sunrise.

Many children also worked informally in fabric mills, tagging along
with an older sibling. The average pay for children in fabric mills was 48
cents for a twelve-hour day. A Georgia widow and five of her nine chil-
dren worked in a mill in 1909 and earned $9 per week (about $166.38
a week in modern currency). Children were paid less than adults, who
were also underpaid during the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.

At that time, many believed that children should work because it helped
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them develop a strong work ethic. Many employers took advantage of
children; parents found it difficult to keep their kids away from hard

labor because the additional income was crucial to the family’s survival.

Breaker boys

The most difficult child labor of the era involved children working in an-
thracite (hard) coal mines. (See Coal Mining.) Mining families were tra-
ditionally large, with many children. Eight- or nine-year-old boys would
lie about their age in order to secure a job in a breaker (a large factory
where coal is processed). These young boys came to be known as breaker
boys.

A breaker boy typically began work at 7:00 AM and worked ten-hour
days. He was paid 5 to 7 cents an hour. Sitting on a wooden bench across
from a long chute, the breaker boy’s job was to separate—by hand—slate
rock from broken coal. Most boys could not afford gloves, so their un-
protected fingers were usually bloody from the sharp slate. Boys who fell
asleep or who did not work fast enough would be struck with a cane or

a whip.
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A common saying about coal miners was “Once a man, twice a boy.”
Most miners began their careers as breaker boys. They moved onto mine
work, then returned to the breakers when black lung (a medical condi-
tion caused by breathing coal dust) forced them out of the mines. The
average life span of a miner was 32 years. Early death occurred due to
black lung, explosions, or machine accidents. Because the job was con-
sidered too dangerous, insurance companies provided no coverage,
meaning injured workers could not receive medical treatment and fami-

lies received no financial compensation when a loved one died.

Finally, labor reform

Before the federal government passed legislation to regulate labor laws,
many states enacted their own laws. For example, by 1914, most states
set the minimum child labor age at twelve or fourteen; a maximum
workday was ten hours. Even with the new laws, enforcement was diffi-
cult, and parents encouraged their children to lie about their ages in
order to add money to a family’s income.

Slowly, legislation continued to pass that helped children. In 1902,
for example, Maryland became the first state to pass workman’s compen-
sation laws, which assured workers hurt on the job that they would re-
ceive some income while they were away from work recovering from
their injury. In 1904, the National Child Labor Committee (NCLC)
formed. The NCLC fought hard for federal child labor law reform. The
first federal child labor law passed in 1916 but was in effect only until
1918. The law prohibited employers from moving goods across state
lines if they violated minimum age laws. But like many other laws of its
kind, this legislation failed because it was nearly impossible to enforce.
In 1916, the Keating-Owens Act passed, requiring children in industry
to be at least fourteen years old and those in mining to be at least sixteen.
Children under the age of sixteen were forbidden to work eight-hour
days or to work nights.

In 1938, the Fair Labor Standards Act became law, regulating and
enforcing for the first time minimum ages of employment and work
hours for children. (See also Labor Movement.)

Chinese Immigration

See Asian Immigration
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Shirley Chisholm

Clear-sighted, well-spoken, and feisty, Shirley Anita St. Hill Chisholm
was the first black woman to be elected to the U.S. Congress.

Early life

Shirley Chisholm was born on November 30, 1924. Her parents were
immigrants to the United States. Her father, Charles St. Hill, was a fac-
tory worker from British Guiana; her mother, Ruby (Seale) St. Hill, was
a seamstress from Barbados. The young couple had a hard time making
ends meet, and in the hopes of saving some of their sparse earnings, they
sent their children back to the Caribbean. When Shirley was three, she
and her two younger sisters, Muriel and Odessa, went to live with their
grandmother in Barbados, where they stayed for seven years.

Education on the island was extremely thorough. Chisholm was far
ahead of other students when she returned to New York at the age of ten.
An outstanding student, she was offered scholarships to Vassar and
Oberlin colleges when she graduated from high school. She enrolled at
Brooklyn College, which was less costly.

Introduced to local politics

At Brooklyn College in the 1940s, Chisholm majored in sociology and
planned to become a teacher, since at that time teaching was one of the
few professions open to black women. She graduated with honors in
1946, and taught nursery school while studying for a master’s degree in
elementary education at Columbia University. During these years,
Chisholm joined the Harriet Tubman Society and began actively partic-
ipating in the movement to end oppression and to promote black racial
consciousness and pride. In 1949, she married fellow Columbia student
Conrad Chisholm, and in 1952 she received her master’s degree. While
teaching and working as a New York City education consultant,
Chisholm joined a campaign to get a black lawyer elected as a district
court judge, her first taste of politics.

Taking politics to Washington

In 1960, Chisholm helped form the Unity Democratic Club to get more
black people elected in New York State, and in 1964 Chisholm offered
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herself as a Democratic candidate for the New York State Assembly.
Despite some opposition, she was chosen as the candidate. Knowing it
would be a battle to win the election, she went all out, speaking on street
corners and in neighborhood halls, talking to Puerto Ricans in Spanish
(which she had learned at college), and successfully winning over the vot-
ers, especially the women. Chisholm won by a huge margin.

Chisholm served on the assembly for the next four years, gaining a
reputation as a hardworking, no-nonsense legislator. She introduced
more than fifty bills and was particularly pleased with two of those that
were passed. One of them set up a program called SEEK, which sought
out disadvantaged children in the schools in order to help them get to
college. The other introduced the state’s first unemployment insurance
program for domestic workers.

In 1968, Chisholm decided to run for a seat in the U.S. House of
Representatives. The Republican candidate was popular civil rights
leader James Farmer (1920-1999), and he had far more campaign funds
than she could hope to raise. Undaunted, Chisholm campaigned under
the slogan “Fighting Shirley Chisholm: Unbought and Unbossed” and

was elected to Congress by a landslide.

Concern for the poor and disadvantaged

Chisholm served in the House of Representatives from 1968 to 1983. As
the first black congresswoman, she made it her business to sponsor bills
that helped the poor and disadvantaged and to push for equality for eth-
nic minorities and for women. Meanwhile, as “fighting Shirley
Chisholm,” she spoke up for the causes she believed in. In her first
speech in the House, she spoke out against the Vietnam War (1954-75).

Running for the presidency

In 1972, Chisholm decided to run as a Democratic candidate in the
presidential election. It was clear from the beginning that she stood no
chance of winning the nomination. She explained her presidential cam-
paign in her 1973 book, The Good Fight, “The mere fact that a black
woman dared to run for President, seriously, not expecting to win but
sincerely trying to, is what it was all about. ‘It can be done.” That was
what I was trying to say.”
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Chisholm retired from Congress in 1983. She then returned to
teaching and taught at Mount Holyoke College in Massachusetts for
the next four years. She died January 1, 2005, at the age of 80.

Church of Jesus Christ of
Latter-day Saints

The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints (LDS), better known as
the Mormon Church, grew from a small group of followers in 1823 to
about twelve million members worldwide in 2005. Its successes stemmed
from a number of factors: a highly appealing founder, persecution from
outside that pulled its members tightly together, and an appeal to the
passions of a young nation. Two elements of the original church’s doc-
trine—its sanction (formal approval) of “plural marriage,” or polygamy
(having more than one spouse) and its union of religion and politics—
brought great opposition from non-Mormons in the nineteenth century.
In the twentieth century, the church adapted and prospered, and in 2005
it claimed to be the fourth-largest religious institution in the United
States.

The founding of the church

According to LDS doctrine, in September 1823, the angel Moroni vis-
ited eighteen-year-old Joseph Smith (1805-1844) and told him that he
would find golden plates containing the lost history of the Americas in a
hill near his home in western New York. Once translated, these plates
would provide the basis for the restoration of the true church. Smith dis-
covered the plates and, in time, began their translation into English. In

1830, he published 7he Book of Mormon.

In April 1830, Smith formed the Church of Latter-day Saints.
Outwardly, the structure of the church was ordinary: a pyramid topped
by elders, who in turn ordained the church’s priests, teachers, and dea-
cons. The LDS church was distinguished by Smith’s claim that he was
God’s prophet and held absolute authority over all aspects of the lives of
the Latter-day Saints. From the start, there was no division between
church, politics, or business, and all were directed by Smith.

Over the next decade, Smith received more than one hundred direct
messages from God, which he called revelations. After 1835, there were
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three sources for the church’s doctrine: the Bible, 7he Book of Mormon,
and the revelations of Smith, which were compiled as Doctrines and
Covenants (1835).

Appeal of the doctrine

Mormons believed that God had withdrawn from the Christian
churches until the moment when Smith received his revelations. After
that, the Mormons possessed the sole authority to carry out God’s will
for humankind. For those who searched for religious authority, there was
no greater comfort than the belief in the direct revelation of God to the
Prophet Joseph.

Like other Christian religious groups, Mormons believed that the
day was soon coming when Christ would return to the world. At that
time, for the saved, the kingdom of heaven would reign on earth.
Mormons, therefore, dedicated their lives to the practical tasks of build-
ing the new kingdom. They worked hard and gave their fortunes to the
effort.

For Americans there was a special appeal to LDS doctrine. 7he Book
of Mormon provided a biblical history for the Americas, which literally
made the West (near Independence, Missouri) the site of Eden and
therefore the location of God’s restored kingdom. No other doctrine,
secular or religious, had placed American destiny in such a spectacular
historical context.

Finding a homeland

Hostility plagued the Mormons throughout their history. Non-Mormon
neighbors resented their success, and the American public at large feared
the peculiarities of their doctrines. Persecution, armed conflicts, and
massacres of Mormons forced the Mormons to move progressively west-
ward from Kirtland, Ohio, to western Missouri, and finally to Nauvoo,
Illinois. Each move reinforced the group’s consciousness of themselves as
special people, and they often compared themselves to the biblical
Hebrews.

The state of Illinois, desperate for settlers, granted a charter for the
Mormon city of Nauvoo in 1840 that established it as a separate city-
state within Illinois. With its own mayor, justices, and military, by 1844
Nauvoo had a population of ten thousand, not counting outlying
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Mormon communities. The ever-increasing membership came partly
from other countries. Smith sent missionaries to England and elsewhere
in Europe. From 1837 to 1846, about eighteen thousand Mormons were

baptized in Europe; forty-seven thousand of them journeyed to Nauvoo.

In Nauvoo, some of Smith’s most controversial revelations began to
surface, such as baptism to save the souls of the dead; his belief that
human beings could become gods as they progressed along a righteous
path; marriages that were “sealed” for all eternity, rather than until death
ended them; and plural marriage, or polygamy, for the elite male
Mormons (though revealed to, and practiced by, the inner core of the
group, plural marriage was kept secret from the general membership
until 1852).

Death of the Prophet

In 1844, Smith decided to run for the U.S. presidency, and among his
followers this seemed proper. He had brought the Mormons prosperity
and, temporarily, stability. In 1844, Nauvoo was a neat, bustling town,
with sawmills, flour mills, a tool factory, a foundry, a chinaware factory,

and, in the center, an unfinished, but spectacular, temple.

Despite the community’s evident successes, non-Mormon area resi-
dents denounced Nauvoo’s Mormon theocracy (a government in which
the political leaders are also the leaders of the religion and rule as repre-
sentatives of God). Rumors of bizarre beliefs, particularly the idea of
polygamy, inflamed public hostility. In the communities surrounding
Nauvoo, there were several instances of harassment. The Mormons were
by no means passive victims; the violence between Mormons and non-

Mormons was never one-sided.

In 1844, a group of ex-Mormons published an anti-Mormon news-
paper, and Smith sent his aides to destroy the printing office. Non-
Mormon neighbors were outraged at Smith’s scorn for fundamental
democratic principles such as freedom of the press. Soon Illinois militia
groups advanced on Nauvoo. After promises of safety from the governor,
Smith and three other Mormon leaders placed themselves in custody. On
the evening of June 27, 1844, an anti-Mormon group stormed the jail
and shot Joseph Smith and his brother to death.
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Succession

No provision had been made for a Mormon leader to replace Smith, and
after his death several factions that opposed polygamy tried to take over.
But one of Smith’s principle officers, Brigham Young (1801-1877),
proved the strongest contender. Whereas Smith had the ability to inspire,
Young had a gift for putting ideas into action. At a speech in August
1844 in which he argued for his authority to lead the Mormons, many
swore that, in a sudden transformation, Young now looked and sounded
like their late prophet. He was embraced by most as the new leader of
the Mormons, though some opposition groups left to form their own
churches.

Westward immigration

In January 1845, Illinois withdrew the charter for Nauvoo and de-
manded that the Mormons leave the state. Young had chosen a new
homeland for the Mormons in the arid Salt Lake Valley, then a neglected
possession of Mexico.

Beginning in February 1846, twelve thousand Mormons traveled
120 miles across Iowa and then waited out the winter near present-day
Omaha, Nebraska. There, Young prepared them for the thousand-mile
journey ahead. It was an organizational tour de force. Young divided the
emigrant families into groups of tens, fifties, and hundreds, assigned
leaders to each unit, and ensured that each company had the necessary
supplies and survival skills. In April 1847, a group of Mormons who had
gone ahead of the rest arrived in the Salt Lake Valley and began to pre-
pare the site of their new homeland.

Salt Lake City

Within months of their arrival, the Mormons had established a thriving
community. At the center of the city was the site for the temple, from
which streets radiated out. The area was divided into ten-acre blocks,
which in turn were partitioned into eight lots of 1.25 acres each.

The Council of Fifty, the acting governing body over the Mormons,
organized the settlement into wards of seventy to one hundred families.
An appointed bishop was in charge of each ward. His functions were
both practical and spiritual and included oversight of schools, worship,
provisions for the poor, and public works.
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The economy was dictated by the scarce resources of the Salt Lake
Valley. Each family was required to contribute one-tenth of its livestock,
grain, flour, butter, eggs, vegetables, and other goods to a storehouse for
distribution to the poor or for times of shortage.

Strong missionary drives began soon after the Mormons resettled.
By 1845, nearly 2,000 young men had set out to recruit new members.
The church established a Perpetual Emigrating Fund to provide loans to
emigrants. Between 1852 and 1855, 10,000 migrants received its assis-
tance. Of the 22,000 converts traveling to the Salt Lake valley through
1855, 19,500 were from Great Britain, 2,000 were Scandinavians, and
the rest were French, Italians, and Germans.

Deseret

In 1849, the Mormons established their colony as the State of Deseret,
which encompassed 210,000 square miles and included present-day
Nevada, western Utah, southern parts of Wyoming, Idaho, and
Oregon, and most of southern California. The Mormons lobbied the
federal government to accept Deseret as a new state, but instead,
Congress annexed the area as Utah Territory, naming Young the first ter-
ritorial governor. For several years, there was little outside intervention in
Mormon affairs, though relations with federal appointees were often bit-
ter.

In 1852, Young publicly announced the revelation that had been
kept secret since 1843: that plural marriage was a holy practice and the
duty of Mormon males deemed worthy of the privilege. Young an-
nounced that he himself had more than twenty wives. Most Mormons

accepted the revelation; the rest of the nation was scandalized by it.

Mountain Meadows massacre

In 1856, a new anti-Mormon movement arose in the United States.
President James Buchanan (1791-1868; served 1857-61) was pres-
sured to appoint a replacement for Young as governor. In 1857, he dis-
patched a force of twenty-five hundred soldiers to Utah to put down any
Mormon rebellion.

Fearful of being driven from yet another home and resentful of the
brutal attacks of the past, the Mormons prepared for all-out war. They
fortified the mountain passes and burned their supply forts. They also
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tried to convince the local Ute Indians to be their allies against the non-
Mormons. In August 1857, a peaceful wagon train from Arkansas passed
through Mormon territory on its way to California. Whipped up into an
exaggerated state of suspicion and hatred, a unit of Mormons led some
Ute allies in an attack on the wagon train. The next day, the Mormon sol-
diers killed in cold blood almost all of the wagon train’s 120 members in
what has come to be called the Mountain Meadows massacre.

After the massacre, Young negotiated with the federal government. A
new territorial governor was installed without further incident, and the
army set up camp forty miles outside of Salt Lake City to ensure the peace.

Modern LDS

Beginning in the 1880s, federal officials once more asserted their author-
ity against the practice of polygamy. Through court decisions and con-
gressional acts, the church was stripped of most of its property.
Polygamous men were imprisoned or forced to flee. Ordinary members
of the church lost their right to vote and to sit on juries. In 1890, faced
with unrelenting pressure, the head of the Mormon Church, Wilford
Woodruff (1807—1898), announced that he had received a revelation to
halt new polygamous unions. Soon, polygamy was banned by the church.

By the time Utah became a state in 1896, the church had taken its
place within the American mainstream. The Mormons have become one
of the largest religious institutions in the United States and also one of
the most prosperous, with further growth expected.

CIA

See Central Intelligence Agency

ClO

See American Federation of Labor—Congress of Industrial
Organizations

Civil Disobedience

Civil disobedience is the refusal to obey a rule or law in such a way as to
challenge or change it. Civil disobedience often takes the form of not co-
operating with objectionable regulations, as when African American
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Rosa Parks (1913-2005) refused to give up her bus seat to a white man
in Montgomery, Alabama, in 1955, defying a city law. Disrupting pub-
lic ceremonies, trespassing, and obstructing traffic are also forms of civil
disobedience. Private acts of civil disobedience include refusing to pay

one’s taxes or refusing to be drafted into the military.

Although some forms of civil disobedience may involve the use of vi-
olence, the history of civil disobedience in the United States is strongly
linked to nonviolent protest, which is not necessarily illegal. Nonviolent
protest methods include picketing, sit-ins, marches and demonstrations,
sit-down strikes, hunger strikes, and boycotts (refusal to do business with
someone to express disapproval). Civil disobedience and nonviolent
protest have played a large role in shaping U.S. history, particularly dur-
ing the Civil Rights Movement (1954-65).

The Influence of Thoreau and Gandhi

Civil disobedience and nonviolent protest were brought to the attention
of Americans by two early practitioners: American writer/philosopher
Henry David Thoreau (1817-1862) and Indian political and spiritual
leader Mohandas K. Gandhi (1869-1948). In 1846, Thoreau refused to
pay his poll taxes (a fixed tax for voting once used to keep African
Americans from voting). Thoreau was also jailed for his protest of the
Mexican-American War (1846—48). In his famous essay “On the Duty
of Civil Disobedience” (first delivered as a speech in 1848), Thoreau ad-
dressed the moral necessity of resisting laws that conflict with one’s indi-
vidual conscience. Arguing that a government that forces its citizens to
violate their personal morals is a bad government, he urged people to
consider civil disobedience.

In the early decades of the twentieth century in India, Gandhi em-
braced many of Thoreau’s ideas. He applied them, however, to a social
and political cause: Indian independence from British colonial rule.
Gandhi called his form of civil disobedience “nonviolent direct action,”
in order to avoid the idea of inaction. Pacifism (the rejection of violence)
was central to Gandhi’s vision. Though a devout Hindu, Gandhi was
heavily influenced by the New Testament idea of loving one’s enemy.
Gandhi’s nonviolent resistance played a major role in gaining India’s in-

dependence in 1947.
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African American activist

A. Philip Randolph rallied

blacks to adopt the method of

nonviolent protest to promote
civil rights. THE LIBRARY OF
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CONGRESS

Gandhi influences U.S. civil rights
movement

Civil disobedience and nonviolent protest were
adopted by a few African American civil rights
leaders in the first half of the twentieth century.
In 1941, African American activist A. Philip
Randolph (1889-1979) called for blacks to
adopt a strategy of direct-action, nonviolent
protest, including marches and huge demonstra-
tions in Washington, D.C. In the 1940s, a civil
rights organization called the Congress of Racial
Equality (CORE) blended Gandhi’s philosophy
with its own methods of nonviolent protest.
Like Gandhi, CORE called this method “nonvi-
olent direct action.”

Most black leaders in the years prior to

World War II (1939-45) frowned upon acts of

civil disobedience and protest, fearing backlash.

In the first half of the twentieth century, the

National Association for the Advancement of

Colored People (NAACP) was the front-runner among civil rights or-

ganizations. It brought case after case of racial injustice to the courts in

order to change discriminatory laws (laws that treated African Americans

differently than white people). NAACP and other civil rights leaders

promoted the ideal of accomodationism, in which African Americans

were advised to fit into their environment and prosper as best they could
in the hope of a better future.

Martin Luther King Jr. and nonviolence

In December 1955, civil rights activist Rosa Parks defied a Montgomery,
Alabama, city regulation by refusing to give up her seat on a city bus to
a white man. She was arrested for her act of civil disobedience. African
Americans in Montgomery quickly organized a protest on her behalf.
They appointed a young Baptist minister, Martin Luther King Jr.
(1929-1968), to lead their year-long Montgomery bus boycott. King
was well versed in the writings of Thoreau and Gandhi and deeply com-
mitted to the Christian concept of brotherly love, but he had not yet
committed himself to nonviolent protest. It was in the midst of the bus
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boycott that the twenty-six-year-old King realized that nonviolence was
the most powerful weapon that could be used against racial hatred and
prejudice.

King’s speeches and sermons began to address his new philosophy,
derived largely from Gandhi and the Bible. Because nonviolence was
widely viewed as “doing nothing,” King repeatedly emphasized the active
dimensions of nonviolence. It is only passive in the sense of refusing to
inflict physical harm on others, but it could—and often did—result in
physical injury to the protester. Like a soldier, a nonviolent protester was
highly trained for duty. The training involved learning not to hate indi-
vidual people. King warned those who wished to join his nonviolent
protest movement that they might be beaten, humiliated, insulted, or ar-
rested, but they were never to strike or talk back to those who tried to
harm them. The fight was between justice and nonjustice, or good and
evil, but never between people. The aim of the nonviolent protest was to
cause moral shame in the opponent, thus bringing about change. King
pointed out that African Americans, as only 10 percent of the popula-
tion, had little chance of achieving their goals by violent means. Their
best strategy for achieving justice was nonviolence.

In February 1958, King founded the Southern Christian
Leadership Conference (SCLC), a national organization dedicated to
nonviolence and to achieving justice for blacks in every segment of
American life. Along with CORE, it was one of several major civil rights
associations committed to nonviolent methods of protest.

SNCC

The Student Nonviolent Coordinating Committee (SNCC; pro-
nounced “Snick”) was founded in 1960, following the successful 1960
sit-in carried out by four black college students in Greensboro, North
Carolina. (See Sit-in Movement.) The students sat down at a racially
segregated lunch counter at a department store and were refused service
because of their race. The event sparked a wave of student sit-ins.
Frustrated by the accommodationist tactics of the NAACE, and the slow
pace of the SCLC, SNCC activists envisioned the possibility of immedi-
ate social change. SNCC workers took over the freedom rides of 1961,
in which volunteers defied the segregation regulations that were still
practiced in buses and bus depots. SNCC also worked on voter registra-
tion and education campaigns in the Deep South. SNCC volunteers liv-
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In 1965, during a peaceful march from Selma to Montgomery, Alabama, marchers were attacked by police, who used billy clubs

and threw tear gas. AP IMAGES
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ing in local rural communities in Mississippi, Alabama, and Georgia
were subjected to beatings, unlawful arrest, and even murder. Through
active nonviolent methods, these dedicated students brought to the
movement a sense of grave urgency and brought masses of black citizens
into the civil rights movement.

Bloody Sunday

In 1965, SNCC joined forces with the SCLC for the Selma-to-
Montgomery, Alabama, march in support of voting rights. On Sunday,
March 7, 1965, more than five hundred marchers set off from Selma on
the Edmund Pettus Bridge toward Montgomery. On the far side of the
bridge they encountered a small army of volunteers put together by the
local sheriff and well-equipped state troopers. The marchers were or-
dered to stop. Before they had a chance to disband, the police attacked
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them, some on horseback, others swinging billy clubs and whips, and
some wielding tear gas canisters. Eighty people were injured, some se-
verely. Television cameras were rolling, and footage of “Bloody Sunday,”
as it came to be called, outraged the nation. A second attempt at the
march was led by King, who encouraged the marchers to march peace-
fully past the angry crowds and to let them know that not even death
could stop African Americans from achieving equality. The march was at
least partly responsible for passage of the Voting Rights Act of 1965, a
milestone in the civil rights movement.

Bloody Sunday is often considered the crowning glory of King’s
nonviolent protest struggle. In bringing the struggle into the living
rooms of the American public and forcing the president to act, it
achieved its purpose without once resorting to violence.

After Bloody Sunday, though, the nonviolent protest era of the civil
rights movement began to splinter. SNCC moved away from its early
emphasis on nonviolence to the more militant (warlike) philosophy of
the black power movement. King turned his focus to northern eco-
nomic issues and protesting U.S. involvement in the Vietnam War
(1954-75) before his assassination in 1968. Nonetheless, his nonviolent
methods and philosophy were used by other minority groups, particu-
larly the Latino, Native American, and antiwar movements, of the

1970s.

Civil Liberties vs. Civil Defense

In the early twenty-first century, global conflicts and devastating terror-
ist acts created a widespread fear of violence on U.S. soil. As the U.S.
government took steps to protect its citizens, some attempts at civil de-
fense (emergency measures enacted in the event of natural disaster or
enemy attack) threatened many of the fundamental freedoms that
Americans cherish—their civil liberties. Civil liberties are individual
rights that are protected by laws and by the U.S. Constitution and its
amendments. Such rights include freedom of speech and religion and the
right to privacy and a fair trial.

Throughout U.S. history, the government has frequently made ef-
forts to restrict civil liberties during wars and other crises. These efforts

have involved wiretapping (listening to people’s phone calls or reading
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their e-mail) and other invasions of privacy; suspending the rights of
prisoners; racial profiling (when law enforcement authorities use charac-
teristics based on race to decide whether an individual might be guilty of
some crime and therefore worthy of investigation or arrest); and even
prohibiting public criticism of the government. The U.S. Constitution
makes no formal provision for restricting civil liberties in emergencies,
but during crisis situations judges, legislators, and presidents have gone
along with suspending certain rights normally taken for granted. Striking
a balance between civil liberties and civil defense in times of danger has
often been a challenge.

Historical background

The earliest instance of suspension of civil liberties in times of national
threat occurred soon after the founding of the nation with the Alien and
Sedition Acts of 1798. At the time, the United States seemed on the verge
of war with France. The three “Alien” acts gave the president the power to
deport suspected aliens, or people from other countries, and restricted the
voting rights of immigrants. The Sedition Act targeted all speeches and
writings that were believed to be critical of, or “against,” the government
of the United States. The four acts taken together gave the president broad
powers to seek out and suppress anyone, American or not, who expressed
views critical of the government’s policies. The acts became very unpopu-
lar and they were allowed to expire within a few years.

Wartime suspensions of civil liberties

President Abraham Lincoln (1809-1865; served 1861-65) initiated a
widespread suspension of civil liberties in an effort to maintain order
during the American Civil War (1861-65). His orders included censor-
ing the mail, imposing martial law (military rule of civilians during an
emergency), and suspending the privilege of the writ of habeas corpus—
the procedure by which individuals who have been imprisoned can re-
quest a court inquiry into whether they are being detained for legitimate
reasons.

The United States’s involvement in World War I (1914-18) pro-
voked serious and widespread abuses of civil liberties. In 1917, Congress
passed the much-debated Espionage Act, which made it a crime to make
false reports that might aid an enemy, incite rebellion within the armed
forces, or obstruct military recruitment. One of its provisions covered
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the use of the nation’s post office system. Any newspaper, pamphlet,
book, letter, or other writing advocating insurrection or the forcible re-
sistance to any U.S. law would be punishable by both fine and impris-
onment. The provisions concerning the nation’s mail gave the
government an opportunity to suppress dissent of almost every kind.
Many well-known Americans who criticized the act were imprisoned
under its powers. The Supreme Court ruled in favor of the Espionage
Act, saying that when a condition of national emergency arises, protec-
tions afforded by the First Amendment could be legitimately curtailed
if it was in the interest of national security.

The most dramatic suspension of civil liberties of World War II
(1939-45) took place at Japanese internment camps. Over one hun-
dred thousand Japanese Americans were forced into confinement in the
aftermath of the Japanese attack on the U.S. Navy base in Hawaii at
Pearl Harbor in December 1941. The internment of Japanese
Americans without any evidence of their connection to the Japanese war
effort, forcing them to leave their homes and businesses to live in remote
camps under guard, received the support of all three branches of the fed-
eral government. Many years later, in 1988,

President Ronald Reagan (1911-2004; served
1981-89) made a formal apology to the surviv-
ing Japanese Americans who had been interned;
the U.S. government paid nearly $1.65 billion

in reparations to former internees.

Red scares

After the Russian Revolution in 1917, an over-
whelming fear of radicalism gripped the United
States, even though there were few communists
in the country at that time. Communism is an
economic or political system in which property
is owned collectively by all members of society
and labor is organized for the common good. In
1919, the federal government launched nation-
wide raids to round up and detain alleged com-
munist radicals the government believed were
plotting to destroy the United States. U.S. attor-
ney general A. Mitchell Palmer (1872-1936) led
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this crusade, championing the “100 percent Americanism” philosophy.
At the height of this period, known as the Red Scare of 1920, the
American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU), a nongovernmental organi-
zation devoted to defending civil rights and civil liberties in the United
States, was founded. By the end of 1920, many Americans realized that
warnings of a communist threat had been greatly exaggerated.

Following World War II, the fear of communism grew in the United
States along with the developing Cold War. This was a period of non-
combative conflict, from the 1940s to the 1990s, between the commu-
nist East (the U.S.S.R. and the People’s Republic of China) and the
capitalist West (the United States and Western Europe). In 1950, little-
known U.S. senator Joseph McCarthy (1908-1957) of Wisconsin sud-
denly announced that he had “proof” of widespread communist activity
in the U.S. government, though he never provided any documentation
of this claim. That year, Congress passed the McCarran Internal Security
Act, virtually outlawing communism in the United States. This was fol-
lowed in 1954 with the Communist Control Act, forbidding commu-
nists from running for political office. Both laws were clearly in violation
of the First Amendment’s protection of freedom of association, but the
U.S. Supreme Court went along with them anyway. By 1954, blacklists
(lists of people who are in trouble or are being denied entrance or privi-
leges) were in place in the fields of education and entertainment (see
Hollywood Blacklisting); hundreds lost their jobs simply because they

dared to question the U.S. government.

Post 9/11 America

In the wake of the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks on U.S. soil,
for which terrorist group al-Qaeda claimed responsibility, the adminis-
tration of President George W. Bush (1946—; served 2001-) called for
increased security measures. On October 26, 2001, just six weeks after
the attacks, Bush signed into law the USA PATRIOT Act (or Uniting
and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to
Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism). The act was designed to give the
president extra powers to conduct a war on terrorism. Not surprisingly,
the act called for American citizens to give up some of their civil liberties

in the interest of the war on terror.
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Rights of prisoners
Within a month of the passing of the USA PATRIOT Act, the Federal
Bureau of Investigation (FBI) detained twelve hundred individuals for
questioning—the largest roundup since the internment of Japanese
Americans in the 1940s, and before that, the Palmer Raids of 1920.
Almost all of the detainees were from the Middle East or South Asia.
Under the USA PATRIOT Act, immigration officials could hold sus-
pects for a week without charging them and indefinitely if the detainee
was judged to be a national security threat.

On November 13, 2001, Bush stated in an executive order that any
noncitizen suspected of being a member of al-Qaeda, engaging in or sup-
porting terrorist actions, or harboring a terrorist was not subject to the

protections of the U.S. criminal justice system. Suspects were to be held

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History

Civil Liberties vs. Civil Defense

An army base at Guantanamo
Bay, Cuba, was converted into
a prison center for foreign
terror suspects; many were
abused during interrogation.
AP IMAGES

295



Civil Liberties vs. Civil Defense

296

by the Department of Defense at any location, even outside of the
United States, until their release or trial before a military tribunal. Unlike
a criminal court, only a two-thirds majority of the military tribunal was
necessary for conviction, and evidence could be withheld from the de-
fense team in the interest of national security. The individual had no
right to appeal the decision after conviction.

The government converted its army base at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba,
in 2002 into a prison and interrogation center for foreign terror suspects.
The first batch of prisoners was transported hooded and blindfolded to
the base. In all, about 775 prisoners were detained there. The U.S. gov-
ernment called them “enemy combatants,” refusing to grant them pris-
oner-of-war status, thus denying them protections under the Geneva
Conventions (international laws involving the humane treatment of pris-
oners of war). Many of the detainees at Guantanamo were held for years
without being charged with a crime. Some claimed they were tortured in
the prison, and many countries that are normally U.S. allies called for
the closing of the prison.

In 2006, the Supreme Court ruled against the Bush administration
on this issue, stating that the detainees were subject to the Geneva
Conventions and could not be tried by military tribunals. After years in
the prison, some were released without ever being charged. Less than a
hundred faced trials in U.S. courts. Nearly three hundred remained in
custody without charges.

Privacy invasions

In order to collect information that might lead to knowledge of possible
terrorist attacks, the Bush administration wished to suspend some of the
rights to privacy that Americans have long enjoyed. The USA PATRIOT
Act significantly eased restrictions on searches and surveillance (observa-
tion) by law enforcement agents. Government agents no longer needed
to show that any crime had been committed in order to carry out
searches on individuals. They could demand an individual’s records from
banks, brokerages, libraries, travel agencies, video stores, telephone serv-
ices, doctors, and places of worship without the person’s knowledge.

In 2002, President Bush secretly authorized government security
agents to wiretap (listen in on) the telephone conversations of U.S. citi-
zens without first getting a warrant from the courts if an agent had rea-
son to believe that the individual might be speaking to a member of a
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terrorist group. This is a policy called warrantless wiretapping. The na-
tion did not learn of it for several years. In 2006, the media also revealed
that the administration had a database with records of tens of millions of
U.S. phone records, from homes and businesses throughout the nation.
Under mounting criticism for acting without authorization, the Bush
administration agreed to return to having wiretapping overseen by the
federal courts.

The civil liberties versus civil defense debate will certainly continue.
Many Americans were only too willing to give up their rights to privacy
in the first, frightening days after the September 11, 2001, attacks. But
most Americans also believe that giving up the freedoms they treasure in
the United States—their civil rights—would mean that the terrorists had

won a large battle.

Civil Rights Act of 1866

The Civil Rights Act of 1866 was the first piece of federal civil rights leg-
islation to be enacted into law. After the American Civil War (1861-65),
southern states resisted the new social status of freed blacks by enacting
Black Codes. Black Codes were state laws aimed at limiting the rights
and freedoms of blacks and avoiding their integration into white society.
Congress passed the Civil Rights Act of 1866 in an attempt to establish
and protect the rights of blacks against such measures.

The Act established the first definition of American citizenship, bas-
ing it on birth within the United States. It then set forth rights and priv-
ileges guaranteed to all citizens, regardless of race or color. Among them
were the ability to make contracts, to sue others, to inherit, purchase,
lease, or sell property, and to have access to court procedures. The act as-
serted that no state or local law could restrict these rights, and it author-
ized federal prosecution of those who attempted to prevent citizens from
exercising those rights.

The bill was authored by U.S. senator Lyman Trumbull
(1813-1896) of Illinois. Trumbull was a moderate Republican who had
initially supported the mild Reconstruction policies of President
Andrew Johnson (1808-1875; served 1865—69); these policies were de-
signed to bring the secessionist South back into the federal Union by a

fair and just process. Interracial violence, however, had risen to such lev-
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els that Trumbull became a strong advocate of federal legislation to pro-
tect the civil rights of blacks.

There were many radical Republicans who sought to strengthen the
bill by adding protection for black voting rights and continuous federal
scrutiny of state and local actions. The bill, however, passed both houses
of Congress with nearly unanimous support in February 1866 without
such additional measures. President Johnson rejected the bill with a pres-
idential veto. On April 9, 1866, Congtess overrode the veto, making the
Civil Rights Act the first piece of legislation to be passed in spite of a
presidential veto.

The Civil Rights Act of 1866 proved to be difficult to enforce.
Deliberation over the bill, however, contributed to Congress’s decision to
prepare a constitutional amendment to provide an adequate foundation
for civil rights legislation. The Fourteenth Amendment, proposed later
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that year and adopted in 1868, supplied a permanent federal definition
of American and state citizenship and strengthened the equal protection
implications of the Civil Rights Act of 1866. Supreme Court interpre-
tation of the Fourteenth Amendment, however, would enable states to
treat blacks unequally under the law until the civil rights movement in
the middle of the twentieth century.

Civil Rights Act of 1964

The 1964 Civil Rights Act was the most far-reaching civil rights act
passed by the U.S. Congress since the Reconstruction Era (1865-77;
the period after the American Civil War, during which the southern
states were reorganized and brought back into the Union). The act elim-
inated some of the obstacles to voting faced by African Americans, pro-
hibited segregation (separation of blacks and whites) in public
accommodations, ordered the desegregation of public schools, and
made it illegal to discriminate against minorities in the workplace.
Although many observers felt that the act did not go far enough, it was
a milestone in the civil rights movement.

Background

The road to the passage of the Civil Rights Act was long and difficult. In
June 1963, President John F. Kennedy (1917-1963; served 1961-63),
under intense pressure from civil rights groups, urged Congress to enact
a bill to meet the demands of African Americans for equality. The bill he
proposed included sections dealing with segregation and discrimination
in public facilities, employment, federally assisted programs, and edu-
cation.

Two days after the bill was put before Congress, Kennedy was assas-
sinated. His successor, President Lyndon B. Johnson (1908-1973;
served 1963-69), urged Congress to pass the bill. Earlier in his political
career, Johnson had opposed most civil rights measures, but during his
years in the Senate his views had changed. As vice president and then as
president, he surprised the nation by making a vigorous commitment to
civil rights. He faced strong opposition in the Senate from southerners
who feared that the Civil Rights Act would allow the federal government
to interfere in their local affairs. Johnson continued to press Congress to
pass the act even though he knew his own Democratic Party could lose
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U.S. president Lyndon Johnson shakes hands with civil rights leader Martin Luther King Jr. after the signing of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964. The act prohibited segregation, ordered desegregation of public schools, and made discrimination in the workplace
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its large base of southern voters because of it. After a major struggle in
the Senate, the Civil Rights Act of 1964 was passed on July 2.

Voting rights

In the early 1960s, unfairly administered literacy (reading and writing)
tests were being used in some southern states to keep blacks from voting.
Though the 1964 act did not eliminate literacy tests, it prohibited local
officials from applying different standards to blacks and whites when ad-
ministering the tests in federal elections.
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Simply making a law against voter discrimination was not enough;
some areas of the South had been finding ways to block African
Americans from voting since Reconstruction. Thus, the Civil Rights Act
provided the U.S. attorney general (the chief law enforcement officer of
the federal government) with authority to bring federal lawsuits if he or
she found a “pattern of discrimination” that prevented citizens from vot-
ing. Unfortunately, the process of going to court to prove voter discrim-

ination remained long and difficult under the act.

Public accommodation discrimination

The results of the public accommodations provisions of the 1964 act
were more impressive. Hotels, restaurants, service stations, entertain-
ment centers, and government-owned public facilities were forbidden to
discriminate or refuse service because of race, color, religion, or national
origin. The Civil Rights Act dramatically reduced discriminatory prac-
tices in this area; in a short time the rigid separation of the races in pub-

lic places was over.

Education

In 1954, the Supreme Court had ruled in Brown wv. Board of
Education that public schools must be desegregated (eliminating sepa-
ration of the races). Unfortunately, the Court had little power to enforce
the ruling and many American schools remained segregated. With the
Civil Rights Act of 1964, Congress took its place with the Court in the
stand against discrimination in schools. Desegregation of public schools,
however, proved extremely difficult, and in some areas it is still not ac-
complished today.

Employment and the addition of women'’s rights

Under the Civil Rights Act, employers were forbidden to discriminate on
the basis of race, color, religion, or national origin. Unlike the other parts
of the 1964 act, the section dealing with employment practices also cov-
ers discrimination based upon sex, protecting women as well as minor-
ity groups. The prohibition of sex discrimination set forth in the bill was
actually introduced by the Civil Rights Act’s opponents. They hoped
that members of Congress would be so outraged by the idea of equality
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for women they would refuse to pass the bill. Their plan backfired. The
bill passed, revolutionizing the legal status of female workers.

The employment section of the Civil Rights Act was not as effective
in practice as many had hoped. An Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission was established, but it did not have power to bring suit
against an employer. In cases of discrimination, the process to resolve the
problem was difficult.

Milestone

The 1964 Civil Rights Act was one of the most significant milestones in
the decade-long nonviolent struggle for civil rights. Bringing Congress
and the federal government fully into the civil rights struggle along with
the Supreme Court, the act made it clear for the first time that the gov-
ernment would live up to its constitutional requirements to protect all its
citizens.

It is nearly impossible to measure how much the Civil Rights of Act
of 1964 contributed to bringing equality between the races. Most ob-
servers agree that the act greatly changed public life in many southern
communities through its ban on discrimination in public accommoda-
tions. By most accounts, however, it did not go far enough in the quest
to end discrimination against African Americans and other minorities.

Civil Rights Act of 1972

See Equal Employment Opportunity Act

Civil Rights Movement (1954-65)

The American civil rights struggle is an ongoing fight for the personal
rights, protections, and privileges granted all U.S. citizens by the
Constitution and Bill of Rights. At the end of the American Civil War
(1861-65), constitutional amendments were enacted to protect African
Americans recently released from slavery. The Fourteenth Amendment
(1868) declared that all former slaves were U.S. citizens and received
equal protection under the laws of state and federal governments. The
Fifteenth Amendment (1870) assured equal voting rights to all citizens,
regardless of race. Until the 1950s, however, the civil rights of African
Americans were systematically denied, particularly in the South where
the majority of black Americans resided. A remarkable era of nonviolent
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Civil Rights Movement (1954-65)

African American activism began in 1954, known today simply as the
civil rights movement. It was launched by the Brown v. Board of
Education decision in 1954, in which the Supreme Court ruled that
segregation in the public schools was illegal. This phase of the civil
rights struggle ended with the passage in 1965 of the Voting Rights Act,
which—nearly a century after the Fifteenth Amendment had already

done so—once again assured voting rights to all citizens.

Background of the movement

After the Reconstruction Era (1865-77), a period after the Civil War in
which the federal government controlled the southern states that had se-
ceded (withdrawn) from the Union, whites in the South enacted the Jim
Crow laws. These were a series of laws throughout the South that re-
quired segregation, the separation of the races in public places. White
southern state legislatures limited African American rights to own land,
to enter certain occupations, and to gain access to the courts. By 1900,
southern whites had accomplished the disfranchisement (exclusion from
voting) of most southern blacks.

In the early twentieth century, because it was too dangerous to effec-
tively resist racial injustice in the South, most civil rights struggles were
carried out in the North. In 1905, black scholar and author W. E. B. Du
Bois (1868-1963) and other black leaders began the Niagara movement,
named after their meeting place near the Niagara River bordering the
United States and Canada, to fight racial injustice. Their organization
eventually became the National Association for the Advancement of
Colored People (NAACP), which fought for racial equality mainly
through the courts and the press. Until World War II (1939-45), the
NAACP’s progress was slow.

After the war, a new sense of urgency prevailed in American black
communities. Soldiers who had risked their lives to fight for the country
expected equal treatment when they returned home. More than one mil-
lion African Americans migrated from the rural South to northern cities
in the first decades of the century. Over two million blacks had registered
to vote by the late 1940s. In December 1948, President Harry S.
Truman (1884-1972; served 1945-53) ran for his second term as pres-
ident on a strong civil rights plank. Although some southern whites
quickly abandoned him, he received 70 percent of the northern black
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vote and won the election. Two years later, he
began to desegregate the armed forces.

By the late 1940s, the NAACP’s chief legal
counsel, Thurgood Marshall (1908-1993),
brought the principle of segregation in public
education before the Supreme Court. Marshall
argued that segregation denied blacks equal pro-
tection of the laws as guaranteed by the
Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution. In
1954, the Supreme Court unanimously ruled

against segregation in public schools in Brown v.
Board of Education.

The aftermath of Brown

Brown’s most immediate effect was to intensify
the resistance of white southerners to civil rights
progress. The Ku Klux Klan, a secret society of
white southerners in the United States that uses
terrorist tactics to suppress African Americans
and other minorities, stepped up its violent in-
timidation of African Americans. Southern congressmen and governors
vowed to resist desegregation. In 1957, when nine black students at-
tempted to attend classes at a formerly all-white school in Little Rock,
Arkansas, federal troops were required to protect them from the furious
white mobs. (See Little Rock Central High School Desegregation.)

Even so, Brown provided the spark that ignited a movement. African
Americans across the country recognized that the highest court had up-
held their rights; leaders began to prepare bolder assaults on segregation
in the South. One common form of protest is a boycott, an organized re-
fusal to do business with someone. In December 1955, blacks in
Montgomery, Alabama, organized a bus boycott after the former
NAACP secretary of the Montgomery branch, Rosa Parks
(1913-2005), was arrested for refusing to yield her seat to a white man.
(See Montgomery Bus Boycott.) The boycott leader was Martin
Luther King Jr. (1929-1968). Only twenty-six years old, the minister
from Atlanta was an inspiring speaker who invoked Christian morality,
American ideals of liberty, and the ethic of nonviolent resistance in his
campaign against racial injustice. In November 1956, despite growing
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white violence, the bus boycott triumphed when a Supreme Court deci-
sion overturned Montgomery’s laws enforcing bus segregation.

Nonviolent activists organize

In 1957, Congress passed the first Civil Rights Act since the
Reconstruction Era. African Americans, however, had seen that court de-
cisions and federal acts had consistently failed to make changes, so dur-
ing the late 1950s they moved their struggle for equality to the streets.
In January 1957, King organized the Southern Christian Leadership
Conference (SCLC), a network of nonviolent civil rights activists drawn
mainly from African American churches.

In 1960, four African American students began the sit-in move-
ment, when they sat at the lunch counter at a Woolworth’s store in
Greensboro, North Carolina, which served only whites. The store closed
down the lunch counter. Later that year, several hundred student activists
gathered in Raleigh, North Carolina, to form the Student Nonviolent
Coordinating Committee (SNCC, pronounced “snick”) to promote
nonviolent resistance to Jim Crow laws. By the summer of 1960, the sit-
ins had desegregated dozens of lunch counters
and other public accommodations, mainly in
southern border states. Guided by King and
other nonviolent activist leaders, protesters
courageously endured insults, intimidation, vio-
lence, and arrest without striking back.

The Kennedy administration

Black protests intensified during the presidency
of John F. Kennedy (1917-1963; served
1961-63), a Democrat elected in 1960 with
heavy black support. Kennedy had started out
his administration avoiding civil rights measures
that might trigger southern white racial violence
and political retaliation. Civil rights leaders
stepped up campaigns to pressure Kennedy to
fulfill his campaign promises. In 1961, a nonvi-
olent civil rights group called the Congress of
Racial Equality (CORE) organized the freedom

rides, in which volunteers rode buses through
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the South, testing compliance with a Supreme Court order to desegre-
gate interstate bus terminal facilities. White mobs beat the riders in
Birmingham and Montgomery, Alabama. As several hundred more vol-
unteers stepped in to continue the project, Kennedy quietly persuaded
southern communities to desegregate their bus terminals.

In 1962, Kennedy again was forced into action. He sent federal mar-
shals to protect a black student named James Meredith (1933-), who
had registered at the all-white University of Mississippi at Oxford. After
mobs killed two people at the campus and besieged the marshals, the
president reluctantly called in more troops to restore order.

In 1963, demonstrations throughout the South led to fifteen thou-
sand arrests and widespread white violence. On May 3 and for several
days afterward, police in Birmingham beat and unleashed attack dogs on
nonviolent followers of King, in full view of television news cameras.
The resulting public revulsion over the Birmingham protests spurred
Kennedy to urge Congress to enact a strong civil rights law.

“l Have a Dream”

A coalition of African American groups and their white allies sponsored
a march on Washington, D.C., on August 28, 1963, to advance the civil
rights bill then before Congress. Standing before the Lincoln Memorial,
King delivered his famous plea for interracial brotherhood in his “I Have
a Dream” speech, enthralling several hundred thousand blacks and
whites.

On July 2, 1964, President Lyndon B. Johnson (1908-1973;
served 1963-69) signed the Civil Rights Act of 1964, which barred seg-
regation in public accommodations, ended federal aid to segregated in-
stitutions, outlawed racial discrimination in employment, sought to
strengthen black voting rights, and extended the life of the U.S.
Commission on Civil Rights.

Voting rights in the South

In 1964, SNCC initiated Freedom Summer, a massive black voter reg-
istration and education campaign aimed at challenging white supremacy
in the deep South, starting in Mississippi. About one thousand college
students, most of them white, volunteered. The freedom workers were
not well received by a segment of Mississippi’s white population. Three
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volunteers were murdered by a mob led by the deputy sheriff of a
Mississippi town. Nevertheless, the project continued.

In 1965, King led a march from Selma to Montgomery, Alabama, to
extend voting rights to black Americans. State and local police almost
immediately attacked the black marchers, stopping the march. The tele-
vised scenes of violence brought about strong national support for the
protection of blacks attempting to vote. Ten days later, twenty-five thou-
sand black and white marchers reached Montgomery escorted by federal
troops.

After the Selma-Montgomery march, Johnson signed a strong
Voting Rights Act, which authorized the attorney general to send federal
voting examiners to make sure that African Americans were free to reg-
ister. The examiners were granted the power to enforce national law over
local regulations wherever discrimination occurred.
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Black power

After 1965, the civil rights movement began to fragment, primarily over
the nonviolent tactics of King and his supporters and the goal of integra-
tion into the dominant society. Malcolm X (1925-1965), a leader of the
religious and sociopolitical group the Nation of Islam, questioned the
value of integration into a society that had exploited and abused African
Americans for centuries. He did not believe that the sit-ins, marches, or
other tactics of civil rights activists were effective tools with which to
gain rights, especially when confronted with violent resistance in the
South. In 1966, SNCC leader Stokely Carmichael (also known as
Kwame Ture; 1941-1998) ridiculed nonviolent efforts and demanded
“black power,” a militant slogan that alienated white liberals and divided
blacks. The focus of the Black Power Movement began to shift to eco-
nomic injustices in the North. Violent ghetto riots began to break out in
large cities like Detroit and Los Angeles. On April 4, 1968, the assassi-
nation of Martin Luther King Jr. touched off riots that left Washington,
D.C., in flames for three days. The movement would continue, but this

initial remarkable phase of the nonviolent civil rights struggle was over.

A revolutionary movement

The central goal of the African American civil rights movement—full
equality between blacks and whites—remains a distant vision.
Neighborhoods, private schools, and jobs remain segregated along racial
lines; African American incomes remain significantly lower than those of
whites; and job and educational opportunities are not distributed
equally. Nonetheless, the civil rights movement of 1954—65 transformed
American race relations. In communities throughout the South, “whites
only” signs that had stood for generations vanished from hotels, rest-
rooms, theaters, and other facilities. By the mid-1970s, school desegre-
gation had become fact as well as law in more than 80 percent of all
southern public schools (a better record than in the North, where resi-
dential segregation remains pronounced). The protection of the right to
vote represents the civil rights movements greatest success: When
Congress passed the Voting Rights Act in 1965, barely 100 African
Americans held elective office in the country; by 2000 there were more
than 9,000.
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Civil War

The American Civil War (1861-1865) is also known as the War Between
the States or the War of the Rebellion. The issue of whether to expand
slavery into federal territories and new states provoked existing tensions
within the established states. When war finally broke out, the tensions
created a geographic split of the states.

The southern states that chose to secede (leave the United States)
formed the Confederate States of America, also known as the
Confederacy. The northern states still considered themselves the United
States and strove to restore the rebellious southern states to that union.
Their army was called the Union army.

The tensions between the states were rooted in a few main issues.
The expansion of slavery was an important question that arose from dif-
ferences between northern and southern economies. Whether or not to
expand slavery into new territories also emphasized the constitutional
question of how much power the individual states had compared with
the federal government. The northern and southern states had different
answers to these questions.

Tension between economies

The southern states built their economy on plantation crops of cotton
and tobacco. Plantations thrived in the South with the support of slaves,
and the southern economy would collapse if slavery were abolished.
Since these states needed to protect their interests, and what they consid-
ered to be their property, the southern states were very intent on keep-
ing and expanding slavery.

Southern states wanted state laws, not federal laws, to decide
whether slavery was allowed or not. A state’s ability to maintain a strong,
decisive, and independent government is called “popular sovereignty.”
Under popular sovereignty, a state’s legislation is more powerful than the
federal government’s legislation.

Northern states built their economy on the labor of immigrants
within factories. Paying immigrants to work in factories costs money.
Slavery, which did not cost as much to support, was an economic threat
to the northern communities and industries. Instead of slavery, they sup-
ported the concept of “free labor,” which allowed jobs to be available to
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the community. Because factories sent their goods to other states, the
northern states wanted a strong union. They favored a strong central

government that would unite the states and their economies.

Expansion of slavery

When the United States purchased the Louisiana Territory in 1803 (see
Louisiana Purchase), the question of slavery expansion arose. It quickly
became a heated debate but was temporarily calmed when Congress
passed the Missouri Compromise in 1820. The compromise allowed
Missouri to be admitted into the Union as a slave state. It also created a
geographic line that split the rest of the purchased territory into north-
ern and southern halves. The northern half would not allow slavery, but

the southern territories would have the right to choose for themselves.
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In 1854, Congress passed the Kansas-Nebraska Act. It challenged
the Missouri Compromise by allowing the two new northern states of
Kansas and Nebraska to choose for themselves whether slavery would
be allowed. The passage of this act sparked tensions that would eventu-
ally lead to the American Civil War.

Secession

The presidential election of 1860 was a complicated one that had four
candidates. Former U.S. representative Abraham Lincoln (1809-1865;
served 1861-65) of Illinois, a Republican, was elected. The Republican
Party wanted to stop the expansion of slavery. Its members also believed
in a strong federal government.

Though the Republican Party had no interest in abolishing slavery
where it already was, the southern states feared Lincoln’s upcoming ad-
ministration. Before Lincoln’s inauguration, South Carolina was the
first state to secede from the Union on December 20, 1860. Mississippi,
Florida, Alabama, Georgia, Louisiana, and Texas followed by February.
Before Lincoln took office, they formed the Confederate States of
America and elected their own president, U.S. senator Jefferson Davis
(1808-1889) of Mississippi.

The war begins

When he entered office in March 1861, Lincoln was intent on maintain-
ing and protecting federal property throughout the rebellious states. In
April, he sent supply ships to the troops at Fort Sumter in Charleston,
South Carolina, and told the Confederate troops not to interfere.
Confederate forces, however, opened fire on the fort; Union officials
there surrendered the next day. When Lincoln called for volunteers to
put down the rebellion, Virginia, North Carolina, Tennessee, and
Arkansas joined the Confederacy. The American Civil War had begun.

Battle of Bull Run

Lincoln called seventy-five thousand state militiamen into service for
ninety days and later called for men to enlist for three years. Winfield
Scott (1786-1866), commander of the U.S. army, crafted Lincoln’s mil-
itary plan to cut off Confederate access to supplies and to respond to re-
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bellious attacks. Scott knew the Confederacy would eventually collapse
without the important supplies from the outside.

Though Lincoln incorporated elements of the plan, both he and the
public were impatient. He sent General Irvin McDowell (1818-1885) to
attack the Confederate capital of Richmond. At the Battle of Bull Run,
July 21, 1861, the two armies met for the first time. The Union army
was soundly defeated and forced to flee back to Washington. With de-

feat, Lincoln began to prepare for a longer war.

Union general George B. McClellan

General George B. McClellan (1826-1885) was appointed to command
the Army of the Potomac (the main eastern army of the Union) in the
summer of 1861. When General Scott retired as U.S. army commander
in November, Lincoln appointed McClellan to replace him. Though
General McClellan was strong in some respects, he proved to be overly
cautious. His resistance to mounting a major attack or to pursuing the
enemy would frustrate Lincoln.

Confederate general Robert E. Lee

General Robert E. Lee (1807-1870) was a commanding general in the
Confederate army. Originally approached by Lincoln to take field com-
mand of Union forces, Lee joined instead with his home state of Virginia
to fight for the Confederate army. Lee’s forces were an aggressive element
that enjoyed several key victories. General Lee’s surrender to Union gen-
eral Ulysses S. Grant (1822-1885) at Appomattox Courthouse,
Virginia, in April 1865, however, marked the beginning of the
Confederate surrender and the end of the American Civil War.

The Second Battle of Bull Run and the Battle at
Antietam

By August 1862, the Confederate army’s superior tactics had dealt the
Union army multiple defeats. The Confederates had protected their cap-
ital of Richmond and were pushing the Union army back towards
Washington. The Second Battle of Bull Run, August 28 through 30, was
a Confederate victory that inspired Generals Lee and Thomas ]J.
“Stonewall” Jackson (1824—1863) to move their troops into Maryland.
Union general McClellan followed.
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The two armies met on September 17 at Antietam. The resulting
Battle of Antietam was the single bloodiest day of the American Civil
War. While McClellan forced the Confederates back to Virginia, he re-
fused to pursue them aggressively. The Confederate army escaped dam-
aged, but intact. After the battle, Lincoln removed McClellan from
command in November 1862.

Emancipation Proclamation

The victory at Antietam provided Lincoln with the success he waited for
in order to announce the Emancipation Proclamation. Legally, the
Union armies were unable to assist or use any escaped slaves that crossed
into Union territory. Federal laws provided that the slaves were property
and had to be returned to the owners. Since a few of the Union states
were slaveholding states, Lincoln could not ignore these laws without
upsetting these states.

The Union army, however, would benefit from the manpower of es-
caped slaves. Lincoln’s solution was the Emancipation Proclamation,
which he announced in September 1862 to take effect in January 1863.
It declared slaves within the rebel states to be free. While it did not abol-
ish slavery throughout the Union, it allowed the Union army to begin
using the manpower of escaped slaves. It also set the tone for the even-
tual passage of the Thirteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution,
which abolished slavery entirely.

Battle of Gettysburg

In June 1863 General Lee moved his army into Pennsylvania. Union
general George Meade (1815-1872) moved to block him. The two
armies clashed on July 1 in the Battle of Gettysburg. After three days of
fighting, Lee was forced to retreat with a loss of nearly a third of his men.
It was a major victory that marked the turning point of the war for the
Union.

Union general Ulysses S. Grant and the Battle of
Vicksburg

General Ulysses S. Grant was charged with overseeing the Union armies
in the west. He experienced many successes, gaining control of the
Tennessee and Cumberland Rivers for the Union. His victory at the
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Battle of Vicksburg in Mississippi in July 1863 was significant. The vic-
tory allowed Grant to take the Confederate fortress guarding the
Mississippi River and earned him Lincoln’s attention. Grant was ap-
pointed to general in chief of the Union armies and came east to com-
mand the Army of the Potomac.

General Sherman and his “march to the sea”

Union general William Tecumseh Sherman (1820-1891) replaced
Grant as the commander of the Union’s western army. When General
Grant began his charge to Richmond in 1864, he coordinated it with an
attack on Atlanta, Georgia, by General Sherman. Sherman initially was
stopped outside of Atlanta by Confederate troops.

Confederate general Robert E. Lee, seated left, surrenders to Union general Ulysses S. Grant, seated middle, ar Appomattox
Courthouse, Virginia, on April 9, 1865. AP IMAGES
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By September, Sherman cut off Atlanta’s supplies and captured the
city. Determined to break the South’s will to fight, he divided his army
in half. As half held off the Confederate army to the north, the other half
marched to capture the port of Savannah, Georgia. On their “march to
the sea,” or Sherman’s March, the soldiers destroyed everything in their
path and took Savannah on December 20.

The siege at Petersburg

In May 1864, General Grant, now in charge of the Army of the
Potomac, led his army in a push towards Richmond. They engaged
General Lee in several battles and refused to allow him to withdraw.
Grant hoped to cut off Richmond and force its surrender by capturing
the vital rail junction at Petersburg, Virginia. General Lee, however, re-
fused to surrender Petersburg, and the two armies settled into a siege.

The siege continued into the spring of 1865. On April 1, the last rail
link into Petersburg was captured, and Richmond was cut off from the
rest of the Confederacy. Grant blocked Lee’s retreat into North Carolina.
Lee’s surrender to Grant on April 9 at Appomattox Courthouse,
Virginia, was the last major defeat of the war. The remaining
Confederate troops surrendered nine days later, and the American Civil
War was over.

Election of 1864 and the Thirteenth Amendment

Lincoln’s reelection in 1864 was not certain to happen. The Union was
growing weary of the war and the Union army was struggling. The vic-
tories at Vicksburg and Gettysburg, however, instilled confidence in
Lincoln, and he was elected for a second term. It was a clear signal that
the American people valued the Union and were ready to abolish slavery.

With Lincoln’s reelection, the Republican Congress presented the
Thirteenth Amendment for ratification, or approval by the states, on
January 31, 1865. Ratified on December 6, 1865, the amendment offi-
cially ended slavery throughout the United States and made emancipa-
tion permanent. Ratification took place eight months after President
Lincoln was assassinated.

At a great cost to the lives of the nation, the American Civil War pro-
duced an entirely different Union than existed before. Not only was slav-
ery abolished, but states were now undeniably linked into a solid
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alliance. State powers were minimized and replaced by a strong, central-
ized federal government. This demanded that communities and states
work together in new ways. The American Civil War changed the nation
that Americans had known, and it would be a challenging path to rein-

tegrating and reconstructing a whole nation.

Civilian Conservation Corps

The Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC) was a program established by
President Franklin D. Roosevelt (1882—1945; served 1933—45) and his
New Deal program in 1933. The New Deal was a series of government-
sponsored projects aimed at providing relief to citizens during the Great
Depression (1929—41). The Great Depression was a time of slow eco-
nomic growth and high unemployment. The Civilian Conservation Corps
hired young men for projects aimed at conserving the nation’s resources.

The CCC was part of the Hundred Days Legislation that President
Roosevelt signed when he first took office in 1933. The CCC was among
the most accepted of his programs, because it proved so successful. First
called Emergency Conservation Work, the program fell under the guid-
ance of a national director and involved four federal departments. The
Department of Labor worked to select men for the program. The
Department of War administered the work camps through a U.S. Army
officer in command. Organization and supervision of each project fell to
the departments of Agriculture and the Interior. Projects included build-
ing park facilities, planting trees, cleaning reservoirs, building dams, and
fighting forest fires.

The CCC employed only unmarried men between the ages of 17
and 25. They lived at camps run by the Army and were provided with
clothing and food. They earned $30 per month, though $25 of it was
sent home directly to their families. Minority men were included in the
program, but discriminatory practices often limited the number that the
CCC actually employed.

At the peak of the program in 1935, the CCC employed about five
hundred thousand men in more than twenty-five hundred camps na-
tionwide. Over two and a half million men found employment through
the CCC during the course of the program. Congress voted to end the
program in 1942 as the demands of World War II created employment
opportunities for men in factories and the armed forces. The program
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was highly successful, but the CCC was no longer necessary to help save
a failing economy.

Henry Clay

Henry Clay was one of the leading American statesmen in the first half
of the nineteenth century. He served in the U.S. House of
Representatives and the U.S. Senate and also as secretary of state. He ran
for the presidency five times and lost each time. Although Clay was a
slave owner and often supported the South, he helped craft the compro-
mise that kept slavery out of new U.S. territories and played a key role
in postponing the Civil War (1861-65).

Early years

Henry Clay was born on April 12, 1777, the son of a Baptist minister.
His father died in 1781, and Clay’s formal education was cut short when
his mother remarried and the family moved to Richmond, Virginia.
There, Clay began working as a store clerk at his stepfather’s recommen-
dation. From 1793 to 1797, Clay worked as secretary to a judge, copy-
ing and transcribing records. In 1796, he took up the study of law. At
age twenty, he moved to Kentucky, where he

began a practice as a defense attorney. He mar-

ried into a leading family and prospered, eventu-

ally owning a six-hundred-acre estate. Clay

became well known for his skill as an orator. He

lived the life of a frontiersman in Kentucky and

was prone to drinking and gambling.

Political career begins

Clay eventually became involved in politics, and
in 1803 he was elected to the Kentucky legisla-
ture. He briefly served in the U.S. Senate from
November 1806 to March 1807 and January
1810 to March 1811, filling vacancies following
resignations. Clay was elected to the U.S. House
of Representatives in 1811 and was immediately
chosen to be Speaker of the House (presiding of-
ficer), a position he held six times during his
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tenure in the House, which lasted until 1821. In that year, Clay made his
first bid for the presidency. From 1825 to 1826, he served as secretary of
state for President John Quincy Adams (1767-1848; served 1825-29).
He was elected to the U.S. Senate again in 1831, serving until 1842.

In his early career in Congress, Clay was a leading “war hawk,”
someone who supported going to war with Britain in the War of 1812
(1812-1814). He was not always pro-war, however. He later opposed the
Mexican-American War (1846-48), but he supported the government
nonetheless, losing one of his sons to the war.

Clay was a lifetime supporter of business interests and championed
protectionism, an economic policy that protects U.S. producers of goods
by placing restrictions on foreign competition. He also pushed for fed-
eral support of roads and canals. It was Clay’s intention to unite the com-
mercial and manufacturing interests of the East with the agricultural and
small business interests of the West. He also called for centralizing the
country’s economy in a federal bank.

Clay’s protectionism reached its peak in the so-called tariff of abom-
inations in 1828, an act that placed an extremely high tax on goods com-
ing into the United States from other countries. By making foreign
goods less competitive, the act raised demand for goods produced within
the country. Southerners strongly objected to the tariff of 1828 because
it protected only goods manufactured in the industrial North and dam-
aged the European market for the agricultural goods of the South.

The issue of slavery

Clay was divided in his attitudes about slavery, on the one hand defend-
ing the Southern states and owning slaves himself, but on the other hand
working hard for slavery’s abolition. Clay took part in the failed attempt
by the Kentucky constitutional convention to abolish slavery in the new
state. In 1816, he founded the American Colonization Society (ACS),
an organization that advocated freeing slaves and sending them to live in
an African colony.

Clay was an expansionist, one who believed in broadening the na-
tion’s borders, so he worked for the addition of states and territories to
the Union. He strongly believed in preserving the Union. Both of these
positions put him at odds with other Southerners, who feared that
adding new states would tip the balance of free states (states that did not
allow slavery) and slave states.
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Two historic compromises

The free state—slave state controversy came to a head when the territory
of Missouri applied for admission to the Union as a slave state early in
1819. Clay, earning his nickname as the Great Compromiser, supported
a plan known as the Missouri Compromise. This compromise allowed
Missouri to enter the Union as a slave state while at the same time ad-
mitting Maine as a free state, thus preserving the balance of free and
slave states. It also prevented slavery in states north of the present-day
southern border of Missouri. To ensure that free blacks would be allowed
to enter Missouri, Clay personally acquired the assurance of the Missouri
legislature that it would not pass any laws that would restrict the rights
and privileges of U.S. citizens.

In 1849, aligned with statesman Daniel Webster (1782-1852),
Clay advocated the Compromise of 1850, a series of proposals that ad-
mitted California to the Union as a free state, abolished slavery in
Washington, D.C., set up the territories of New Mexico and Utah
without slavery, and established a more rigorous fugitive slave law. The
Compromise of 1850 is credited with postponing the American Civil
War (1861-65) for a decade.

Clay was a fearless fighter for his political ideas. He was devoted to
the Union, even if his compromises only postponed an inevitable clash
between the North and the South. He died in Washington, D.C., on
June 29, 1852.

Samuel Clemens

Samuel Langhorne Clemens wrote under the pen name Mark Twain, a
riverboat term for water that is just deep enough for navigation. He
wrote some of the most famous works in American literature, including
The Adventures of Tom Sawyer and The Adventures of Huckleberry Finn.
Clemens had literary and financial success and failure during his long ca-

reer, and died a bitter man in 1910.

Early life

Clemens was born in Florida, Missouri, on November 30, 1835. His fa-
ther, John Marshall Clemens, was a lawyer and businessman. His mother
was Jane (Lampton) Clemens. When Samuel was four, the family of four
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boys and two girls moved to Hannibal, Missouri, a small town on the
Miississippi River.

Three river steamboats stopped in Hannibal daily when Clemens
was young. His childhood involved adventures on rafts, in swimming
holes, and in woods and caves. These carefree pursuits ended abruptly at
age twelve, when Clemens’s father died. This forced Clemens to work as
a typesetter to help support his family.

Clemens eventually worked for one of his brothers, Orion Clemens,
who owned several newspapers. When the business failed, Clemens trav-
eled throughout the Midwest and East for three years, selling nonfiction
to newspapers. He then rejoined Orion in the newspaper business, this
time in Keokuk, Iowa.

A dream fulfilled

In 1857, Clemens left Keokuk. He planned to travel to the Amazon
River, in South America, to make a fortune growing cocoa. Before leav-
ing America, however, he befriended a steamboat captain named Horace
Bixby (1826-1912). Clemens trained with Bixby for the next two years
and, in 1859, obtained his own pilot’s license.

Clemens’s years on the Mississippi River provided much material for
his writing. After the beginning of the American Civil War (1861-65),
the Union army closed the Mississippi River to private boats so that it
could be used as an invasion route instead. Clemens served in the
Confederate States of America army for a few weeks, then moved to
Nevada, where Orion was working in the territorial government.

Clemens spent a year in Nevada panning for precious metal. The ex-
perience gave him material for a novel he would write, Roughing It, pub-
lished in 1872. In 1862, he moved to Virginia City, Nevada, to write for
the newspaper Zerritorial Enterprise. There he began to write regularly
under the pen name Mark Twain. A dispute with a fellow journalist
caused Clemens to flee to San Francisco, California, and a dispute there

with the police caused him to flee to the Sierra Mountains, near the
California-Nevada border.

Literary success and marriage

When he returned to San Francisco from the Sierras, Clemens wrote a

satiric story called “The Celebrated Jumping Frog of Calaveras County.”
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The story was published widely and was well received by readers and crit-
ics. Success allowed Clemens to spend the rest of the 1860s traveling and
writing for various publications. In the book 7he Innocents Abroad, pub-
lished in 1869, Clemens gave a humorous account of Americans on a

five-month tour through Europe and the Middle East.

During the tour, Clemens met a wealthy man named Charles
Langdon. While visiting Langdon in New York City and finishing his
book, Clemens fell in love with Langdon’s sister, Olivia. They married on
February 2, 1870, and had a son (who died as a toddler) and three
daughters.

The Clemens family soon settled in Hartford, Connecticut, where
they lived for twenty years. Their neighbors included Harriet Beecher
Stowe (1811-1896), author of Uncle Tom's Cabin. After completing
Roughing It, Clemens was paid to do a lecture tour in England. Lecture
tours were important sources of money over the remainder of his career.

Back in Connecticut, Clemens wrote a novel with neighbor Charles
Dudley Warner (1829-1900) called 7he Gilded Age. Another tour in
England followed. Clemens was on the verge of publishing what would
become his most popular works.

The masterpieces

In Hartford, Clemens began writing The Adventures of Tom Sawyer. It is
the story of young Tom Sawyer’s escapades with his friend Huckleberry
Finn and his girlfriend Becky Thatcher. Published in 1876, the book was
immensely popular with readers of all ages, and well regarded by literary
critics.

Clemens next began to work on 7The Adventures of Huckleberry Finn.
Picking up where the prior book ended, it tells the story of Finn’s jour-
neys on the Mississippi River with a runaway slave named Jim. Many lit-
erary critics, including writer Ernest Hemingway (1899-1961),
consider it to be among the best books in American literature. In it,
Clemens used specific, local manners of speech for the different charac-
ters. Some critics consider the book to be a masterful statement against
slavery, though others say it is just a white man’s inaccurate account of
an African American slave.

Huckleberry Finn was published in 1885. Between 7om Sawyer and
Huckleberry Finn, Clemens published fiction and nonfiction that re-
sulted in strong critical reviews but mixed sales. In 1882, he returned to
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the Mississippi River, traveling on a steamboat piloted by his old teacher,
Bixby, and then published the nonfiction Life on the Mississippi, which
sold poorly. His financial woes climbed as he invested in a publishing
company and a new typesetting device, both of which eventually failed.

Later years

Clemens’s writing was always humorous. In the later years of his life,
however, he became increasingly critical of humanity. Later novels in-
cluded A Connecticut Yankee in King Arthurs Court, published in 1889,
and The Tragedy of Pudd’nhead Wilson, and the Comedy of Those
Extraordinary Twins, published in 1894. He revisited the Sawyer and
Finn characters in 1894 in Tom Sawyer Abroad, by Huck Finn.

In 1896, Clemens’s second child, Olivia Susan, became ill with
meningitis and died. Clemens’s wife Olivia, who battled poor health
throughout their marriage, died in 1904. Their daughter Jean drowned
in 1909, and daughter Clara eventually suffered a nervous breakdown.
The tragedies embittered Clemens.

In 1906, Clemens began to dictate his autobiography to his literary
executor. He continued to be paid for lecture tours until settling in New
York City and then Redding, Connecticut, for his final years. His humor
was often malicious and pessimistic, founded on an extreme dissatisfac-
tion with humanity. He died near Redding on April 21, 1910. His works
remain an enduring and beloved part of American literature.

Grover Cleveland

Grover Cleveland was the only president to serve two nonconsecutive
terms. He won election in 1884, lost in 1888, then won again in 1892.

Grover Cleveland was born on March 18, 1837, one of nine chil-
dren born to a Presbyterian minister and his wife. He spent most of his
childhood in rural upstate New York, where he worked hard and learned
the value of a dollar.

Cleveland’s father died when the boy was just sixteen; this resulted
in Cleveland deciding against attending college, in favor of working to
help support his family. He instead moved to Buffalo, New York, where
he apprenticed at a law firm, then became a lawyer. The future president
avoided fighting in the American Civil War (1861-65) by hiring some-
one else to take his place, a legal practice during that era.

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History



In 1870, Cleveland was elected to a three-
year term as sheriff of Erie County, New York. It
was a job well suited to the lawyer, who firmly
believed in public law and order. He earned a
reputation for telling the truth, regardless of who
it affected or involved. It was a characteristic that
served him well politically. By the end of the
1870s, the city’s upper class admired Cleveland;
he was ready to delve further into politics.

From mayor to president

Cleveland was elected mayor of Buffalo in 1881.
He endeared himself to the state’s Democrats as
he became known as the “veto mayor.” By veto-
ing, or voting against, many of the bills that
crossed his desk, Cleveland curbed public
spending and helped the city run more honestly
and efficiently. The Democratic Party nomi-
nated the mayor as its choice for governor, and
Cleveland won the election in 1882 by a large
margin. He continued to use the power of the
veto, and by 1884 he was the Democratic favorite to run as president.

Cleveland ran against former U.S. senator James G. Blaine
(1830-1893) of Maine, a Republican leader with years of political
experience. During the campaign, Blaine’s supporters brought
Cleveland’s honesty into question by accusing him of fathering a child
out of wedlock. Rather than deny the accusation, Cleveland admitted to
being the boy’s father and instructed his campaigners to tell the truth.

The scandal did not keep Cleveland from the White House, and he
became the first Democrat to lead the country in twenty-eight years. He
spent his first years trying to clean up the federal government and rid it
of inefficiency and dishonesty. One of the major ways he accomplished
this was to veto private pension bills for Civil War veterans who he be-
lieved were lying about or exaggerating their injuries. Past presidents had
passed these bills without hesitation, and Cleveland’s refusal to do the
same angered some Americans. Likewise, he refused to give government
assistance to farmers in the West, who had lost crops and thousands of

dollars to drought.
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Cleveland married twenty-one-year-old Frances Folsom
(1864-1947) in 1886. He was the first president to marry while in the
White House, and his young wife brought him great happiness. The
couple eventually had five children.

Loses, then wins, election

Toward the end of his first term in office, Cleveland began focusing on
reducing federal tariffs (taxes) on imported goods. Republicans tradi-
tionally were in favor of high tariffs because the money collected allowed
the federal treasury to grow. Cleveland believed taxes did little more than
increase the profits of big businesses and raise prices for consumers. High
tariffs had been a reality for so long, however, that Cleveland was unable
to motivate the Democratic Party to support his efforts.

The tariff issue hurt Cleveland, who did not enjoy making speeches
and so made little effort to defend himself against the Republican Party.
He lost the 1888 election to his Republican opponent, former U.S. sen-
ator Benjamin Harrison (1833-1901; served 1889-93) of Indiana. It
would not happen a second time, however, and Cleveland returned to
the White House for another four years after he defeated Harrison in the
1892 election.

A difficult term

Cleveland’s second term was besieged by problems beyond his control.
In 1893, he underwent an operation to remove a tumor in his jaw. The
operation, performed without the public’s knowledge, was successful,
but it drained the president of his energy. At the same time, the country
experienced its worst-ever economic depression. Hundreds of businesses
closed, and foreign investors withdrew their money out of fear.

In response, Cleveland repealed the Sherman Silver Purchase Act
that had been passed in 1890. The act had required the government to
purchase twice as much silver as it had before and put into circulation
much more money than had previously been available. The abundance
of silver in circulation threatened to deplete the treasury’s gold reserve.
Although the repeal did help replenish the gold supply, Cleveland’s fel-
low Democrats were offended by the way he bullied them into signing
the repeal. He lost a great deal of his power and influence by this event.
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Pullman strike

By 1894, the United States was in the worst economic conditions it had
ever known. Wages were cut, factories closed, and hundreds of thousands
of citizens were out of work. The American working class was angry,
frustrated, and frightened. Cleveland sensed this and worried that this
attitude would threaten public order.

His fears were realized when workers at the Pullman sleeping car
company in Chicago, Illinois, went on strike in protest of wage cuts.
The American Railway Union joined the Pullman workers to give them
more power. In doing so, rail traffic throughout Chicago came to a com-
plete halt. Mail could not be delivered; goods could not be transported
in or out of the city, which affected business throughout the country.

Cleveland ordered military troops into Chicago to maintain order,
but mob violence ensued for several days after their arrival. The Pullman
strike was broken, however; it was the first time federal authorities had
ever responded to a workers’ strike.

The end of the Cleveland administration

Cleveland’s administration and the presidents lack of response to the
horrible conditions Americans were living in were held responsible for
the dire economic environment. Cleveland was not chosen by his party
as the presidential nominee in 1896, an honor that instead went to
lawyer and former U.S. representative William Jennings Bryan
(1860-1925) of Nebraska. The Democratic nominee lost to the
Republican candidate, Ohio governor William McKinley (1843-1901;
served 1897-1901) in November.

Cleveland was relieved to leave behind his job as president of the
United States. He spent his last years on his New Jersey estate. He died
of a heart attack in 1908 with his wife by his side.

Bill Clinton

President Bill Clinton’s administration was marked by a series of remark-
able successes as well as embarrassing scandals. When he took over the
presidency in 1993, the national deficit (the amount the federal govern-
ment needs to borrow to make up the difference between what it spends
and how much it collects in taxes) was the largest in U.S. history. During
his two terms in office, the U.S. economy grew and prospered, the
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budget was balanced, and by 1999 there was a national surplus. Among
many other successes, Clinton initiated major welfare reform and free
trade agreements, helped in the peace process in Northern Ireland, and
led an international intervention in Serbia. Though personal scandals
and impeachment loomed heavily over his second term, his approval rat-
ings with the American public remained extraordinarily high.

Background

Bill Clinton was born on August 19, 1946, and grew up in Arkansas.
His father, William Blythe, was killed in a car accident before his son was
born. His mother later married Roger Clinton, who legally adopted him.
By the age of sixteen, Clinton had already decided on a career in politics.
After graduating with an international affairs degree from Georgetown
University in 1968, Clinton won a prestigious Rhodes scholarship and
studied at Oxford University in England for two years. While he was in
England, the United States’s participation in the Vietnam War
(1954-75) was at its height. Clinton opposed the war and participated
in numerous protests against it. He submitted to the draft upon his re-
turn to the United States but only after he had learned that he would not
be called to serve in the armed forces. He would later be criticized for
trying to avoid going to Vietnam. He earned a law degree from Yale
University in 1973.

Clinton rose through the ranks of Democratic Party and Arkansas
politics. In 1976, he ran the presidential campaign in Arkansas of former
Georgia governor Jimmy Carter (1924—), and he was elected state at-
torney general. He married Hillary Rodham (1947-) in 1975.

A young governor

In 1978, at age thirty-two, Clinton became one of the youngest gover-
nors in the United States. After one term, he failed to win reelection.
While practicing law in Little Rock, Arkansas, Clinton went to work
planning his political comeback. In 1982, after a heated campaign, he re-
claimed the governor’s office. He was reelected in 1984 by a wide mar-
gin. Successful education reforms, among other accomplishments, built
his reputation, and, among his political associates, his name began to

arise as a possible presidential candidate.
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The election

When Clinton announced his candidacy for the presidential nomination
in August 1991, he joined a crowded group of fellow Democrats. He led
a strong campaign and promised active measures to improve the droop-
ing economy, believing, unlike his Republican opponent, incumbent
president George H. W. Bush (1924—; served 1989-93), that the federal
government could play a constructive role in fixing the nation’s social
problems and stimulating economic growth. Clinton chose U.S. senator
Al Gore Jr. (1948-) of Tennessee as his running mate. Clinton and
Gore, both southern Democrats, projected the youthful vigor of the
baby boom generation (the generation of people born between 1946
and 1964). They considered themselves to be “New Democrats,” mod-
erate Democrats who hoped to move the party back to the center (away
from political extremes).

During the first few months of his campaign, an Arkansas woman
claimed to have had an extramarital affair with Clinton while he was
governor. Clinton did not deny the affair, and the small scandal did not
seem to affect public opinion of him much. He won the 1992 presiden-
tial election with the help of a highly divided Republican Party. He be-
came one of the youngest U.S. presidents in history.

A rough start

One of the first issues Clinton attempted to tackle was health-care re-
form. He appointed his wife, Hillary Rodham Clinton, to head the task
force on health care. Her proposal to make health care affordable to all
Americans failed to pass in Congress. Clinton was also unable to fulfill
his campaign promise to lift the ban on gays and lesbians serving in the
military.

Six months after Clinton took office, his friend and deputy counsel
at the White House, Vincent W. Foster Jr. (c. 1945-1993), committed
suicide. At the time, Foster had been handling charges that the Clintons
had been involved in a suspicious land deal, the Whitewater venture,
while Clinton was governor of Arkansas. Investigations into the
Whitewater dealings of the Clintons turned up nothing concrete against
them, but led to constant inquiries into every aspect of their public and

personal lives.
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Bill Clinton’s time as forty-
second president of the United
States was riddled with both
success and scandal. THE
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The biggest blow in Clinton’s first term in office was the resounding
Republican success in the 1994 midterm elections, in which the
Republicans gained control of the House and Senate. The Democratic
defeat was widely viewed as a vote on Clinton’s performance as president.

Comeback kid

Along with the highly visible defeats, there were some major successes.

Clinton convinced Congress to approve the North American Free Trade

Agreement (NAFTA; an agreement among the United States, Canada,

and Mexico to phase out tariffs, or taxes on imports, and generally en-

courage free trade between the three countries). The economy was get-
ting stronger; some categories of crime were in
decline; welfare reform had been tackled; the
Brady Handgun Violence Prevention Act, im-
posing a waiting period on handgun purchases,
was passed; and his national-service program
(AmeriCorps) was created.

In the months after the disastrous 1994
elections, it had seemed unlikely that Clinton
could secure a second term. Earning his
nickname, the “Comeback Kid,” he success-
fully campaigned around his positive New
Democratic agenda and won reelection over for-

mer U.S. senator Bob Dole (1923-) of Kansas.

Allegations of wrongdoing

As Clinton’s second term began, the U.S. econ-
omy soared. In 1997, he reached a balanced
budget agreement with Congress that was so
successful, by 1999 the major domestic political
issue was how to use the ever-increasing budget
surplus. But the robust economy was soon over-
shadowed by allegations of wrongdoing,.

In 1998, former Arkansas state employee
Paula Jones (1966-) filed a lawsuit charging
Clinton with sexual harassment. At the same

time, the investigations led by special prosecutor

Kenneth W. Starr (1946-) branched out from the
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original Whitewater investigation to look into
Vincent Foster ’s suicide, Paula Jones’s allegations,
and new charges of improper conduct with a
young White House intern, Monica S. Lewinsky
(1973-). These matters increasingly consumed
the press coverage of the president to the near ex-
clusion of most matters of public policy.

In August, Starr presented a report to
Congress alleging that Clinton had perjured
(gave false testimony under oath) himself in the
Jones and Lewinsky matters. In December 1998,
the House of Representatives voted, largely along
party lines, to impeach (charge him with miscon-
duct in office) the president. The dramatic
Senate trial was held in January and February of
1999. In order to remove the president from of-
fice, two-thirds of the senators would have had to
vote “guilty”; Clinton survived the critical votes
and remained in office. Throughout the process,
opinion polls repeatedly indicated that the pub-
lic did not want Clinton removed from office. In
fact, his approval ratings reached 70 percent dur-
ing the impeachment trials.

Last years in office

During Clinton’s administration the United States was called upon to
serve as a mediator between the warring sides or to lead a military inter-
vention in countries including Bosnia, Somalia, and Haiti. In March
1999, the Clinton administration spearheaded a series of NATO (North
Atlantic Treaty Organization, a political alliance of European nations and
the United States and Canada) bombing raids on targets in Serbia, stop-
ping the Serbian governments program of mass murders of Muslims and
the expulsion of ethnic Albanians from the Serbian province of Kosovo.
In the Middle East, he helped mediate a historic agreement between Israel
and its Arab neighbors, including Jordan and the Palestinians, though
these peace negotiations collapsed in 2000. In Northern Ireland, the
Clinton administration mediated talks between the various factions, help-
ing to negotiate a cease-fire and peace agreement.
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In October 1999, Starr stepped down as Whitewater special prose-
cutor. His successor did not pursue a perjury indictment to follow
Clinton’s departure from the White House, but Clinton, in exchange,
admitted to having made a false statement in the now-settled Jones suit.
He paid a fine of $25,000, and his license to practice law in Arkansas was
suspended for five years.

It is common for presidents leaving office to exercise their constitu-
tional right to issue presidential pardons for select people charged with
federal crimes. In his last days, Clinton issued 140 such pardons. A few
of these pardons were highly questionable, even to his loyal supporters,
creating a final controversy in his colorful tenure as president.

Post-presidential years

Clinton, one of the youngest presidents to leave office, remained active
in politics and world affairs after exiting the White House. He was a
driving force in the Democratic Party, working both publicly and behind
the scenes. He established a large foundation to help the poor world-
wide, particularly in the fight against the HIV/AIDS epidemic. He and
former president George H. W. Bush established a foundation in 2006
to help the victims of Hurricane Katrina. Clinton wrote his autobiogra-
phy, My Life, published in 2004, with an advance from his publisher re-
ported to be over $10 million. Clinton underwent quadruple heart
bypass surgery in September of 2004. It did not slow him down for long.
By 20006, he was tirelessly campaigning for his wife in her race for U.S.
president. As of March 2008, she was in a battle against U.S. senator
Barack Obama (1961-) of Illinois for the Democratic nomination; the
winner would face the Republican nominee, U.S. senator John McCain
(1936-) of Arizona, in November.

Hillary Rodham Clinton

Hillary Rodham Clinton was the initial first lady (president’s wife), cur-
rent or former, to be elected to a government office. She was elected and
took office as a U.S. senator from New York while still first lady. She
achieved another historical first when she became the first woman to be
a serious contender for the office of U.S. president.

Hillary Diane Rodham was born to a conservative, upper-class fam-
ily on October 26, 1947. She and her two brothers were raised in a sub-
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urb just outside Chicago, Illinois, with traditional, mid-American values
that emphasized family, church, education, and social obligations.

After graduating from public high school in 1965, Rodham at-
tended the prestigious Wellesley College, where she majored in political
science and minored in philosophy. Rodham was elected president of the
student government in her senior year of college and graduated with
highest honors in 1969. She was accepted to the Yale School of Law and
graduated in 1973.

Real life experience

While at Yale, Rodham realized that her primary social concerns were re-
lated to children, particularly those with social and cultural disadvan-
tages. She participated in several organizations that assisted children and
their families. An extra year of study at Yale gave her time to hone her
expertise in child law. U.S. senator and former first
After graduation, Rodham moved to Washington, D.C., and  ldy Hillary Clinton rallies
worked as a staff attorney for the Children’s Defense Fund. She excelled 72 ort for her campaign to
at her job. In late 1974, Rodham accepted a teaching position at the
University of Arkansas Law School. While there,
she married future U.S. president Bill Clinton
(1946—; served 1993-2001), a former classmate
from Yale.
After her husband was elected attorney gen-
eral of Arkansas in 1976, the couple moved to
Little Rock, where Hillary Clinton joined the
reputable Rose Law Firm. In January 1978, her

be the Democratic presidential
nominee. AP IMAGES

husband was elected governor, and she became
Arkansas’s first lady. That same year, she became
the first woman to achieve partner status at the
Rose Law Firm. In February 1980, the Clintons
celebrated the birth of their only child, Chelsea

Victoria.

From Arkansas to the White House

Clinton was the first lady of Arkansas for nearly
eleven years. During that time, she continued to
participate in public service and policy reforms
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at the state level, focusing her efforts on education. In 1985, she estab-
lished the Home Instruction Program for Pre-School Youngsters, which
brought tutorials and instruction to impoverished homes that included
four- and five-year-olds. It was a highly successful program, with more
than twenty-four hundred mothers participating.

Clinton and her husband were awarded the National Humanitarian
Award from the National Conference of Christians and Jews in 1987,
and she served tirelessly on the boards of directors of several national cor-
porations, including Wal-Mart. In 1988 and 1991, the National Law
Journalhailed her as one of the “One Hundred Most Influential Lawyers
in America.”

Clinton became the nation’s first lady when her husband won the
1992 presidential election. In that position, she continued advocating
for many of the programs and issues she had long supported. She pro-
vided much-needed leadership, particularly as head of the Task Force on
National Health Care. Her responsibilities included preparing legisla-
tion, lobbying before Congress, and developing a comprehensive health-
care reform package. Although the reform failed to pass, the opportunity
gave Clinton valuable experience.

Clinton provided vital advice and perspective to her husband
throughout his two-term presidency. She stood by her husband in 1998
as he was accused of having an extramarital affair with White House in-
tern Monica Lewinsky (1973-). The Republican-controlled House of
Representatives voted to impeach the president for matters related to the
sex scandal. Although the president eventually admitted to the affair, the
Senate voted to acquit him in 1999, and he completed his term in office.
Hillary Clinton herself was the subject of an investigation in the mid-
1990s. In the late 1970s, she and her husband had lost money in a busi-
ness called Whitewater Development Corporation. Concern arose when
it came to light that the legal firm Clinton worked for had provided serv-
ices to the bank whose owners were the Clintons’ business venture part-
ners. Several independent counsels investigated the situation and found
that there was insufficient evidence to prove that either Clinton had en-
gaged in criminal wrongdoing.

After the White House

In 2000, before her husband’s second presidential term was over, the
couple purchased a home in New York, establishing residency in the
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state. In May, Clinton received the state convention’s appointment as
Democratic nominee for the U.S. Senate, and Clinton beat her oppo-
nent, U.S. representative Rick Lazio (1958-), who stepped into the race
when New York City mayor Rudy Giuliani (1944-) dropped out after
being diagnosed with cancer. On November 7, 2000, Clinton became
the only active first lady to win an elected office.

As 2002 came to a close, many people believed Clinton would run
in the next presidential election (2004). The senator denied any such in-
tention and instead won reelection to the U.S. Senate in 2006. By early
2007, however, she was strategizing her run for the White House and
publicly announced her plan. Early opponents included former U.S. sen-
ator John Edwards (1953-) of North Carolina, New Mexico governor
Bill Richardson (1947-), and U.S. senator Barack Obama (1961-) of
Illinois. Many Democrats had hoped former vice president and 2000
Democratic presidential nominee Al Gore (1948-) would run in the
2008 election. Citizens in grassroots campaigns in New Hampshire,
California, and New York tried to convince him to enter the race, but
he declined to run. Eventually, the contest for the nomination was whit-
tled down to Clinton and Obama.

The polls in 2007 showed Clinton as the front-runner for the nom-
ination, but by 2008 it was clear that Obama was not going to go down
without a fight. In the Towa caucuses, Clinton placed third, behind
Obama and Edwards (who had been the Democratic Party’s vice presi-
dential nominee in 2004). But five days later, Clinton took New
Hampshire.

On February 5—a day known as Super Tuesday, when about half of
the states hold their primaries and caucuses—votes and delegates were al-
most equally split between Clinton and Obama. Two states, Michigan
and Florida, had broken Democratic Party rules by staging early primar-
ies and therefore lost their delegates (later negotiations resulted in the
party giving these delegates half-votes). This especially hurt Clinton be-
cause she had won both primaries, though neither candidate campaigned
in the two states and Obama even chose to leave his name off the
Michigan ballot. In order to secure the Democratic presidential nomina-
tion, Clinton or Obama needed to secure 2,118 delegates.

On June 3, the final primaries were held in Montana and South
Dakota. By the end of the day, Obama had finally secured enough votes
to go over the required 2,118 tally. Four days later, Clinton suspended
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her campaign and asked supporters to use “our energy, our passion, our
strength” to elect Obama. “I endorse and throw my full support behind
him,” she said. Obama would face the Republican nominee, U.S. sena-
tor John McCain (1936-) of Arizona, in the November election.

Clinton on the issues

Clinton’s stance on most of the major issues of the 2008 presidential race
was in keeping with Democratic Party lines. She supported abortion
rights and was in favor of educational and health care reform. Where she
differed from Obama most significantly was in her voting record on the
Iraq Invasion (2003-). Clinton initially voted to use military force in
Iraq but then changed her mind after the war began. Obama consistently
voted against waging war on Iraq. Political experts considered this a key
foreign policy issue in the primary elections.

Coal Mining

The primary industry of Pennsylvania in the 1860s was coal mining.
The number of mine workers peaked in 1870 at around fifty-three thou-
sand, compared with twenty-five thousand in 1860. Of these thousands,
one-third were Irish immigrants. (See Irish Immigration.)

The Irish were targets of discrimination and prejudice during those
days, both in the United States and elsewhere. Many Americans disliked
the Irish because of their Catholic roots and because they were the least
educated of all the immigrant groups in general. In addition, unlike
other foreign workers in the coal mines, the Irish did not accept unfair
treatment as just another part of the job. Instead, they fought back when
anyone tried to take advantage of them. They did not hesitate to speak
out in their own defense because they knew no one else would speak for
them.

Some of the biggest mines in the coal regions were British-owned.
The English stockholders appointed white, American Protestants (non-
Catholic Christians) to run these mines. These white Protestants, in
turn, hired Welsh and English miners who worked on a contract basis,
meaning they were paid per ton of coal mined. The more coal mined,
the higher the wage. These contract miners hired laborers to do the hard-
est work. Most of the laborers were Irish, and they were paid only a frac-
tion of what the contract miners received.
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Mine bosses were usually Welsh, though some were English. When
a top mining job opened up, these supervisors usually filled it with an-
other Welshman or Englishman. The Irish laborers, who worked harder
yet received lower pay, constantly saw others being promoted while they
remained in the lowest positions. Normally, a worker can go to a boss to
complain of unfair treatment, but in this case, those Irishmen who com-
plained were blacklisted—that is, their names were put on a “do not
hire” list that was shared among all mines throughout the coal region,
and they could not get jobs at all. They had no way to change policy and
procedures.

No life of leisure
The life of a miner was one of intense hardship. Some men began work-
ing the mines at the age of eight. Before electricity was commonly avail-
able, their work in mines 1,200 feet below the ground was in total
darkness except for the tiny flame on the front of their helmets. Mine
shafts were so cold that miners” fingers would crack and bleed daily.
Miners faced great danger every day. The lamp on a miner’s cap was
fueled with fish or whale oil, and its light was poor and dangerous.

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History

Coal Mining

Coal mining was an
incredibly dangerous

profession, with workers

[frequently dying from

accidents in the mines and

also from respiratory

conditions contracted from the

dirty conditions.
POPPERFOTO/GETTY
IMAGES

335



Coal Mining

336

Mines were filled with the earth’s natural gases, and many gas explosions
were ignited by the flame from a miner’s cap. Mines were damp and
filled with carbon dioxide, gas, dust, and smoke. Miners in general did
not live long lives. Many died of black lung, a disease that results from
breathing coal dust. For the most part, the younger the man was when
he began working the mines as a boy, the younger he was when he died.

Perhaps the biggest injustice of all was the miner’s wage. The average
laborer earned less than twenty-five cents an hour until 1913, when his
wage was raised to an even quarter an hour. With this money, he had to
buy all his own mining tools and supplies, including lamp oil, clothing,
gloves, and picks. There was little left to buy his family food and other
necessities. To make matters worse, wages at some mines were paid in
scrip that was redeemable only at mine-owned company stores, where
prices for basic goods were higher than at regular general stores and
shops. These miners earned less money than laborers in many other in-

dustries, and they were forced to pay higher prices for everyday items.

The anthracite coal strikes of 1900 and 1902

Anthracite (hard) coal mining was much more treacherous and difficult
than bituminous (soft) coal mining. Anthracite coal lies deeper beneath
the earth’s surface, and it was harder to pick out of the mines. Between
thirty-two thousand and thirty-five thousand men died in Pennsylvania
anthracite coal mines between 1870 (when these statistics were first
recorded) and the early twentieth century. John Mitchell (1870-1919)
was a bituminous coal miner from Illinois when he was elected in 1898
as president of the United Mine Workers of America (UMWA), a labor
union. Labor unions are formally organized associations of workers that
advance members’ views on wages, work hours, and labor conditions.
Mitchell had taken part in a successful coal strike in 1897 that resulted
in better wages and working conditions for the miners.

As president of the UMWA, in 1900 Mitchell tried to negotiate with
anthracite coal mine operators in Pennsylvania for a settlement similar to
the bituminous coal miners’ settlement three years before. The mine op-
erators refused to negotiate, so Mitchell called for a strike on September
17. Eighty percent of all anthracite coal miners joined in the strike. It did
not last long. On October 29, 1900, the strike ended in victory for the
miners, who received a 10 percent wage increase, their first in twenty
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years. Still, mine operators refused to recognize the UMWA as their em-
ployees’ representative.

By 1902, the UMWA was ready to order another strike. The 10-per-
cent wage increase granted in 1900 was only a temporary solution to the
grievances of the miners. Work conditions were still poor and dangerous,
and the days were still long. The UMWA still was not officially recog-
nized by mine operators.

On May 12, 1902, anthracite coal miners walked off the job; the
strike had officially begun. This bold move had far-reaching effects.
Anthracite coal was used for fuelling trains, running factories, and heat-
ing homes and businesses. The strike may have been limited to
Pennsylvania, but the entire nation would feel the consequences.

Newspaper coverage of the strike fed Americans’ fears of a coal short-
age for the coming winter. Cartoonists and journalists focused on the
power struggle between mine management and laborers. October ar-
rived, and it was apparent that the strikers were not going to give up;
drastic measures had to be taken.

On October 3, President Theodore Roosevelt (1858—1919; served
1901-9) called union leaders and mine operators to a meeting at the
White House. UMWA president Mitchell agreed to negotiate, but the
mine operators refused. Weeks passed and no progress was made on ei-
ther side. Americans needed coal to survive the coming winter and keep
their factories and trains running. Roosevelt made history by becoming
the first president to get involved in the arbitration of a labor dispute. He
threatened to have the U.S. Army seize the coal mines and operate them
until the owners agreed to negotiate. Mine management did not want
this to happen, so they backed down and agreed to arbitration (discus-
sion with the laborers). Roosevelt appointed financier J. P. Morgan
(1837-1913) to head a commission to arbitrate the dispute. On October
23, after 164 days of striking, miners returned to work. They received a
10 percent increase in wages and a reduction in the number of hours
worked each day. To their disappointment, their union still was not rec-
ognized as their representative, and the issues of hazardous working con-
ditions and child labor were not addressed.

The strike was a major turning point in history because it was the
first time the federal government had tried to settle a strike rather than
break it. Although it would be another decade before labor reform truly
took hold, the laborers finally felt they were beginning to be heard.
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The Ludlow massacre

Unfortunately, the 1902 coal strike was not the last. In September 1913,
more than ten thousand coal miners went on strike in Ludlow, Colorado.
Led by the UMWA, the workers demanded, among other things, union
recognition, a wage increase, enforcement of the 8-hour-day law as well
as state mining laws, and the right to choose where they shopped and
lived.

The leading mine operator was the Colorado Fuel & Iron Company,
owned by John D. Rockefeller (1839-1937). Rockefeller had the min-
ers and their families evicted from company housing and used the
National Guard to keep the mines operating.

Without shelter, the mining families set up tents in the Colorado
hills and continued striking throughout the winter. Conditions were
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harsh and food was scarce. But Rockefeller showed no sign of changing
his mind; there would be no arbitration.

April 20, 1914, was Easter on the calendar of the Greek Orthodox
Church, and the Greek immigrants among the miners were celebrating.
Despite the strike, the mood around the tent camp that morning was fes-
tive. At 10 AM, however, Colorado troops surrounded the camp and
opened fire on the miners” tent colony, which had been set up on public
property. Company guards, strikebreakers (people hired to replace strik-
ing workers), private detectives, and soldiers had planned the attack.
They brought with them an armored car mounted with a machine gun
called the Death Special. As bullets sprayed the colony, tents caught on
fire. Later, investigations revealed that kerosene had been poured on the
tents.

By days’ end, twenty people, including two women and eleven chil-
dren, were dead. Three strikers were taken prisoner and executed.
Hundreds of miners were arrested and blacklisted in the coal industry.
None of the attackers was ever punished. John D. Rockefeller Jr.
(1874-1960), who by this time was in charge of the mine, denied the
massacre ever occurred and publicly stated that no women or children
had died in what he described as a fight started by the miners. He spent
the next decade trying to repair the damage done to the Rockefeller
name by the Ludlow massacre. He gradually came to acknowledge the
atrocity of the massacre, and through his efforts to right the wrongs that
had been done, Rockefeller increased his family’s social awareness. The
Rockefellers eventually became one of the most philanthropic (generous,
through charitable donations) families in the United States.

Coast Guard

The U.S. Coast Guard is Americas oldest maritime agency. It was
formed in August 1790 to enforce trade laws, prevent smuggling, and
protect shipping from pirates. The Coast Guard was called by many
names over the years. It received its current name on January 28, 1915,
when it was officially established as a military service and branch of the
armed forces. The Coast Guard became part of the Homeland Security
Department in 2003.

Like other branches of the armed forces, the Coast Guard serves its
country in time of war. But it does much more than that. In the late
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Minorities in the Coast Guard

Beginning in the 1830s, women were first of-
ficially accepted in the Coast Guard as keep-
ers of lighthouses. This continued until 1947.
During World War Il (1939-45), the U.S.
Coast Guard Women's Reserve, commonly
known as SPARs, was created. As more and
more men were required to fight on foreign
soil, the Coast Guard recognized the logic of
filling jobs on the American shore with
women. More than ten thousand women vol-
unteered for Coast Guard service between
1942 and 1946. Starting in 1944, African
American women were recruited as well.

In 1983, the Coast Guard established a formal
policy on women in combat. It was deter-
mined that the men and women function as a
team, and to remove women during wartime
would degrade operational readiness. In the
early twenty-first century, women work
alongside men in the Coast Guard and attend
the U.S. Coast Guard Academy.

The first African American to command a ves-
sel of the federal government was First
Lieutenant Michael Healy of the Coast Guard
in 1877. In 1942, the Coast Guard recruited
its first 150 African American volunteers.
More than five thousand African Americans
served with the Coast Guard in World War Il.
By the time U.S. president Harry S. Truman
(1884-1972; served 1945-53) ordered the in-
tegration of the armed forces in 1948, the
Coast Guard had already opened up all of its
ranks to qualified personnel, regardless of
race.

Hispanic Americans have served in the Coast
Guard since the early 1800s, Native
Americans since 1877, and Asian Pacific
Americans since 1908.
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1700s, it was assigned the task of preventing the
transport of slaves from Africa to the United
States. Between 1794 and 1865, it captured
around five hundred slave ships. In the 1880s,
the Coast Guard transported reindeer to Alaska,
providing a much-needed source of food for the
people who lived there.

The Coast Guard is often called on to per-
form search and rescue after natural disasters.
The Mississippi River flooded in 1937, and the
Coast Guard rescued nearly forty-nine thousand
people and more than eleven thousand head of
livestock. In 1952, a severe storm damaged two
tankers off the New England coast. The Coast
Guard saved sixty-two people from the broken
ships. Twenty-four guardsmen earned medals
that day.

Drug interception became increasingly im-
portant in the 1970s. Between 1963 and 1979,
the Coast Guard seized 304 vessels and confis-
cated more than $4 billion in contraband. As
the illegal narcotics import trade grew through-
out the 1980s, the Coast Guard expanded its in-

terception efforts.

The Coast Guard has served in nearly every
war in American history since the late 1700s.
During wartime, the organization has two pri-
mary roles. Its first is to help the U.S. Navy by
providing additional ships and manpower. Its
second role is to participate in special missions.
Following the September 11, 2001, terrorist
attacks, when terrorists hijacked four American
airliners and crashed them into the World Trade
Center in New York, the Pentagon in Virginia,
and a field in Pennsylvania, Coast Guard units
were among the first to respond, providing assis-

tance and security.
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As of 2007, the Coast Guard had just over forty thousand men and
women on active duty and another eight thousand in the reserves.

William “Buffalo Bill" Cody

William Frederick Cody was born on February 26, 1846, in Iowa. His
family moved to Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, when he was seven years
old. When Cody was eleven, his father died, and the young boy went to
work to support his family.

The young Cody took a job as a herder and horseback messenger. A
year later, he accompanied a wagon train to distant Fort Laramie in
Wyoming, the military post on the Oregon Trail that served as the gate-
way to the Rocky Mountains. During the next two years, he trapped
beaver, trekked to the gold fields of Colorado, and found time for sev-
eral months of schooling. He also joined in some of the “border war”
mischief committed by antislavery gangs called the Jayhawkers, raiders
who crossed from Kansas into Missouri to raid the homes of supposed
Confederates (supporters of slavery and the possible secession of the
South from the Union) and liberate their slaves.

Earns his nickname

In 1864, Cody enlisted in a volunteer Union regiment with many of his
Jayhawking comrades to fight in the American Civil War (1861-65). He
married after the war and he and his new wife moved to Kansas.

Cody had developed a taste for adventure and seldom stayed long at
home. After a stint as a stagecoach driver and a halfthearted effort at
innkeeping near Leavenworth, he set out to make a living on the Great
Plains (the vast expanse that stretches east from the Rocky Mountains).
His talents, physical gifts, and fearlessness made him successful at con-
tract jobs for the army and the railroads. Hired as a hunter to supply buf-
falo meat to feed railway construction workers, Cody claimed to have
killed 4,280 buffaloes during eight months in 1867-68. That earned
him his nickname, “Buffalo Bill.”

In 1868, Cody became a chief scout for the U.S. Army’s Fifth
Cavalry. During his years as scout, he fought in nineteen battles and skir-

mishes and was cited several times for his valor and good service.
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Becoming a legend

Cody enjoyed talking about (and exaggerating) his adventures and feats.
His stories inspired writer E. Z. C. Judson, better known as Ned
Buntline (1823-1886), to write about Cody’s heroic deeds in a series of
successful dime novels, an inexpensive form of popular literature.
Buntline even wrote a play, The Scouts of the Prairie, about Cody’s ex-
ploits and convinced Cody to play the part of himself. The play opened
in Chicago, Illinois, in 1872. Other dime novels starring Cody ap-
peared, all of which helped keep his name in the public eye.

The Wild West Show

In 1883, Cody began organizing “Buffalo Bill's Wild West Show.” The
show featured cowboys performing feats of skill and daring, scenes por-
traying stereotyped Native North Americans attacking white settlers, and
well-staged battle scenes between the U.S. Cavalry and Indian warriors.
In the early shows, Cody was the star and other talented marksmen and
riders supported him.

By 1884, Buffalo Bill's Wild West Show was a permanent touring
show that also performed for extended periods in amusement parks and
at World’s Fairs. At various times, the show also featured sharpshooter
Annie Oakley (1860-1926) and Lakota chief Sitting Bull (c.
1831-1890). Buffalo Bill's Wild West Show toured the United States
and Europe for almost thirty years. A master showman, Cody displayed
the West as a place of glory and adventure, an enormous territory re-

served for Native Americans, cowboys, and outlaws.

Last days
Cody invested his earnings from the Wild West Show in ventures such
as mining in Arizona, ranching in Nebraska, town building in
Wyoming, filmmaking, and tourism. Most failed. When his Wild West
show closed down in 1913, his financial problems forced him to tour as
an attraction in other people’s shows.

Upon his death in Denver, Colorado, in 1917, Buffalo Bill Cody
was accorded an enormous state funeral. Many felt that with his passing,
the romance of the Western frontier had disappeared, too.
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Coercion Acts

The Coercion Acts, or Restraining Acts, were a series of four acts passed
by the English Parliament between March and June 1774. Parliament
passed the laws to punish colonial acts of rebellion, especially the Boston
Tea Party. The colonists called the laws the Intolerable Acts.

Three of the four acts were aimed at the colony of Massachusetts.
Parliament passed the Boston Port Act in March 1774 in direct response
to the Boston Tea Party. During that incident in December 1773,
colonists had boarded three ships owned by the East India Company to
dump its tea into the harbor. The Boston Tea Party had been a protest
against English laws that favored the company at the expense of the
colonists. In reaction, Parliament passed the Boston Port Act of 1774 to
close Boston Harbor to all shipping, in and out, until the town repaid
the East India Company for the destruction of its tea, including the tax
due on it.

The second measure was the Massachusetts Government Act. It al-
tered the colony’s charter of 1691 by reducing Massachusetts’s powers of
self-government. Severe restrictions were placed on town meetings,
elected posts were replaced by royal appointees, and the English gover-
nor of the colony received much greater power over the colony’s affairs.

The other two acts increased royal powers to protect the English
who served in Massachusetts and elsewhere. The Administration of
Justice Act moved trials out of Massachusetts for British officials or sol-
diers accused of capital offenses there. The act allowed the trials to be
moved to other colonies or back to England if necessary. This act was
meant to ensure a fair trial for the English by avoiding hostile local ju-
ries. It angered the colonists, however, who felt it enabled the British to
escape colonial justice for horrendous crimes.

The last of the four Coercion Acts was the Quartering Acts.
Parliament passed them to ensure that British soldiers would be hosted
in colonial areas where British control was most needed. Unlike an ear-
lier Quartering Act, these acts included a clause that enabled colonial
governors to require that soldiers be housed in private homes if needed.
The Quartering Acts were the only part of the Coercion Acts that ex-
tended beyond Massachusetts to all of the colonies.

Another act passed in June 1774, the Quebec Act, was sometimes
counted as an Intolerable Act. It was not meant to be part of the puni-
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tive Coercion Acts passed by Parliament, but colonists did not recognize
the distinction. Among the most disagreeable aspects of the Quebec Act
were limitations it placed on the westward expansion of the colonies.
The limitations sometimes affected expansion rights that colonial gov-
ernments had in their original charters. Though the Quebec Act was in-
tended to give more liberties to the former province of French Canada
(another British colony at the time), American colonists counted it in
their list of English offenses against their own liberties.

The four Coercion Acts represented the strict and punitive measures
the English government was willing to take to maintain order within the
colonies. By isolating Massachusetts for acts of resistance to English poli-
cies, Parliament hoped to send a message to the rest of the colonies that
would discourage acts of rebellion elsewhere. The Coercion Acts instead
enraged most of the colonists and became a justification for their calling
the First Continental Congress (see Continental Congress, First) in
September 1774 to begin discussions about forming a new, independent

government.

Cold War

The Cold War was a decades-long rivalry between the Western powers
(led by the United States) and the Soviet Union. It began in 1945 and
ended in 1991. It grew out of the ideological differences between com-
munism (a system of government in which the state controls the econ-
omy, and all property and wealth are shared equally by the people) and
capitalist democracy (a government system in which businesses may be
privately owned and compete against one another, and leaders are elected
by the people).

Long before the onset of the Cold War, the United States and Russia
shared a distrust of one another as a result of their competition over the
economic development of Manchuria in the 1890s. That competition
turned into an ideological rivalry after Russia’s Bolshevik Revolution
(1917). Russia was a communist country whereas the United States was
(and is still) a capitalist democracy. The two countries did join forces to
fight World War II (1939—45) against Germany, Italy, and Japan, but
even then, they disagreed over military strategies and postwar plans for
Germany.
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As leader of the Soviet Union, Joseph Stalin (1879-1953) was deter-
mined to use his military forces to control Poland and keep Germany
from regaining its strength after World War II. Germany had invaded
Russia twice, costing the communist nation almost twenty-five million
casualties; Stalin would not forget that. President Harry S. Truman
(1884-1972; served 1945-53), however, was intent on rebuilding
Europe’s economic infrastructure on a capitalist foundation, and his
plans included rebuilding Germany. After the war, the United States and
other Western nations considered the expansion of the Soviet Union a
threat. At the same time, the Soviets worried that the Western powers
would overthrow their communist regime. This is how the Cold War
began.

The Berlin airlift

Europe’s economy was in crisis after World War II. By 1947, the Soviets
had taken over much of Eastern Europe using the strength of the Red
(Soviet) Army. As communism spread throughout Eastern Europe, the
United States began a postwar recovery program known as the Marshall
Plan. The plan helped restore Western Europe’s economy. The Soviet
Union and nations of Eastern Europe opposed the plan, fearing the re-
vival of Germany.

After World War 1I, the victorious Allies—the United States, Great
Britain, France, and the Soviet Union—had agreed to divide defeated
Germany into four zones, each of which was occupied by one of the
Allies. Germany’s capital, Berlin, was similarly divided into four sectors.
Because of the city’s location in the Soviet-occupied part of Germany
(what later became communist East Germany), the U.S., British, and
French sectors of Berlin were completely surrounded by the Soviet occu-
pation zone. In 1948, the Soviet Union restricted access into West Berlin
in 1948 by setting up blockades into the city. As of June 24, the city was
not accessible by road, train, or canal. It had enough coal to last forty-
five days and enough food to last thirty-six days. President Truman had
to maintain a Western presence in the city if the Marshall Plan was to be
successful. On June 26, he officially approved what became known as the
Berlin airlift. During the airlift, which lasted 321 days, planes delivered
daily supplies of coal, food, and other necessities to the more than two
million people living in Berlin behind the blockade. By May 12, 1949—
the end of the airlift—1,592,787 tons of supplies had been delivered to
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Berlin. It was a magnificent achievement that cost very few lives. When
the Soviet Union realized that the airlift could continue indefinitely,
Stalin was forced to back down and remove the blockades.

A divided Germany

When the United States refused to give the Soviet Union some western
German factories as war reparations (compensation paid for damages
caused by war), the Soviets reacted by securing their occupation zone,
eastern Germany, as a communist state. On September 21, 1949, the for-
mer Allied countries declared their zones in western Germany the Federal
Republic of Germany (FRG, or West Germany), and set about paving the
way for civilian control. A furious Soviet Union soon did the same, an-
nouncing on October 7 the formal German Democratic Republic (GDR,
or East Germany). Germany was now divided by what Great Britain’s
leader, Winston Churchill (1874—-1965), called the Iron Curtain.
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The year 1949 also saw the establishment of the North Atlantic
Treaty Organization (NATO), the purpose of which was to defend
Western Europe against the spread of communism. The United States
joined eleven other countries in the effort. In response, the Communist

bloc formed the Warsaw Treaty Pact in 1955.

The spread of the Cold War

The Cold War spread to Asia in 1950, the year the Soviet Union negoti-
ated an alliance with China. Communist North Korea attacked South
Korea and started the Korean War (1950-53). The United States assisted
South Korea by helping to establish the Southeast Asia Treaty
Organization and providing neutral Asian countries with military support.

Stalin’s death in 1953 eased Cold War tensions. Both the Soviets and
the Americans had developed an atomic bomb in 1949, but the possi-
bility of a ban on nuclear weapons now seemed likely. Relations became
strained again in 1957, however, with the launch of the Soviet satellite
Sputnik. The two countries now competed in missile production and
space exploration. Officials from both countries threatened retaliation
for any aggression on the other’s part. Meanwhile, Southeast Asia, Africa,
the Middle East, and Latin America continued to struggle with the Cold
War. Both the United States and the Soviet Union provided military and
financial support to often corrupt and brutal regimes in these areas in
hopes of securing their allegiance.

In 1961, East Germany built the Berlin Wall along the boundary
separating East Berlin from West Berlin. In addition, the entire length of
the boundary between East and West Germany was closed off by walls,
chain-link fences, barbed wire, or minefields. The purpose of the walls
and fences was to keep East Germans from moving to West Germany.

When the United States discovered Soviet missile bases in Cuba in
1962, President John E. Kennedy (1917-1963; served 1961-63) sent
U.S. ships to intercept Soviet vessels carrying rockets to Cuba. This event
became known as the Cuban Missile Crisis, and it led to the eventual
agreement between the Soviet Union and the United States for a ban on
nuclear testing.

Both superpowers began to weaken as alliances deteriorated. The
United States became involved in the Vietnam War (1954—75) and made
great efforts to help the South Vietnamese government fight communist

North Vietnam. Early in the 1970s, U.S. president Richard Nixon
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(1913-94; served 1969-74) signed the Strategic Arms Limitation Treaty
(SALT I) with the Soviet Union to reduce the need for spending money
on weapons. The two countries also agreed to strengthen economic
bonds; this period of relief was known as détente. Tensions resumed when
political clashes erupted in the Middle East, Angola, and Chile as the two

superpowers competed for influence in those war-torn areas.
The end is near
President Ronald Reagan (1911-2004; served 1981-89) antagonized

the Soviet Union in the early 1980s by calling the country the “evil em-

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History



pire.” He increased military spending and intensified the nuclear arms
race as well. After Soviet leader Leonid Brezhnev (1906-82) exercised his
authority against Poland, Reagan imposed economic sanctions against
the Soviet Union. Relations between the two superpowers were the worst
they had been since the late 1940s.

When Mikhail Gorbachev (1931-) took office in Moscow in 1985,
tensions began to ease. He made major economic reforms that encour-
aged restructuring and openness within the European communist coun-
tries. Although his intention was to implement these reforms gradually,
they had a major impact almost immediately. In 1989, the Berlin Wall
came down. The same year, the United States accepted military arms and
economic agreements, and Gorbachev announced that the postwar pe-
riod was over.

By 1990, many communist governments in Europe had been over-
thrown. The dissolution of the Soviet Union into fifteen independent
states in December 1991 put an end to the Cold War.

Colonies

See Thirteen Colonies

Colonization

There are several theories on who discovered America. Christopher
Columbus (1451-1506) was not the first foreigner to land on its shores,
but he was among the first to encourage Europeans to establish regular
channels of contact with the New World. In the decades following
Columbus’s journey of 1492, many European countries explored the
New World. While their exploration and trading efforts were generally

successful, establishing settlements and permanent colonies were more

difficult tasks.

Spain

Columbus’s voyage was funded by the monarchs of Spain. Spain contin-
ued to explore the New World after Columbus’s success. It concentrated
on Central and South America, where gold and silver were abundant.
While Spain explored the geography and populations in North America,
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the lack of gold and silver deposits discouraged Spain from focusing its
efforts there.

As Spanish fleets carried New World treasure back to Spain, they
tended to stay along the Florida coast before heading out to sea. For this
reason, the Florida coast became a haven for pirates. In 1565, the
Spanish government created a permanent settlement as a base for war-
ships to protect the Spanish sailing ships. Called St. Augustine, it was the
first European settlement in what became the United States.

Spain made early forays into the area of New Mexico, but since it
too lacked riches, no permanent settlements were pursued for some time.
In 1598, a group of missionaries arrived among the Native Americans
and opened a small outpost. The missionaries worked to convert the
Native North Americans to Christianity. A greater Spanish settlement
eventually evolved with the founding of Santa Fe in 1610. Isolated from
the major centers of the Spanish colonies, these settlements were never
too important in the power struggle to control North America.

France

Impressed with the Spanish importation of wealth, France undertook its
own exploration of the New World. In 1524,
King Francis 1 (1494-1547) commissioned a
Florentine navigator, Giovanni da Verrazano (c.
1485-1528), to search for the elusive "Passage to
the Orient,” an all-water route from Europe to
Asia. Though he did not find one, Verrazano did
map much of the east coast of North America.

Later voyages by Jacques Cartier
(1491-1557) brought the French expeditions
into Canada from the St. Lawrence River.
Attempts to settle this area were abandoned after
harsh winters, and the French never committed
to creating colonies like the English did.

The history of France in America is really a
history of trade based mainly on furs. Expansion
of New France, which went into regions now
known as Minnesota, down the Mississippi
River, and into Louisiana by 1700, were moti-
vated mostly by trade interests.
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Netherlands

Dutch claims in America stemmed from the trading posts and commer-
cial centers of the Dutch West India Company. Around 1625, it estab-
lished its first settlement at New Amsterdam (the area that would
become New York). Challenged by Indian wars and slow growth, the
colony was nearly devastated by 1645.

Under new leadership, the colony grew to almost four thousand by
1650. It became an important base for the Dutch maritime fleet, which
dominated world trade at the time. Conflicts in 1664 with the English
forced the Dutch out, and its areas would become English.

England

Like France and Spain, England’s initial efforts to build settlements in
the wilderness of the New World met resistance from Native Americans.
English persistence eventually brought success, and colonies began to

flourish.

In 1585, a colony supported by a charter granted to English adven-
turer and writer Walter Raleigh (1554-1618) was established along the
Carolina coast. Called the Roanoke Colonyj, its settlers were ill-prepared
to do the work required to build a viable community. In 1590, relief
ships arrived from England, but the colony had mysteriously vanished.
It is often referred to as the Lost Colony.

The failure of Roanoke delayed further English colonization efforts
until the early 1600s. A single charter was granted to two companies, the
Plymouth Company and the London Company, to plant two colonies.
The Plymouth Company’s settlement on the Maine coast at Sagahadoc
failed quickly.

The London Company, however, established a colony in 1607 on
the James River, calling it Jamestown. Though it encountered many dif-
ficulties, it managed to survive, and eventually the settlers mastered liv-
ing in the New World. Jamestown was the first permanent English

settlement in America, the successful beginning of a large movement of
English settlers to the New World.

In 1620, another group of settlers sailed to America aboard the
Mayflower. Several of the passengers were Puritans, or Pilgrims, who
were seeking religious freedom in the New World. Though their original
intentions were to settle in Virginia, the group landed and stayed at
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Plymouth (eventually Massachusetts). The success of this colony
quickly attracted others who settled in the area of New England.

By 1630, Jamestown and Plymouth were quite successful, and there
were fur trading and fishing villages scattered along the New England
coast. In 1629, a group of English merchants organized another venture
and moved the Massachusetts Bay Company to New England. In early
1630, seven hundred passengers arrived in Massachusetts to start the
Massachusetts Bay Colony. Within a year, they had established seven
towns, including Boston. This effort sparked the beginning of the Great
Migration, in which over twenty thousand people emigrated to America
by 1642.

By 1650, English settlements had a population of almost fifty-five
thousand. Another proprietary, or business-owned, colony had been es-
tablished near the Chesapeake colony of Virginia. Called Maryland, it
competed in the production of tobacco and was a haven for Catholics in
the New World. Similar proprietary colonies established Pennsylvania,
the Carolinas, and New York. Religious dissenters from the
Massachusetts Bay Colony established Rhode Island, Connecticut, and
New Hampshire.

By the end of the seventeenth century, twelve of the original thir-
teen colonies (excepting Georgia) had been founded. Five major cities
developed as centers of trade and commerce along the Atlantic seaboard
between Maine and South Carolina. The English colonies were
thriving.

Conflict and motivation

Choosing to live in the colonies meant living a difficult and dangerous
life. Challenging weather, illness, and conflict with Native Americans
made life perilous. For many colonists, however, the benefits of life in the
New World made the efforts worth the risks. Many Protestants found re-
ligious freedom to practice their Christian faith in supportive, like-
minded communities. Those who could not find enough work in
Europe were assured of land and work in the New World. Business
investors knew the riches to be had from the natural resources and new
crops.

While ultimately beneficial and profitable for many Europeans, col-
onization of the New World proved harmful to other societies. Native

Americans, who had lived in the New World for hundreds of years be-
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fore the arrival of Europeans, lost the power struggle for control of North
America. Most Native American societies perished, and the few that sur-
vived did so barely on often marginal lands. At the same time, the need
for cheap agricultural labor in the New World resulted in the enslave-
ment of Africans until slavery in the United States was abolished in

1865.

Colorado

Colorado entered the Union on August 1, 1876, the thirty-eighth state
to do so. Its capital is Denver and it is nicknamed the Centennial State
because it became a state one hundred years after the signing of the
Declaration of Independence. Colorado is the eighth largest state in
the nation, with a total area of 104,091 square miles (269,596 square
kilometers). It is located in the Rocky Mountain region, surrounded by
New Mexico, Utah, Wyoming, Nebraska, Kansas, and Oklahoma.
The southwest corner of the state touches the northwest corner of
Arizona.

By 800 CE, the Pueblo lived in the region now known as Colorado.
These Native Americans were advanced in agricultural know-how as well
as pottery making. Their homes were elaborate apartment-like dwellings
built into the cliffs of canyons. Various Spanish explorers visited the area
in the 1700s, but the French claimed most of the region east of the
Rocky Mountains. The eastern region remained a wilderness for several
decades.

In July 1858, gold was found in Cherry Creek (today’s Denver).
Reports of the gold strike were greatly exaggerated, and they brought
thousands of people to Colorado. They developed mining towns such as
Boulder, Central City, and Gold Hill. The population of what would be-
come Colorado exceeded thirty thousand by 1860.

The 1860s were host to the most severe conflict between Native
Americans and white settlers in the state’s history. After being forced into
ceding most of their tribal lands to the federal government, the
Cheyenne and Arapaho tribes returned to their nomadic lifestyle. They
hunted buffalo and often clashed with the white settlers who were tak-
ing over their land. In an effort to stop the violence, state officers offered
the tribes amnesty if they reported to army forts. Believing themselves to
be protected, the Native Americans set up camp and flew the American
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flag and white flag (a sign of truce). On November 29, 1864, U.S. mil-
itary forces brutally massacred two hundred Native Americans, most of
them women and children, as they camped. This was known as the Sand
Creek Massacre.

Colorado became a popular tourist destination even in the 1860s, as
resorts opened near some of the state’s mineral springs. After a decline in
the silver market caused an economic depression in the 1890s, farmers
returned to the land at the beginning of the twentieth century. The es-
tablishment of the U.S. Air Force Academy and the North American Air
Defense Command in Colorado Springs stimulated the growth of de-
fense and aerospace-related industries.

Current-day Colorado relies on tourism and manufacturing for the
bulk of its income. Major industries include food, computer and elec-
tronic products, and beverage and tobacco products. Tourism provides
more than two hundred thousand jobs in the state.

Colorado cemented a place in the history of American tragedies in
1999 when two teenage students at Columbine High School went on
a shooting rampage and killed twelve students and one teacher before
killing themselves. Many more students were injured, and the event
heightened the national debate on gun control and the effects of media

violence on youth.

Columbian Exposition

Fairs were popular events in the late nineteenth and early twentieth cen-
turies. Manufacturers used fairs to introduce new products and demon-
strate their uses. States and provinces set up booths and competed for
new citizens and investments. For the price of 50 cents for adults and 25
cents for children ages six through twelve (about $10 and $5 in today’s
money), fair goers could spend a day being simultaneously educated and
entertained. It was the equivalent of Disney World, the Olympics, and
the Super Bowl all rolled into one event, so great was the impact of fairs
on American society.

One of the most famous and influential fairs in history was the
World’s Columbian Exposition, also known as the Chicago World’s Fair.
The Columbian Exposition was held at Jackson Park in Chicago,
Illinois, from May 1 through October 31, 1893.
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The first Ferris wheel, shown at the 1893 World’s Columbian Exposition in Chicago. AP IMAGES

The fair itself was huge, with fourteen main buildings and two hun-
dred additional buildings. The fairgrounds included a system of lagoons
and waterways fed by Lake Michigan. Architects designed the layout,
and the exposition was nicknamed the “White City” because all the
buildings were painted white.

Each main building at the fair had a different theme, including gov-
ernment, mining, machinery, agricultural, and manufacturing and lib-
eral arts. In each building, fair goers could see the latest trends and
inventions. Several popular and enduring products made their debut at
the fair, including Juicy Fruit gum, Aunt Jemima syrup, Cracker Jack
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popcorn, Shredded Wheat cereal, Pabst beer, the hamburger, diet car-

bonated soda, postcards, and the Ferris wheel.

Once attendees tired of walking through buildings, they could enjoy
entertainment in the midway (amusement park), where countless rides,
musicians, and refreshments enhanced the carnival-like atmosphere. In
addition, the midway contained a hot-air balloon ride, a zoo, recreations
of traditional Japanese and German villages, a swimming pool, and a wax
museum. It was not possible to get through the entire fair in one day. To
the delight of Chicago’s innkeepers and hotel owners, millions of people
stayed overnight for at least one day, and usually for several more.

The Columbian Exposition was a financial success. It earned back
more than the $28 million spent on developing it; the concession stands
alone brought in $4 million. In fact, the fair was so successful that it be-
came the model for most of the fairs to follow. The fair met its goals in
other ways as well. The purpose of the exposition was to encourage
American unity in the face of cultural change and to celebrate technol-
ogy and commerce. By showing the American public that ethnic differ-
ences and the changes resulting from immigration and increased contact
with foreign countries have a positive impact on society, the fair had a
major influence on cultural attitudes.

The fair promoted consumerism as well. On the fairgrounds, mil-
lions of Americans were introduced to a vast array of products ranging
from food to soap to home decorating materials. This awareness led di-
rectly to “conspicuous consumption,” or the buying of expensive prod-
ucts as a way to display a person’s wealth. Although the term was not
coined until 1899, the fair set in motion the attitude that the higher the
price, the better the product.

Directly related to conspicuous consumerism was advertising. For
months following the fair, advertisements for products that had won
awards at the event used that fame to sell the products and gain brand
recognition (in which consumers recognize a brand name and automat-
ically link it to the idea of high quality or superior craftsmanship).
Advertisers also took advantage of the new perception that buying is fun.
They subtly reinforced the idea that the more a consumer spent, the hap-
pier he or she would be.

The Chicago World’s Fair had other social effects as well. It was re-
sponsible for a new holiday—Columbus Day. Thanks to the fair, school-
children began each day in the classroom with a burst of patriotism by
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reciting the Pledge of Allegiance in front of the American flag. Some
historians claim that Wizard of Oz author L. Frank Baum (1856-1919)
modeled his famous fictional city, Oz, on the glamour and sensory expe-
rience of the fair. The event found its way into novels as well as songs,
and a new musical genre called ragtime was introduced on the fair-
grounds by Scott Joplin (c. 1867-1917).

The midway of the fair had a major impact on American culture at
the turn of the century. With its exotic foreign villages and native tribal
performers featured in displays created to replicate their rural (primarily
African) villages, the midway inspired the idea of a modern carnival with
various forms of live entertainment. By 1910, thousands of amusement
parks dotted the U.S. landscape. All the parks were modeled on the
Chicago Fairs midway. The most popular amusement parks of the
twenty-first century—Disneyland and Disney World—also were mod-
eled on the fair.

The rapid changes in technology and industry in the late 1870s and
early 1880s stirred fear in many Americans. The fair invited Americans
to learn more about advancing technology, especially electricity, in a
leisurely way, and it helped shift the nation’s attitude toward technology
in a more hopeful direction. More and more, technology was being
viewed as the new symbol of progress. The Columbian Exposition high-
lighted the United States’s shift from an agrarian (agricultural-based) so-
ciety to a more technological, consumer-based country.

Columbine High School Shooting

On April 20, 1999, two students at Columbine High School in
Littleton, Colorado, shot and killed twelve fellow students and a teacher
and wounded twenty others before turning their guns on themselves.

The planned attack

That morning, seniors Eric Harris (1981-1999) and Dylan Klebold
(1981-1999) went to school clad in black trench coats. Beneath their
coats, they had hidden many weapons, including an assault rifle, sawed-
off shotguns, handguns, and homemade grenades. At 11:15 aM, Klebold
and Harris opened fire in the parking lot, shooting randomly at fleeing
students. Walking slowly, they made their way into the building, leaving
behind the bodies of those they had shot. Once inside, they entered the
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cafeteria, and one of them tossed a pipe bomb into the room. Both at-
tackers began firing on the students, who fled in panic.

Throughout the building, students scrambled for hiding places in
closets, bathrooms, and any spots that offered the hope of shelter from
the killers. Some called 911 from cell phones. Many managed to escape
the building. The sheriff’s deputy on duty full-time at the school radioed
for backup.

In the next few minutes, the two killers attacked the high school’s
choir room, auditorium, gymnasium, and library. Students later reported
that Harris and Klebold entered the library and demanded that all

“jocks” stand up. Then they shot them.

The shooting stops

The police arrived within twenty minutes, and they found several explo-
sive devices around the school building. At noon, forty-five minutes after
the shooting began, ambulances began transporting wounded students
to hospitals as the parking lot filled with bomb teams, SWAT teams, fire
trucks, and paramedic units. At about 12:30 PM, the shooting stopped.

By the time it was over, the gunmen had killed thirteen people,
twelve students and a teacher. Then, in the library, Klebold and Harris
shot themselves. Their bodies were not located until 4:30 that afternoon.

The killers

Klebold and Harris had come from upper-middle-class families.
Classmates remembered them as fairly normal, though aloof. In recent
months, the boys had developed a number of disturbing interests, in-
cluding Nazism (the day of the shooting was the 110th anniversary of
the birth of Nazi Germany leader Adolf Hitler), firearms, and an extreme
version of alternative heavy-metal music. Klebold and Harris had spent
countless hours on the Internet. Their parents apparently did not notice
their computer usage or their recent interest in guns and white suprema-
cist ideology (the belief that white people should rule over people of
other races). As a result, some people perceived the parents as neglectful
and they would later become the focus of lawsuits associated with the
shooting.

The Columbine shooting was not the worst in American history.
The worst school massacre occurred long before, in Michigan in 1927,
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when a deranged school board treasurer killed thirty-eight students and
six adults with explosives. Nor was Columbine to be the last school
shooting in the United States, as witnessed in 2007 at Virginia Tech in
Blacksburg, Virginia (among other similar incidences), when a lone
emotionally disturbed gunman killed thirty-two people and wounded
many more. Columbine stood out because it took the country by sur-
prise. In the prosperous 1980s and 1990s, most middle-class parents felt
safe when their children were at school. After Columbine, parents and
school personnel across the country were startled into discussions about
how to prevent another such tragedy, and steps were taken to provide
better communication and counseling. While the discussions led to im-
proved safety on the one hand, there was bad news as well. Columbine
almost immediately provoked copycat killings by students around the
nation who had seen all the attention given to the dead killers and
wanted their own moment of celebrity.

Christopher Columbus

Christopher Columbus was an Italian explorer who sailed in the service
of the king and queen of Spain. Between 1492 and 1504, he made four
voyages to the Caribbean and South America, lands unknown to
Europeans at that time.

Goes to sea as a teenager

Columbus was born some time in the fall of 1451 to a humble family in
Genoa, Italy. He became a seaman at a young age. By the time he was in
his twenties, he was a skilled sailor with enough knowledge to pilot his
own boat. In 1476, Columbus traveled to Lisbon, Portugal, where his
younger brother, Bartholomew Columbus (c. 1461-1515), operated a
book and map store. Columbus educated himself in the store, studying
navigation and the art of cartography, or mapmaking. A devout
Catholic, Columbus also studied religion.

Enterprise of the Indies

During the 1470s and early 1480s, Columbus participated in several
long voyages that took him as far as Iceland and Africa. Trade with Asia
(then called the Indies) was very profitable at the time, and he began to
formulate the idea that it would be faster and easier to travel to Asia by
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Italian explorer Christopher

Columbus sailed on behalf of

the

king and queen of Spain,

hoping to spread Christianity
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around the world. THE
LIBRARY OF CONGRESS

sailing westward from Europe, going across the
Atlantic Ocean, than by traveling east, as was
commonly done. Contrary to legend, all edu-
cated fifteenth-century Europeans knew that the
earth was round, but no one had any idea about
its size; most theories underestimated the size of
the earth by about one-third. Most people also
believed the earth was one huge landmass, con-
sisting of Europe, Africa, and Asia, surrounded
by water. It was not surprising that Columbus
guessed incorrectly at the distances between
continents.

Naming his plan to reach Asia on a west-
ward route “The Enterprise of the Indies,”
Columbus tried unsuccessfully to persuade
Portuguese king John II (1455-1495) to sup-
port an expedition proving his theory. In May
1486, Spanish queen Isabella I (1451-1504)
agreed to hear his plan.

Besides finding a new trade route and untold riches, part of
Columbus’s goal in his enterprise was to bring Christianity to the world’s
peoples. This appealed to Queen Isabella, who wished to create a vast,
worldwide, Spanish empire that would spread the Christian religion to
every corner of the earth.

In April 1492, Queen Isabella and her husband, King Ferdinand II
(1452-1516), signed an agreement with Columbus to fund his voyage.
Columbus secured three ships—the Ni7ia, the Pinta, and the Santa
Maria—and a crew of about ninety men and boys. The Santa Maria, at
100 feet in length, was the largest of the three ships.

The first voyage

The fleet sailed on August 3, 1492. By chance, Columbus found the best
possible Atlantic route to the New World and the weather was good.
Still, the voyage took weeks. Finally, on October 11, signs of land be-
came apparent—branches with green leaves and flowers floating in the
water. Very early on the morning of October 12, the lookout on the
Pinta saw land.
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The grateful crew landed on a small island in the present-day
Bahamas. Columbus named the island San Salvador (Holy Savior).
Columbus stayed on the island for two days, meeting with its inhabi-
tants, members of the peaceful Arawak-speaking Taino tribe. Not know-
ing where he was, and always assuming that he had reached the Indies,

he called these people Indians.

Columbus spent several days exploring the Bahamas, but the Taino
told him about another much larger island named Colba (Cuba), and he
set off for it, thinking it must be part of China or Japan. He landed on
Cuba on October 28, 1492, and for the next month sailed along its
north coast. After leaving Cuba on December 5, 1492, Columbus sailed

Christopher Columbus landed on the island he named San Salvador in 1492, thinking that he was somewbhere in the Indies
when he was actually in an area of the present-day Bahamas. THE LIBRARY OF CONGRESS
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to another large island, which he named Hispaniola because it reminded

him of Spain.

Meets Native Americans

In Hispaniola, Columbus met a young Arawak chief who was wearing
gold ornaments, which he was willing to trade for European goods.
Farther east, Columbus met a more important chief who had even larger
pieces of gold. Columbus entertained him and his people on board the
Santa Maria on Christmas Eve. After the festivities, while everyone was
asleep, the ship hit a coral reef and began to sink. Helped by the chief
and his followers, the Spanish were able to unload most of the ship’s
goods and carry them to shore. Making the best of a bad situation,
Columbus founded the first European settlement in the Americas. He

named it La Navidad (The Nativity) after the birthday of Christ.

Honored for achievement

In January, Columbus sailed for Spain, leaving twenty-one men behind
in La Navidad. He returned with spices, slaves, and a small amount of
gold. He had written a pamphlet praising the lands he had found. They
were, he exclaimed, filled with amiable natives and vast riches.
Columbus stayed in Barcelona for three months. For having discovered
a new route to the Indies, Queen Isabella and King Ferdinand gave him
titles and honors and agreed to sponsor a second voyage.

Second voyage

Columbus’s second expedition to the Americas in 1493 was much larger
than the first, with seventeen ships and about twelve hundred to fifteen
hundred men aboard. After a smooth crossing, the ships sailed through
the Caribbean islands. There they encountered the native Caribs, a war-
like people who were skilled navigators and made raids upon others from
their large dugout canoes. After a brief fight, some of the Caribs were
captured and sent to Spain as slaves.

When the Spanish fleet reached the settlement at La Navidad, they
found it in ruins with the unburied bodies of Spaniards everywhere.
Many historians assume that the once-peaceful Arawak Indians rebelled
against Spanish abuses and killed the Spaniards. Abandoning the site,

Columbus took his new colonists seventy-five miles to the east where he
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built a trading fort called Isabela in what is now the Dominican
Republic. It turned out to be a poor location, but Columbus laid out a
main square with a church and “royal palace” and constructed 200 huts
for the settlers. Within four days, the settlers found gold near Isabela.
Columbus then sent twelve ships laden with gold and spices back to
Spain.

Fights with Native Americans

In 1494, Columbus’s brother Bartholomew arrived from Spain. The
Arawak, who were traditionally a peaceful people, had by that time real-
ized that the arrival of the Spanish meant their destruction. Columbus
and his men took the Arawaks as slaves; his men also sexually assaulted
the Arawak women. In addition, the Europeans brought with them epi-
demic diseases that were deadly to the natives. So the Arawak put to-
gether a large force to try to drive the intruders off the island. At the end
of March 1495, Columbus and his brother led a force that defeated the
Native Americans and enslaved many of the survivors.

Despite Columbus’s personal promise to Queen Isabella not to use
unnecessary violence with the natives, many of Columbus’s men were
abusive to the Native Americans. Columbus, unsuccessful in imposing
order, decided to return to Spain in 1496. He left his brother in charge
of the colony, but Bartholomew quickly abandoned Isabela and moved
the Spanish headquarters to the south side of the island at Santo
Domingo.

News had already reached Spain of the trouble in Isabela. It took
Columbus two years to convince Ferdinand and Isabella to send him out
on a third voyage. The royals finally agreed. The small fleet did not ac-
tually leave until May 30, 1498, because Columbus had trouble finding
ships and supplies.

Third voyage

Columbus landed on the island of Trinidad on August 1, 1498. The next
day, he sailed to the mouth of the great Orinoco River in Venezuela, re-
alizing almost at once he had reached a continental landmass. This was
his first view of the mainland of the Americas.

When he returned to Hispaniola, Columbus found trouble. Isabella
and Ferdinand had sent a new governor to replace Columbus in
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Hispaniola. When the new governor arrived, finding the Spanish inhab-
itants in a state of rebellion, he immediately arrested both Columbus
brothers. He put them in chains and sent them back to Spain, where
they arrived in October 1500. Columbus stayed in chains for five weeks
after his return until he was released by Ferdinand and Isabella on
December 12.

Final voyage

Columbus was granted one more expedition in 1502. He arrived in
Santo Domingo in the middle of a hurricane, but its new governor
would not let him enter the harbor. Columbus sailed across the
Caribbean to the coast of Honduras and journeyed southward along the
coast of Central America looking for a passageway west. When he
reached Panama, he was close to the Pacific Ocean. It is possible that
Columbus may then have realized the continent he had found was not
Asia, but there are no records to prove this.

Columbus tried to found a new colony in western Panama. As one
of the rainiest places in the world and inhabited by Native Americans
hostile to the Europeans, it proved unsuitable for settlement. After great
delays due to leaky ships, Columbus chartered a boat and left for Spain
in September 1504.

Back in Spain

Columbus’s biggest supporter, Queen Isabella, died in 1504. IlI himself,
the disgraced navigator continued to try to convince King Ferdinand to
sponsor another voyage, but he failed. Columbus moved into a house in

the Spanish city of Valladolid in 1506 and died there on May 20.

Communism

Communism is a socioeconomic policy that advocates a classless society
in which the government owns and controls all property and means of
production. It is the opposite of capitalism, which is the policy upon
which the U.S. economy is based. Within communism, there is no busi-
ness competition, and wealth is distributed equally among people.
Another primary difference between communism and capitalism is its
leadership. Communism requires authoritarian, single-party rule, which
sometimes results in force to control opposition.
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The concept of communism dates back to ancient Greece, when
philosopher Plato (428 BCE-348 BCE) advocated it as a kind of commu-
nal living. The real father of communism, however, is German philoso-
pher Karl Marx (1818-1883). Marx wrote 7he Communist Manifesto in
1848, in which he outlined and explained his theory of communism.
The author worked closely with Friedrich Engels (1820-1895), a
German social scientist and philosopher. Engels helped Marx write the
Manifesto. The men referred to communism as “scientific socialism.”

Socialism

Communism is based on the theory of socialism, which developed in
Europe during the working-class rebellions of the nineteenth century.
Supporters of the theory argued that those in power had forgotten the
ideals of liberty, equality, and the right to existence. Until political rights
included economic and social equality, these ideals could never be real-
ized. Therefore, the gaps between the wealthy and the poor must be de-
stroyed.

Marx and Engels considered communism the highest form of social-
ism. Because history was full of struggles between capitalists (those who
own property and/or money) and the working class (known as proletari-
ats), they believed that society must be on the path toward communism:
To them, communism was inevitable. Marx believed that the working
class would ultimately rule in a socialist society that would eventually
evolve into a communist society—one without poverty, government cor-
ruption, and class distinctions. His view of socialism is sometimes re-

ferred to as Marxism.

Leninism

Russian statesman Vladimir Lenin (1870-1924), one of the twentieth
century’s most revolutionary thinkers, was another supporter of commu-
nism. He took Marxism one step further and developed his own brand
of communism, known as Leninism.

Lenin explained his beliefs in a political pamphlet, titled What Is to
Be Done? (1902), in which he argued that the proletariat can achieve a
revolutionary consciousness only if it forms a political party comprised
of full-time, professional revolutionaries. He also said that goals could be

reached only through democratic centralism, whereby decisions are
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made democratically by the group, but once made, those decisions must
be supported without exception and actively promoted.

Lenin insisted that capitalism could be overcome only through rev-
olutions, not through reforms. The ultimate goal of Lenin and his fol-
lowers was to overthrow the existing Russian government, and in 1917,
he did just that as he led the Bolshevik Revolution (also known as the
October Revolution or Russian Revolution). The Bolsheviks were pro-
fessional revolutionaries organized by Lenin, and they represented the
struggling proletariats of Russia at the time.

On October 25, 1917, Lenin led the uprising in St. Petersburg,
Russia’s capital. The Bolsheviks met with little opposition in taking over
the Winter Palace (home of the Russian czar and his family). The victory
brought several improvements for Russia’s working class. Workdays were
shorter and wages were higher. Private bank accounts—held mainly by
the wealthy—and the church’s property and bank accounts were seized.
Private land—owned only by the wealthy—was seized and redistributed
among the peasantry (rural working class). Russia became a socialist na-
tion. In 1922, Russia joined with other republics to become the Union
of Soviet Socialist Republics (U.S.S.R.), or the Soviet Union.

After Lenin

In his lifetime, Lenin never proclaimed that the Soviet Union had be-
come socialist; he merely stated that the communists had come to power.
Upon Lenin’s death in 1924, a great power struggle began between dic-
tator Joseph Stalin (1878-1953) and revolutionary Leon Trotsky
(1879-1940). Stalin was a Leninist and Trotsky considered himself a
Marxist. When Stalin’s view became the law of the land, Trotsky was ex-
pelled from his country.

Stalin was a ruthless dictator whose campaigns of political repression
claimed the lives of millions. During his rule, the Soviet Union helped
defeat Germany in World War II (1939-45) and so became one of the
world’s two superpowers (with the United States) in the postwar era. By
1937, the Soviet Union had developed into the world’s second most in-
dustrialized nation.

The 1930s were devastating for Russians who disagreed with Stalin’s
doctrine. Stalin put into action what became known as the Great Purge,
a campaign of intense political repression, persecution, and execution.
Where once he called his policy Marxism-Leninism, the dictator now re-
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ferred to it as Stalinism. To punish those who were against him, Stalin
confiscated grain and other food, sending his country deep into famine
from 1932 to 1934; millions of people starved to death or died by exe-
cution or in brutal prison labor camps.

Stalin died from the effects of a stroke in 1953 and was succeeded
by Nikita Khrushchev (1894-1971), who denounced the fallen leader

and began a process called “de-Stalinization.”

Communism in Asia and Cuba

Communism was not found only in the Soviet Union. Before World War
I, it existed in other countries, but it did not control the government. In
China, the philosophy of statesman Mao Zedong (1893-1976) influenced
communism. In 1949, Mao led the Communist Party of China to victory
over the Kuomintang in the Chinese Civil War. As a result, he ruled the
People’s Republic of China (PRC) from 1949 until his death in 1976.

Mao’s theory was based on Marxism-Leninism, but he put his own
spin on it to allow for practical application. According to him, the peas-
antry was viewed as a major force in any revolution. Unlike Russian
communism, which relied upon working-class city dwellers, China’s

communism relied upon rural-based peasants.

Cuba was another communist country that based its theory on
Soviet communism, but revised it to fit the needs and wants of Cuban
economic and social circumstances. In 1959, revolutionary leader Fidel
Castro (1926-) and his followers overthrew the government of Cuba.
Shortly afterward, he was sworn in as the prime minister of Cuba, and
became the first secretary of the Communist Party of Cuba in 1965.
Although some Cubans hated Castro, who became president of his
country in 1976, others praised him as a charismatic leader who did
much good for Cuba. His opponents described him as a dictator whose
rule was illegitimate because it was not established through legal means.
After several years of poor health, in February 2008 Castro resigned his
position, and the National Assembly elected his younger brother, Raul
Castro (1931-), to succeed him as Cuba’s president.

America's greatest fear

Communism in any form has long been the greatest fear of the U.S. gov-
ernment. Shortly after the Bolshevik Revolution in 1917, an anticom-
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munist Red Scare gripped the United States. So great was this fear that
innocent people were imprisoned for merely expressing their political
views. Any labor strikes or unrest were immediately associated with a
lack of patriotism, if not with an outright support of socialism and com-
munism.

In 1919, J. Edgar Hoover (1895-1972) headed up the newly cre-
ated General Intelligence Division of the Bureau of Investigation, even-
tually called the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI). He and his
team spied on organizations and individuals they suspected of having
communist ties or sympathies. Civil liberties were ignored, and the divi-
sion eventually compiled more than two hundred thousand information
cards on suspects. Thousands of people were arrested on absurd charges.
For example, in Newark, New Jersey, a man was arrested simply because

he looked like a radical.

The national mood shifted when the injustices perpetrated by the
FBI were made public. By the summer of 1920, the Red Scare had run

its course.

McCarthyism

The Second Red Scare began in the late 1940s and lasted for about a
decade. Although the United States had sided with the Soviet Union
during World War II, the establishment of new communist regimes in
Eastern Europe shortly after the war, the Soviet Union’s development of
an atomic bomb, and a highly publicized spy case in the United States
raised fears and led to what is known as the Cold War. A cold war is

when there is no physical fighting, but political relations between coun-
tries are strained and tense. The Cold War lasted from 1945 to 1991.

On February 9, 1950, U.S. senator Joseph McCarthy (1908-1957)
of Wisconsin made a speech to a Republican Women’s Club in Virginia
in which he claimed to have a list of members of the Communist Party
and members of a spy ring who worked for the U.S. State Department.
Within a month, the hunt for communists within the United States was

labeled “McCarthyism.”

In addition to numerous local, state, and federal government anti-
communist panels and committees, private agencies were hired to carry
out investigations for companies that suspected that communists were
lurking within their ranks. The most active government committee was

the House Un-American Activities Committee (HUAC), which had
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been formed in 1938. In October 1947, the HUAC began summoning
movie industry professionals to appear to testify about their alleged com-
munist affiliations or beliefs and to implicate their colleagues. Although
some actors were subpoenaed, most of those persecuted were screenwrit-
ers and directors.

Among the first called to testify were ten men who refused to coop-
erate. They became known as the Hollywood Ten, and all were sentenced
to jail for terms of six months to one year. The day after the Hollywood
Ten were cited for contempt of court, the president of the Motion
Picture Association of America announced that his group would not
knowingly hire a Communist. This was the beginning of Hollywood
blacklisting, a process that eventually banned hundreds of actors and
writers from working in the film industry. The film studios denied them
employment, but they never admitted the blacklist even existed.

Beginning in 1940, various laws had been passed to protect America
from communist subversion. Under these laws, hundreds of people were
prosecuted legally but unjustly. McCarthy headed the Senate Permanent
Subcommittee on Investigations from 1953 to 1954, and he used the
committee for anticommunist investigations. McCarthy’s relentless and
unethical pursuit and persecution of individuals caused him to lose sup-
porters. As the movement became more extreme, its opponents became
more outspoken. One such opponent was well-known CBS newscaster
Edward R. Murrow (1908—1965). In 1954, Murrow aired two television
programs on the horrors and injustices of McCarthyism, the second of
which focused on Senator McCarthy himself. He was portrayed as dis-
honest and abusive, and that broadcast was praised as a key factor in end-

ing the era of McCarthyism.

An end to the witch hunts

By the end of the 1950s, the American public had begun to doubt the
righteousness of McCarthyism. The U.S. Supreme Court almost single-
handedly ended the era with several court decisions. In 1956, a New
York college professor had been fired for invoking the Fifth
Amendment when McCarthy’s committee questioned him. The
Supreme Court declared this firing illegal. The following year, the con-
victions of fourteen communists were reversed, and the Supreme Court
revoked the power of HUAC to punish uncooperative witnesses. In
1958, the State Department was stripped of its authority to deny or re-
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voke passports based on an individual’s communist ties or beliefs.
McCarthyism had come to an end.

Communism remains a threat to the U.S. government for the same
reason it once did: The cornerstone of American society and economy is
based on capitalism, and communism goes against every belief of capi-
talism.

Compromise of 1850

The United States expanded westward at a rapid pace in the 1800s.
Expansion of the country raised the question of whether slavery would
be allowed in new territories and states. It was a difficult question with
moral and economic issues. For free whites living in the South, slavery
provided a stable economy. For whites in the North, slavery was incom-
patible with the economic needs, and many also believed it was immoral.
The complexity of issues often meant passionate debates in Congress
that threatened the union of states. Several compromises preserved the
Union throughout the first half of the 1800s, but they often provided in-
adequate solutions. The Compromise of 1850 was one of the last great
efforts in Congress to appease all sides (except the slaves, who had no
representation in government). For awhile, the measures helped to avoid
secession and to preserve the Union.

With the Missouri Compromise of 1820, Congress set a boundary
allowing slavery in Missouri and the states below it but prohibiting slav-
ery in areas to the north. This compromise only covered areas that had
been within the Louisiana Territory, the largest portion of the Louisiana
Purchase (approximately 530 million acres of land acquired from France
in 1803).

By the end of the 1840s, after the Mexican-American War
(1846-48), U.S. territories extended beyond the former Louisiana
Territory, all the way west to the Pacific Ocean. The discovery of gold in
1849 led to a rush of people to California (see California Gold Rush).
Westward expansion revived debates over the expansion of slavery in
the United States. Some southerners began to talk about seceding from
the United States if slavery was not allowed to expand.

Many in Congress believed compromise on the expansion of slavery
was impossible. U.S. senator Henry Clay (1777-1852) of Kentucky,

however, made the first concrete proposal for compromise in January
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1850. Originally hoping to present five separate bills, he organized them
all into one, the Omnibus Bill, to avoid vetoes by U.S. president
Zachary Taylor (1784—1850; served 1849-50).

Stipulations of the Omnibus Bill proposed to admit California as a
free state and to reduce the boundaries of the slavery state of Texas. New
Mexico would compensate Texas for land it would gain in the boundary
adjustment. The territories of Utah and New Mexico would have no re-
strictions on slavery. The Omnibus Bill provided a stricter fugitive slave
law for the return of runaway slaves, and it would abolish the slave trade
in Washington, D.C. Debate surrounding the bill was dramatic and
passionate. The bill proved to be too controversial, and it failed to pass.

U.S. senator Stephen A. Douglas (1813-1861) of Illinois took
charge of the measure in the summer of 1850. Douglas had been work-
ing hard to reduce division among the politicians on other legislative
measures. Choosing to break up the Omnibus Bill into five modified
bills, Douglas presented the proposals to Congress again in September.
The success of the various measures depended on different interest
groups, and all eventually passed. Called the Compromise of 1850, the
legislation temporarily quieted talk of secession. Abolitionists continued

to advocate ending slavery everywhere, and the issue would erupt again
in the American Civil War (1861-65).

Concord, Battle of

See Battle of Lexington and Concord

Confederate Flag

During the American Civil War (1861-65), the Confederate States of
America abandoned the Stars and Stripes, the official flag of the United
States. (See American Flag.) The Confederates instead created their own
version of a national flag. Over the course of the war, the Confederate
Congress adopted three different official flags.

The first flag was adopted on March 14, 1861. It included seven
white stars to represent the seven states that had seceded. By the end of
the year, that number had increased to thirteen. No official proportions
or arrangement of stars were established, and flag makers often defined
the design themselves as a result. Though the first flag was intentionally
similar to the Stars and Stripes, the Confederate Congress eventually
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Confederate Legacy

The Confederate flag has been a source of
controversy since the Confederate States of
America ceased to exist. Many Americans still
use the flag personally, and some state flags
arguably include Confederate flag designs.
Many Americans consider use of the
Confederate flag to be a matter of pride in
their southern heritage, a symbol of state

abandoned the design in search of something
less reminiscent of the Union.

On May 1, 1863, the Confederate Congress
adopted a new flag. This flag had a dominating
white field and included the battle flag of the
eastern Confederate armies. This flag earned the
nickname the “Stainless Banner” for its domi-
nating white field. That trait is also what led the
Confederate Congress to adopt another version
of the flag, because in calm weather, the Stainless

power, and an exercise of free speech. Many
other Americans consider the Confederate
flag to be a symbol of slavery, bigotry, and
racial oppression.

Banner was often mistaken for a flag of truce.
On March 4, 1865, the Confederate

Congress revised the second design to include a

noticeable red bar along the end. This flag was

short-lived. Confederate forces surrendered in

April 1865, and the Confederacy came to an end.

Confederate States of America

The Confederate States of America was a separate government set up by
the southern states that seceded from the United States after the presi-
dential election of 1860. Commonly called the Confederacy, it con-
tained thirteen states that united in war to establish independence from
the remaining states, called the Union. The American Civil War
(1861-65) tore the nation apart and was the bloodiest conflict in the na-
tion’s history.

Secession

In 1860, the nation was struggling with many political issues. The most
difficult involved the protection and expansion of slavery. The United
States was expanding into new territories across the West. Whether slav-
ery would be permitted sparked intense argument on both sides of the
question in Congress and across the nation.

The southern economy depended very much on slavery, so there was
great southern interest not only in protecting slavery in existing states but
in allowing it to expand to new territories. Since northern state economies
depended on employed immigrants instead of slaves, there was little sup-
port there for allowing slavery to expand into new territories.
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Abraham Lincoln (1809-1865; served 1861-65) was elected to the
presidency at the end of 1860. As he opposed the expansion of slavery,
many in the South feared his election was the first step in the complete
abolition of slavery throughout the nation. These fears triggered plans
for secession.

Independence

Soon after Lincoln’s election, the state legislature of South Carolina or-
ganized a state convention to consider secession. On December 20,
1860, convention delegates voted in favor of secession and made plans
to meet again in Alabama to form a southern republic. Beginning on
January 9, 1861, six more states followed South Carolina: Mississippi,
Florida, Alabama, Louisiana, Georgia, and Texas.

The states that seceded believed they had the right to do so. They
believed each state voluntarily entered the nation and, therefore, had the
right to leave whenever they wished. As far as the southern states were
concerned, their constitutional right to have slavery and to control other
political issues was in jeopardy, so being part of the United States no
longer served their interests.

In February 1861, delegates from the first seven states to secede met
in Montgomery, Alabama, to create a united southern government. They
quickly drafted and adopted a provisional constitution, and on February
8 the Confederate States of America was born. The constitution pro-
vided a temporary government for one year. Jefferson Davis
(1808-1889), a U.S. senator from Mississippi and a former secretary of
war, was elected to become the interim president until a permanent gov-
ernment could be established. He was inaugurated February 18, 1861.

The constitution the Confederacy adopted was similar to the U.S.
Constitution, but with important differences. It established similar
branches of government but emphasized the independence of states
within the Confederacy. It put all the legislative power in a Congress. It
gave the confederate president more power than the U.S. president had,
but the position was limited to only one term of six years. The confed-
erate judiciary was similar to the federal judiciary, but to protect its own
power, Congress never passed legislation to allow the confederate
Supreme Court to function. In light of the political issues that led to se-
cession, the confederate constitution explicitly protected slavery and for-
bade the government from imposing protective tariffs, or taxes.
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The active Confederacy

An incident at the federally owned Fort Sumter in Charleston, South
Carolina, sparked the American Civil War in April 1861. The
Confederate states fired on the fort to force the federal government to
leave South Carolina soil. In response, President Lincoln called for
troops from the Union states to organize against the rebellious attacks.
In reaction to Lincoln’s call, the southern states of Virginia, North
Carolina, Tennessee, and Arkansas joined the Confederacy in April and
May. Citizens of Missouri and Kentucky were sharply divided over the
issue of secession, so those states were claimed by both the Union and
the Confederacy.

The Confederacy moved its capital to Richmond, Virginia, on July
20, 1861. In elections that November, Davis was elected as the first pres-
ident of the permanent Confederacy. Davis struggled to establish a
united Confederacy. The task was difficult because Confederate states
were intent on protecting state’s rights and independence.

Davis led the Confederacy throughout its fight for independence,
but eventually the Confederacy lost the Civil War to the Union in April
1865. The Confederate States of America dissolved with surrender, and
all states eventually renewed their ties with the United States of America.

Congress of Industrial
Organizations

See American Federation of Labor—Congress of Industrial
Organizations

Congress

See Legislative Branch

Connecticut

On January 9, 1788, Connecticut became the fifth state to enter the
Union. At 5,018 square miles (12,977 square kilometers), it ranks forty-
eighth in size. Located in the northeastern United States in the region
known as New England, Connecticut is surrounded by Rhode Island,
Massachusetts, and New York.
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In spite of its small size, Connecticut has six thousand lakes and
ponds. New England’s longest river, the 407-mile (655-kilometer)
Connecticut River, divides the state in half.

The state’s population in 2006 was just over 3.6 million, with 28
percent of them in the 25 to 44 age range. Connecticut’s population is
predominantly white (81.2%). Hartford, the capital, is the state’s third-
largest city, behind Bridgeport and New Haven.

In the early 1600s, Connecticut was home to six to seven thousand
Native Americans divided into sixteen tribes. By the 1770s, white settlers
and the European diseases they had brought with them left fewer than
fifteen hundred Native Americans.

Between 1630 and 1642, about twenty thousand English Puritans
migrated to Connecticut Colony. These Puritan roots made Connecticut
a patriot stronghold during the American Revolution (1775-83). The
state’s most famous Revolutionary War hero was Nathan Hale
(1755-1776), who was executed as a British spy.

Connecticut was an antislavery state long before the American Civil
War (1861-65), and it was a major stop on the Underground Railroad
(the secret system by which slaves escaped to freedom). By the twentieth
century, the state’s textile industry ranked sixth in the nation.
Connecticut was also a major firearms manufacturer. These develop-

ments changed the state’s agrarian society into an industrial one.

In the 1980s, Connecticut was the nations wealthiest state. This
prosperity came about, in part, because of the expansion of the U.S. mil-
itary budget: 70 percent of Connecticut’s manufacturing sector was in-
volved in making weapons. But the gap had increased between the
standards of living enjoyed by the state’s wealthy residents and those who
lived in poverty. By 1992, the median family income in many suburbs
was almost twice that of those in the urban areas. In the twenty-first cen-
tury, 8.8 percent of the residents lived below the federal poverty level,
compared to the national average of 12.4 percent.

Connecticut’s voters usually vote Democratic. The primary religion
is Roman Catholic. The state’economy is driven by six areas of industry:
aerospace; communications, information, and education; financial serv-
ices; health and biomedical; business services; and tourism and entertain-

ment.
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Conscription Acts

Conscription is the act of selecting people to serve in the military. It is
also known as the draft. Prior to the American Civil War (1861-65),
states determined when and how to use conscription, such as during the
American Revolution (1775-83) and the War of 1812 (1812-15).
During the Civil War, the congresses of both the Union and the
Confederate States of America imposed national drafts, causing much
controversy.

The Civil War began in April 1861, when the Confederate army at-
tacked Fort Sumter in South Carolina. The Union had an army of just
sixteen thousand men at the time. President Abraham Lincoln
(1809-1865; served 1861-65) called for seventy-five thousand men to
volunteer for militia service for three months, a show of force that
Lincoln expected would end the rebellion. So many men answered
Lincoln’s call that the Union army turned away volunteers.

Confederate president Jefferson Davis (1808-1889) raised one
hundred thousand volunteers at the start of the war. One year later, the
number of new volunteers was dwindling, and the Confederate congress
passed a Conscription Act in April 1862. The act compelled military
service by men ages eighteen to thirty-five, and it was later expanded to
cover ages seventeen to fifty.

Conscription was controversial among members of the Confederacy.
The law contained an exception for one white man on every plantation
who owned at least twenty slaves. A conscript also could hire a substitute
to serve for him by paying the government $300. These provisions of-
fended working-class whites who did not own plantations or who had
small farms, no slaves, and little money. Conscription by the
Confederacy also violated the Southern concept of states’ rights, which
was the cause for which the Confederacy was fighting. Many
Southerners believed states, not a federal government, had sole power to
decide when and how to impose a military draft.

Volunteers and conscripts allowed the Confederacy to succeed in the
Civil War well into 1863. The prospect of defeat led the Union congress
to enact its own Conscription Act that year. It compelled service by men
ages twenty to forty-five. There were certain medical, hardship, and high
official exceptions. As in the South, a Northern conscript could pay
$300 or find a substitute to avoid service. Many Northerners criticized
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the exceptions, saying they favored the rich over
the middle-class and poor.

African Americans offered to volunteer in

New York Draft Riots

the North at the outbreak of the Civil War. The The conscription acts led to many riots across
army refused to accept them until after Lincoln the country. One of the worst was in New
imposed the Emancipation Proclamation in York City in July 1863. On July 4, New York

January 1863. By then, Union defeats allowed
the need for more soldiers to trump the racism
that had kept African Americans out of service.

governor Horatio Seymour (1810-1886) gave
a speech criticizing President Lincoln for vio-
lating state liberty during the war. From July
13 to 15, angry whites rioted in the city, at-

Racism, however, prevented them from serving tacking a draft office and African Americans
as officers, and black regiments received inferior and their property, including the Colored
wages, equipment, and assignments. Orphans Asylum. About a hundred people

In the last months of the Confederacy, the el 1D =110t

Confederate congress voted to enlist black sol-
diers in its army too. The war ended, however,
before that process began.

Conservation Movement

Prior to the dawn of the Gilded Age (a period in history following the
American Civil War and Reconstruction, roughly the final twenty-three
years of the nineteenth century), the U.S. federal government had al-
ready begun to recognize, thanks to concerned citizens, conservationists,
and scientists, that steps must be taken to preserve the nation’s natural
resources. In 1872, for example, Congress passed an act to set aside a
tract of land at the headwaters of Yellowstone River in Wyoming,
thereby establishing Yellowstone National Park. This national park was
the first park of its kind in the United States. There were other apparent
motives for establishing such an attraction. The Union Pacific Railroad
hoped the park would attract tourists from all over the world who would
ride their trains and stay in their hotels. The company hired artists to
paint grand pictures of the geysers and wilderness of Yellowstone. That
same year, Arbor Day was founded when future secretary of agriculture
Julius S. Morton (1832-1902), a member of the Nebraska state board
of agriculture, declared April 10 “tree planting day.” (Other states indi-
vidually followed suit through the years, until President Richard Nixon
[1913-1994; served 1969-74] declared Arbor Day an official national
“day” in 1970.) These acts marked the beginning of a collective thought
of preserving nature for beauty’s sake.
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One of the most influential figures in the conservation movement
was naturalist John Muir (1838-1914). Born in Scotland, Muir immi-
grated to the United States at the age of eleven, where he spent his free
time exploring the backwoods of Wisconsin. Muir worked long hours
helping his family plow the land and dig wells. Through his work he de-
veloped a strong sense of his union with nature; he learned to respect and
love the land.

Muir traveled to Yosemite Valley, centered in eastern California and
western Nevada, in the late 1860s and took jobs that kept him close to
nature. Even while working in the sawmills and the fields, he was study-
ing his outdoor surroundings. He stayed in the mountains until 1880, at
which time he married and moved away from the area. Though he trav-
eled occasionally, Muir mostly stayed home, tending to his pear orchard
and vineyard (grape crops). He acquired wealth through his farming, but
as his riches increased so did his discontentment. With each trip to the
mountains, Muir realized something must be done to save the wilderness
or it would not last.

Founding of the Sierra Club

In an effort to awaken the public and the government to the importance
of preserving nature, Muir began writing papers and essays. His writing
brought him in contact with Robert Underwood Johnson (1853-1937),
editor of Century magazine, one of the most important and influential
conservation publications of the era. Muir published two essays on
Yosemite in which he called for the establishment of a national park.
Johnson supported Muir’s idea, and the two men approached Congress
with the proposal. On October 1, 1890, Yosemite National Park was es-
tablished. This was the first time a major conservation reform had come
about because of the efforts and actions of a private citizen.

The friendship between Johnson and Muir produced another lasting
organization, the Sierra Club. The club was established in 1892 with
Muir as president. Its purpose was to preserve and make accessible the
Sierra Nevada mountains in eastern California and western Nevada. The
Sierra Club still thrives in the twenty-first century, and its efforts have
extended to include conservation issues of all kinds.

Throughout the last two decades of the nineteenth century, other
strides were made in the conservation movement. The first Audubon
Society was formed in 1886 to protect birds (though it disbanded after
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two years and reformed in 1905 as the National Audubon Society). The
following year, sportsmen concerned with conservation founded the
Boone and Crockett Club. It was the first conservation organization to
include big-game (large animals) hunters.

Other major changes included the passing of legislation in 1894 that
prohibited hunting in national parks. The forest service shifted its focus
from tree protection to scientific management of all forests. Scientific
management was a policy that allowed natural resources (in this case,
trees) to be used but which also protected the resources in a way that al-
lowed for timely regrowth and development. In 1898, U.S. president
William McKinley (1843—-1901; served 1897-1901) named conserva-
tionist Gifford Pinchot (1865-1946) as chief of the Division of Forestry
(later called the Bureau of Forestry) within the U.S. Department of
Agriculture. Pinchot helped shift public awareness from saving trees to
managing their growth.

In 1900, the Lacey Act was passed. Named for U.S. representative
John E Lacey (1841-1913) of Iowa, the act outlawed the interstate ship-
ment of wild animals and birds that had been killed or obtained illegally.
That year also marked a milestone in women’s activism in the conserva-
tion movement. The California Club, a San Francisco women’s organi-
zation, urged Congress to pass an act allowing the government to
purchase two endangered groves of giant sequoia trees (redwoods).
Although the measure failed, it was evidence of the public’s growing
awareness of the importance of preserving and protecting resources as
well as of the increased influence of women in politics.

The conservationist president

When Theodore Roosevelt (1858—-1919; served 1901-9) took over the
presidency in 1901 following the assassination of President McKinley, he
made conservation a cornerstone of his administration. Roosevelt was an
avid outdoorsman and big-game hunter. Under his leadership, five na-
tional parks were established, as were four big-game refuges (protected
areas), fifty-one national bird refuges, and the National Forest Service (in
1905).

Conservation was more than just a way to preserve the United
States’s resources and landscape for Roosevelt. He believed big-game
hunting was an elite, or upper-class, sport; he did not want game-animal
stock depleted by subsistence hunters (those who hunted to feed their
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President Theodore Roosevelt was an avid outdoorsman and established five national parks, four big-game refuges, and the

National Forest Service to promote conservation in the United States. SHUTTERSTOCK
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families, rather than for sport). So part of Roosevelt’s motivation was to

protect his own leisure activities as well as that of his wealthy friends.

Roosevelt also considered conservation a tool for maintaining
democracy. With an eye on the future, he considered it morally irrespon-
sible to exploit natural resources for immediate gain and chose instead to
develop policies that would insure future generations the same benefits
as what the present generation enjoyed. Conservation, then, was inher-
ently democratic to Roosevelt’s way of thinking.

Nature was an essential part of U.S. history for Roosevelt. Since the
nation lacked the historic and cultural traditions of European countries,
the land took on a greater significance in its relation to the country’s
identity. The many monuments and diverse wildlife throughout the

United States were a source of great national pride, worthy of preserva-
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tion and protection. As noted by Daniel Filler in the Internet article
“Theodore Roosevelt: Conservation as the Guardian of Democracy,” the
former president wrote in a 1916 essay titled “Bird Reserves at the

» ¢

Mouth of the Mississippi,” “Birds should be saved because of utilitarian
[practical] reasons; and, moreover, they should be saved because of rea-
sons unconnected with any return in dollars and cents. A grove of giant

redwoods or sequoias should be kept just as we keep a great and beauti-

ful cathedral.”

With a look to the future

Under Roosevelt’s administration Pinchot added millions of acres of land
to the national forests. The government controlled these forests and de-
termined how they would be used. Both Pinchot and Roosevelt agreed
that public lands should never be used for private gain. Congress began
caving in to pressure from the private sector, though, and in 1907, it re-
fused to allow Roosevelt to purchase forest reserves in the western states.
When William Howard Taft (1857-1930; served 1909—13) took over
the presidency in 1909, Pinchot lost much of his authority and was fired
by the new president in 1910.

Taft was not against conservation; the issue simply was not one of
his priorities. He did continue to establish national parks. In 1911,
Congress passed the Weeks Act, named after U.S. representative John W.
Weeks (1860—1926) of Massachusetts, which authorized states to work
together to protect their water and forest supplies. The act also provided
funds to the U.S. Department of Agriculture to use with states in a co-
operative effort for providing fire protection of watersheds of navigable

streams (streams able to be traveled by boat).

Constitution

The U.S. Constitution is the document written in 1787 that established
the frame of government for the United States of America. It was writ-
ten by a group of delegates at the Constitutional Convention in
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. Their goal was to create a stronger federal

government than the Articles of Confederation had provided.
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The U.S. Constitution,
written by a group of
delegates, established the
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government. SHUTTERSTOCK
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Calling for a convention

When Americas original thirteen colonies declared independence in
1776, they wrote the Articles of Confederation to create a central gov-
ernment for the new United States of America. The nation functioned
informally under the articles until they were adopted officially in 1781.
The articles created a government run by Congress without a separate
president or judicial system.

By 1786, government under the Articles of Confederation was prov-
ing to be insufficient to some Americans. Congress’s inability to enforce
taxes, regulate commerce between states, and compel state cooperation
was causing many problems. Efforts to amend the articles seemed
doomed to failure because approval of all states was required for amend-
ments. As criticism grew, it became evident to many that the desired
changes might best be accomplished by writing an entirely new consti-
tution.

The call for a Constitutional Convention grew out of two other
meetings, the Alexandria and Annapolis Conventions. In November
1785, delegates from Virginia and Maryland met in Alexandria,
Virginia, to reconcile some boundary and commercial disputes along the
Potomac River. The success of their meeting motivated Virginia to call
for another meeting in Annapolis, Maryland, the following year. Nine
states were invited to discuss additional common problems, but only five
sent delegates.
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The delegates in Annapolis made plans for another convention to as-
semble in Philadelphia in May 1787. All states were requested to send
delegates so that problems with the government under the articles could

be addressed.

Opposing forces

The Constitutional Convention first met in Philadelphia on May 25. Of
the seventy-four men who had been appointed as delegates by their
states, fifty-five attended at one time or another, and thirty-nine signed
the final document. Many political leaders of the time attended, includ-
ing Benjamin Franklin (1706-1790), Alexander Hamilton
(1755-1804), and James Madison (1751-1836). George Washington
(1732-1799) was the presiding officer. Each of the original thirteen
states except Rhode Island sent delegates.

From the beginning, there were two political focuses at the conven-
tion. One group of delegates was intent on creating an entirely new con-
stitution to set up a new government. Their aim was to create a national
government with powers adequate to promote the security, financial sta-
bility, commercial prosperity, and general well-being of all of the states.

Another small, but significant, group of delegates sought to preserve
states’ rights and were firmly opposed to creating a strong national gov-
ernment. They recognized the need for constitutional reform but be-
lieved that government under the articles could be improved simply by
granting Congress additional powers.

There were no women at the convention, and nobody represented
the interests of African Americans, Native Americans, and people with-
out property who lacked voting rights.

When debates between delegates began, two plans gathered most at-
tention. One was a series of resolutions put forth by the Virginia delega-
tion. The Virginia Plan called for a wholly new constitution that would
establish a strong national government. In opposition, a proposal called
the New Jersey Plan called for a continuation of the Confederation
Congress (the governing body of the United States, with representatives
from each of the thirteen colonies, that was in place from 1781 until the
ratification of the U.S. Constitution). Eventually the proposal to pursue
a whole new constitution gained more support, and the delegates began
the long debates to write the details of it.
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Designing and writing the Constitution

The decision to write a new constitution required the delegates to design
a new government. It was the first time in history that people set their
minds to crafting a permanent government on the principles of democ-
racy without a monarchical (a government with a ruling king or queen)
component. The articles had created just a loose confederation of the
states in 1776, when the permanence of independence from Great
Britain was far from decided. In 1787, the United States had been inde-
pendent for eleven years, so it needed a durable constitution.

Among those who wanted a strong central government, there was
general agreement that it should contain three parts: a legislative branch
for making the laws, an executive branch for enforcing the laws, and a
judicial branch for deciding cases under the laws. Dispute and debate
centered on the construction and powers of each branch and how they
would interact.

Some delegates, primarily from the larger states, wanted the legisla-
tive branch to be filled with members based on a state’s population.
Delegates from smaller states wanted each state to have an equal vote in
the legislature. The Congress they designed included both aspects: a
House of Representatives with membership based on population, and a
Senate with equal membership of two senators per state.

One of the most infamous parts of the Constitution is the “Three-
Fifths Clause.” The delegates had to decide how slaves would count to-
ward determining how many members a state was allowed to have in the
House of Representatives. Delegates from slavery states wanted slaves to
count fully, and delegates from free states wanted slaves not to count at
all. The compromise they reached to induce both northern and southern
support for the Constitution was to count each slave as just three-fifths
of a person in determining population for calculating House member-
ship. Native Americans, called Indians, who did not pay taxes were not
to count at all. Also to ensure southern support, the delegates wrote a
clause to prevent Congress from outlawing the migration of slaves before
1808.

The delegates also disagreed on construction of the executive
branch. Some, including Alexander Hamilton, wanted a president to
serve for life upon election. Others wanted to limit presidential terms.
There also was disagreement over how much power the president should
have to veto, or reject, laws passed by Congress. The presidency the con-
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vention created allowed a president to be elected to an unlimited num-
ber of four-year terms. (In practice, two terms was generally regarded as
the norm. Franklin D. Roosevelt [1882-1945; served 1933—45] is the
only president to serve more than two terms. The Twenty-second
Amendment, ratified in 1951, stated that a person could be elected to no
more than two terms and could also serve not more than two additional
years if that person is finishing out a predecessor’s term.) The president
may veto laws passed by Congress, but Congress may override a veto if
two-thirds of each chamber vote to do so.

Constructing the judicial branch was the least controversial job the
delegates faced. They wrote the Constitution to allow the judiciary to de-
cide cases and controversies under the laws. A Supreme Court would sit
on top of the federal judicial system. The Constitution left it up to
Congress whether to create other federal courts.

Ratification

In mid-September 1787, the convention put its various decisions into a
finished draft and submitted the Constitution to the states for approval.
In a bold change, the provision for ratification was altered from the
unanimous vote demanded by the Articles of Confederation. Instead, a
majority of nine states was needed for approval.

State conventions were held, and over the next ten months all but
two states, Rhode Island and North Carolina, ratified the Constitution.
The new government as defined by the Constitution of the United States
convened for the first time in April 1789. The last two of the original
thirteen states ratified the Constitution after the new government had
begun: North Carolina in November 1789, and Rhode Island in May
1790.

Constitutional Convention

In 1787, delegates from the individual states gathered at the
Constitutional Convention in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, to change
the nation’s government. Under the Articles of Confederation, which
had been adopted in 1781, Congress proved to be weak and ineffective.
As a result of a weakening economy and growing opposition to
Congress, the states decided to hold a convention to address the situa-
tion. Instead of revising the Articles of Confederation to strengthen the
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The final draft of the Constitution was signed by thirty-nine delegates at the Constitutional Convention in Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania. THE LIBRARY OF CONGRESS
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current government, however, the delegates proposed replacing it with
an entirely new government under the Constitution of the United
States.

Commercial conventions
The idea for calling a statewide convention to solve the problem of a
weak Congress came from the success of two other conventions. In
November 1785, delegates from Virginia and Maryland held a conven-
tion in Alexandria, Virginia, to solve certain boundary and commercial
disputes.

The success of the Alexandria Convention prompted the two states
to call another convention in September 1786 in Annapolis, Maryland.

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History



Virginia and Maryland hoped that all states could be encouraged to de-
velop a common interstate commercial policy. Only five states sent dele-
gates to Annapolis. The result of the Annapolis Convention, however, was
another invitation for the states to gather in Philadelphia in May 1787.
This time the delegates would focus on the issues surrounding the pow-
ers of Congress and possible reforms to the Articles of Confederation.

At one time or another from May to September, every state except
Rhode Island sent delegates to the Constitutional Convention in
Philadelphia. (Rhode Island was against a powerful national govern-
ment.) Seventy-four delegates were appointed by the states to attend, but
only fifty-five attended. The conference quickly turned from discussing
reform measures for the Articles of Confederation to establishing an en-

tirely new government.

The convention

The decision to replace rather than revise the Articles of Confederation
happened nearly immediately. After the delegates had established a process
for conducting business, Virginia delegate Edmund Randolph
(1753-1813) submitted a proposal to be the basis for further deliberations.
The proposal, which became known as the Virginia Plan, had fifteen com-
ponents that together set forth an entirely new design for the nation’s gov-

ernment. The convention delegates agreed to discuss this new plan.

There were several issues to be resolved by the delegates. The first
was to establish the strength and specific powers of the federal govern-
ment as compared to the state governments. Another was to establish fair
representation in the federal government. Smaller states were mostly in-
terested in establishing a fixed number of equal representatives for each
state. Larger states wanted representation to reflect the population of
each state. The issue of how to count slaves for representation and taxa-
tion also had to be resolved. This issue divided the northern states, where
slavery was being abolished, from the southern states. Northern states
did not want slaves to count at all for representation in Congress, while
southern states wanted them to count fully.

Main proposals

The Virginia Plan was the basis for discussions throughout the conven-
tion. It proposed a genuinely national government with broad powers. A
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two-house legislature was to replace the one-house Congress set forth in
the Articles of Confederation. Representation in both houses would be
based on population. A lower house would be elected directly by the
people. In turn it would elect the upper house out of nominations made
by the state legislatures. A separate executive branch was to be led by an
officer elected by Congress. The officer’s term was unspecified, but the
officer could be elected for only one term. There was also a provision
calling for a national judiciary. The government set forth by the Virginia
Plan would have had the power to override any state laws.

The New Jersey Plan was introduced as an alternative by New Jersey
delegate William Paterson (1745-1806). It proposed equal representa-
tion for all states in a one-house legislature, as existed already under the
Articles of Confederation. It defined, however, the powers of the legisla-
ture to include the ability to collect revenue and regulate commerce. The
New Jersey Plan otherwise protected the right of state governments to
control business in the states. Though the proposal was quickly dis-
missed by most delegates, it officially set forth the small states’ claim to
an equal vote in Congress.

After strenuous debates, the framers settled on a few compromises.
The Great Compromise set forth the provision that two houses of
Congress would exist. The lower house would be apportioned represen-
tatives according to population, and they were to be elected directly by
the people. The upper house would consist of two representatives for
each state chosen by the state legislatures. Another compromise defined
that three-fifths of the slave population would be counted for the pur-
pose of representation and taxation. In defining the powers of Congress,
delegates enumerated a much broader list of legislative powers than
Congress had under the Articles of Confederation. Much of the respon-
sibility for regulating the daily governmental business of American life,
however, remained with the states.

In mid-September 1787, the convention put its various resolutions
and decisions into a final draft. The Constitution set forth a powerful
central government balanced within by three branches of responsibility.
The legislative branch had two chambers in Congress, the House of
Representatives and the Senate, and was given the responsibility for mak-
ing the laws. An executive branch, led by an elected president, was to
oversee the enforcement of those laws. Finally, a judicial branch headed
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by a Supreme Court was to decide cases under the laws through a sys-
tem of independent federal courts.

The final draft of the Constitution was signed by thirty-nine dele-
gates to the Constitutional Convention. It needed only nine states of the
thirteen to ratify it to replace the government under the Articles of
Confederation. New Hampshire was the ninth state to ratify the
Constitution, on June 21, 1788. Several states submitted their approval
with recommendations for a Bill of Rights to protect the liberties, or
freedom, of people from unfair governmental action. Both North
Carolina and Rhode Island rejected the Constitution fully until after the
addition of the Bill of Rights.

Continental Congress, First

The First Continental Congress was a meeting held by men representing
England’s thirteen colonies in America in 1774. At that time, the English
government was imposing increasing control over the American colonies
with unpopular laws, such as taxes on imports and requirements that
English soldiers in America be housed in colonists’ homes if necessary.

England’s unpopular laws stirred discontent among colonists, and
tensions rose. Many colonists felt England was taking away colonial
rights and liberties. Of particular concern was the fact that the colonists
had no representation in the British Parliament that was imposing the
laws. Massachusetts alone faced a series of punitive laws imposed by
England after protesting colonists dumped British tea into Boston’s har-
bor in December 1773 in what became known as the Boston Tea Party.
Punishment of Massachusetts raised concerns in the other colonies for
the well-being of their own communities.

To address these issues, the colonists called a convention in
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. From September 5 to October 26, 1774,
fifty-six delegates from twelve of the thirteen colonies assembled at the
First Continental Congress to discuss their troubles. Only Georgia did
not elect or send delegates.

The delegates’ primary intention was to unite in calling for a change
in England’s policies toward the colonies. In carefully worded resolu-
tions, the delegates asked England to repeal, or withdraw, a series of poli-
cies and laws reaching as far back as 1763. To punctuate the sincerity of
their position, the delegates resolved to ban imports from Great Britain
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and to stop exports from the colonies if their grievances were not re-
dressed by September 1775.

Finally, during the course of the convention, the delegates produced
a series of declarations and addresses to King George III (1738-1820),
to the people of Great Britain, and to the American colonists in hopes of
gaining support for their position. Before adjourning, the delegates

planned to convene a Second Continental Congress in Philadelphia in
May 1775. (See Continental Congress, Second.)

Continental Congress, Second

In 1774, representatives from England’s American colonies convened in
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, at the First Continental Congress. (See
Continental Congress, First.) Their mission was to address problems
with English rule, particularly that England seemed to be removing the
colonists’ right of self-government. From September through October, the
delegates at the Congress passed a series of resolutions calling for a change
in English policy and appealing to British and colonial citizens for support.
The delegates left the Congress with plans to reconvene in May 1775.

Wartime convention

When the delegates returned to Philadelphia for the Second Continental
Congress, matters with England had worsened. The delegates were
tasked with organizing diplomatic efforts to recover the rights and liber-
ties being threatened by English rule. Reports of military clashes between
the colonists and British soldiers in Massachusetts reached the delegates
early in the convention.

This changed the mood of the delegates. Congress began to prepare
for war. It resolved to give aid to Massachusetts, to take over the provin-
cial army in Boston, and to raise a colonial army to be overseen by
George Washington (1732-1799).

While efforts to improve relations with England continued, hopes
began to dwindle as military clashes increased. The conviction gathered
strength that only war against England would preserve the rights and lib-
erties of the colonists. On July 2, 1776, Congress adopted a resolution
to become independent from England. Two days later, it announced the
American Declaration of Independence, the formal document declaring
independence from British rule.
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Forming a government

American independence meant that the Second Continental Congress
became the unifying governmental body for the thirteen colonies. The
responsibility for raising funds, building an army, and organizing the
colonies for the fight for independence fell to the members of Congress.
To provide a structure for this effort, the delegates began at once to craft
a framework for a government in which all thirteen colonies would have
representation.

After a year and a half of work and debates, on November 15, 1777,
Congress proposed a governmental structure under the Articles of
Confederation. The articles would create a government run by Congress
without an independent president or a full-fledged judicial branch.
Approval of the articles required ratification by the individual colonies,

which were now called states.

While ratification was in process, Congress conducted itself as set
forth by the rules in the articles. Getting state cooperation for raising
funds, supplies, and militias for the revolutionary effort proved difficult.
Only when France and Spain joined the American cause did the former
colonies muster the strength necessary to defeat England. Fighting ended
in September 1781 (though a peace treaty was not signed until 1783).

Months before fighting ended, on March 1, 1781, Maryland be-
came the last of the thirteen states to approve the Articles of
Confederation. While the articles established a unifying body of govern-
ment, it proved inadequate in many ways. Fearful of excessive govern-
mental power, Congress had written the articles to prevent the central
government from being too strong. The result was a government that
lacked enough control to run the nation as some people wanted. In
1789, the states replaced Congress and the articles with a new federal
government under the Constitution of the United States, which dele-

gates wrote at a federal convention in 1787.

Calvin Coolidge

Calvin Coolidge was born in the backroom of his father’s general store
in Plymouth, Vermont, on the Fourth of July in 1872. His only sister
died when she was fifteen, and without close neighbors in his rural
hometown of Plymouth, Coolidge formed close relationships with both
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of his parents. As a child, he was painfully shy, a
trait he struggled with throughout his life.

Coolidge graduated from Amherst College
and was admitted to the bar in 1897. His law
practice was in Northampton, Massachusetts,
but work as a lawyer soon took a back seat to
politics. Within a year, he became a city council-
man, and from there he worked his way up
through local and state offices. Coolidge was
governor of Massachusetts from 1919 to 1921.

Coolidge attracted national attention as
governor when he called in the National Guard
to end a Boston police strike that had become
violent. This move made him unpopular with
labor unions (formally organized associations of
workers that advance their members’ views on
wages, work hours, and labor conditions), but it
also made him a hero to Americans who consid-

ered labor protests a threat to public safety.

From vice president to president

Warren G. Harding (1865-1923; served 1921-23) was elected presi-
dent in 1920. Coolidge was his vice president, and the two balanced each
other well, with Harding being the more outgoing, social politician.
When Harding suddenly died of heart failure in 1923, Coolidge, known
to Americans as “Silent Cal,” took over the presidency and reassured the
mourning nation.

Coolidge inherited from his boss an administration that was rife
with scandal and corruption. He managed to distance himself from the
scandals, of which he was not a part, and earned himself a reputation for
honesty and frugality. His successful efforts improved the much-tar-
nished image of the Republican Party, and he was easily elected to a full
term as president in 1924.

Continues in the Harding tradition

Coolidge ran his presidency along the same basic lines as Harding: The
role of government was not to get involved in business and industry. To
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that end, he kept taxes low, protective tariffs (taxes on imported goods)
high, and immigrants to a minimum. The U.S. economy during
Coolidge’s presidency was strong. In foreign relations, he made sure
European war debts were paid and focused on peace-keeping treaties and
alliances to help prevent another war.

Coolidge did not seck reelection in 1929. Instead, he returned with
his wife to Massachusetts, where he wrote his memoirs and published
magazine articles explaining his philosophy of limited government. The
former president died in his home of coronary thrombosis (obstruction
of blood flow to the heart due to a clot) in January 1933.

James Fenimore Cooper

James Fenimore Cooper was a pioneer of American literature. The first
writer in the newly formed United States to make a living solely by his
pen, he established some of the most important early American literary
themes.

Early years

Cooper was born on September 15, 1789. His family was of old Quaker
stock. His mother was an heiress, and his father used her wealth to pur-
chase thousands of acres of land near Otsego Lake in central New York
to develop into farm parcels. He sold these to immigrants flooding into
the country. When Cooper was fourteen months old, the family moved
to the settlement near Otsego Lake named Cooperstown in his father’s
honor.

The Cooper family lived a privileged life in a fine brick mansion.
Cooper’s father became a judge and a U.S. representative. Cooper spent
many of his early years in the wild, playing and exploring in the deep
woods surrounding his home. At age eleven, he was sent to boarding
school in Albany, and at age thirteen, he entered Yale College. He was a
mischievous young boy and got expelled from Yale after two years for
blowing in another boy’s door with gunpowder.

After Yale, Cooper joined the crew of a merchant ship, beginning a
career as a seaman. He had risen to the position of midshipman in the
navy in 1809 when his father died. Cooper inherited a share in his fa-
ther’s large estate and took up the life of a gentleman farmer. He married
in 1811.
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For the next decade, Cooper and his growing family lived mostly on
a farm in Westchester County. There was no hint of the writer’s life that
was soon to come. Slowly at first, and then more rapidly, the worth of
the Cooper estate dwindled. By 1819, Cooper’s mother and brothers
were dead. Their debts, and in some cases the welfare of their offspring,
had been left to Cooper.

First writing attempt

In 1819 or early 1820, Cooper decided to try his hand at writing and
self-published his first novel, Precaution, which was English in style and
subject matter. It was mostly ignored in the United States and had mod-
est sales in England. Cooper’s second novel, The Spy (1821), was based
on a true account of the exploits of a peddler who served General
George Washington (1732-1799) behind the lines during the
American Revolution (1775-83). The Spy is considered one of the first
truly American novels, and it established Cooper overnight as an impor-
tant novelist. Royalties from the popular book saved him from bank-

ruptcy.

Introducing Leatherstockings

Cooper moved his family to New York City, then a town of about
100,000 inhabitants. His third novel, 7he Pioneers, came out in 1823
and was the first of what became known as his Leatherstocking Tales.
The Pioneers takes place sometime around 1793 and is set near Otsego
Lake in a place strikingly similar to Cooper’s childhood home. Its pro-
tagonist, Natty Bumppo, nicknamed Leatherstocking because of the way
he dressed, is an old scout and hunter who despises the ways of civiliza-
tion and the destruction it entails, such as the leveling of forests for farm
land and the slaughter of wildlife. Cooper, early on, had found one of his
most important themes: the settling of the continent and the costs of
such settlement.

After writing less successful novels on different themes, Cooper re-
turned to his popular character, Natty Bumppo. In The Last of the
Mobhicans (1826), Cooper portrays the hero in his earlier years as a scout
during the French and Indian War (1754-63). In his next novel, 7he
Prairie (1827), Leatherstocking appears in his old age as a fur trapper,
living in the remote regions west of the Mississippi, beyond the corrupt-
ing influences of civilization.
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The Last of the Mohicans and The Prairie were grounded in a view of
the forest as the site of heroism and wisdom. The various Indians in the
Leatherstocking books were never, even by Cooper himself, considered
realistic. They always stood as symbolic figures, creatures of the wild
standing in opposition to the non-Indian creatures of civilization.

Writing in Europe

Cooper took his family to Paris in 1826, where he wrote The Prairie, The
Red Rover (1828), considered one of his best sea tales, and The Water-
Witch (1830), another sea story. Cooper’s attentions then turned to more
political matters. He wrote his first nonfiction book, Notions of the
Americans, a strong defense of American democracy intended primarily
for the aristocratic-minded British reading public. Cooper’s subsequent
novels concerning European politics in the early 1830s were unpopular

at home, with poor reviews and even poorer sales.

Return to Leatherstocking

In 1840, Cooper brought back Natty Bumppo as a young man for a new
novel, The Pathfinder, in which Leatherstocking fails to win the girl of
his choice. He surrenders her to another man with good grace, a sign that
he is married to his wilderness. In 1841, Cooper penned the final
Leatherstocking tale, 7he Deerslayer, in which Natty finds himself with
human blood on his blameless hands for the first time. Once again, the
Leatherstocking tales brought Cooper a large and grateful readership.

Cooper continued to write to the very end of his life, but his popu-
larity faded. Increasingly, Cooper placed himself on the side of the
wealthy elite, and critics agree that he had lost touch with the magical
wilderness setting that had once stimulated his imagination.

Legacy

There was basically no such thing as American literature when Cooper
began writing. By the time of his death in 1851, he had supplied several
of what would become major American literary themes: the cost of
progress, the ethics of expansion, or Manifest Destiny, and adventures on
the sea. Many modern critics find his writing style to be pompous and or-
nate, his plots far-fetched, and his facts lacking. Nonetheless, he holds a
place as one of the great American novelists of the nineteenth century.
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Aaron Copland

Aaron Copland was one of the most innovative and highly respected

American classical composers of the twentieth century.

Teenage musician

Copland was born in Brooklyn to a family of Lithuanian Jewish descent
on November 14, 1900. Although never directly encouraged by his par-
ents, Copland demonstrated an interest in and talent for music by his
teenage years. He took piano lessons from his older sister and, while in
high school, began studying music in Manhattan with Rubin Goldmark
(1872-1936), a private instructor who taught Copland the basics of
music theory and composition. Copland also attended many concerts,
educating himself in the great works written for orchestra.

Copland left New York at the age of twenty to study at the Summer
School of Music for American Students in France. There he found a
home within a musical community, and he sold his first composition to
the most well-known music publisher in the country. In 1925, he com-
posed a piece for the Boston Symphony Orchestra at the request of con-
ductor Serge Koussevitsky (1874-1951). His Symphony for Organ and
Orchestra marked Copland’s entry into professional American music.

Jazz and folk influences

Copland’s compositions were heavily influenced by jazz. The young
composer incorporated the techniques and sounds of jazz—which he
saw as the first truly American musical movement—to develop a new
type of symphonic music. He hoped this new American music would
distinguish itself from its European roots.

Copland moved away from jazz in the late 1920s and concentrated
instead on the popular music of other countries, including the folk
music of Mexico. Certain that classical music could be as popular as jazz
in America, he joined various composers’ organizations to promote
music and build audiences. Copland wanted to help lead the way as a
music pioneer. To that end, he partnered with his friend Roger Sessions
(1896-1985), also a composer, to present the works of young composers
in the Copland-Sessions concerts.
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Around this same time, Copland began planning the first American
music festival. Europe had been hosting such festivals for years, and
Copland felt it was time for America to catch up to Europe, musically
speaking. The Yaddo Festival of American Music made its debut in 1932.

Ballets, movies, and a fanfare

By the mid-1930s, Copland was one of the most popular composers in
America. He applied his talent to writing music for ballets and movies,
hoping to win wider audiences. His collaborations with modern dance
choreographers Agnes de Mille (19052-1993) and Martha Graham
(1894-1991) produced two of the most beloved works of American
dance—de Mille’s Rodeo (1942) and Graham’s Appalachian Spring
(1944), for which Copland won the Pulitzer Prize. Some of his most fa-
mous movie scores are those he wrote for Of Mice and Men (1939), Our
Town (1940), and The Heiress (1949), for which he won an Academy
Award for best score.

During this period, Copland also wrote what has become his most
familiar work. Written in 1942 for the Cincinnati Symphony Orchestra,
Fanfare for the Common Man, for brass and percussion, has often been
played at national political events and by various rock bands.

Conductor, teacher, writer

In the 1950s, Copland turned his attention to conducting, and his out-
put as a composer began to slow down. He toured the world for the next
twenty years, conducting his own work as well as that of other com-
posers. During this time, he also made many important recordings that
preserve the major works of mid-twentieth-century American music.
By the early 1970s, Copland’s career as a composer of original works
was behind him. He conducted his last symphony in 1983. His other
major contribution to American music was as a teacher at colleges and
music festivals, where he inspired many young composers and musicians.
He also earned acclaim as a scholar of music, writing more than sixty ar-
ticles and essays and publishing five books by the time of his death in
1990. Because of his own compositions as well as the ardent support he
lent to other American composers, Copland is recognized as one of the

major influences on American music.
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Cotton

In the early history of the United States, southern farms produced a di-
verse number of crops. Tobacco, sugar, cotton, and rice were all leading
exports from southern growers. In the early nineteenth century, however,

several factors made cotton the crop of choice for growers.

In the late 1700s, new production methods made making cotton
cloth much easier and faster. As a result, there was a greater demand for
cotton, particularly in England where there were many factories. Though
cotton grew well in the southern United States, growers could not meet
the growing demand for cotton. Most of this was due to difficulties pre-
sented by the two different types of cotton that grew well in the South.

Cotton fibers sprout from cotton seeds much like the hair on a per-
son’s head. The black-seeded variety has fibers that are easily cleaned
from the seeds. This variety, however, only grew along the coastal regions
of the South. The green-seeded variety could be grown inland through-
out the region, but the fibers were very difficult to remove from the seed.
As a result, cotton was only raised as a business crop where the black-seed
variety could be grown.

In 1793, American inventor Eli Whitney (1765-1825) was visiting
a friend’s plantation in Georgia. When he learned of the difficulty with
harvesting green-seed cotton, he worked to create a machine to make the
process easier. Within only days, he had a model for his cotton gin. It
was perfected within a few months, and Whitney obtained a patent for

the cotton gin in 1794.

The gin enabled cotton, then in high demand, to be grown as a lu-
crative business throughout the South. Production rose impressively after
the invention, and cotton became the leading domestic export. In 1790,
only four thousand bales of cotton were exported from the United States.
By 1860, the South exported over four million bales, more than 60 per-
cent of the world supply.

The boom in cotton boosted the national economy. Financing cot-
ton businesses and transporting cotton stimulated northern banking and
transportation industries. Increased southern wealth created a demand
for northern manufactured goods and midwestern farm produce. The
economic influence of the crop was so vast that many southern politi-

cians and plantation owners referred to it as King Cotton.
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The largest immediate downside to the cotton boom was the impact
it had on prolonging slavery. Cotton crops needed to be tended around-
the-clock, and the large fields required many laborers. So while northern
states were banning slavery in the wake of the United States’s freedom
from Great Britain, white southerners held tightly to the institution for
their financial well-being.

With the invention of the cotton gin, cotton became a major force
in the rapid economic development of the United States. The young na-
tion gained a substantial global role when the crop became so easily pre-
pared. The crop continued to dominate the economy throughout the
South until the twentieth century. With the challenges of the Great
Depression (1929-41) and World War II (1939-45), crop diversifica-

tion and industrialization became necessary.

Cotton Gin

In 1793, American inventor Eli Whitney (1765-1825) invented a ma-
chine that made harvesting cotton much easier. His cotton gin enabled
a laborer to separate a lot of cotton from the seeds with little effort. A la-

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History

Cotton

The cotton gin became an

Gin

integral part of plantation

culture, ensuring slaves were

protessing more cotton than

ever. AMERICAN

SCHOOL/THE BRIDGEMAN

ART LIBRARY/GETTY
IMAGES

399



Country Music

400

borer working by hand could once expect to produce only one pound of
cleaned cotton per day. With the help of a cotton gin, fifty pounds could
be cleaned in a day.

Whitney did not invent the very first machine to separate cotton
from its seeds. The machine that existed at that time, however, did not
work on all types of cotton. It crushed the seeds of the green-seeded cot-
ton that grew easily throughout the South, staining the product. Black-
seeded cotton, which was easy to clean, only grew in the southern coastal
areas. As a result, the South’s production of cotton was limited by the in-
ability to easily clean the cotton that grew best inland from the coast.

New processes for making cloth created a growing demand for cot-
ton, including in Europe. Knowing that a machine capable of processing
the green-seeded cotton could help growers meet that demand, Whitney
turned his focus to making one. Within a few months, he had perfected
a design. He obtained a patent in 1794, though he would benefit very
little from the rights. Many imitations of his design arose throughout the
South, and Whitney had little success protecting the patent in court.

The effect of Whitney’s cotton gin was vast and unforgettable.
Cotton quickly became the dominant crop in the South. Its entire econ-
omy was revitalized as green-seed cotton became a profitable crop. The
United States became a powerful global force as the crop grew. Southern

exports of cotton filled more than half of the world’s demands.

The downside to the cotton boom was the effect it had on prolong-
ing slavery in the United States. The crop demanded constant attention,
and the large fields required many laborers. While Northern states moved
toward emancipation at the end of the eighteenth century, the cotton
boom cemented the South to slavery in a way that other crops did not.

Country Music

Unitil the 1950s, country music was more commonly called folk music,
or sometimes hillbilly music or old-time music. After folk singer Pete
Seeger (1919-) was forced to testify before the U.S. Senate in 1955
about his alleged communist sympathies, some professionals in the
music industry stopped using the label “folk” in order to distance them-
selves from the political controversy. Instead, they began to call the music

country and western, or just country.
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Early in the 1920s, the music industry wanted to tap into the rural
market. Jazz music was popular in urban regions across the country, but
recording companies wanted a different sound, especially in the
American South. Ralph S. Peer (1892-1960), an employee of the RCA
Victor Company in 1927, was determined to discover that new sound.
He went to Tennessee that year and “found” Jimmie Rodgers
(1897-1933), who became the first country music star and is still con-
sidered the father of country music. Rodgers used banjo, guitar, and sen-
timental lyrics in his music. He also yodeled in a style known as “blue
yodeling.”

In the same year, Peer discovered another recording group, the
Carter Family, who hailed from Virginia and initially included three
family members: Maybelle Carter (1909-1979), Sara Dougherty
(1898-1979), and Sara’s husband A. P. Carter (1891-1960). In 1942,
the trio disbanded and Maybelle joined her three daughters to form
Mother Maybelle and the Carter Sisters. This group included June
Carter (1929-2003), who eventually married one of country music’s
greatest stars, Johnny Cash (1932-2003). The original Carter Family
trio recorded approximately three hundred country tunes in their seven-
teen-year history together.

Early country music led directly to another style of music, bluegrass,
or “mountain music,” in the mid-1940s. This type of music is played on
acoustic instruments such as bass, fiddle, banjo, guitar, and mandolin.
Vocalization is usually in two- to four-part harmony, and themes are
often sentimental or even religious. Famous early bluegrass musicians in-
clude Bill Monroe (1911-1996), who is considered the father of blue-
grass; Earl Scruggs (1924-); and Lester Flatt (1914-1979). Flatt and
Scruggs met when they were members of Monroe’s band, the Blue Grass
Boys. They later formed the Foggy Mountain Boys.

Bluegrass was first played by rural African American bands who later
abandoned that sound in favor of jazz and blues. White musicians began
playing bluegrass, and the sound incorporated instruments such as har-
monica and jaw harp as well as the washboard. Like jazz, bluegrass often
features improvised (made-up) solos.

As the years progressed, the line separating country from bluegrass
blurred, and many of today’s most famous country musicians play a mix-
ture of the two. Some of these artists include Ricky Skaggs (1954-),
Dolly Parton (1946-), and Patty Loveless (1957-). The soundtrack to
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the 2000 film O Brother, Where Art Thou? revived the public’s interest in
bluegrass and won a Grammy Award for Album of the Year in 2001.

Country music, which by the 1950s and 1960s included strains of
bluegrass and gospel, was played in honky tonk bars throughout the na-
tion, but its center was Nashville, Tennessee. During those decades, coun-
try music took on the “Nashville Sound,” which was polished and
smooth, almost pop-sounding. Leading artists included Chet Atkins
(1924-2001), Patsy Cline (1932-1963), and Charlie Rich (1932-1995).

Rockabilly was the rage in the mid-1950s, when rock and roll
music burst onto the scene and musicians combined rock with country
music to create a new form. “Heartbreak Hotel” by Elvis Presley
(1935-1977) and Johnny Cash’s “I Walk the Line” were examples of this
sort of music. By the end of the decade, country artists had moved away
from the rock and roll influence to return to a more traditional sound.
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Throughout the rest of the twentieth century, the country music
“sound” changed as electric guitars were added, giving the music a
harsher tone. The late 1960s saw the “British Invasion® of new bands, in-
cluding the immensely popular Beatles (sece Beatlemania), and a new
genre called country rock was born. Bands such as the Byrds and the
Eagles represented this genre, as did the Charlie Daniels Band and
Lynyrd Skynyrd. The 1970s brought a cross between soft rock and coun-
try called country pop that brought fame to performers such as John
Denver (1943-1997) and Olivia Newton-John (1948-).

The sounds of Reba McEntire (1954—) took America’s country
music fans by storm in the mid-1980s. Her records went platinum, and
critics praised her ability to combine modern-day storylines with tradi-
tional country sounds. In the 1990s, country music was influenced by
line dancing, a form of group dancing that required strong rhythms and
beats. Country music became slick sounding until the end of the decade,
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when a more traditional version of country music returned to the air-
waves. Country music charts in the 1990s were dominated by the songs
of Garth Brooks (1962-), whose albums sold millions.

In the twenty-first century, country remains one of the most popu-
lar and best-selling music genres. It is supported by the “Grand Ole
Opry,” a country music radio program that has been running since
1925. The Opry is the broadcast of a live show attended by audience
members, and its impact on country music is similar to the influence of
Dick Clark (1929-) and his American Bandstand rock and pop music tel-
evision show. Entertainers must be invited to become members of the
Opry and perform, and musicians consider an invitation one of the
highest honors possible. Famous Opry members include Emmylou
Harris (1947-), Tom T. Hall (1936-), and Loretta Lynn (1934-).

Another emblem of country music is the city of Branson, Missouri.
Branson is home to more than fifty theaters that produce more than one
hundred live concerts annually. The largest theater, the Grand Palace,
seats four thousand. Although entertainment in Branson is not restricted
to country music shows (the city also has golf courses, lakes, museums,
and a winery), the majority of theaters were established by and feature

country music stars.

Cowboys

After the American Civil War (1861-65), the states located just west of
the Mississippi River experienced a boom in the cattle business. Those
who were hired to tend the cattle and guide them across open lands on
drives from pasture to ranch to market were called cowboys. The golden
age of the cattle drives in the 1870s and 1880s increased the number of
cowboys and established them as part of western folklore. While the
work of cowboys was not new, it gained attention as a romantic and
heroic livelihood during this time.

The first cattle were unloaded in America during Spanish explorer
Herndndo Cortés’s (1485-1547) conquest of Mexico in 1519. A tradi-
tion of tending the cattle arose, and the first cowboys, known as vaque-
ros, developed methods for herding and handling cattle in open lands.
Americans adopted these practices as the cattle industry moved north

through the southwest to the northern Great Plains.
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The most familiar aspects of the vaquero tradition were maintained
in the unique but highly practical dress of cowboys. The high crown and
broad brim of a felt hat kept the sun out of a cowboy’s face, provided a
scoop for water, and, doubled over, served as a pillow at night. A ban-
dana protected the cowboy’s nose and mouth from dust and debris while
leather chaps protected his legs from brush, thorns, and cacti. Boots with
spurs, the design of the saddle, and lassos were all similarly practical and
essential to the cowboy’s needs.

A cowboy was a hired hand with a long and difficult job in a chal-
lenging environment. Although their work required skill, cowboys were
not highly respected, and their pay was often minimal. A cowboy typi-
cally did not own land or cattle and usually claimed his horse, saddle,

and gear as his only possessions.

Early stereotypes of cowboys were often negative, with images of un-
hindered celebrations in saloons, illiteracy, and lawlessness. Adventure
books, Western exhibitions and shows, and popular movies all helped to
change that image. Eventually, cowboys became respected for the long
hours and tough nature of their work. By the 1950’s, cowboys had be-
come folk heroes.

The cowboy glamorized by legend, however, began to disappear in
the 1890s. As the free and open ranges became more and more settled
and fenced, the role of the cowboy changed. Cattle became confined to
pastures on ranches, and railroads and trucks transported cattle to mar-
kets. Today cowboys are ranch hands who enjoy ranch-cooked meals, the
shade of a truck, and a bed every night.

Crazy Horse

Crazy Horse was a Native American in the Oglala clan of the Eton Sioux
Indians. He lived during the middle of the nineteenth century, when the
federal government attacked Native Americans to take their lands. Crazy
Horse worked as a warrior to defend his people and their homelands and

communities.

Crazy Horse was probably born in 1842 along Rapid Creek near
Rapid City, South Dakota. His father, also called Crazy Horse, was a
medicine man in the Oglala Sioux clan. His mother, Rattle Blanket, was
a member of the Brulé Sioux.
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Crazy Horse was known as Curly as a young child. In his teens, he
was called Horse Stands in Sight. When he was around seventeen, his fa-
ther observed how hard and well he fought in a battle against other
Native Americans. At this time, Crazy Horse received his father’s name
as his own.

In the late 1840s, the California gold rush and the American vic-
tory in the Mexican-American War (1846-48) led to massive settle-
ment of the western portion of the continent. Such settlement led to
decades of conflict with the Native American populations who already
lived there. By 1857, Crazy Horse had seen American soldiers destroy
three Native American villages. That year, he attended a council of
Native Americans near Bear Butte at the eastern edge of the Black Hills,
South Dakota, to discuss the federal problem.

Resistance

In the 1860s, Crazy Horse joined forces of Native Americans who resis-
ted passage for the American military and settlers through the Powder
River region, which is in Montana and Wyoming. The Fort Laramie
Treaty of 1868 temporarily ended this dispute between the Sioux and the
federal government. The discovery of gold in the Black Hills in 1874,
however, led the government to disregard the treaty in favor of gold
prospecting.

During the Black Hills gold rush, Native American tribes joined to
oppose the taking of their lands. On March 17, 1876, Colonel Joseph J.
Reynolds (1822-1899) destroyed the village in which Crazy Horse lived.
Crazy Horse led his people on a raid to recapture the horses taken by
Reynolds and his men. On June 17, Crazy Horse and his men deflected
forces led by General George Crook (1828-1890) near Little Bighorn, a
river in Montana. On June 25, Crazy Horse fought the famous battle of
the Little Bighorn, also called Custer’s Last Stand, at which the Native
Americans killed General George Custer (1839-1876) and all 264 of his

men.

Defeat

The Native American victory at Little Bighorn did not win the war.
Crazy Horse’s people went into winter quarters in the Wolf Mountains
near the headwaters of the Rosebud Creek in Montana. On January 8,
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1877, Colonel Nelson A. Miles (1839—1925) led an attack on the vil-
lage. Crazy Horse continued to fight for four more months, but his peo-
ple ran low on food for themselves and their horses. They surrendered to
federal authorities on May 6, 1877.

Four months later, Crazy Horse was in custody at Fort Robinson in
Nebraska. The federal government had not honored its promise to move
Crazy Horse and his people to a reservation in Wyoming. The govern-

ment, in fact, might have had plans to exile Crazy Horse, perhaps to
Florida.

On September 5, 1877, Crazy Horse pulled a knife when he thought
he was about to be imprisoned in a guardhouse. He was stabbed in the
ensuing scuffle, either by his own knife or by a soldier’s bayonet. Crazy
Horse died hours later in the presence of his father and a man named
Touch the Clouds. He supposedly was buried near Wounded Knee,
South Dakota. Within a few weeks, his people were sent to reservations
in South Dakota.

Creek War

The Creek War of 1813—14 began as a civil war among the Creek peo-
ple. At the time, the United States was fighting a larger conflict, the War
of 1812, and the U.S. government and its military became heavily in-
volved in the Creeks’ war, too.

Creek background

The Creek Confederacy was an alliance of independent tribes formed for
protection against attacking Northern tribes long before Europeans ar-
rived on the continent. Creek Indian groups lived throughout present-
day Alabama, Georgia, and South Carolina. As Europeans settled in
North America, the Creek found themselves living in territories claimed
by the Spanish, French, and English. English traders frequently married
Creek women. The children of these mixed marriages, who understood
both European and Creek culture, often rose to positions of leadership
in the tribal groups.

A portion of the Creeks became allies of the British during the
American Revolution (1775-83). When the war was over, the new U.S.
government forced the Creek tribes that had sided with England to give
up some of their land. An agent was appointed to push them to adapt to
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European ways. A hostile split developed between two Creek factions:
the Lower Creek or White Sticks, who were willing to cooperate with the
U.S. government, and the Upper Creek or Red Sticks, who were not.

Red Sticks v. White Sticks

Most Red Sticks lived in central Alabama. They were highly influenced
in 1813 by a visit from Shawnee chief Tecumseh (c. 1768-1813), who
preached anti-Americanism, resistance to further encroachments by the
whites, and unity among the Native American tribes. In February 1813,
a small party of Red Sticks traveling along the Ohio River massacred two
families of settlers. The U.S. government demanded that the Creek turn
over the murderers. Instead of handing them over to the federal agents,
the White Stick chiefs decided to execute the murderers themselves.
Their decision ignited civil war between the Creeks.

The Red Sticks immediately conquered several lower towns within
the Creek Nation. The lower towns had taken conscious steps to assim-
ilate into (become part of) white culture by raising domesticated ani-
mals, farming, and using spinning looms. The Red Sticks destroyed
everything that seemed to have come from the white man: domesticated
animals, pots and pans, and homespun cloths. The only objects from the
white culture they kept were guns and steel blades.

Red Sticks vs. the United States

The first clashes between Red Sticks and U.S. soldiers took place when
a group of soldiers stopped a party of Red Sticks returning from Florida
in July 1813. The Red Sticks had received arms from the Spanish gover-
nor in Florida. The Battle of Burnt Corn that followed broadened the
Creek Civil War to include American forces.

On August 30, 1813, the Red Sticks sacked and burned an American
stockade, Fort Mims, on the Alabama River, killing more than 350
Americans and pro-white Indians. Soon U.S. forces were assembled in
Tennessee, Georgia, and Mississippi. General Andrew Jackson
(1767-1845) led the principal attack against the Red Sticks with a force
of Tennessee soldiers aided by White Stick Creek and pro-white
Cherokee. Jackson vigorously pursued the Red Sticks, sacking the Indian
village of Tallasahatchee and crushing a Creek force at Talladega. Another
U.S. force of Georgians and White Stick Creek attacked the Creek village
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of Auttosee on the Tallapoosa River, burning the village and killing 200
Creek. At the Battle of Econochaca in northern Alabama in December
1813, Mississippi volunteers burned the village of Red Stick leader
William Weatherford, also known as Red Eagle (1780-1824).

On March 27, 1814, Jackson almost wiped out the Red Stick forces
at the Horseshoe Bend of the Tallapoosa River in eastern Alabama,
killing an estimated 850 or 900 warriors and taking 500 women and
children as prisoners. This defeat effectively broke the power of the Red
Sticks. Many fled to join the Seminole Indians in Florida. The White
Sticks, despite having aided Jackson in the war, were compelled to sign
the Treaty of Fort Jackson in 1814. Under the terms of the treaty, they
were forced to cede to the United States more than twenty million acres
in the present states of Georgia and Alabama.

Davy Crockett

Davy Crockett was a respected, but unremarkable, frontier politician,
who was killed in the struggle for Texas independence from Mexico.
Due to tall tales of his heroic feats as a frontiersman, Crockett became a
legend in his own time and a central character in American folklore.

Political career

David Crockett was born in a cabin in Tennessee in 1786. As a young
man, he enlisted twice with the Tennessee militia (an army made up of
trained civilians rather than professional soldiers) commanded by
General Andrew Jackson (1767-1845). He fought in the Creek War
(1813-14).

Later, Crockett began a career in politics. He served as a justice of
the peace and a Tennessee state legislator before becoming a Democratic
congressman from Tennessee in 1827. He served two terms and lost the
election for a third term in 1831. Two years later, he ran again and won,
returning to Congress to serve a third term.

Early death

After losing his battle for reelection to a fourth term in 1835, Crockett
moved to east Texas in search of a new home. At the age of forty-nine,
he participated in the defense of the Alamo, a mission converted into a
fort by Anglo-American (non-Mexican) soldiers in Texas’s war of inde-
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pendence with Mexico. Mexican forces killed Crockett and all of the two
hundred other defenders of the Alamo in March 1836.

The folk hero

During his lifetime, Crockett’s frontier drawl and his tendency to tell
folksy stories always drew the attention of journalists. As a politician, he
told exaggerated stories about his feats as an Indian fighter and bear
hunter to gain votes. He wrote an autobiography in 1834 full of these
tall tales. In the 1830s, publishers released dozens of Davy Crockett
books. Filled with coarse language and remarkable (and almost certainly
untrue) exploits, the books were popular. The myth of the heroic fron-
tiersman continued to grow even after his death. Hollywood discovered
the tall tales, resulting in many popular movies and television shows,

keeping the legend of Davy Crockett alive.

Cuban Missile Crisis

The Cuban Missile Crisis (1962) was the closest the world has ever come

to nuclear war.

Despite the fact that wealthy Americans vacationed in Cuba in the
1950s and before, spending vast amounts of money there, most of that
money went to the country’s ruler, Fulgencio Batista (1901-73). Most
Cubans remained devastatingly poor while Batista and his brutal hench-
men prospered.

Fidel Castro (1926—) became dictator of Cuba in 1959. Castro had
led the revolution that unseated Batista, and he implemented major
health care and land reforms that helped Cuba flourish. He made sure
money that was made in Cuba, stayed in Cuba. At the same time, he
showed no mercy to those who had supported Batista and oppressed the

poor. Those found guilty often were executed, and some Cubans fled to
Florida.

These exiles in Florida told the U.S. press exaggerated stories about
how Castro was mistreating Cubans. As a result, the United States re-
fused to do business with Cuba, which caused serious problems for the
island because U.S. trade had been its biggest source of income. The U.S.
trade embargo (blockade) forced Castro to rely on support from the

Soviet Union, a communist country. (See Communism.)
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Bay of Pigs invasion

Fearing that Cuba would become communist, and that a communist
country just 50 miles from the coast of Florida would be a threat to the
United States, President John F. Kennedy (1917-63; served 1961-63)
chose to support the anti-Castro Cubans living in Florida. With funding
from the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA), in 1961 Kennedy sent an
armed group of Cuban exiles to the Bay of Pigs in Cuba to overthrow
Castro.

The invasion was a series of one error after another, however. Jeeps
were brought in without fuel, maps of the area were not distributed, and
exiles began shooting at fellow exiles. It was a major embarrassment in

U.S. history, but Kennedy never apologized for the fiasco.

Castro was uneasy with having such a powerful enemy as the United
States, and he looked to form a more solid relationship with the Soviet
Union. In September 1962, a group of anti-Castro Cuban exiles reported
to the CIA that the Soviet Union was building military bases in Cuba. A
U.S. spy plane flew over the island and snapped aerial photos of what
turned out to be nuclear missiles. A few days later, the CIA told Kennedy
that the missiles had the potential to kill 80 million Americans. Twenty
Soviet ships carrying nuclear weapons were spotted heading for Cuba.

More photographs were taken, and it was clear that the bases would
be fully functional by the end of October. The United States was in se-
rious trouble.

The missile crisis

On October 27, 1962, a Soviet missile shot down a U.S. U2 plane, and
its pilot was killed. All totalled, the Soviet Union had sent sixty-six mis-
siles to Cuba along with twenty-two thousand troops and technicians.
Kennedy, still reeling from the botched Bay of Pigs invasion, needed
to make a decisive move. Matters were made more confusing when the
Soviet leader, Nikita Khrushchev (1894-1971), sent Kennedy two letters
with different messages: One told him the missiles would be removed if
he promised not to invade Cuba; the other indicated that because the
United States had military bases in Turkey (near the Soviet Union), there
should be no problem with the Soviets having bases in Cuba. If Kennedy
would get out of Turkey, the Soviet Union would get out of Cuba.
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In response, Kennedy promised not to invade Cuba and to resume
trade with the island. Kennedy gave Khrushchev until October 29 to an-
swer, and if he did not meet the deadline, the United States would in-
vade Cuba. Khrushchev contacted Kennedy on October 28, and war was
averted.

The Cuban Missile Crisis was a major incident of the Cold War, a
period in history in which tensions ran high between the United States
and the Soviet Union, but no actual fighting ever broke out.

Currency

After winning its independence in the American Revolution
(1775-83), the United States had a bewildering variety of forms of
money. American merchants who engaged in foreign trade dealt in
British pounds, Spanish dollars, Portuguese johannes, or French livres.
Each of the colonies also issued its own paper money;, either in dollars or
pounds. In addition, private banks or other businesses issued notes that
circulated as yet another form of currency. Most of the American econ-
omy, however, was conducted in barter, or the trade of goods and serv-
ices without any form of money passing hands. It was clear to the

nation’s first leaders that a new monetary system was needed.

In 1792, the new U.S. government adopted the Coinage Act, which
set up the U.S. Mint (the institution responsible for producing the na-
tion’s coins) and created a “bimetallic” monetary system, meaning that
both gold and silver were used as money. In this monetary system, the
value of money was based on the value of the material—the gold or sil-
ver—from which the money was made. Because it was difficult to carry
around large amounts of gold and silver, local banks soon issued
banknotes. These were paper certificates promising to pay the bearer a
precise amount of gold or silver on demand. Thus for each banknote in
circulation, there was supposed to be a given amount of gold or silver
stored away in a vault.

Despite the Coinage Act, the American economy continued to use
other currencies: bartered products, foreign currencies, banknotes, and
bills of exchange (a sort of credit system). The nation would not issue its
own paper currency until the American Civil War (1861-65).

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History

Currency

413



Currency

414

Pre-Civil War monetary policy

A uniform currency throughout the different states required a strong fed-
eral financial institution. A central bank of sorts did exist during the first
third of the nineteenth century—the First Bank of the United States
from 1791 to 1811 and the Second Bank of the United States from 1816
to 1836. Under Nicholas Biddle (1786-1844), a president of the Second
Bank, the bank actively managed currency exchange throughout the na-
tion. But federal banking ceased with the presidency of Andrew Jackson
(1767-1845; served 1829-37), who hated banks due to unfortunate fi-

nancial deals he had made early in his life.

Even with the presence of the first federal banks, state banks formed
the backbone of the nation’s money system, and they generally did not
work together. In 1816, there were 250 state banks, and many of these
institutions issued their own paper currency. By 1860, more than fifteen
hundred state banks were issuing an average of six different denomina-
tions of notes. Currency printed by local banks commanded up to twice
as much value as notes issued elsewhere, partly because people knew the
reputation of local banks and partly because of transportation costs to re-
deem “foreign” (from another state or territory) currency. Caution was
necessary with banknotes because counterfeits and notes of broken
banks corrupted the currency.

In 1837, the United States experienced a devastating financial panic
(a time when people fear their banks will be unable to pay, and therefore
many people withdraw their money at once, frequently breaking the
bank). Banks, finding the cost of precious metals much higher than an-
ticipated, could not redeem their own notes for gold. This led to a major
loss of confidence among note holders.

Greenbacks help pay for war

When the Civil War began in 1861, financial demands quickly depleted
the nation’s supply of gold and silver. This forced the government to pass
the Legal Tender Act of 1862, which provided for the issue of paper
money that was not backed by gold or silver. About $430 million in
notes were issued. Because the bills were supported only by the govern-
ments promise to pay, people observed that the bills were backed only
by the green ink with which they were printed. This resulted in the name
greenbacks being used. The Confederate States of America (or South)
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also financed its war with the printing press. Confederate notes had blue
security printing on the back, so they were called “bluebacks.”

The value of the greenbacks depended on the peoples’ confidence in
the U.S. government and its future ability to convert the currency to
coin. As the fighting between the Union (the North) and the
Confederacy raged, confidence in government went up and down.
When the Union suffered defeat, the value of the greenbacks dropped—
one time to as low as 35 cents on the dollar. In general, greenbacks
caused relatively high inflation—increases in costs of goods and services
and a low value to money.

Gold and silver standards

After the war, the United States needed a universally approved monetary
standard in order to resume international trading. Congress decided to
reinstate the metal standard by backing the nation’s greenbacks with a
specific amount of metal. The Coinage Act of 1873 eliminated the silver
dollar as a medium of exchange and placed the United States on a virtual
gold standard. The elimination of the silver dollar came about in part be-
cause Britain and other foreign countries had decided to adopt a gold
standard. In the United States, gold would remain the reigning medium
of exchange until the 1930s, but not without great controversy.

Gold standard advocates believed the nation’s money supply would
never be stabilized under the bimetallic standard. They contended that
because the open market value of each metal (gold and silver) was con-
stantly changing, the undervaluation or overvaluation of either metal by
the mint would impact the supply of coins in circulation. For example,
when the U.S. Mint undervalued silver coins, people opted to sell their
silver coins on the open market for more than their face value. When sil-
ver was overproduced and the government issued too many silver coins,
the price of silver dropped and people eagerly traded in their silver coins
for gold coins, thereby exhausting federal reserves.

Those opposed to the gold standard were concerned about the na-
tion’s continuing deflation, a general decrease in the cost of goods and
services that plagued the country in the last part of the nineteenth cen-
tury. Demand for gold expanded greatly as a number of countries went
on the gold standard. Discoveries of gold deposits lagged behind, so
gold’s market value went up substantially. By 1896, the market value of
gold relative to silver was thirty to one. If the United States had kept a
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bimetallic standard, people simply would have sold their gold coins at
the market rate and used silver as a medium of exchange. Because
Americans could not switch to silver, deflation occurred. Prices fell at the
rate of nearly 5 percent annually from the end of the Civil War to 1879.

Foes of a gold-backed currency included silver producers and almost
anyone whose livelihood involved incurring debt. The deepest opposi-
tion to the gold standard came from farmers, who entered into loans at
a time when money was worth more and were forced to pay them back
in the deflated economy in which their crops were worth less. Silver
became the major issue of the 1896 presidential election. Democratic
candidate William Jennings Bryan (1860-1925) demanded that human-
kind not be “crucified on a cross of gold.” Bryan lost the election to
William McKinley (1843-1901; served 1897-1901), and in 1900 the
United States officially adopted the Gold Standard Act.

National bank

The federal financial crisis during the Civil War had pointed to a need for
a national bank system. In 1863, a bill calling for a banking system that
would provide the country with a truly national currency was introduced
in the Senate. Many people objected, fearing that the national govern-
ment would gain too much control over local government by entering
into the banking business. Nevertheless, in 1865 a national bank system
was established. The federal government eliminated state banknotes, and
national banks issued currency amounting to $300 million.

A series of devastating economic panics between 1873 and 1907
drew public attention to the need for more extensive banking and mon-
etary reform. As a result, in 1913 the U.S. government passed the
Federal Reserve Act to promote economic stability. The legislation es-
tablished federal governmental regulation of currency supply and federal
distribution of currency to banks. The Federal Reserve Board was
charged with regulating the amount of gold reserves held against Federal
Reserve notes (paper money) and supervising the issue and retirement of
notes, among its many other functions.

Gold remained the standard of the U.S. monetary system until April
1933. In the midst of the Great Depression (1929—41; a worldwide eco-
nomic downturn), Congress abandoned the gold standard because the
United States could no longer guarantee the value of the dollar in gold.
The 1933 legislation enabled the Federal Reserve to expand the nation’s
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money supply without regard to gold reserves. At the same time, struc-
tural changes were made to the Federal Reserve, giving it almost total
power over the nation’s currency. The Federal Reserve System continued
to grow and undergo adjustments, generally bringing stability to the
U.S. currency.

Custer's Last Stand

On June 25, 1876, the Seventh U.S. Cavalry rode along the Little
Bighorn River in southeastern Montana in pursuit of the Sioux and
Cheyenne Indians that had left their reservation. With a regiment num-
bering about six hundred men, Lieutenant Colonel George Armstrong
Custer (1839-1876) attacked an Indian settlement of nearly two thou-
sand warriors from two sides. The Battle on the Little Bighorn River be-
came known as “Custer’s Last Stand” because Custer and the two
hundred men directly under his personal command were killed within
the first hour of battle. It was a significant event in the Great Sioux War
of 1876 and a major Indian victory.

Conflict

By 1875, many Indian tribes had been forced to live on reservation lands
defined by treaties with the U.S. government. The Sioux and Cheyenne
tribes were among those that had been settled in the Dakota Territory,
present-day South Dakota. Conditions on the Indian reservations
were failing, due mostly to maladministration by the federal govern-
ment’s Bureau of Indian Affairs, so the people faced starvation. As a re-
sult, members of both tribes left the reservation to engage in their annual

buffalo hunt.

Leaving the reservation was a bold move that contradicted the fed-
eral government orders, and the Bureau of Indian Affairs directed all
Indians to return to the reservation by January 31. If they failed, they
would likely be attacked as rebels and forced to return by the U.S. Army.
The improbability of getting word to the hunters, even if they were will-
ing to return, made confrontation probable.

The true cause of the federal governments aggressive tactics
stemmed from the discovery of gold in the Black Hills, part of the Great
Sioux Reservation. The lands had been guaranteed to the Indians by
treaty, but white miners were ignoring the boundaries and settling in to
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prospect for gold. The government was doing little to discourage the in-
vasion onto Indian lands, but angry tribes were unwilling to sell their
land. Using the notion that occasional Indian attacks on white settle-
ments released them from the treaty, the government wanted to reclaim
the mineral rich land from the reservation and sell it for profit to white
miners. In hopes of destroying the Indians” independence and weaken-
ing their ability to resist the sale of the Black Hills, the government chose
to force the Sioux and Cheyenne hunters back onto the reservation.

Early in 1876, General Philip Sheridan (1831-1888) ordered troops
on the upper Yellowstone River to capture or disperse numerous bands
of Dakota who were hunting there. The army organized an offensive
from three directions, one of which was led by General Alfred Terry
(1827-1890) and included Colonel Custer. Custer was eventually de-
tached to lead twelve companies of men against the Indians while the rest
of the regiment would prevent flight of the Indians as he attacked.

On June 25, Custer located the Indian village. He divided his regi-
ment into three battalions. Though Custer’s approach was successful in
the beginning, it quickly turned in favor of the Indians when one of the
battalions retreated, leaving Custer and his men to bear the brunt of the
Indian’s counterattack. Within an hour, Custer and all of his men were
slain. Over the course of the next day, the rest of the troops arrived and
forced the Indians to retreat to the south.

The Battle of Little Bighorn was an empty victory for the Sioux and
Cheyenne. News of the death of Custer and his men stunned the
American people and led to greatly intensified military efforts. By the
spring of 1877, most of the Sioux and Cheyenne had surrendered and
resettled on the reservation. The federal government forced them to give
up the Black Hills. The Great Sioux War marked the end to major
Indian fighting in the American West.
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D-Day

On June 6, 1944, the Allied troops of World War II (1939-45) invaded
German-occupied France. The Allies arrived on the beaches of
Normandy in hopes of pushing their way into France. The date of the
invasion is remembered in history as D-Day.

D-Day is a term used in military planning before dates are decided.
D-Day refers to the target date for an operation. Events planned on days
before or after may be referred to with a plus or minus. For example, two
days before an operation would be referred to D-Day minus two.

The events at the invasion of Normandy were so monumental that
the term D-Day has been applied permanently to that date. The
Germans, led by dictator Adolf Hitler (1889-1945), had occupied
France since 1940. The Allied powers did not have the resources until
1944 to try to push the Germans back out.

A combination of resources, full moon, and low tide were all impor-
tant to a successful invasion from the English Channel. On June 6,
1944, the Allied forces stormed the beaches at Normandy. Five thousand
Allied ships carried nearly one hundred thousand men. Over a thousand
heavy bombers and more than two thousand fighter planes flew over-
head. It was the largest combined air, sea, and land operation in history.

Fighting at Normandy was intense and brutal, even though the
Germans were poorly prepared. The Allied troops persisted, and in the
end of July, they were able to break out of the beach area and advance
across France. By August 25, the Germans had been pushed back with
another bombardment, and Paris was liberated. By September 14, the
Allies had pushed the Germans back to the Franco-German border.
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Then it was only a matter of time until the defeat of Nazi Germany was
complete. The invasion of Normandy had provided the Allies with the
opening to victory.

Jefferson Davis

Jefferson Davis was born the tenth child of Samuel and Jane Davis on
June 3, 1808. Though he was born in Christian County (now Todd
County), Kentucky, Daviss family moved to a small plantation in
Mississippi when he was quite young. When Davis was seven, he went
back to Kentucky to attend St. Thomas’s College, a Roman Catholic
seminary, though his family was Baptist. After two years, he returned to
Mississippi to attend local schools.

Davis attended classes at a few different colleges, then in 1824 he
pursued a degree at the U.S. Military Academy at West Point. He ranked
twenty-third of thirty-three in the graduating class and became a second
lieutenant in the U.S. army.

Early career

Davis spent nearly seven years in various mili-
tary posts along the frontier in Wisconsin and
in unsettled portions of Illinois. Generally his
assignments were routine, but occasionally he
fought against Indians. In 1832, he participated
in the Black Hawk Indian War and accepted the
surrender of the famed Sauk chief Black Hawk
(1767-1838). After his promotion to first lieu-
tenant of dragoons (horse-mounted cavalry divi-
sions) in 1834, Davis led several expeditions
into Kiowa and Wichita (Native American) vil-
lages.

In 1833, Davis was stationed at Fort
Crawford, Wisconsin. The commander in
charge, Colonel Zachary Taylor (1784-1850),
who later became a U.S. president, had a daugh-
ter, Sarah Knox. Davis and Knox fell in love,
and in May 1835 Davis submitted his resigna-
tion from the army. Married on June 17, he and
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his bride went to Mississippi to establish a plantation on land given to
them by Davis’s brother. Unfortunately, they both caught severe fevers,
and Sarah died on September 15, 1835.

Devastated by his wife’s death, Davis spent the next ten years mostly
in seclusion at his plantation. While he enjoyed the company of his
brother, Joseph Davis, who owned a nearby plantation, Davis focused
mainly on managing his own plantation and reading. It was during this
time that he began to form his opinions regarding politics.

When Jefferson Davis emerged from seclusion, he immersed himself
in Mississippi politics and high society. His brother had become one of
the wealthiest men in the South, and Jefferson Davis enjoyed the status
of being part of his family. Davis met and married the young socialite
Varina Howell on February 25, 1845. Always loyal and devoted to her
husband, she would share his trials and triumphs and fight battles along-
side and for him. Together they had four sons and two daughters, though

the four sons would die before Davis.

Politics

Davis became a Democratic member of the U.S. Congress in December
1845. The outbreak of the Mexican-American War (1846—48), how-
ever, led him to resign the following June. Accepting a position in com-
mand of a volunteer regiment, Davis went to Mexico with his soldiers to
join his former father-in-law and commander, General Taylor.

Davis and his “Mississippi Rifles” played an important part in the
campaign and earned heroic honors at the Battle of Buena Vista. Upon
his return in 1847, the Mississippi legislature appointed him to finish an
unexpired U.S. senatorial term. Reelected in 1850, Davis was a vocal
member of his party and the chairman of the Senate’s Military

Committee.

Party and doctrinal loyalty led Davis to resign his Senate seat in
1851 to enter the governor’s race in Mississippi. The election followed
the heated debates and passage in Congress of the Compromise of
1850. This legislation, which resolved where slavery would be allowed
and banned in new western territories after the Mexican-American War,
stoked southern passion about their supposed right to slavery. Talk of
secession hung in the air. Devoted to the national union through line-

age and patriotism, Davis was also dedicated to the concept of state
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independence. He campaigned well on a platform that stressed the rights
of a united South, and he lost by only one thousand vortes.

Davis returned to life as a planter until 1853, when his friend, U.S.
president Franklin Pierce (1804—1869; served 1853—57) appointed him
as secretary of war. Davis’s service was marked by progressive and inno-
vative ideas. Recognizing that military operations in the desert of the
western states required different methods, he worked to introduce new
and more appropriate tactics and weapons. He worked toward establish-
ing routes for a transcontinental railroad. He also was involved in ex-
panding the U.S. capitol and sometimes served as the navy secretary.

The road to secession

At the end of his term as secretary of war, Davis promptly returned to a
Senate position. The country was wrapped in debates concerning the ex-
pansion of slavery in 1857, and violent clashes had begun to break out
within the states. That year the Supreme Court handed down a verdict
in the Dred Scott case. It ruled that neither federal nor state laws could
interfere with the rights of slaveholders. Calling slaves a form of prop-
erty, the Court said that the U.S. Constitution protected slaveholders’
rights. This challenged the concept of “popular sovereignty,” which al-
lowed each state and territory to allow or outlaw slavery according to its
own wants. Along with the voices of Americans who opposed slavery as
an immoral violation of the human rights of slaves, debates concerning
the rights of slaveholders and the relative powers of the federal and state
governments set the country on the path to the American Civil War
(1861-65).

By 1858, Davis was well aware of the increasing difficulties in pre-
serving the Union. The Dred Scott decision triggered a series of events
that led to the split of the Democratic Party into northern and south-
ern factions. As a strong proponent of slavery and southern society, Davis
defended the Court’s decision. His own dedication to the nation was

challenged by his love of the South.

The crisis reached a breaking point when the nation elected a
Republican president, Abraham Lincoln (1809-1865; served
1861-65), in 1860. Republicans officially supported maintaining slavery
where it existed but blocking it from expansion. However, the South
viewed Lincoln’s election as a move toward complete abolition of slavery
nationwide.
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In the Senate, the Committee of Thirteen was created in December
1860 to find a solution to the crisis. As part of the committee, Davis saw
little hope for compromise and reluctantly advised secession. On January
21, 1861, Davis announced the secession of Mississippi and formally
withdrew from the Senate and Washington, D.C.

President of the Confederacy

Davis and his family returned to his plantation in Mississippi, where he
accepted a position as major-general of the state troops. Then a general
convention of the seceding states elected Davis as the temporary presi-
dent of the provisional government of the Confederate States of
America. Though he felt better qualified for the military command,
Davis dutifully accepted the political post. He was inaugurated on
February 18, 1861. A year later, he was inaugurated as the regular, and
eventually only, president of the established Confederacy.

As of early 1861, Davis hoped for a peaceful course to secession. He
spoke of the Confederacy as a product of evolution and growth rather
than revolution. Realistically, though, Davis knew war was a real possi-
bility and that the South was unprepared. He urged the creation of a
strong centralized government with a national army and navy that would
control military operations over the states.

Failure of negotiations with the U.S. government led to a crisis at
Fort Sumter, South Carolina, in April 1861. The Union’s refusal to
abandon the federal fort in Confederate territory led to a military con-
frontation. This was the incident that sparked the start of the Civil War.

Davis’s performance as the Confederate leader gathers both praise
and criticism from historians. Certainly Davis was completely devoted to
the task. He organized his armies with skill and kept a close eye on his
generals. Working to build morale and loyalty in the border state of
Virginia, he moved the capital of the Confederacy to Richmond in May
1861. He also pressed controversial legislation that forced citizens to sup-
port the war effort. The Conscription Acts (1862), which called for a
mandatory draft of white men between the ages of eighteen and thirty-
five for three years of service, kept the Confederate armies manned. An
impressment program allowed the armies to commandeer supplies for
the men and animals. While he supported tough taxes, Davis endorsed a
program by which taxes could be paid with food or supplies that would
help to support the armies.
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Davis remained a devoted and dedicated leader to the Confederate
states to the very end. Confederate general Robert E. Lee (1807-1870)
evacuated Richmond on April 2, 1865, and surrendered to the Union a
few days later at Appomattox Courthouse in Virginia. Davis at first at-
tempted to lead a refugee government but eventually approved surrender
by mid-April. Admitting that the Confederacy had been overthrown,
Davis headed south in an attempt to leave the country. On May 10, the
federal cavalry captured him in Irwinville, Georgia.

Davis served two years in prison awaiting trial for treason. Efforts by
his family and many others to gain his release finally succeeded. Released
on bail in May 1867, he was never brought to trial. He would never
waver in his belief in the cause of the Confederacy and in the right of a
state to secede from the nation.

The twilight years

Jefterson Davis’s last years were a struggle to regain health and financial
stability. His fortune was wrecked, his home was a ruin, and his health
was impaired. A family friend provided a home and it was there that
Davis devoted his last years to writing two autobiographical memoirs.
His Rise and Fall of the Confederate Government was published in 1881,
and the Short History of Confederate States appeared in 1889. Davis died
on December 5, 1889, at the age of eighty-two.

Miles Davis

Miles Davis III was born in Alton, Illinois, on May 25, 1926. He was
the second of three children. His mother played the violin, and his father
was an oral surgeon. The family moved to East St. Louis, Illinois, in

1927.

Davis first became interested in music around the age of six, when
he began listening to the music of jazz musicians such as Louis
Armstrong (1901-1971) and Duke Ellington (1899-1974) on the
radio. Visits with his grandfather in Arkansas introduced him to the
soulful sounds of gospel, strains of which would find their way into his

music compositions later on in his career.
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Launches a career

When he was ten years old, Davis took trumpet lessons, and he was
given the chance to improvise (make up his own music spontaneously).
In 1943, when he was seventeen, he joined the Eddie Randall Blue
Devils and played with them for a year before joining a New
Orleans—based swing band called Six Brown Cats. Swing was not the
kind of music Davis wanted to perform, so after a short time with the
band, he returned to St. Louis, Missouri, where his family had moved to
earlier.

While watching a jazz band play at a local club, Davis was asked to
sit in with the group when one of the trumpeters became ill. A thrilled
Davis sat in with this group of jazz greats that included Dizzy Gillespie
(1917-1993) and Charlie “Yardbird” Parker (1920-1955) for two
weeks. He learned more about playing jazz and experimenting with
sound in those two weeks than he had in his entire lifetime.

No longer content to play music that he was not passionate about,
Davis moved to New York City, the center of the jazz world. There he
enrolled in the Juilliard School, where he studied music theory and com-
position. Davis dropped out of Juilliard before graduating and furthered
his education by playing with Gillespie and Parker.

The young trumpeter recorded record albums with the jazz greats,
but critics panned his solos, saying they were full of errors. Davis organ-
ized his own nine-piece ensemble, and the band recorded songs from
1949 through 1950. The compilation of songs was eventually released as
an album titled Birth of the Cool. This time, critics praised Davis’s sound.
The group traveled abroad and experienced more acclaim throughout
Europe, especially in Paris, where an annual jazz festival was held.

Turns to drugs

Like many jazz musicians in the late 1940s and early 1950s, Davis soon
began to use drugs. What began as experimentation turned into addic-
tion, and the trumpeter soon found himself in a downward spiral. It got
so bad that he accepted jobs only if they would make it easy for him to
get heroin.

Club owners knew of Davis’s addiction, and in the first few years of
the 1950s, he was blacklisted (included on a list of people who club own-
ers would not hire). In 1954, the musician quit drugs by sheer willpower
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and self-imposed physical discipline, and in the period that followed he
produced music that some critics consider his best. He formed a quintet
whose recordings sounded like nothing else being played at the time. Its
sound was a combination of jazz, bop, and urban funk blues. Davis was
finally accepted by mainstream musicians and listeners.

The 1960s saw the end of the jazz era as rock and roll took over the
music scene. Davis, inspired by the sounds of guitar great Jimi Hendrix
(1942-1970) and the funk of Sly and the Family Stone, turned to elec-
trified jazz, a unique sound that would later be labeled “fusion.”

Later years

Davis’s new sound thrilled some listeners and critics while horrifying
others as he moved away from “pure” jazz. Although he claimed he never
let the critics negatively affect him, Davis returned to a life of substance
abuse and subsequent illness. Between 1975 and 1980, he did not pick
up his trumpet. He recorded a comeback album in 1981, which was crit-
icized as weak sounding, but two later releases earned him Grammy
Awards. Davis continued to play throughout the 1980s.

Davis died on September 28, 1991. He had been suffering from
pneumonia, respiratory failure, and the aftereffects of a stroke. Despite
his weakness for drugs, Davis changed the music scene forever and left

his own personal sound embedded in the culture. He was inducted into
the Rock and Roll Hall of Fame on March 13, 2006.

Dawes Severalty Act

The failure of reservations (specific land given to Native Americans to
live on by the U.S. government) forced the U.S. government to recon-
sider its Indian policy. Reservations had been established beginning in
1851 because white settlers were moving into the West and the govern-
ment wanted Native Americans out of the way. To accomplish this, they
set aside pieces of land (largely infertile land that made farming difficult
or impossible) and forced tribes to move onto them. The plan was to
keep the tribes in restricted areas, thereby allowing settlers to live free of
fear of attack.

These reservations were monitored by Indian agencies, whose em-
ployees and agents were, for the most part, corrupt. The Native
Americans lived in substandard conditions, and their traveling way of life
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was denied them. U.S. senator Henry L. Dawes (1816-1903) of
Massachusetts led the effort to pass a general allotment act by which in-
dividual Native Americans would own their own land. Forcing them to
live separately would weaken tribal ties and supposedly make assimila-
tion (blending in to white culture) easier. Reformers, settlers, railroad
owners, and other business owners supported Dawes’s act. More than 60
million acres of surplus (extra) reservation lands would be for sale if the
allotment act was passed.

On February 8, 1887, the Dawes Severalty Act passed. The act pro-
vided each Native American family with 160 acres of land; single adults
received 80 acres. Along with the land came full U.S. citizenship, but
there was a catch: Citizenship would not be granted until a twenty-five-
year trust had expired. Native Americans would lose their collective legal
standing as a tribe but also would not have individual legal standing as
U.S. citizens for another twenty-five years.

The act was implemented gradually; reservations did not disappear
entirely. Section 8 of the act listed specific tribes that would be exempt
from the law. They included Cherokees, Creeks, Choctaws, Chickasaws,
Seminoles, Osage, Miamies and Peorias, and Sacs and Foxes. Also ex-
empt were the Seneca Nation of New York Indians in the state of New
York and tribes in the territory of Nebraska that adjoined the Sioux
Nation to the south. Reformers wanted these tribes to be included, but
because each tribe held a title to its land, the land could not be taken
legally unless all parties agreed. The Dawes Act’s provisions eventually
extended to these groups as well as they bowed to pressure, but not until

1893.

The Dawes Act did very little to help Native Americans assimilate.
They were not prepared to live life as individual, separate families, be-
cause they had been brought up to depend on one another and live as a
community. When the act passed in 1887, tribes owned about 138 mil-
lion acres of land. By 1900, they had just 78 million acres, and that num-
ber dropped to 48 million by 1934. Millions of acres that were not
allotted to the Native Americans were considered surplus land and made
available for sale to the highest bidder.

On paper, the Dawes Act may have seemed like a good idea. In re-
ality, however, it was not. The tribes lost much of their surplus land, and
they lost the individual allotments because they lacked both knowledge
of farming and access to credit to buy necessary farm machinery. They
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were not allowed to use their land as collateral (something of value
pledged to assure repayment of debt), and the federal government had
set aside just $30,000 for their machinery, livestock, seeds, and other ne-
cessities. Rather than compete with their white neighbors, many Native
Americans just sold their land to them instead. By 1934, when the act
was abandoned, Native Americans’ dependence on the government had
not been eliminated in any way—in fact, it had increased. The Dawes
Act had accomplished the opposite of its intention.

Declaration of Independence

The Declaration of Independence is the document with which the orig-
inal American thirteen colonies announced their separation from Great
Britain in July 1776. Written primarily by American statesman and fu-
ture president Thomas Jefferson (1743—1826; served 1801-9), it is one
of the most famous documents in American history.

Debating the split

By 1775, American colonists were growing discontent with English rule.
Spurred by high taxes and restrictions on trade, talk of independence
spread through the colonies. One by one, colonial assemblies authorized
their delegates to attend a meeting planned in Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania, called the Continental Congress.

On June 7, 1776, American statesman Richard Henry Lee
(1732-1794) of Virginia introduced a resolution for declaring the inde-
pendence of the colonies. It called for Congress to take measures to build
foreign support for independence and to form a unifying confederation
of states.

Debate on declaring independence began in Congress the next day.
Those who supported the resolution argued that independence was nec-
essary and would produce many benefits for the colonists. Independence
would improve the chance for making treaties of commerce with other
nations and for receiving foreign loans. It would rally the colonists to-
gether for the military campaign against Great Britain.

Those who opposed independence were in the minority, but they
were vocal in their opposition. They warned against declaring independ-
ence before the colonies could act with unanimity. Some wished to fix
relations with Great Britain.
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Declaration of Independence

Thomas Jefferson, standing right, holds up the Declaration of Independence, which announced the separation of the original

American thirteen colonies from Great Britain. THE LIBRARY OF CONGRESS

The delegates were not ready to agree on a course of action, so voting
on the resolution was postponed until early July. Congress, however,
formed several committees for beginning work immediately on the
Virginia proposals of declaring independence, making foreign alliances,
and establishing a confederation of states to act as a common government.

Writing the Declaration of Independence

Congress appointed Continental Congress members John Adams
(1735-1826), Benjamin Franklin (1706-1790), Roger Sherman
(1721-1793), Robert Livingston (1746-1813), and Thomas Jefferson to
the committee on independence. Their task was to write a document to
explain the action of declaring independence in terms meaningful to

UeXeL Encyclopedia of U.S. History

429



Declaration of Independence

430

Americans and Europeans alike. Jefferson, who was just thirty-three
years old at the time, received the assignment of writing the first draft of
the document.

Jefferson had two main goals as he wrote the Declaration of
Independence. He first had to dispel the notion that in claiming their in-
dependence, the colonies would be rebelling against a lawful authority.
This was an important point to make in order to gain foreign support
for the American cause.

Jefterson accomplished this task by using the doctrine of natural
rights. Natural rights are rights that people have organically instead of re-
ceiving them from a government. Jefferson wrote that “all men are cre-
ated equal” and have rights to life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness.
People establish governments to protect these rights. When a govern-
ment stops protecting rights and instead acts to destroy them, people
have a right to end its rule. They have the right to create a new govern-
ment to protect their safety and happiness. According to Jefferson, be-
cause the British government was not protecting the American colonists’
natural rights, the colonists were justified in their desire to leave Great
Britain to form their own government.

Jefterson’s second goal was to convince Americans who were loyal to
the English king that independence was necessary. Americans had been
arguing for years that the English Parliament, not the king, was the
source of their political problems. Parliament was the one taxing the
colonies and regulating their commerce. Congress had to shift America’s
focus to the king as the source of its troubles, as some Americans still
hoped to create a system that could remain under the British crown.

Jefterson accomplished this by including a list of charges against the
king in the second half of the Declaration of Independence. The charges
touched every part of the American colonies. Few free citizens could read
the list without feeling that somewhere along the line they had been in-
jured by the king.

Having proved his case against the king, at the end of the
Declaration Jefferson briefly criticized the English people who had not
supported the American colonies. Then in conclusion, Jefferson crafted
a formal announcement that the colonies had decided to sever their ties
with Great Britain. Jefferson presented his draft to the committee on in-
dependence, which made a few changes before submitting it to the
Continental Congress on June 28, 1776.
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Final declaration

Congress assembled again on July 1, prepared now to vote on the reso-
lution for independence. An unofficial vote showed that nine colonies
would definitely support independence. The other four were opposed,
split, or forced to abstain for lack of instructions from their home gov-
ernment. In hopes that a unanimous vote could be earned overnight,
Congress delayed the formal vote to July 2. The delay worked, and by a
vote of 12-0 (with New York abstaining until later), Congress resolved
on July 2 to declare independence.

Congress then turned to editing Jefferson’s draft of the Declaration
of Independence. In spite of some forty additions and extensive cuts that
greatly reduced the paper, Jefferson’s draft remained mostly intact. On
the evening of July 4, 1776, the Declaration of Independence was ap-
proved and sent to the printer. When New York finally voted for inde-
pendence, Congress gathered again to sign the official document at a
ceremony on August 2.

The Declaration of Independence has been a significant source of
political inspiration, both in the United States and around the world.
Americans celebrate Independence Day each year on July 4, the day the
document was sent to the printer. Americans of all political beliefs find
power in the symbolic and literal meanings of the words Jefferson wrote
about the rights of citizens and the role of government in society.

Declaratory Act

The British Parliament passed the Declaratory Act in March 1766. It did
so in connection with repealing the Stamp Act of 1765. The Declaratory
Act was a Parliamentary definition of its relationship to and powers over
the original American thirteen colonies.

Evolution of the act
The Sugar Act of 1764 and the Stamp Act of 1765 were British laws that
imposed taxes on the American colonies. Up until those pieces of legis-
lation were enacted, Parliament had allowed self-governing local assem-
blies in the colonies to regulate local taxes.

The change in policy and Parliament’s insistence on its right to im-
pose taxes angered the colonists. Active forms of resistance spread
throughout the colonies following the Stamp Act. Boycotts were organ-
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ized, pamphlets and letters were written, and even violent acts of protest
against tax collectors, royal officers, and Loyalists occurred.

Only when the voices of colonial protest were joined by those of
English merchants affected by the boycotts did Parliament choose to re-
peal the Stamp Act. In an effort to assert its right and power to oversee
the colonies, however, it also passed the Declaratory Act.

Enacted in 1766, the Declaratory Act affirmed Parliament’s author-
ity over the colonies and their legislatures. It defined the colonies as sub-
ordinate to the king of England and Parliament and thus declared the
right to establish laws and statutes binding the colonies to them “in all
cases whatsoever.” It also denied the validity of colonial resolutions
against taxation without representation.

In a deliberately ambiguous way, Parliament used the Declaratory
Act to define its right to tax the colonies without giving them represen-
tation. In choosing to repeal the Stamp Act, it averted further violence
in the colonies. By passing the Declaratory Act, however, it insisted on
its continuing power to tax the colonies in future laws.

Reaction

Most colonists were so relieved that the Stamp Act had been repealed that
they paid little attention to the accompanying Declaratory Act. Many
simply saw it as Parliament’s attempt to maintain the appearance of power
in the midst of backing down to colonial protests. However, the
Townshend Acts of 1767, which levied import duties on glass, lead,
paint, paper, and tea among other measures, would awaken colonists to
the seriousness of Parliament’s position as set forth in the Declaratory Act.

Delaware

Delaware, the first state admitted to the Union (December 7, 1787) and
the nation’s second-smallest, is located on the eastern seaboard in the
mid-Atlantic region. Of the state’s 2,044 square miles (5,295 square kilo-
meters), 1,932 square miles (5,005 square kilometers) are land. Delaware
is bordered by Maryland, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, and the Atlantic
Ocean. Its capital is Dover.

The first permanent settlements in the area were a Swedish trading
post, established in 1638 (at present-day Wilmington) by a group of
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Swedes, Dutch, and Finns under the leadership of a Dutchman, and a
Dutch fort in 1651 (at New Castle). The Dutch took over the Swedish
colony in 1655 but were forced out by the English nine years later. At
that time, Delaware was under the control of English philosopher and
colonialist William Penn (1644—1718).

In 1838, a railroad running between Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, and
Baltimore, Maryland, through Wilmington was completed. The state’s
population increased as immigrants—mostly from the British Isles,
Germany, Italy, Poland, and Russia—made their way to the tiny state.

Delaware’s total population was just under 784,000 in the early
twenty-first century, with residents being predominantly white (73.6
percent). Although over 59 percent claimed no religious affiliation, the
largest religious group was Catholic, with 151,740 adherents. The per-
person income was $35,728, $2,000 above the national average, making
Delaware eleventh out of fifty states and Washington, D.C.

Chemical manufacturing is the state’s main industry, with
Wilmington known as the chemical capital of the world. Other indus-
tries include food processing, plastics and rubber products, and paper
manufacturing. The state is not all industry, however, with a strong agri-
cultural output of corn, soybeans, barley, wheat, and other crops.
Fishing, once a major contributor to the economy, has declined since the

late twentieth century because of overharvesting.

Democratic Party

The Democratic Party emerged out of the Democratic-Republican
Party of U.S. president Thomas Jefferson (1743-1826; served
1801-9), and was founded in 1792. In the 1820s, internal divisions
caused the Democratic-Republican Party to split into two organizations.
Those who most held onto the party’s original political ideals established
the Democratic Party. The other faction became known first as the
National Republicans and later evolved into the Whig Party. The Whigs
eventually dissolved, but the Democratic Party of the 1820s continues to
be an integral part of American politics today.

The Democratic-Republican Party emerged in 1792 in response to
the strong Federalist Party policies of members of the first Congress.
Worried about an overly powerful central government and liberal inter-
pretations of the U.S. Constitution, critics of the Federalists united in
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an opposition party. They attempted to balance congressional action that
supported wealthy merchants by representing the interests of farmers
and common free men. Members of the Democratic-Republican Party
believed governmental power should reside more in the state govern-
ments than in the federal government.

When the party evolved into the Democratic Party in the 1820s, its
members held onto the same ideals supported by Jefferson and other
founders. The Democrats of the 1820s were mostly westerners, south-
erners, and laborers from the east. They were small businessmen, farm-
ers, craftsmen, and other hard workers. The party tried to protect their
interests against the privileges of powerful institutions, such as banks, in-
dustry, and wealthy merchants.

Members of the Democratic Party opposed the growth of a power-
ful central government and worked to protect states’ rights. They favored
the expansion of the United States to provide individuals with opportu-
nities to thrive. Personal liberty was highly cherished, and as a result
Democrats tended to oppose reform movements.

Over time, the Democratic Party has enjoyed times of immense
popularity as well as declining interest. Debates over slavery in the 1850s
led the party to split into northern and southern factions. The northern
faction wanted individual states to decide whether to make slavery ille-
gal. The southern faction wanted to prevent nations and states from out-
lawing slavery. Yet the party managed to survive the American Civil War
(1861-65).

While the party has evolved to confront current issues, it has re-
mained consistent in its orientation to representing the interests of small
businesspeople and laborers. Although it was once the party of slavery
(the opposition party during the Civil War was the Republican Party of
U.S. president Abraham Lincoln [1809-1865; served 1861-65] who is-
sued the Emancipation Proclamation putting an end to slavery in the
United States), it has come to be the party favored by African Americans
and other groups of citizens fighting for political power.

In the twentieth century, the Democratic Party confronted the divi-
sive issues of poverty, gender, ethnicity, and religion. Its members have
often embraced immigrants, supported women’s rights, and fought for
civil rights for all Americans. Democrats helped to pass the first labor
and child welfare laws, established forms of government assistance dur-
ing the Great Depression (1929—-41), and led the nation through two
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